The Complexities of Ageing in Cystic Fibrosis

A Thesis submitted to the University of Manchester for the degree of Doctor of Medicine Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health

2020

Sarah L Paterson

School of Biological Sciences

Table of Contents

List of tables	8
List of figures	11
Abbreviations	13
Abstract	17
Declaration	
Copyright statement	
Acknowledgements	19
The Author	20
Preface	20
Cystic Fibrosis - An overview	22
Introduction	22
1.1.2 Pathophysiology	22
1.1.3 Diagnosis	22
1.1.4 Genetics	23
1.1.5 Prognosis	25
1.2 Complications of Cystic Fibrosis	25
1.2.1 Pulmonary exacerbation	25
1.2.2 Haemoptysis	26
1.2.3 Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis	27
1.2.4 Pneumothorax	28
1.2.5 Microbiology	29
1.3 Metabolic complications	
1.3.1 Cystic fibrosis related diabetes mellitus	
1.3.2 Cystic fibrosis-related bone disease	32
1.4 Gastrointestinal/Nutritional complications	
1.5 Cancer in CF	
1.6 Hepatobiliary complications of CF	
1.7 Renal pathology in CF	
1.8 Treatment of cystic fibrosis	
1.8.1 General overview	
1.8.2 Antimicrobial use in CF	
1.8.3 Gene Therapy in CF	41
1.8.4 CFTR modulators in CF	41
1.8.5 Oxygen, NIV and transplant in CF	43
1.8.6 The MDT in CF	43
1.9 Ageing in general population	45
1.9.1 Cardiovascular disease and age	45

1.9.2 Hypercholesterolaemia	
1.9.3 Hypertension	
1.9.4 Diabetes mellitus	51
1.9.5 Obesity	51
1.9.6 The 'metabolic syndrome'	
1.9.7 Smoking	
1.9.8 Non-atherosclerotic vascular disease	
1.9.9 Arterial stiffness measurements	53
1.9.10 Pulse wave velocity	54
1.9.11 Augmentation Index	
1.9.12 Genetics and cardiovascular risk	
1.9.13 Cardiovascular risk scoring	
1 10 Panal function	60
1.10 Renal function	
1.10.1 Renai function and age	
1.10.2 Chronic kidney Disease	
1.10.4 Measuring glomerular filtration rate (GFR)	
1.10.5 Exogenous renal markers and measured GFR	
1.10.6 Endogenous renal markers and <i>estimated</i> GFR	
1.10.7 Proteinuria	
1.11 Ageing in Cystic Fibrosis	
1.11.1 Overview of ageing in CF	68
1.12 Age prevalent CFTR-related complications	
1.12.1 Pulmonary complications	70
1.12.2 Extra-pulmonary complications	73
1.13 Conclusion	
2.0 The Complexities of Ageing in Cystic Eibrosis Study (COA-CE)	88
2.0 The complexities of Ageing in cystic histosis study (coA-ci j	
2.1 Hypothesis	
2.2 Study aims and objectives	
2.3 Study Methods	
2.3.1 Study Overview	
2.3.2 Participants	
2.3.3 Data collection	
2.3.4 Study visit schedule	
2.3.5 Sampling methods	
2.4 Statistical analysis	
2.5 Individual contributions to study	
3.0 Chapter 3: The demographics of an older cystic fibrosis cohort.	
3.1 Abstract	
3.1.1 Introduction	
3.1.2 Methods	
3.1.3 Results	
3.1.4 Conclusion	

3.2 Introduction	116
3.3 Methods	120
3.3.1 Demographic data	120
3.3.2 Blood sampling	121
3.3.3 Sweat testing	121
3.3.4 Data analysis	121
2.4 Deculto	100
3.4 Results	
3.4.1 Demographics of study conort	
3.4.2 Analysis of groups by age range	124
3.4.3 Disease severity	
3.4.4 Gender and disease severity	126
3.4.5 CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD)	
3.4.6 Sputum microbiology	
3.4.7 Cardiovascular morbidity	
3.4.8 Analysis of other comorbidities in an ageing CF population	
3.4.9 Sweat chloride analysis	
3.4.10 Analysis of early and late diagnosis groups	
3.4.11 Genotype-phenotype correlation	
3.4.12 Social analysis	
3.5 Discussion	
3.5.1 General discussion	139
3.5.2 Disease severity	139
3.5.3 Other predictors of survival	142
3.5.4 Organ transplantation	144
3.5.5 Malignancy	144
3.5.6 Cardiovascular risk	145
3.5.7 Genotype phenotype correlation	146
3.5.8 Sweat chloride and CFTR modulation therapy	153
3.5.9 Psychosocial factors	155
3.6 Limitations	
3.7 Conclusion	157
4.0 Chapter 4: Cardiovascular risk in an older cystic fibrosis cohort	159
4.1 Abstract	
4.1.1 Introduction	
4.1.2 Methods	
4.1.3 Results	
4.1.4 Conclusion	
4.2 Introduction	
4.2.1 Systemic hypertension	162
4.2.2 Hyperlipidaemia in CF	162
4.2.3 CF-related diabetes mellitus	102 164
4.2.4 Arterial stiffness and non-atherosclerotic risk in CF	
4.2.5 Chronic inflammation and arterial stiffening	166
4.2.6 The ORick [®] score	100
	107

4.3 Methods	
4.4 Results	
4.4.1 Demographics	
4.4.2 Cholesterol and apolipoprotein analysis	
4.4.3 Blood pressure, PWV and AIx analysis	
4.4.4 CKD comparison	
4.4.5 QRisk [®] scoring	
4.5 Discussion	
4.5.1 General discussion	
4.5.2 Cholesterol	
4.5.3 Apolipoproteins	
4.5.4 Systemic hypertension	
4.5.5 Arterial stiffness	
4.5.6 CKD comparison	
4.5.7 QRisk [®] scores	
4.6 Limitations	
4.7 Conclusion	107
4.8 Recommendations	
5.0 Chapter 5: The kidney in an older cystic fibrosis cohort	
5.1 Abstract	
5.1.1 Introduction	
5.1.2 Methods	
5.1.3 Results	
5.1.4 Conclusion	
5.2 Introduction	
5.2.1 Renal disease in CF	
5.2.2 The measurement of GFR	
5.2.3 Proteinuria	
5.2.4 Aminoglycosides and renal dysfunction	
5.2.5 Organ transplantation and renal dysfunction	
5.2.6 Glomerular hyperfiltration	
5.2.7 Iohexol GFR use in the non-CF setting	
5.2.8 Iohexol clearance GFR calculation	
5.2.9 Iohexol evidence in the non-CF setting	
5.2.10 Measured GFR in CF	
5.2.11 Aims	
5.3 Methods	
5.3.1 Outline of study methods	215
5.3.2 Statistical analysis	
5.4 Results	
5.4.1 Demographics	
5.4.2 Descriptive data analysis	
5.4.3 eGFR method correlations	
5.4.4 Bland Altman analysis	

5.4.5 Comparison between iohexol mGFR and eGFR methods	
5.5 Discussion	
5.5.1 General discussion	
5.5.2 Prevalence of renal dysfunction	
5.5.3 Inaccuracies of estimated GFR	
5.5.4 lohexol GFR	
5.5.5 Urinary creatinine clearance	
5.5.6 Practicalities of iohexol GFR	
5.5.7 Renal dysfunction and organ transplantation	
5.5.8 Intravenous aminoglycoside exposure	
5.5.9 Proteinuria and CFRD	
5.5.10 End stage renal disease	
5.5.11 Glomerular hyperfiltration	
5.5.12 Renal risk and the future in CF	
5.5.13 Limitations	
5.6 Conclusion	
5.7 Study recommendations	
6.0 Chapter 6: Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in an older cys	tic fibrosis populatio
6.1 Abstract	
6.1.1 Introduction	
6.1.2 Methods	
6.1.3 Results	
6.1.4 Conclusion	
6.2 Introduction	
6.2.1 Cardiac disease in CF	
6.2.2 CFTR and the heart	
6.2.3 Secondary cardiac pathology in CF	
6.2.4 Ischaemic heart disease in CF	
6.2.5 Chronic respiratory disease and cardiovascular risk	
6.2.6 Other contributors to LV dysfunction in CF	
6.2.7 Cardiovascular risk in CF	
6.2.8 Myocardial fibrosis	
6.2.9 Myocardial disease in CF	
6.2.10 Cardiac imaging in CF	
6.2.11 Cardiac MR	
6.2.12 CMR imaging techniques	
6.2.13 Use of CMR in clinical practice	
6.3 Methods	
6.3.1 Study overview	
6.3.2 CMR image analysis	
6.4 Results	
6.4.1 Demographics of the study population	

6.5 Discussion	285
6.5.1 General discussion	285
6.5.2 Biventricular function	286
6.5.3 Aortic parameters	287
6.5.4 Late gadolinium enhancement (LGE)	287
6.5.5 ECV	
6.5.6 Limitations of study	290
6.6 Conclusion	291
6.7 Study recommendations	292
7.0 Chapter 7: Summary and further work	296
7.1 Chapter three – The demographics of an older CF cohort	296
7.2 Chapter four – Cardiovascular risk in an older CF cohort	297
7.3 Chapter five – The kidney in an older CF cohort	299
7.4 Chapter 6 – Cardiac MRI in an older CF cohort	300
7.5 Recommendations	301
7.6 Study strengths	
7.7 Study weaknesses	302
7.8 Further work	
8.0 Appendix 1: The QRisk [®] 3 score for cardiovascular risk prediction	
9.0 Appendix 2: Patient study questionnaire	
10.0 Appendix 3: Iohexol sampling protocol	310
11.0 Appendix 4: The Wescor macroduct sweat test procedure	311
12.0 Appendix 5: Cardiac MRI study protocol	313
13.0 Appendix 6: Demographic data for total study population	314
14.0 Appendix 7: Sweat chloride analysis for the study group	335
15.0 Appendix 8: The characteristics of the late diagnosis group	341
16.0 Appendix 9: CMR data workbook	343
17.0 Appendix 10: Normal CMR values for Caucasians in UK population(498)	345
18.0 Bibliography	349

Word count: 81,696 (excluding references)

List of tables

Number	Legend	Page
1.1	Classification of CFTR mutations	24-25
1.2	Classification of systemic hypertension	49
1.3	Recommended reference ranges for PWV	55
1.4	Grades of chronic kidney disease	61
2.1	Laboratory analysis methods for serum cholesterol sampling	95-97
2.2	Categories of CKD according to GFR	98
2.3	Albuminuria categories in CKD according to KDIGO	98-99
2.4	Iohexol laboratory processing method	101
2.5	Laboratory processing procedure for urine samples	101
2.6	Sweat test analysis method at MFT	103

3.1	Demographic data of total study cohort (appendix 6)	314-34
3.2	Demographic analysis by age group of total study population	124-125
3.3	Differences in disease parameters for CFRD and non-CFRD groups	127
3.4	Chronic microbial sputum colonisation in our older CF cohort	127
3.5	Sweat chloride results for the study cohort (appendix 7)	335-40
3.6	Sweat chloride comparison between age groups	129
3.7	Regression analysis of ED and LD groups	130
3.8	Clinical characteristics of late diagnosis group (appendix 8)	341-342
3.9	Proportions of severe and non-severe CFTR mutations	134
3.10	Disease characteristics of the Arg117His cohort	135
3.11	Analysis of clinical severity parameters against CFTR class	136
3.12	Sweat chloride values by CFTR mutation class	137
3.13	Examples of residual function CFTR mutations	149

4.1	Demographics of the total study cohort	171
4.2	Cholesterol parameters for total cohort and per age group	172
4.3	Total number of raised cholesterol markers for study cohort	173
4.4	Cholesterol parameters for CFRD and non-CFRD groups	174
4.5	Arterial stiffness, BP and hsCRP measurements	176
4.6	Regression analysis of disease severity and arterial stiffness	178
4.7	Comparison of CKD and CF cohorts	178
4.8	Comparison of $QRisk^{\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}}$ scores in our older CF cohort	180
4.9	Comparison of QRisk [®] scores between CF diabetics	180
5.1	Iohexol studies in the non-CF population	250-253
5.2	GFR comparison studies in CF	253-255
5.3	Categories of CKD according to KDIGO	215-216
5.4	Albuminuria categories in CKD according to KDIGO	216
5.5	Demographics of study population	219
5.6	Renal parameters for total group	221
5.7	Renal parameters between age groups	221-222
5.8	Proportion of patients with CKD staging G1-3b	223
5.9	Creatinine clearance GFR in comparison to eGFR	233
5.10	Correlation coefficients and agreement between eGFR methods	227
5.11	Demographic data of total renal cohort at time of GFR testing	234
5.12	Evaluation of GFR methods for each patient; iohexol group	234-235
5.13	Iohexol GFR comparison with eGFR methods; bias and accuracy	235
6.1	Echocardiographic studies in CF	293-295
6.2	The causes of myocardial fibrosis	264
6.3	Demographic data for CMR participants	278
6.4	Mean demographic parameters of total CMR cohort	279

6.5	Cardiac MR measurements for total cohort	280-281
6.6	Left ventricular CMR data	283
6.7	Right ventricular CMR data	282-283
6.8	Atrial CMR data	283-284
6.9	Aortic and myocardial CMR data	284
6.10	Comparison of CMR parameters between age groups	277

List of figures

Number	Legend	Page
1.1	The changing prevalence of bacteria in CF airways with age	30
1.2	The development of novel CF therapies over time	37
1.3	A pharmacodynamic model of aminoglycoside pharmacokinetics	40
1.4	PWV reference values according to blood pressure and age	56
1.5	Equations for PWV derived from linear regression	56
1.6	Alx waveform as calculated from pulse wave analysis	57
1.7	An example of the QRisk $^{\circ}$ 3 scoring system (appendix 1)	305-306
1.8	The prevalence of extra-pulmonary manifestations of CF with age	73
1.9	CFTR classes and options for CFTR modulator therapy	83
2.1	Study visit schedule flow diagram	93
2.2	Sweat test equipment and procedure steps	104
2.3	The Vicorder transducer device	105
2.4	An example of PWA on Vicorder [®] computer software	105
3.1	Illustration of genotype-phenotype correlation in CF	118
3.2	A consort flow diagram of patient recruitment	123
3.3	A scatterplot showing the correlation between $ppFEV_1$ with BMI	126
3.4	Age of patient and age of CF diagnosis, ED and LD groups	130
3.5	Boxplot: differences in sweat chloride between ED and LD groups	131
3.6	Correlation between sweat chloride and age of CF diagnosis	131
3.7	Genotype distribution in total cohort	133
3.8	Genotype distribution in the 40-49 year age group	133
3.9	Genotype distribution in the 50-59 year age group	133
3.10	Genotype distribution in the \geq 60 year age group	134

3.11	Boxplot of age at diagnosis vs CFTR class	136
3.12	Boxplot: difference in ppFEV ₁ between CFTR groups	137
4.1	Boxplot of QRisk [®] 3 as T1DM between age groups	181
4.2	Boxplot of QRisk [®] 3 as T2DM between age groups	181
4.3	Boxplot of QRisk [®] 3 with CFRD; T1DM and CFTR class	182
4.4	Boxplot of QRisk [®] 3 with CFRD ;T2DM and CFTR class	182
5.1	The clearance of iohexol in plasma over time	211
5.2	Correlation between MDRD and CKD-EPIcreat eGFR	224
5.3	Correlation between MDRD and CKD-EPIcysC eGFR	224
5.4	Correlation between MDRD and CKD-EPIcreat+cysC eGFR	225
5.5	Correlation between CKD-EPIcreat and CKD-EPIcysC eGFR	225
5.6	Correlation between CKD-EPIcreat and CKD-EPIcreat+cysC eGFR	226
5.7	Correlation between CKD-EPIcysC and CKD-EPIcreat+cysC eGFR	226
5.8	Bland Altman plot of the MDRD vs CKD-EPIcreat	228
5.9	Bland Altman plot of the MDRD vs CKD-EPIcreat+cysC	228
5.10	Bland Altman plot of iohexol and MDRD GFR method comparison	230
5.11	Bland Altman plot of iohexol and CKD-EPIcreat GFR	230
5.12	Bland Altman plot of iohexol and CKD-EPIcysC GFR	231
5.13	Bland Altman plot of iohexol and CKD-EPIcreat+cysC GFR	231
6.1	Potential causes of myocardial fibrosis in CF	265
6.2	T1 mapping and extracellular volume fraction	270

Abbreviations

AAP	Alanine amino-peptidase
ABPA	Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis
ACR	Albumin creatinine ratio
АНА	American Heart Association
Alx	Augmentation index
AKI	Acute kidney injury
АроВ	Apolipoprotein B
ApoA1	Apolipoprotein A1
AUC	Area under the curve
BAE	Bronchial artery embolisation
BP	Blood pressure
BCC	Burkholderia cepacia complex
BMD	Bone mineral density
BMI	Body mass index
CF	Cystic fibrosis
CFA	Cystic fibrosis arthropathy
CFLD	Cystic fibrosis-related liver disease
cfPWV	Carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity
CFRD	Cystic fibrosis-related diabetes mellitus
CFTR	Cystic fibrosis transmembrane receptor (protein)
CG	Cockroft Gault

CKD	Chronic kidney disease	
CKD-EPI	Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration	
CMR	Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging	
CRP	C-reactive protein	
СТ	Computed tomography	
CVA	Cerebrovascular accident	
CVD	Cardiovascular disease	
DBP	Diastolic blood pressure	
DEXA	Dual energy X-ray absorptiometry	
DIOS	Distal intestinal obstruction syndrome	
DM	Diabetes mellitus	
ECMO	Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation	
eGFR	Estimated glomerular filtration rate	
ECV	Extra-cellular volume	
EF	Ejection fraction	
ENT	Ear, nose and throat	
FE-1	Faecal elastase-1	
FEV ₁	Forced expiratory volume in one second	
FVC	Forced vital capacity	
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate	
GORD	Gastro-oesophageal reflux disease	
HDL	High density lipoprotein	

ICSI	Intracytoplasmic sperm injection
iLDL	Intermediate density lipoprotein
ITU	Intensive care unit
LDL	Low density lipoprotein
LES	Liverpool epidemic strain
LGE	Late gadolinium enhancement
LVH	Left ventricular hypertrophy
MDRD	Modification of Diet in Renal Disease
MDT	Multidisciplinary team
mGFR	Measured glomerular filtration rate
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MRSA	Methicillin resistant staphylococcus aureus
NAG	N-acetyl- β -D-glucose-aminidase
NHS	National Health Service
NICE	National Institute of Clinical Excellence
NIV	Non-invasive ventilation
NSAIDs	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
NTM	Non-tuberculous mycobacteria
PERT	Pancreatic enzyme replacement therapy
PI	Pancreatic insufficiency (exocrine)
PVA	Polyvinyl alcohol (particles)
PWV	Pulse wave velocity

RA	Rheumatoid arthritis	
RV	Right ventricle	
RVIP	Right ventricular insertion point	
SBP	Systolic blood pressure	
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus	
T1DM	Type 1 diabetes mellitus	
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus	
vLDL	Very low density lipoprotein	

Abstract

Survival in cystic fibrosis (CF) is increasing exponentially and we are now seeing an ageing population. At the Manchester Adult Cystic Fibrosis Centre (MACFC), 20% of the total patient group are aged 40 years and above. Survival is likely to increase further in this exciting era of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator protein (CFTR) modulation. Although there has been a paradigm shift in CF management and disease perspectives in recent years, there remains a paucity of research in this important and fascinating older CF patient population, particularly over the last decade.

The CF population aged 40 years and above at MACFC is heterogeneous. There was a high proportion of patients with class I-III CFTR mutations and associated severe phenotypic disease. However, the prevalence of residual function CFTR mutations increased with age and were associated with lower sweat chloride values and later age of CF diagnosis.

Cardiovascular risk exists in this older CF cohort, with 34.9% of patients showing elevated QRisk[®]3 scores of 10% or greater. The prevalence of cardiovascular disease may increase with an ageing CF population. The recognition and management of cardiovascular risk is essential to reduce further comorbidity in this already complex and challenging disease.

At 3.6%, the prevalence of chronic kidney disease (CKD) was not as high in this older adult CF cohort as perhaps initially predicted. However, the measurement of estimated glomerular filtration rate (GFR) can be inaccurate in CF patients. There may be some justification for the wider use of measured GFR methods, such as iohexol, to improve the reliability of renal monitoring and in the assessment of GFR decline in select phenotypic groups of older CF patients.

Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMR) is feasible and well tolerated in this older adult CF group with a range of pulmonary disease severity. The use of CMR may provide an opportunity to analyse cardiac morphology and function in greater detail in CF than can be done with echocardiography alone, and cardiac imaging may become increasingly relevant in an ageing CF population.

Declaration

No portion of work referred to in this thesis has been submitted in support of an application for another degree or qualification of this or any other university or other institute of learning institution.

Copyright statement

- i. The author of this thesis (including any appendices and/or schedules to this thesis) owns certain copyright or related rights in it (the "Copyright") and s/he has given The University of Manchester certain rights to use such Copyright, including for administrative purposes.
- Copies of this thesis, either in full or in extracts and whether in hard or electronic copy, may be made only in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (as amended) and regulations issued under it or, where appropriate, in accordance with licensing agreements which the University has from time to time. This page must form part of any such copies made.
- iii. The ownership of certain Copyright, patents, designs, trademarks and other intellectual property (the "Intellectual Property") and any reproductions of copyright works in the thesis, for example graphs and tables ("Reproductions"), which may be described in this thesis, may not be owned by the author and may be owned by third parties. Such Intellectual Property and Reproductions cannot and must not be made available for use without the prior written permission of the owner(s) of the relevant Intellectual Property and/or Reproductions.
- Further information on the conditions under which disclosure, publication and commercialisation of this thesis, the Copyright and any Intellectual Property and/or Reproductions described in it may take place is available in the University IP Policy (see http://documents.manchester.ac.uk/DocuInfo.aspx?DocID=2442 0), in any relevant Thesis restriction declarations deposited in the University Library, The University Library's regulations (see

http://www.library.manchester.ac.uk/about/regulations/) and in The University's policy on Presentation of Theses.

Acknowledgements

I am so grateful to my supervisors, Professor Andrew Jones and Dr Bright-Thomas, and to my advisor Dr Robert Niven, for their invaluable guidance and support during my research.

My thanks also extends to Professor Kevin Webb, Dr Peter Barry, Dr Heather Green, Dr Amanda Brennan and Dr Alex Horsley for all of their help and advice over the last two years.

I would also like to say a huge thank you to all of the staff at MACFC who assisted me with specimen collection and organisation of study visits.

A special thank you to Dr Darren Green, this research would not have been possible without him.

Thank you also to Professor Brian Keevil, Dr Anne-Marie Kelly, Dr Christopher Miller, Dr Christopher Orsborne and David Marshall, without whom this research would also not have been possible.

The research costs of this study were paid for by the Manchester Adult Cystic Fibrosis centre, for which I am extremely grateful. A massive thank you must extend to the amazing patients at MACFC who participated in this study, they are extraordinary.

And of course, as always, thank you to my partner Craig and to my family for all of their love and support.

The Author

Dr Paterson achieved her MBChB degree from the University of Cardiff in 2010. Following completion of foundation and core medical training in Wales, and obtaining her MRCP(UK) Diploma in 2013, she moved to the North West in 2014 for specialist registrar training in Respiratory and General Internal Medicine. She worked as a Clinical Fellow at the Manchester Adult Cystic fibrosis Centre from 2018 to 2020, during which she conducted the research formulating this thesis.

Preface

This study was designed to develop knowledge and understanding of older adult CF patients, their clinical characteristics, the complexities of their genetics and disease, and to expose some challenges that may lie ahead as survival continues to improve.

Chapter one provides an introduction to CF, a review of the literature dedicated to ageing in CF and an identification of where some gaps may exist in the research of an older adult CF population. Chapter two outlines the aims and methods of the study. Chapters three to six comprise the results chapters, moving from general demographic analysis of an older CF cohort through to cardiovascular risk, renal pathology and finally cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMR).

The results chapters of this thesis are written in journal format. Although each chapter is distinct, the nature of this thesis style and the areas studied confer an inevitable degree of overlap. My hope was that each chapter would introduce the next in some way, providing continuity for the reader.

The limitations of the study are outlined at the end of each results chapter and there is a section dedicated to summation of findings and recommendations for future work.

I have been privileged enough to have presented some of this work at CF conferences in North America and Europe, gaining several subsequent journal publications. The Complexities of Ageing in Cystic Fibrosis

Chapter One: Introduction and review of literature

Cystic Fibrosis - An overview

Introduction

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is the most common life-limiting autosomal recessive genetic disorder in Caucasians, affecting 1 in 2500-3500 live births in the UK, and with an asymptomatic carrier frequency of 1 in 25(1). However, at a population level CF remains uncommon. There are between 200 and 300 new CF diagnoses in the UK annually. The majority are diagnosed in early life but with an increasing number being diagnosed in adulthood.

1.1.2 Pathophysiology

CF is a complex, multisystem disease caused by mutations in a gene encoding a membrane protein known as the cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator (CFTR), located on the long arm of chromosome 7. The CFTR protein acts predominantly as a regulator of anion movement across exocrine gland epithelial cell membranes. CFTR is expressed throughout the body and affects secretory function in multiple organs including the lungs, pancreas, gastro-intestinal tract, liver, genitourinary system and sweat glands.

Mutations of the CFTR gene result in abnormal ion movement across epithelial cell membranes. More specifically, this involves chloride and bicarbonate loss from the cell surface. A lack of CFTR inhibition of sodium channels causes movement of sodium ions into cells, enhancing osmotic water resorption. This leads to inadequate hydration of mucous secretions and defective mucociliary clearance. Retained secretions encourage bacterial adherence and a perpetuating cycle of inflammation, infection and tissue destruction(2).

1.1.3 Diagnosis

CF is usually diagnosed in childhood. It is predominantly a clinical diagnosis, supported by a number of clinical tests. Newborn screening was introduced in the 1980s and became UK-wide in 2007. This involves a heel blood spot test in the first week of life for immunoreactive trypsin (IRT), a measure of exocrine pancreatic function. IRT is raised in newborn infants with CF. Given its high sensitivity but lower specificity, a raised IRT necessitates subsequent sweat testing and CFTR genetic studies to confirm the diagnosis of CF(3). Abnormal expression of CFTR in sweat glands causes exaggerated excretion of chloride through the skin surface, forming the basis of the sweat test diagnosis for CF. A positive sweat test (sweat chloride >60mmol) and two functional mutations of the CFTR gene confirms a

diagnosis of CF, alongside typical clinical features which may include recurrent pulmonary infections, failure to thrive, symptoms of malabsorption or meconium ileus.

A minority of CF patients are diagnosed in adulthood. This group may account for less severe genotypes, including those with exocrine pancreatic sufficiency. A milder disease phenotype often accounts for a delay in clinical presentation. Just over 14% of patients in the UK CF Registry in 2017 were diagnosed at the age of 16 years or over(4).

1.1.4 Genetics

Since the discovery of the CFTR gene in 1989, approximately 2017 different mutations of CFTR protein have now been found(5). However, not all abnormal CFTR mutations are clinically relevant, with only around 300 causing phenotypic disease. CF has autosomal recessive inheritance and thus a patient must have a CFTR mutation on each chromosome to exhibit the CF clinical phenotype. CFTR mutations vary according to their effect on CFTR protein production, function, transport or stability(6). Clinical phenotype varies with mutation type and the amount of functional CFTR protein correlates in part with disease severity, particularly the degree of exocrine pancreatic sufficiency. However, genotype correlates less well with lung function and thus environmental and other non-CFTR factors, such as modifier genes, must play a role(7).

There are six established classes of CFTR mutation, which are outlined in the table below (*table 1.1*). Two CFTR mutant alleles at a single gene locus, i.e. on each chromosome of a pair, are required to cause clinical disease in CF. The presence of a CFTR mutation on only one allele, paired with a normal ("wild-type") CFTR allele, results in heterozygosity and a CF carrier. A patient may have the same CFTR mutation on each allele, such as Phe508del/Phe508del, known as a homozygote, or may have a different disease causing CFTR mutation at each allele, such as Phe508del/Gly551Asp, known as a 'compound heterozygote'. CFTR mutation classes I to III with loss of two functional alleles, resulting in low or absent CFTR activity, in general correspond to the 'classical CF' with the most severe clinical phenotypes. A proportion of CFTR mutations in classes I-III correspond to little or no CFTR protein expression (missense or nonsense CFTR mutations) and are known as *minimal function* (MF) mutations, such as Gly542X and Asn1303Lys(8).

Although there may be considerable phenotypic variability within genetic groups, CFTR mutation classes IV and V have been shown to confer greater residual CFTR protein function, less severe phenotypic disease and 'non-classical' CF. Heterozygotes or homozygotes for these *residual function* (RF) mutations may have less severe CF disease; diagnosed at an older age, more likely to have exocrine pancreatic sufficiency, have better lung function and improved survival(9).

The commonest CFTR mutation in the UK CF population is the Phe508del mutation, a class II mutation, accounting for one or both abnormal CFTR gene alleles in 89.5% of patients in the UK in 2017(4). This is also the commonest CFTR mutation worldwide. The mutation is a deletion of three base pairs encoding phenylalanine at residue 508. This results in abnormal folding of CFTR protein, preventing the correct trafficking of CFTR from the nucleus to the apical membrane. There is little to no normal CFTR activity and, as previously mentioned, homozygous Phe508del CF patients typically have more severe clinical disease. In contrast, Gly551Asp mutations (class III) represent around only 5-6% of the UK population. However, both class II and III mutations have created considerable interest in recent years due to the development of novel CFTR-directed therapies. Ivacaftor was first found to be effective in patients with at least one Gly551Asp mutation(10). Homozygote and heterozygote Phe508del genotypes are responsive to dual CFTR modulation. Minimal function CFTR mutations have no response to CFTR modulation unless paired with a 'responsive' allele such as Phe508del(8). Patients with two minimal function mutations currently have no options for CFTR modulator therapy.

Class of mutation	Resulting defect in CFTR	Genotype
Class I	Defective protein synthesis, resulting in unstable or no protein expression	Gly542X, 1717-1G>A Arg553X, 621+1G→T Trp1282X
Class II	Defective protein maturation and trafficking	Phe508del, Asn1303Lys AspI507, 3659delC
Class III	Impaired chloride channel activity - a gating mutation, no protein function	Gly551Asp Arg560T, Y569Asp

Class IV	Defective chloride conductance – less protein function	Arg117His Ser549Asn
Class V	Splicing abnormalities resulting in reduction in amount of functional protein	3849+10kb→T Ala445Glu
Class VI	Accelerated turnover – less CFTR stability	1811+11.6kbA>G

Table 1.1 – Classification of CFTR mutations; class I-III (+VI) = severe CFTR mutations, class IV-V = non-severe.

1.1.5 Prognosis

When CF was first discovered as a clinical entity in 1938, survival after birth was rarely in excess of one year. Since the 1950s, developments in CF diagnosis and treatment have led to an exponential increase in survival that continues today. Notably, since the discovery of the CFTR gene in 1989, median predicted survival has increased from the mid 20's to 47 years of age in 2017. Furthermore, Keogh et al in 2018 suggested that CF adults with homozygous Phe508del mutations reaching 30 years or above can now expect to live into their 50's(11). Important developments in CF treatment that most certainly have had a huge impact on overall survival in CF have included, amongst many others, advances in antimicrobial therapy, the use of inhaled mucolytics, pancreatic enzyme supplementation and the development of specialist CF units with multidisciplinary care. In the last decade, the development and use of CFTR modulator therapy represents the potential for a positive impact on survival in CF. These novel therapies will not only modify CFTR-related complications and disease course in CF, but will also have an impact on NHS expenditure, provision of CF care and burden of treatment in an ageing chronic disease population. CFTR modulators will thus be extremely important moving forwards with an ageing CF population.

1.2 Complications of Cystic Fibrosis

1.2.1 Pulmonary exacerbation

Pulmonary manifestations remain the most important complications in terms of morbidity and mortality in the clinical course of CF(12). Viscous pulmonary secretions and deficiency of mucociliary clearance leads to chronic infection of the lungs with pathogenic bacteria, creating a state of chronic pulmonary sepsis. Persistent infection and inflammation of the lungs lead to progressive destruction of lung parenchyma and bronchiectasis. Recurrent infective exacerbations lead to progressive decline in lung function. Lung function is monitored regularly in both inpatient and outpatient settings, using percentage predicted forced expiratory volume in one second ($ppFEV_1$) and forced vital capacity (FVC) measurements. FEV₁ is also used as a surrogate marker of survival in CF. Chronic symptoms include breathlessness, productive cough, chest pain and intermittent haemoptysis. Patients are also at risk of massive haemoptysis and pneumothorax, requiring urgent intervention. The course of lung disease in CF encompasses a chronic progressive decline in lung function with episodes of acute worsening of symptoms during a pulmonary exacerbation(13). During an exacerbation, there will usually be an acute increase in respiratory symptom burden including worsening cough, breathlessness and change in sputum volume and viscosity. There may also be a reduction in lung function and new radiological changes. A conclusive definition of pulmonary exacerbation has been contentious, however Fuch's criteria is generally used in clinical practice(14). The development of pulmonary exacerbation scoring systems have also been useful, particularly in clinical trials(15). Management is focused on both treating acute infection and suppressing chronic infection to prevent exacerbation but also to delay lung function decline.

1.2.2 Haemoptysis

Haemoptysis is defined as the expectoration of blood from the respiratory tract. The degree of haemoptysis varies depending on the severity of pulmonary disease. Massive haemoptysis is defined as the expectoration of over 240 millilitres (mls) of fresh blood, or any amount leading to airway compromise or haemodynamic instability(16).

In CF patients, haemoptysis is common, is usually mild and is seen most frequently during pulmonary exacerbation. Up to 60% of adults with CF will experience mild haemoptysis(17). Massive haemoptysis can occur in up to 4% of patients, a greater prevalence seen with age and advancing lung disease(18). The cause of haemoptysis in CF is likely to be multifactorial. The lungs have dual blood supply provided by the bronchial arteries and pulmonary vessels. Chronic inflammation and infection of the pulmonary parenchyma leads to altered vascular resistance and blood flow in these vessels, promoting angiogenesis and neovascularisation(19). The resulting collateral bronchial vessels are tortuous, thin-walled

and prone to rupture into the airway, causing haemoptysis(20). Haemoptysis can also be precipitated by inhaled mucolytics and airway clearance techniques due to irritation of the bronchial mucosa.

The management of haemoptysis in CF is based on consensus opinion from expert CF clinicians rather than national guidelines. There are no randomised controlled trials involving the treatment of haemoptysis. Mild to moderate haemoptysis can usually be managed with a combination of antimicrobials and tranexamic acid. Massive haemoptysis is life threatening and requires intensive inpatient management. If haemoptysis fails to subside with intravenous therapy and supportive measures, bronchial artery embolisation (BAE) should be considered. This is a percutaneous procedure whereby, following identification of the culprit vessel using computed tomography (CT) angiography, a catheter is passed into the bronchial circulation via the femoral artery. A range of embolic agents can be used to achieve vascular occlusion depending upon the size and location of the offending vessel, and correct choice is essential for procedure success. In general, polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) particles are most commonly used due to their preferential efficacy and safety profile when compared to both gelatin sponge and coil therapy. Success rate for short term control of haemoptysis is up to 90%(21). However, BAE does not prevent future episodes of haemoptysis and up to 60% of CF patients will have recurrence of significant haemoptysis, often necessitating further procedures(22). BAE is minimally invasive, suitable even for a less stable patient and is considered a relatively safe procedure. Chest discomfort is a frequent complication. Rare major complications can occur with embolisation of a systemic vessel and, since bronchial artery anatomy can frequently be anomalous, the procedure should be undertaken under the supervision of an experienced thoracic interventional radiologist(21).

1.2.3 Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis

Aspergillus fumigatus is a fungal spore ubiquitous in the environment. It is responsible for a spectrum of clinical conditions ranging from asymptomatic airway colonisation to invasive fungal infection. Colonisation of *Aspergillus fumigatus* within CF airways is relatively common and can affect up to 58% of patients(23), often without detrimental clinical impact. However, *Aspergillus fumigatus* exists as a co-pathogen in the sputum of up to 60% of CF

patients with chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, which can negatively impact lung function(24).

Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis (ABPA) is an immune mediated condition arising from inhalation exposure to *Aspergillus fumigatus* spores following sensitisation in a susceptible individual. Such individuals include those with CF and asthma. An intense humoral response ensues, characterised by the production of polyclonal IgE along with Aspergillus-specific IgE and IgG, producing an inflammatory reaction within the airways.

ABPA has a prevalence of between 2 and 14% in CF patients in Europe(25). Often ABPA is challenging to diagnose in CF patients due to ambiguous clinical presentation and lack of screening and diagnostic uniformity. Indicators of aspergillus lung disease may include an increasing requirement for intravenous antibiotics with less therapeutic benefit or an unexplained reduction in spirometry. Physicians follow the 2006 European guidelines by DeBoeck et al (2006)(26) and those more recent by Farrell et al (2017)(27) for diagnosis, which include a combination of unexplained subacute clinical decline, confirmatory aspergillus serology and new and persistent radiological findings(28).

Management goals include control of airway symptoms and prevention of pulmonary exacerbation. Oral corticosteroids are the mainstay of ABPA treatment in CF, with antifungal treatment added if there is inadequate clinical response. Anti-fungal therapy reduces fungal burden within the lung and creates a steroid-sparing effect, allowing the dose of corticosteroid to be decreased to minimise side effects. The response to anti-fungal treatment however is variable and side effects are common. Subcutaneous anti-IgE therapy, such as Omalizumab, may also be used in resistant cases to reduce corticosteroid dependency and side effects(29). Environmental or occupational exposures must be sought and minimised where possible.

1.2.4 Pneumothorax

The pleural space exists between the parietal and visceral pleural membranes and, in health, should only contain a small amount of fluid. A pneumothorax is defined as air within the pleural space, occurring due to a breach in both the parietal and visceral pleural membranes. A primary pneumothorax can occur in normal lungs. A secondary pneumothorax occurs in the context of underlying lung disease. In CF, pneumothorax can occur in up to 3.4% of patients during their lifetime(30). The prevalence increases with age and advancing lung disease with most occurring in adulthood. Several risk factors may contribute including chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* or *Burkholderia cepacia* complex (BCC) infection, an FEV₁ of less than 30%, the presence of ABPA and the use of inhaled therapies such as tobramycin and dornase alfa(17). There is also a risk of pneumothorax with an episode of massive haemoptysis.

The symptoms of pneumothorax may be subtle but new chest pain or worsening breathlessness should prompt investigation. The management of pneumothorax in CF is similar to those without CF, will vary with the size of pneumothorax and should follow the national guidelines(31). Placement of an intercostal drain into the pleural space will usually be required.

The recurrence rate of pneumothorax in a CF patient is between 50 to 90% and may be in the contralateral lung(32). Talc pleurodesis can be performed in a persistent or recurrent pneumothorax, but one must consider future lung transplant and the technical difficulties a pleurodesed lung would present at explantation. The mortality rate for a first pneumothorax may be up to 14% at two years and is higher in those with more severe underlying pulmonary disease(30)(33). Patients must continue with chest clearance as able, although manoeuvres creating positive end expiratory pressure must be avoided. Antibiotics are usually given during treatment of a pneumothorax and will help to prevent pleural infection. CF physicians must work closely with thoracic surgeons and intensive care support may be required in complex cases. Non-invasive ventilation may also be required in cases of advanced lung disease since pneumothorax may worsen or precipitate hypercapnia.

1.2.5 Microbiology

CF microbiology is complex. Airway colonisation changes with age, treatment and development of resistance patterns. The microbiological make-up of a CF lung has huge implications for morbidity and mortality, including response to treatment, rate of lung function decline and suitability for transplant. The most prevalent bacteria in the CF airway include *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Haemophilus influenza* at younger ages, with the prevalence of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* increasing with time(1). *Figure 1.1* depicts the changing prevalence of bacteria in the CF airway with age.





Treatment of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* is initially centred on eradication, but inevitably chronic colonisation ensues, and the focus becomes suppression and prevention of pulmonary exacerbation. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* is one of the most important bacteria in the CF lung in terms of morbidity and decline in lung function. Initially colonising the upper airways in a non-mucoid form, with time there may be progression to colonisation of the lower airways, forming biofilms and chronic infection. The morbidity of chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* colonisation is high, with recurrent exacerbations, declining lung function and the requirement of long term nebulised antibiotic regimens(36). Non-tuberculous mycobacteria, methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) and *Burkholderia* species are CF pathogens with a lower prevalence but with important morbidity, particularly in an older CF lung. Fungal infection, including *Aspergillus fumigatus*, and respiratory viruses also play a large role in symptomatology, exacerbation rate and pulmonary decline in CF patients.

CF patients are segregated into specific microbiological groups in both outpatient and inpatient settings in order to minimise the spread of transmissible infection. This is particularly important for epidemic strains of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, which have been shown to have aerosol spread among CF patients(37) and confer increased resistance patterns and virulence in the host(38). It is also essential to segregate patients with some strains of *Burkholderia* species, particularly *Burkholderia* cenocepacia, and those with

chronic *Mycobacterium abscessus* and MRSA infection, all considered to be highly transmissible. A change in sputum microbiology in a CF patient due to transmissible infection can have drastic consequences for overall survival, including suitability for lung transplantation. *Burkholderia cenocepacia* is a particularly virulent and antibiotic-resistant species of the *Burkholderia cepacia* complex (*BCC*). In CF, chronic infection with this species can cause a significant decline in lung function and risk of 'cepacia syndrome'(39), a lifethreatening pneumonic process with systemic infection and few options for treatment. Infection with *Burkholderia cenocepacia* in a CF patient is currently considered a contraindication for lung transplantation due to poor post-transplant survival(40).

1.3 Metabolic complications

1.3.1 Cystic fibrosis related diabetes mellitus

Cystic fibrosis-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD) is the most common extra-pulmonary complication in CF. It is primarily caused by a deficiency of endogenous insulin due to fibrotic destruction of pancreatic islet cells, but insulin resistance also plays a role(41). Although sharing some of their characteristics, it appears to be a distinct entity to type one and type two diabetes mellitus(42). Impaired glucose tolerance is common in CF and may progress to CFRD over time. The prevalence of CFRD increases with age, with around 50% of patients affected by the age of 30 years(43). Its presence is also affected by genotype, exocrine pancreatic insufficiency and gender. Mortality in patients with CFRD remains higher than in those without (44). High glucose load in the airways contributes to mucous retention, pulmonary exacerbation, lung function decline and poor nutritional status. Pulmonary function and nutritional status correlate strongly in CF and both are worse in patients with CFRD than those without (45), hence timely detection and optimal management of CFRD is essential. Annual glucose tolerance tests and selective continuous glucose monitoring is utilised for screening, along with regular monitoring of longer-term glucose control using HbA1c measurements, a measure of glycosylated haemoglobin. Although oral treatments are being investigated and may be adequate in some cases, the mainstay of treatment is subcutaneous insulin therapy. Insulin resistance in CF will fluctuate over time, during pulmonary exacerbation and with oral corticosteroid use(46), thus blood glucose will need to be monitored regularly and insulin dosing adjusted accordingly.

Aggressive treatment of CFRD is also important in order to prevent microvascular complications that develop over time, including retinopathy, nephropathy and peripheral neuropathy(47). It has been thought that these complications may occur with less frequency and severity in the CF population when compared to the general diabetic population. However, increasing age, duration of diabetes mellitus and glycaemic control all play important roles in the development of diabetic complications and subsequent organ dysfunction.

Macrovascular complications are frequent causes of morbidity and mortality in the non-CF diabetic population(48). However, historically these complications are infrequently seen in CFRD. With an ageing CF population, we may begin to see macrovascular complications in CF patients related either to CFRD or to the ageing process itself. Contributing factors may include a long duration of high fat diets, hypercholesterolaemia and systemic hypertension. Renal complications with age may also become more frequent, attributed to a number of causative factors. These areas will be further discussed in subsequent chapters.

1.3.2 Cystic fibrosis-related bone disease

Impaired bone mineral density (BMD) in CF patients is caused by a variety of mechanisms, including malabsorption, vitamin D deficiency, impaired calcium metabolism, delayed puberty and chronic inflammation. In addition, corticosteroid therapy, diabetes mellitus, reduced physical exercise and hypogonadism may contribute. Low BMD in CF patients presents a greater risk of fracture than in the general population(49). Fracture of the ribs and thoracic spine are of particular clinical significance due to impaired chest clearance, predisposing to infection and pulmonary exacerbation.

Osteoporosis often correlates with disease severity and clinical status in CF, including lung function, diabetic control and BMI(50). Those patients with more severe disease may have lower BMD due to poorer nutritional status, less physical activity and perhaps more oral corticosteroid use. The chronic inflammatory state in CF can itself contribute to low BMD. The over-production of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF alpha, IL-1 and IL-6 in a CF catabolic state can alter bone metabolism and stimulate osteoclast activity, contributing to increased bone resorption and low BMD(51). This process may be accelerated during pulmonary exacerbation. CFTR is expressed in bone cells and thus can have a direct impact on bone metabolism and BMD. BMD in CF patients is monitored regularly using dual energy X-ray

absorptiometry (DEXA). Low BMD is classed as a Z score of less than minus two in selected areas. The management of low BMD and osteoporosis in CF includes vitamin D and calcium supplementation. Bisphosphonate therapy is used if there is significant loss of BMD over time, for treatment of osteoporotic fractures and for pre-lung transplantation optimisation. This should be coupled with regular dietetic and physiotherapy input, including maintenance of optimal BMI and performance of regular weight bearing exercise. BMD status can affect suitability and outcome of lung transplantation. Immunosuppressive therapy following lung transplantation contributes to loss of BMD and bisphosphonate therapy is often required.

Low vitamin D levels may be associated with increased cardiovascular risk, particularly in the setting of chronic kidney disease(52). This may be important in an ageing CF population however, further studies will be required to establish a causal link.

1.4 Gastrointestinal/Nutritional complications

In 1938, Dorothy Andersen first discovered cystic fibrosis as a clinical entity related to disease of the pancreas(53). Although respiratory complications usually dominate and are the main cause of mortality in CF, gastrointestinal complications are often present from early life.

Exocrine pancreatic insufficiency (PI) is common in CF and affects up to 85% of patients(54). Its presence usually correlates with genotypes of CF that are associated with more severe disease phenotypes, and has historically proven to confer survival disadvantage(55). Exocrine pancreatic insufficiency is caused by destruction of pancreatic ducts by loss of adequate pancreatic secretions, leading to gradual fibrotic destruction of the pancreas. This causes pancreatic digestive enzyme deficiency and malabsorption, manifesting clinically as steatorrhoea, failure to thrive and depletion of fat-soluble vitamins (A, D, E, K)(56). Exocrine pancreatic insufficiency is measured clinically by the presence of pancreatic enzymes in spot stool samples. The most commonly used method is faecal elastase-1 (FE-1), a level of <200mg/g being confirmatory(55).

CFTR-related intestinal bile acid dysfunction in CF also leads to fat malabsorption, along with failure of intestinal bicarbonate secretion. Management of malabsorption and subsequent nutritional deficiencies includes implementation of a high fat diet, pancreatic enzyme

replacement therapy (PERT) and vitamin supplementation. Enteral support may be required if body mass index (BMI) is insufficient despite these measures. Optimisation of nutritional status has been shown to improve survival. Low body weight, particularly with advancing age and chronic *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa infection, predicts a greater lung function decline and morbidity in CF(57).

In mice models, high fat diets have been shown to increase adipose tissue deposition, raise total blood cholesterol and lead to fat deposition in the liver. These contribute to a metabolic syndrome of known cardiovascular risk factors(58) and may prove to be important when looking at overall cardiovascular risk in ageing CF patients.

Other gastrointestinal complications in CF include constipation, distal intestinal obstruction (DIOS), gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (GORD) and pancreatitis. DIOS is the older CF patient equivalent of meconium ileus, occurring due to faecal impaction and leading to small bowel obstruction. Management involves rehydration, optimisation of pancreatic enzyme supplementation and oral gastrograffin. Increased rates of GORD are seen in CF patients, precipitating cough, aspiration of gastric contents and pulmonary exacerbation. Recurrent episodes of pancreatitis in a pancreatic sufficient patient may eventually lead to exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, which in turn predisposes to CFRD.

1.5 Cancer in CF

As CF patients live longer, the risk of malignancy will increase as with a non-CF ageing population. In transplanted patients, the risk of lymphoma and skin cancer is high due to chronic immunosuppression. In non-transplanted patients, there may be an increased risk of gastrointestinal tract malignancy, including colorectal and pancreas(59). In a United States cohort study in 2013, following patients over a twenty-year period, the risk of colorectal malignancy was found to be higher in CF patients compared with the national average with a higher incidence in the Phe508del genotype group(60). Variation in expression of CFTR protein between organs may influence the corresponding cancer risk. High CFTR expression is maintained throughout the intestinal crypts, pancreas and biliary system(54). Epithelial cell dysfunction and viscous intestinal mucous leads to bacterial overgrowth and may contribute to tumour suppressor gene dysregulation(61). The early detection of colorectal cancer and premalignant adenomatous polyps has been shown to reduce mortality. With colon cancer being the commonest malignancy in CF, with an incidence of up to five times

that of the general population, it is now recommended that CF patients over 40 years of age commence annual colonoscopy screening, even in the absence of bowel symptoms(62).

1.6 Hepatobiliary complications of CF

Gallbladder and liver pathology are common in CF, including cholelithiasis and bile duct abnormalities, hepatic steatosis and cirrhosis, and drug hepatotoxicity. Cystic fibrosis related liver disease (CFLD) tends to be diagnosed in the paediatric and adolescent CF population, and up to 20% of these patients develop liver cirrhosis(63). The underlying histopathological process of CFTR dysfunction is that of defective enterohepatic biliary circulation, plugging of intra-hepatic biliary ducts and focal biliary cirrhosis(64). Those with male gender, exocrine pancreatic insufficiency and more severe CFTR mutations appear more susceptible. Management is based on early detection by annual liver enzyme and ultrasound screening, optimising nutritional status and the use of ursodeoxycholic acid, which may halt disease progression. Patients with CFLD must be followed up regularly, often in conjunction with a liver specialist, to assess progression and development of complications. Portal hypertension in liver cirrhosis can lead to the development of oesophageal varices, associated with gastrointestinal bleeding. Liver failure, independent of lung status, may be seen in CF patients if disease progresses and liver transplantation should be considered(65).

Hepatic steatosis has been recognised in cystic fibrosis, associated with a higher BMI and better preserved lung function, and appears to bear similarities to non-alcoholic fatty liver disease seen in non-CF populations(66). As survival in CF improves, we may see an increasing prevalence of diabetes mellitus, and CFTR modulation may contribute to better pancreatic exocrine function and higher BMI. Consequently, we may see more patients with hepatic steatosis rather than the biliary cirrhosis classically recognised in CFLD, of which the progression to cirrhosis is unknown.

1.7 Renal pathology in CF

CFTR is abundantly expressed in the urinary tract epithelium. Abnormal transmembrane ion movement and abnormalities of calcium metabolism in CF predispose to nephrolithiasis, the development of urinary tract stones. In addition, fat malabsorption leads to hyperoxaluria, predisposing to the development of oxalate stone formation in the renal tract(67). Recurrent antibiotic use may lead to reduction of oxalate-degrading bacteria in the gut, also

predisposing to oxalate stones(68). Renal stones, depending on their size, can cause obstruction of the renal tract leading to hydronephrosis and acute renal failure, requiring percutaneous or surgical intervention. They may also be associated with urinary tract infection. Recurrent renal tract stones may lead to gradual destruction of renal parenchyma and chronic renal failure(69).

CF patients are at risk of acute renal failure from a variety of mechanisms. Pulmonary exacerbation may precipitate septicaemia and hypovolaemia, and enhanced salt-wasting and dehydration are contributory factors. Recurrent pulmonary sepsis with concurrent acute renal injury may contribute to chronic renal failure. During pulmonary exacerbation, exposure to intravenous aminoglycosides, with their effective anti-pseudomonal properties but also nephrotoxicity, has been shown to cause renal impairment. Serum drug levels and renal function must be monitored carefully to minimise this risk. This will be expanded upon in subsequent chapters.

Diabetes mellitus is a major risk factor both for the development of premature cardiovascular disease and chronic renal failure(70). Diabetes mellitus, vascular disease and chronic infection will all accelerate normal renal nephron loss in an ageing kidney and will contribute to the development of chronic renal failure over time(71). In addition, immunosuppressive medication following lung transplantation in CF patients may have consequences for renal function and must be monitored closely in the post-transplant period.

1.8 Treatment of cystic fibrosis

1.8.1 General overview

Traditionally, the management of CF has concentrated on the downstream effects of CFTR dysfunction and organ-specific consequences. Since the discovery of CF as a clinical entity in 1938, treatment has advanced significantly and median survival is increasing each year. Whilst predicted survival of children born with CF in the 1950s was less than one year, the median predicted survival of a child born in 2017 with CF is 47 years and over 60% of patients living with CF in the UK today are adults(4).
Our understanding of the pathophysiology of CF, diagnostic testing and the discovery of new therapies in the last 80 years has progressed such that survival has increased exponentially with time(72).



Figure 1.2 – The development of novel CF therapies over time and their influence on survival(72).

The discovery of organism-specific inhaled antibiotics, including those with antipseudomonal and anti-staphylococcal properties, revolutionised CF management in the 1950s. Antimicrobials in oral, inhaled and intravenous form are used in chronic and acute management of CF, and regimens are tailored to the individual sputum microbiology and resistance patterns. Those with chronic pulmonary infection, such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* colonisation, may be on two different inhaled antibiotics alternating each month. This is done to minimise the development of microbial resistance and to provide continuous antimicrobial cover. Inhaled and oral antimicrobials are also important in eradication regimens following a first growth of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Delay in acquisition of chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection may be an important factor in CF survival.

Nutritional status also plays a role in CF longevity. Poor nutritional state correlates with worsening lung function and survival. High metabolic demand and malabsorption in CF

account for malnutrition. Supplemental calorific drinks can be provided along with oral vitamin preparations. Pancreatic enzyme supplementation was introduced in the 1930s and has been developed since then such that fat absorption can now be optimised to enhance growth and normalise body concentrations of fat-soluble vitamins. Diabetic control must be optimised, gastro-oesophageal reflux managed effectively, and pulmonary exacerbations treated aggressively. Nasogastric (NG) and percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy (PEG) feeding can be performed if BMI remains poor despite the above measures. Regular dietetic input is essential.

Sputum in CF is tenacious and thus inhaled mucolytics such as dornase alfa, hypertonic saline and mannitol are used to aid sputum expectoration, along with intensive physiotherapy techniques for airway clearance. Individual response is variable but evidence has shown a reduction in exacerbation rate and improved lung function with inhaled mucolytic therapy(73), although one does not seem to show superiority over the others. Side effects include bronchoconstriction and cough and thus supervised test doses must be performed to ensure safety and tolerance.

1.8.2 Antimicrobial use in CF

1.8.2.1 Macrolides

Macrolide antibiotics have pleiotropic properties, including anti-microbial, antiinflammatory and immunomodulatory(74). Long term azithromycin use is currently recommended in the management of adult CF patients. Advantages include delayed decline in lung function along with reduction in pulmonary exacerbation frequency. There are also modest improvements in quality of life and nutritional status(75). The exact mechanism of action of azithromycin is unknown, although *in vitro* it has been shown, in addition to its antimicrobial properties, to reduce neutrophilic inflammation and pro-inflammatory cytokine levels, including IL-8 and TNF alpha(76). The clinical benefit was first shown in patients with bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome(77). Azithromycin has anti-pseudomonal properties but has also been shown to be beneficial in non-pseudomonal CF cohorts(78).

Sensorineural hearing loss has been recognised as an infrequent adverse effect of long-term azithromycin use(79). In the CF community, the risk of adverse events appears to be outweighed by the clinical benefits.

There are concerns about the evolution of macrolide-resistant non-tuberculous mycobacteria (NTM) colonisation with long term azithromycin use. As such, it is recommended that CF patients are screened for NTM prior to commencement of azithromycin and then screened routinely whilst on the drug.

1.8.2.2 Aminoglycosides in CF

Aminoglycosides are bactericidal antimicrobials and their mechanism of action is to inhibit prokaryotic ribosomal bacterial protein synthesis(80). They have been popular historically in the hospital setting due to their rapid efficacy against gram negative bacterial infections and minimal microbial resistance. However, as research into their pharmacokinetics has evolved, there is now a greater awareness of their potential renal and cochleovestibular toxicity profiles.

Aminoglycosides work as concentration-dependent antibiotics, which means that increasing serum concentrations result in increasing bacterial kill. The peak serum concentration (Cmax) and area under the curve (AUC) are important for total antibiotic exposure and resulting efficacy. Aminoglycosides not only have a rapid distribution and achievement of Cmax, but they also have significant post-antibiotic activity (equating to AUC), which will continue even beyond minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC). These properties enable aminoglycosides to have optimal efficacy at a once daily dosing regimen and, when compared to multiple dosing regimens, exhibit less nephrotoxicity(81).

Aminoglycosides have a narrow therapeutic index are excreted exclusively by glomerular filtration in the kidneys. They are dosed according to individual patient weight and renal function. Those patients with abnormal renal function will clear aminoglycosides at a slower rate, leading to a longer duration of drug exposure and greater potential for nephrotoxicity. Renal accumulation of aminoglycoside causes direct damage to renal proximal tubular cells. Dose reductions will be therefore be required in those with renal disease and this may have implications for efficacy. Other factors leading to aminoglycoside nephrotoxicity include advancing age, diuretic use, volume depletion and concomitant use of other nephrotoxic medication.



Figure 1.3 – A pharmacodynamic model of aminoglycoside pharmacokinetics(82).

Although intravenous aminoglycosides can be used for empirical treatment for a short duration, there are only a small number of specific indications for extended therapy. These include infections with Pseudomonas aeruginosa, streptococcal bacterial endocarditis and infections resistant to other antimicrobials. Intravenous and nebulised aminoglycosides are important treatment options in CF due to their anti-pseudomonal and anti-mycobacterial properties. They are used for the treatment of pulmonary exacerbation in intravenous form, and for anti-pseudomonal maintenance and eradication therapy in inhaled form (83). They are usually used in synergy with other antimicrobials, such as beta lactams(80). Due to repetitive pulmonary exacerbations dominating the clinical course of most CF patients, the lifetime cumulative aminoglycoside exposure can be high. This will be of particular importance as median age of CF survival continues to increase. The pharmacokinetics of aminoglycosides in the CF population is different to a non-CF population. CF patients require higher doses for the desired therapeutic effect due to larger volumes of tissue distribution and faster renal clearance. However, clearance of aminoglycosides may be slower in the adult CF population compared with paediatric(84). Aminoglycosides are associated with important adverse effects, including ototoxicity, vestibular toxicity and nephrotoxicity. Tobramycin is predominantly used in CF, in preference to other aminoglycosides, due to its lower nephrotoxic profile.

1.8.2.3 Nephrotoxicity

There are several factors contributing to both acute and chronic renal failure in CF. Repetitive use of aminoglycosides has been shown to contribute to renal dysfunction in CF. Aminoglycosides induce proximal renal tubular cell apoptosis and necrosis. Progressive renal tubular damage increases resistance in the renal vascular bed and causes a reduction in glomerular and renal blood flow(85).

Creatinine clearance has been shown to decline with increasing courses of aminoglycosides(86). Gentamicin appears to be more nephrotoxic than tobramycin or amikacin, hence it is avoided in CF. In the paediatric CF population, aminoglycosides have been shown to cause acute renal tubular injury following two weeks of intravenous treatment(87). Tobramycin is recommended as a once-daily dosing regimen with careful drug level monitoring in order to minimise the risk of nephrotoxicity and maximise therapeutic benefit.

1.8.3 Gene Therapy in CF

The first CF gene was cloned in 1989 and led to the development of pulmonary gene therapy in CF. Phase one trials, around 20 to date, were designed to transfer a normal CFTR gene carried on an adenovirus vector onto the epithelial lung surfaces via inhalation. Adequate uptake of the corrected CFTR gene by 'CF cells' was then thought to have the ability to modify epithelial CFTR expression and correct chloride ion transport, with a hope to normalise organ function(88). Although modification of abnormal CFTR expression on large airway epithelium seemed reasonable via inhalation, smaller airways were more difficult to reach and other barriers to efficacy such as mucous retention and chronic bacterial infection presented problems. Non-viral gene therapy was studied by Alton et al in 2015, studying lung transfer of plasmid DNA encoding the CFTR gene contained within a cationic liposome, showing this to be feasible and with a modest increase in lung function at one year(89). Research into gene therapy in CF is ongoing.

1.8.4 CFTR modulators in CF

Until recently, treatment of CF could only focus on symptom control and slowing lung function decline. However, the introduction of CFTR modulating therapies has changed the landscape of CF treatment over the last decade. Correction of abnormalities in CFTR protein function and expression are now the targets of therapy rather than the consequent downstream organ dysfunction. The CFTR genotype is of particular relevance in the era of CFTR modulation since class determines patient eligibility for certain modulators. Ivacaftor (Kalydeco[®]) was the first CFTR modulator developed and was approved for clinical use in 2012. As a CFTR potentiator, it increases the time of opening of the CFTR channel and thus augments epithelial chloride transport. It is designed for CFTR 'gating mutations' with abnormal CFTR channel opening, the commonest of which is Gly551Asp. This genotype however only accounts for a minority of CF patients in the UK. The STRIVE and ENVISION trials(10) showed ivacaftor, compared with placebo, to have statistically significant improvement in lung function and BMI at 48 weeks, as well as a reduction in pulmonary exacerbations and sweat chloride levels. The open label PERSIST trial(90) showed this benefit to be sustained after 144 weeks. These trials included only those patients with better lung function and excluded those with an FEV₁ of below 40% predicted. A subsequent trial by Barry et al in 2014 showed ivacaftor to be just as effective in CF patients with more severe lung disease(91).

Many abnormal CFTR genes have been shown to cause clinical CF and abnormal CFTR shows great "allelic diversity" (92). Around 85-90% of Caucasian CF patients carry either one or two copies of the Phe508del mutation, a class II mutation with reduced functional CFTR protein at the epithelial cell surface. In the last few years, there have been exciting advances in CFTR modulation for Phe508del mutations and hence potentially life-altering treatment in a significant proportion of CF patients. Ivacaftor/Lumacaftor (Orkambi®) is a combination CFTR corrector (lumacaftor) and CFTR potentiator (ivacaftor) modulator therapy used for class II CFTR mutations. Ivacaftor and lumacaftor work synergistically to correct CFTR protein misfolding and increase its delivery to the cell surface, thus improving chloride transport and modifying downstream organ dysfunction. Phase three clinical trials conducted in 2013 and 2014, the TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT studies(93), showed sustained clinical benefit over a 24-week period with reduced pulmonary exacerbation rate, improved lung function and BMI, and improved quality of life scores. In some cases, FEV₁ improved up to 10% compared with placebo. Importantly, clinical benefit spanned a wide range of baseline lung function, including those with an FEV₁ of less than 40% predicted. The greatest clinical benefit was seen in patients with homozygous Phe508del mutations. Chest tightness may be a barrier to the clinical efficacy of Orkambi[®], which is usually self-limiting after a few weeks. In addition, liver function must be closely monitored and Orkambi® is contraindicated in those with significantly abnormal baseline liver function. In-patient

commencement of Orkambi[®] can be done with close lung function monitoring, in patients with homozygous phe508del mutations and with a baseline FEV₁ of less than 40% predicted. Orkambi[®] is now rarely used in adult CF patients and has been superseded by triple CFTR modulation therapy.

Following the introduction of Orkambi[®] into CF management, a further combination therapy of Tezacaftor and Ivacaftor (Symdeko[®]) was been subsequently developed and may have an advantageous adverse event profile as compared with Orkambi[®]. It has also shown *in vivo* efficacy in patients with residual function mutations, thus may benefit a wider range of CFTR mutation groups(94). In current clinical practice in the UK, Symdeko[®] may be used as an alternative in homozygous Phe508del patients who cannot tolerate Orkambi[®]. In addition, the recent emergence of 'triple' CFTR modulation therapy has been an exciting development in CF treatment. Kaftrio[®] is now licensed for use in the UK in Phe508del homozygotes, and Phe508del heterozygotes with either a minimal or residual function CFTR mutation. Phase 3 trials in patients aged 12 years and above, with ppFEV₁ of between 40 and 90%, have shown tremendous reductions in sweat chloride levels (over 40mmol/L), an increase in ppFEV₁ of up to 14.3% and reduction in pulmonary exacerbation rate by 63% over a 28 day period(95)(96). Further clinical data is eagerly anticipated and the longer term efficacy of triple therapy will undoubtedly impact survival in CF.

1.8.5 Oxygen, NIV and transplant in CF

The typical CF disease course usually is one of progressive respiratory failure and end stage lung disease. Domiciliary oxygen therapy and non-invasive ventilation (NIV) are strategies that have been adopted in routine CF care, either as palliative interventions or as a bridge to lung transplantation. After years of experimental work, the first human lung transplant was performed by James Hardy in the USA in 1963. Although initial survival was poor, the development of effective immunosuppressive therapies has meant that the median survival following double lung transplantation is now around 8.9 years for CF patients(97). Patients undergoing lung transplantation for CF, although numbers are lower, have better outcomes than patients with other transplantable chronic lung diseases.

1.8.6 The MDT in CF

Patients with CF require regular contact with healthcare professionals in both their acute and chronic disease course. The development of multidisciplinary team (MDT) working, specialist clinics, strict infection control practices and patient segregation are invaluable interventions and have all heavily contributed to increased survival in CF. All are now included in the European Cystic Fibrosis Society Best Practice guidelines(98). MDT models in CF care are also of vital importance in the transition of patients from paediatric to adult care.

Increasing survival of the CF patient will present further challenges to the CF MDT. The demographics of survival will have an impact on clinical manifestations of CF in the future. Ageing in CF will likely present further complexities in management, with an increase in treatment burden and the emergence of microbial resistance. Age-prevalent CF complications with become an increasing concern, including CFRD, osteoporosis and malignancy. General age-related complications may also have significant impact on management and survival, including cardiovascular disease and renal disease, potentially compounded by conventional CF treatment strategies.

1.9 Ageing in general population

The UK population is ageing. In 2017, 18.2% of the UK population were over 65 years of age, compared with 15.9% in 2007. In 2027, this figure is predicted to increase to 20.7%(99). Ageing in humans is a process that involves gradual physiological and functional decline over time. At a cellular level, reactive oxygen and nitrogen species accumulate over time and cause oxidative stress to tissues, progressing to organ dysfunction(100). The rate of biological ageing depends on both environmental and genetic factors and will vary between individuals. Ageing is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease, chronic renal failure, chronic lung pathology, lung function decline and malignancy.

1.9.1 Cardiovascular disease and age

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) remains the most common cause of death in the developed world. In 2015, CVD was the second commonest cause of death in the UK(101). Although overall mortality has decreased in recent years in the UK, CVD morbidity remains prevalent. Research in the twentieth century in this area has focused on increasing our understanding of cardiovascular disease and its risk factors, with a view to both primary and secondary prevention. The Framingham Heart Study began in 1948 and is ongoing(102). It is the largest epidemiological cohort study of its kind and has identified the cardiovascular 'risk factors' we refer to in practice today. Indeed, the Framingham risk scoring system was derived from this research and enables clinicians to calculate individual cardiovascular risk from multiple clinical and epidemiological parameters. Cardiovascular disease includes ischaemic heart disease, cerebrovascular accident (CVA/'stroke'), peripheral vascular disease and heart failure. Risk factors for CVD can be separated into modifiable and non-modifiable. Modifiable factors include smoking, obesity, systemic hypertension, hyperlipidaemia and diabetes mellitus. Non-modifiable risk factors include age, sex, ethnicity and genetic susceptibility. In addition, low socioeconomic status is associated with a higher risk of CVD.

The hallmark of vascular disease is the development of atherosclerosis. The atherosclerotic process involves the formation of fat cells in the intimal layer of the arterial wall due to infiltration by lipoprotein particles. This stimulates endothelial cell activation and the release of cytokines, which results in the formation of an atheroma. Smooth muscle cell proliferation and migration to the atheromatous area leads to atherosclerotic plaque

development. Blood flow is disrupted in the area of atherosclerosis and predisposes to thrombus formation(103). Atherosclerotic plaque is more prone to developing at areas of high flow velocity within the artery. Atherosclerosis is inevitable with ageing but conditions predisposing to its premature development include systemic hypertension, dyslipidaemia, diabetes mellitus, smoking, obesity and genetics.

1.9.2 Hypercholesterolaemia

Cholesterol is an essential structural component of cell membranes and its metabolism is regulated by the liver and gastrointestinal tract. It is transported in low density and high density lipoprotein molecules. Cholesterol is a major component of atherosclerotic plaque formation and, in high quantities, can contribute to premature CVD. Risk factors for high serum cholesterol include poorly controlled diabetes mellitus, high fat diet, obesity, smoking and high levels of alcohol consumption. In addition, liver disease and nephrotic syndrome are associated with secondary dyslipidaemia. In clinical practice, routine serum lipid measurements include total cholesterol (TC), low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) and triglyceride (TG) levels. More specific profiles may also include apolipoprotein measurements. Normal lipid profile parameters and definitions of hypercholesterolaemia will vary slightly between centres but will be based on a combination of raised serum total cholesterol, LDL-C levels, LDL/HDL-C ratio and triglycerides.

Familial hypercholesterolaemia is a genetic cause of high cholesterol and of premature cardiovascular disease. A significantly raised cholesterol level with a suggestive family history should prompt further investigation.

Multiple large multicentre primary and secondary prevention studies over the last five decades have shown that a reduction in cholesterol results in a significant reduction in ischaemic heart disease and subsequent mortality. These include the Helsinki Heart Study(104), the Lipid Research Programme(105) and the Coronary Drug Project Research Group(106). This has led to the widespread use of lipid lowering medication, the commonest of which is the statin group. Statins act to drive LDL-C particles out of circulation via inhibition of the HMG-CoA reductase pathway(107). Current NICE guidance recommends the use of both lifestyle modification and lipid lowering therapies in the management of hyperlipidaemia, following individual cardiovascular risk prediction scoring. For primary CVD

prevention, if lifestyle modifications fail to lower cholesterol and there is a 10% or greater risk of CVD within 10 years, patients are offered a low dose statin. In secondary prevention for those who have already sustained a cardiovascular event, high dose statin therapy is recommended(108).

LDL-C is the most atherogenic component of cholesterol and increased LDL-C levels correlate with a greater risk of cardiovascular disease, particularly coronary artery disease. LDL-C particles become oxidised within the intimal layer of the vessel wall and are taken up by macrophages to produce foam cells. These cells drive the atherosclerotic process(109). It is important to note that LDL-C is a derived measure using the *Friedewald formula*(110) and cannot be measured directly;

Friedewald formula: LDL-C (mg/dL) = TC (mg/dL) – HDL-C (mg/dL) – TG (mg/dL)/5.

Friedewald's calculation may be inaccurate in the setting of high TG levels (>4mmol/L), giving rise to the development of other LDL-C equations and novel markers of serum cholesterol burden, such as apolipoproteins, over recent decades. Despite this, Friedewald's calculation remains the most widely used in clinical practice.

Studies have shown a positive correlation between total cholesterol, LDL cholesterol and apolipoprotein B with the presence of atherosclerotic plaque(111). Conversely, HDL cholesterol has been shown an inverse relationship to cardiovascular disease and is thought to be protective. The components of HDL-C function to reduce inflammation and oxidative stress to encourage cholesterol efflux from the atheromatous lesion, hence reversing the atherosclerotic process(112).

Apolipoprotein B (ApoB) is the main structural component of LDL-C. It exists as ApoB 100, synthesised in the liver, and ApoB 48, synthesised in the small intestine. ApoB 100 makes up 95% of apolipoproteins in the circulation and forms the structural stability for the LDL-C molecule. All low-density lipoprotein cholesterol entities, including LDL, very low-density lipoprotein (vLDL) and intermediate density lipoprotein (iLDL) contain ApoB and are capable of atheroma formation, although LDL-C is the most abundant in fasting blood(113). Apolipoproteins, unlike LDL-C, can be directly measured in the blood, and have several other advantages over LDL-C measurements. These include reliable non-fasting results,

standardised reference ranges and lack of influence by metabolic syndrome, where LDL-C may be falsely low. ApoB can also retain reliable CV risk prediction in patients already on lipid lowering therapy(114).

In the AMORIS study (2001), serum ApoB levels were shown to be a more sensitive predictor of risk for ischaemic heart disease than LDL-C, and indeed levels may be raised despite a normal LDL-C result(115). It is also a useful measure of risk if the patient is already on lipid lowering therapy. The Quebec Cardiovascular Study (1996) showed that raised ApoB levels are an independent risk factor for ischaemic heart disease and as such should be included in CV risk scoring(116). The National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III (NCEP ATPIII) guidelines now recommend that ApoB measurements be used as a primary target for lipid lowering therapy along with other serum cholesterol markers and have set a parameter of less than 90 milligrams per litre (g/L) as the clinical goal(117).

Apolipoprotein AI (ApoA1) is the major protein component of HDL-C. The ratio of ApoB and ApoA1 may be used to predict individual CV risk and may well be superior to LDL-C, HDL-C and total cholesterol parameters(118). Given the correlation with ApoA1 and HDL-C, and their positive effect on atherosclerosis, some groups have been testing the outcomes of ApoA1 compounds in animal models. Interestingly they have shown reduction in myocardial infarct size and damage, perhaps representing action against ischaemia-reperfusion injury(119). HDL cholesterol levels may have a correlation with high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), a measure of inflammation, and cystatin C, a maker of glomerular filtration rate and renal function(120).

Inflammation is a major component of the process of atherosclerosis. CRP is an acute phase protein originating in the liver. It is a marker of inflammation and is produced following stimulation by pro-inflammatory cytokines. The production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, evidenced by raised CRP, in chronic inflammatory disease has been shown to accelerate atherosclerosis(121). As such, high sensitivity CRP measurements are considered to be a useful risk and prognosis prediction marker in cardiovascular disease. In CF, patients suffer from a chronic inflammatory state whereby serum markers of inflammation such as CRP may never reach a normal level. Although interpretation of CRP in relation to CVD in this patient group may be challenging, it may also have an important role as a predictor of cardiovascular risk in the ageing CF patient.

1.9.3 Hypertension

Systemic hypertension can be defined as primary (essential) or secondary. Essential hypertension is common and is associated with age and increased cardiovascular risk. Normal, or 'optimal', blood pressure (BP) is defined as a systolic blood pressure (SBP) of ≤120mmHg and a diastolic blood pressure (DBP) of ≤90mmHg. In clinical practice, systemic hypertension is broadly defined as SBP consistently above 140mmHg and DBP of above 90mmHg(122). Beyond this, hypertension can be graded according to degree of SBP and DBP (*table 1.2*). ADD normal BP line

Category of blood pressure	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	
Normal - 'optimal'	<120	<80	
Normal	120-129 80-84		
High-normal	130-139	85-89	
Grade I	140-159	90-99	
Grade II	160-179	100-109	
Grade III	≥180	≥110	
Isolated systolic hypertension	>140	<90	

Table 1.2: Classification of systemic hypertension in current clinical practice(123).

A diagnosis of systemic hypertension cannot be made on the basis of an isolated elevated blood pressure recording, but rather a sustained elevation of blood pressure over a period of time with several recordings. This may be carried out over a number of outpatient clinic attendances or with the assistance of domiciliary ambulatory blood pressure monitoring.

Once a diagnosis of systemic hypertension is made, investigations should be carried out for evidence of end organ dysfunction. This may include electrocardiography to assess for left ventricular hypertrophy, urine dipstick for proteinuria to assess for renal dysfunction and ophthalmologic assessment to exclude hypertensive retinopathy. Anti-hypertensive treatment is guided by age, cardiovascular risk scoring, evidence of end organ damage and severity of hypertension. Thresholds for treatment are lower in those with established cardiovascular disease, diabetes mellitus and renal disease.

Both diastolic and systolic blood pressure increase with age. Cardiovascular morbidity increases as blood pressure rises, and each incremental rise of 10-20mmHg may as much as double cardiovascular risk, independent of other risk factors(124). Historically, diastolic hypertension has been associated with the majority of hypertension-related end organ damage and cardiovascular morbidity(125). However, isolated systolic hypertension is becoming increasingly prevalent in an elderly population. Although systolic and diastolic blood pressure may rise in concurrence, isolated systolic hypertension has been shown to contribute to atherogenesis, cardiovascular risk and renal disease, thus its treatment may warrant increasing scrutiny in an ageing population. In the Framingham heart study, a change in systolic blood pressure of around 35mmHg in women and 25mmHg in men over four decades was seen. This can be attributed to structural vascular changes and declining arterial compliance with age, cellular oxidative stress and dysregulation of cellular ion homeostasis, including sodium, calcium and magnesium(126). There is also an increase in alpha-adrenergic sympathetic drive, causing arterial vasoconstriction and subsequent hypertension.

High blood pressure contributes to cardiac remodelling and left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH). Cardiovascular events have been shown to occur more frequently in patients with LVH than without(127). Hypertension also accelerates the atherosclerotic process, inducing arterial wall remodelling and increasing vascular resistance(128). This increases the risk of ischaemic coronary and cerebrovascular disease.

Systemic hypertension is confounded by obesity and hypercholesterolaemia and is associated with a state of peripheral insulin resistance and hyperglycaemia. Control of metabolic disturbances such as hyperglycaemia often results in blood pressure reduction. Caution must be taken however when lowering blood pressure(129) in patients with significant coronary artery disease. Since coronary arteries are perfused in diastole, lowering diastolic blood pressure may lead to under-perfusion and may exacerbate cardiac ischaemia.

1.9.4 Diabetes mellitus

The pathophysiology of type one diabetes mellitus (T1DM) is autoimmune destruction of pancreatic Islet of Langerhan cells, causing an absolute insulin deficiency. Hyperglycaemia ensues following glucose loading due to inadequate glucose regulation through lack of endogenous insulin. Exogenous insulin treatment is essential to control its symptoms and secondary complications.

Type two diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a different entity to T1DM in that, rather than a deficiency of insulin production, there is a state of insulin resistance. This results firstly in postprandial hyperglycaemia and impaired glucose tolerance, progressing to overt diabetes mellitus(130). Genetically predisposed individuals are at risk, confounded by obesity and hypertension, both of which produce states of insulin resistance. Importantly in a respiratory disease patient population, corticosteroid therapy can induce or exacerbate hyperglycaemia due to effects on insulin resistance. Long term oral corticosteroid therapy can affect the adrenal hormonal axis.

Hyperglycaemia exerts negative effects on the vascular endothelium, contributing to thrombosis and atherosclerosis. Despite treatment, microvascular disease is common in diabetes mellitus, including retinopathy, nephropathy and peripheral neuropathy. Macrovascular complications such as coronary artery disease, peripheral vascular disease and cerebrovascular disease are becoming more prevalent as we see an increase in T2DM in association with an ageing population and increasing prevalence of obesity in a sedentary Western world.

Given the higher cardiovascular risk associated with both T1DM and T2DM, antihypertensive and lipid lowering medication is usually considered at a younger age than the general population and is essential in those with evidence of diabetic vascular complications.

1.9.5 Obesity

Obesity is defined as an excess of body fat that presents a risk to health(131). Obesity is usually measured by using body mass index (BMI) calculations. Cardiovascular disease has been shown to be more prevalent with obesity, particularly in those with a central deposition of adiposity. In addition, obesity is associated with systemic hypertension, dyslipidaemia, hyperglycaemia and elevated CRP, all of which positively correlate with cardiovascular risk. Obesity may become an issue with CF patients in the future due to CFTR modulation and the potential for weight gain on these therapies. Phase three trials of CFTR modulators have shown an increase in BMI for the majority of patients. Ivacaftor has been shown to normalise gastrointestinal pH, thus improving absorption and nutritional status(132). In longitudinal analysis of these patients, improved survival and weight gain may have consequences for cholesterol and cardiovascular risk.

1.9.6 The 'metabolic syndrome'

The 'metabolic syndrome' has been defined as a collection of metabolic abnormalities associated with insulin resistance. These include visceral obesity, dyslipidaemia, hyperglycaemia and systemic hypertension. All separately and synergistically are strongly associated with cardiovascular disease. Indeed, up to 80% of patients with T2DM will die of cardiovascular disease(133). Women with T2DM may be more prone to cardiovascular disease with ageing due to the loss of oestrogen protective effects in menopause.

1.9.7 Smoking

Cigarette smoking, amongst many other detrimental health impacts, notably increases the risk of cardiovascular events. This risk was seen to at least double compared with the non-smoking population in the Framingham Study data in the 1980s(102). The pathophysiology behind this has long been debated but seems to favour endothelial cell dysfunction and oxidative stress, leading to accelerated atherosclerosis and eventually thrombosis(134). Cigarette smoking increases the risk of coronary artery disease, stroke, heart failure and peripheral vascular disease. A significant amount of NHS resources in recent years has been dedicated to the development of smoking cessation services and promoting healthier lifestyles.

1.9.8 Non-atherosclerotic vascular disease

We know that vascular atherosclerosis is in large part an inflammatory process and is related to oxidative stress and endothelial cell dysfunction. As such, inflammatory markers such as CRP can be used as an independent predictor of cardiovascular mortality(135). This may be of particular relevance in inflammatory conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis and systemic vasculitis. Inflammatory conditions have been shown to be independent risk

factors for cardiovascular disease(136). It is therefore possible that there may be relevance to an ageing CF population, with a lifelong, high inflammatory burden.

However, more recently emphasis has been placed on the role of central arterial stiffness in cardiovascular disease. As we age, arteries undergo a process called arteriosclerosis. This involves calcification of the vessel wall and alteration of elastin, collagen and smooth muscle cell balance resulting in increased arterial stiffness(137). As a consequence, vascular impedance is affected, altering the relationship between blood pressure and flow. This process of vascular ageing may be accelerated by conditions such as diabetes mellitus, renal disease and systemic hypertension, in which inflammation and oxidative stress contribute to accelerated vascular stiffening. There is also a positive correlation between arterial stiffness and atherosclerosis(138). Systolic blood pressure and pulse pressure both increase with age, and correlate with arterial stiffness(139). Pressure of blood flow and arterial stiffness in the aorta are surrogate markers of coronary blood flow and left ventricular workload. As such, if aortic stiffness increases, the resulting rise in systolic blood pressure will increase ventricular load and myocardial oxygen demand, compromising coronary circulation and contributing to left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH). Aortic stiffness is thus associated with systolic hypertension, coronary artery disease, stroke, heart failure and atrial fibrillation. Markers of arterial stiffness can also be performed using cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), in addition to assessing biventricular function.

1.9.9 Arterial stiffness measurements

Early detection of arterial stiffness and changes to vascular structure may help to predict premature vascular disease, allowing treatment strategies for primary cardiovascular prevention. Indices of large artery stiffness such as pulse wave velocity (PWV) and augmentation index (AIx) have been shown to predict cardiovascular risk in the general population(140) as well as specific patient groups, such as those with systemic hypertension(141) and chronic kidney disease(142). Moreover, PWV is independently associated with increased cardiovascular risk when adjusted for standard cardiovascular risk factors(143). Inclusion of carotid femoral PWV (cfPWV) in cardiovascular risk prediction scoring has been shown to increase classification accuracy in low and intermediate risk groups by up to 13%(144).

1.9.10 Pulse wave velocity

Non-invasive PWV is the gold standard for direct measurements of arterial stiffness as set out by the American Heart Association (AHA) guidelines in 2010(145). PWV is essentially the velocity of the pulse wave travelling through a measured segment of an artery. The pulse wave is reflected off the aortic bifurcation and these retrograde waves are recorded using pulse wave analysis. The higher the arterial stiffness, the faster these pulse waves will travel, resulting in a higher PWV. PWV measurements are derived using concepts from the Moens-Korteweg equation, which first described the speed of pulse wave propagation as inversely proportional to the distensibility of the vessel in large arteries(146). Central arterial stiffness measurements, such as the aorta, are preferentially used over peripheral arterial parameters due to their higher reliability particularly in chronic kidney disease cohorts in which the predictive value of brachial PWV for cardiovascular risk, as compared with aortic PWV, is suboptimal(147). Aortic PWV (or carotid-femoral, cfPWV) can be calculated using several non-invasive arterial tonometry devices using a calculation of the distance between carotid and femoral pulses divided by the transit time of the pulse wave(148).

In normal physiology, there is a 'stiffness gradient' in the arterial tree, with PWV increasing relative to distance from the proximal aorta. In addition, PWV values vary according to age, gender, ethnicity and blood pressure. Although a quick and non-invasive technique, the use of PWV measurement in routine cardiovascular risk prediction has been limited due to the lack of normative reference ranges. The European Society of Hypertension guidelines (2007) suggested a normal PWV should be less than 12 metres per second (m/s)(145). A study by Laurent et al (2001) suggested an association between PWV of >13.5m/s and high cardiovascular risk(141). However, a subsequent document published in 2010 by the Arterial Stiffness Collaboration based on population data from a large multicentre European study, suggests more accurate reference values for PWV should be categorised according to age and degree of hypertension. Mean PWV values according to blood pressure and age from this study are shown below, along with the application of example equations for PWV derived from linear regression models(149).

BP category:	Optimal	Normal	High normal	Grade I	Grade II
				hypertension	hypertension
			D\A/\/ (ac		
Age (years)	4		PVVV (dS		►
			mean +/-		
			2SD)		
-20				7 4 (4 5 40 4)	77/4444
<30	6.1 (4.6-7.5)	6.6 (4.9-8.2)	6.8 (5.1-8.5)	7.4 (4.6-10.1)	7.7 (4.4-11)
30-39	6.6 (4.4-8.9)	6.8 (4.2-9.4)	7.1 (4.5-9.7)	7.3 (4-10.7)	8.2 (3.3-13)
					/>
40-49	7 (4.5-9.6)	7.4 (5.1-10)	7.9 (5.2-	8.6 (5.1-12)	9.8 (3.8-15.7)
			10.7)		
50.50	76/49	Q 4 /F 1	00/40	06(40142)	10 5 (4 1
50-59	7.0 (4.8-	8.4 (5.1-	8.8 (4.8-	9.0 (4.9-14.3)	10.5 (4.1-
	10.5)	11.7)	12.8)		16.8)
60-69	9.1 (5.2-	9.7 (5.7-	10.3 (5.5-	11.1 (6.1-	12.2 (5.7-
	12.0	12 ()	, 1 F 1)	16.2)	19 ()
	12.9)	12.0)	13.1)	10.2)	10.0)
≥70	10.4 (5.2-	11.7 (6-17.5)	11.8 (5.7-	12.9 (6.9-	14 (7.4-20.6)
	15.6)		17.9)	18.9)	

Table 1.3: Recommended reference ranges for PWV according to age and degree of systemic hypertension(149). SD = standard deviation, PWV = pulse wave velocity (m/s)



Figure 1.4: PWV reference values according to blood pressure and age.

<30 PWV = 0.0472 × MBP + 2.20 0.26 30–39 PWV = 0.0423 × MBP + 2.20 0.13 40–49 PWV = 0.0646 × MBP + 1.41 0.23 50–59 PWV = 0.0731 × MBP + 1.35 0.17 60–69 PWV = 0.0715 × MBP + 3.16 0.13 ≥70 PWV = 0.0676 × MBP + 5.46 0.07



The majority of PWV reference ranges have been studied in patient cohorts with CKD or end-stage renal disease (ESRD). Blacher and colleagues(150) showed a significant increase in both all-cause and CVD mortality in an ESRD population with aortic PWV >12m/s. A study by London and colleagues in 2001 suggests an optimal "cut-off value" for PWV of 11.3m/s for CVD mortality and 11.5m/s for all-cause mortality, and hence a normative value of PWV <11m/s may be acceptable(151).

1.9.11 Augmentation Index

Augmentation index (AIx) is another marker of arterial wall elasticity. It is measured by pulse wave analysis (PWA), using similar processes of arterial tonometry. AIx is expressed as a percentage (%) and represents the degree by which the central pulse pressure is augmented by the reflected pulse wave. The AIx is measured by analysing a double-peaked waveform, with the first peak (P1) representing the left ventricular ejection and the second (P2) representing the reflected pulse wave. The difference between these two peaks reflects the degree of central pressure augmentation and therefore the Alx. An example of this waveform and calculation of radial Alx is shown below(152).



Figure 1.6: AIx waveform as calculated from pulse wave analysis(152)

In similarity to PWV, normative reference ranges for Alx are lacking, most likely due to the considerable variations of Alx with age, gender and heart rate. However, London and colleagues (2001) observed an increase in CVD mortality with 10% incremental increases of Alx and suggest an optimal normative cut-off value of 25%(151). Increasing Alx has been shown to correlate with increasing arterial stiffness and CV morbidity(153). However, due to its limitations, PWV remains the preferred measure of arterial stiffness in clinical practice. In addition, a high PWV in the presence of normal Alx can be an indication of diffuse vessel calcification rather than localised atheroma and may intimate underlying renal pathology.

Arterial stiffness determines the blood flow, pressure and changes in vessel diameter during each cardiac cycle. The elasticity of the vessel determines arterial stiffness and is regulated by collagen and elastin within the vessel wall as well as sympathetic tone and genetic factors. Arterial stiffness can be affected by oxidative stress and inflammation, and can be seen to increase with both disease and age(143). In an ageing population, there is an increasing overlap between arterial stiffness and the process of endothelial cell dysfunction in atherosclerosis. Arterial stiffness parameters can be measured effectively and noninvasively in large populations, hence should be used as a predicting tool for cardiovascular risk where relevant. Indeed, central arterial stiffness has been measured as part of a risk scoring system in the chronic renal failure population with good prediction of cardiovascular disease(154).

Strategies to combat accelerated arterial stiffness in susceptible populations have been postulated but thus far do not provide sufficient evidence to sustain use in routine clinical practice. For inflammatory conditions such as chronic renal disease, anti-inflammatory drugs may have roles in reducing arterial stiffness via vascular endothelin receptor antagonism and reducing circulating inflammatory cytokines contributing to arterial wall stiffness, thus reducing cardiovascular morbidity(155). However, their use is limited due to potential detrimental effects on renal function. Research surrounding the benefits of antiinflammatory medication in CFTR-mediated chronic lung inflammation in CF is promising and this may become more relevant in terms of arterial stiffness and cardiovascular risk in an ageing CF population.

Antihypertensives have the ability to reduce arterial stiffness by lowering arterial wall pressure. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEi) yield potential to reduce arterial stiffness and cardiovascular mortality, independent of their blood pressure lowering effect. Statin therapy and vitamin D may also have an anti-inflammatory role and vascular-protective properties via endothelin modification(155).

1.9.12 Genetics and cardiovascular risk

Although environmental influences play a huge role in cardiovascular risk, genetic factors also have an important part in the development of premature cardiovascular disease. Familial hypercholesterolaemia is an inherited, autosomal dominant LDL receptor mutation, predisposing to cholesterol levels often twice as high as in the unaffected population of the same age and sex. This, compounded by a Western diet, increases the risk of premature coronary artery disease and stroke. In addition, familial mutations in the ApoB gene result in a seven-fold increased risk of CVD in this population(156). Genetics also play a role in hypertension, T2DM and congenital heart disease(157), all predisposing to cardiovascular morbidity.

1.9.13 Cardiovascular risk scoring

Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of mortality worldwide and accounts for almost one third of deaths in the UK per annum(158). Cardiovascular morbidity is also a significant annual NHS expense. As such, it is of utmost importance to detect cardiovascular disease early and treat it aggressively, particularly in high risk patient groups. Cardiovascular risk factors are grouped into non-modifiable including age, family history, ethnic background and sex, and modifiable risk factors including obesity, systemic hypertension, high cholesterol and smoking.

In addition to patients with significant modifiable cardiovascular risk factors, patients with chronic inflammatory disease also remain at higher risk of CVD. The majority of cardiovascular risk scores are calculated in primary care and require the relevant clinical and epidemiological data to be inputted via computer into a scoring system, which will then generate a ten-year cardiovascular risk score for the individual patient. Treatment strategies for primary prevention will then be utilised according to the calculated level of risk, including anti-hypertensive and lipid lowering therapy.

Although there have been several scoring systems used in the past, including the *Framingham Risk Score*, the *HEARTScore* and the *QRisk®2* score(159), the most recent score is now the *QRisk®3* score, developed in 2017. It is yet to be utilised in primary care and current NICE guidance still recommends the use of the *QRisk®2* in CVD risk assessment. The *QRisk®* scores are derived from primary care data from almost eight million cardiovascular naïve patients(160). They have been developed and validated only for use in the UK population. The *QRisk®3* is an updated version of the *QRisk2* score and has the addition of several new cardiovascular risk parameters. *QRisk®* scores are updated annually and data is stored within the *QResearch* database.

The *QRisk®3* score calculates ten-year cardiovascular risk for patients between 25 and 84 years of age. Cardiovascular risk must be assessed regularly in patients over the age of 40 years. The score, amongst other parameters, includes demographic data as well as smoking status, the presence of diabetes mellitus, the presence of chronic kidney disease (CKD) stages three to five (III to V) and inflammatory conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Interestingly, a diagnosis of severe mental illness

and the use of anti-psychotic medication is now included in scoring since there appears to be a modestly increased cardiovascular risk in this patient cohort. Both corticosteroids and second-generation anti-psychotics are associated with an increase in serum lipid levels(108)(161).

Importantly, the score is only relevant in those without a pre-existing diagnosis of cardiovascular disease. In addition, those with familial hypercholesterolaemia should not be included. Scores must be interpreted with appropriate clinical judgement and may be underestimated in younger patients. In conjunction with NICE guidance (2014), treatment should be offered to those patients with a calculated ten-year cardiovascular risk score of 10% or greater(108). This should include a combination of anti-hypertensive medication, lipid lowering therapy and lifestyle modification.

An example of the *QRisk®3* scoring system is shown in figure 1.7 (appendix 1). The modifications from *QRisk®2* are marked by as asterisk (*)(162).

1.10 Renal function

1.10.1 Renal function and age

Renal function rises to optimal levels after the second year of birth and remains so until the fourth decade of life. Renal function is measured by glomerular filtration rate (GFR) and usually peaks at between 120 and 140ml/min/1.73m². After the fourth decade of life, GFR declines by around 8ml/min/1.73m² each subsequent decade(163). Reduction in renal function with age is extremely variable between individuals and can be attributed to several causative factors including loss of renal mass, renovascular changes with reduction in renal blood flow and tubular-interstitial changes, with renal hypofiltration, disruption of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone axis and subsequent cellular osmotic and ionic homeostasis. Declining renal function due to age is distinct from chronic renal failure. In an ageing kidney, in the absence of chronic renal failure, one would expect to see the preservation of normal urea and creatinine, erythropoietin production and urinalysis(164).

1.10.2 Chronic kidney Disease

Chronic renal failure, also known as chronic kidney disease (CKD), is defined as a persistent reduction in renal function (as measured by glomerular filtration rate, GFR) over a period of three months or more(165). There are five stages of CKD, each determined by the degree of

loss of GFR. An estimated GFR (eGFR) of >90ml/min/1.73m² is considered normal renal function. However, an eGFR of >90ml/min/1.73m² in the presence of renal disease is classed as CKD grade I. Similarly, an eGFR of >60ml/min/1.73m² may be appropriate for age in some patients. However, in the presence of renal disease, an eGFR of between 60 and 90ml/min/1.73m² is classed as CKD grade II. Renal disease may include haematuria, proteinuria, structural kidney abnormalities, genetic kidney syndromes, renal tubular disorders and history of renal transplantation.

Grade of Chronic kidney disease (CKD)	Glomerular filtration rate (ml/min/1.73m ²)
1	>90*
11	60-90*
Illa	45-59
IIIb	30-44
IV	15-29
V	<15

Table 1.4: Grades of chronic kidney disease, Prayle et al 2010(166)(167).*With the presence of renal disease.

Clinical symptoms are not usually evident until stage IV and above. When GFR falls to less than 60ml/min/1.73m², complications of CKD become more prevalent. Management of CKD focuses on symptomatic relief, treatment of reversible causes, electrolyte and fluid abnormalities and managing cardiovascular risk. Stage V CKD necessitates the consideration of renal replacement therapy and possible transplant in eligible patients.

There are many causes of chronic renal failure. In the ageing CF population, diabetic nephropathy and systemic hypertension seem particularly relevant. Diabetes mellitus is an age prevalent condition in CF and, as mentioned previously, usually requires treatment with insulin therapy. In insulin dependent diabetes mellitus, diabetic nephropathy is common and is characterised by a clinical spectrum of renal disease starting with microalbuminuria and progressing to overt proteinuria and chronic renal failure. Urine albumin excretion can be measured using a urine albumin creatinine ratio (ACR), which is performed regularly in routine follow-up of diabetic patients. Microalbuminuria is the first sign of diabetic nephropathy. It can also be raised with poor glycaemic control, systemic hypertension and non-diabetic renal diseases. Since there is a significant risk of cardiovascular disease in chronic renal failure, early detection of diabetic nephropathy is essential to instigate preventative management of cardiovascular morbidity.

An ageing kidney does not necessarily lead to chronic renal failure. However, accelerated loss of renal function may occur with hypertension, dyslipidaemia, obesity, male gender, smoking, the presence of inflammatory markers, atherosclerotic disease and diabetes mellitus(168).

1.10.3 Acute kidney injury

Acute renal failure, now known as acute kidney injury (AKI), is defined as an acute deterioration in renal function over hours or days. Oliguria is common and there will be a rise in serum urea and creatinine. AKI can be classified into three groups(169).

- Pre-renal AKI accounts for the majority of cases. The commonest cause is reduced renal perfusion due to sepsis or hypovolaemia. Other causes include cardiac and liver failure, medication affecting renal blood flow, such as non-steroidal antiinflammatories (NSAIDs), and reno-vascular disease.
- 2. Renal AKI is due to intrinsic renal pathology including glomerulonephropathies, renal tubular pathology, radiological contrast and nephrotoxic medication.
- Post-renal AKI is caused by intrinsic or extrinsic obstruction of any part of the renal tract.

Management of AKI includes identification and treatment of the precipitating cause. An ageing kidney may be more susceptible to acute insults due to lack of adequate compensatory mechanisms as seen in a younger kidney. In particular, circulatory volume changes(170), sodium and potassium transport, and renal metabolism of medication may be affected. Recurrent episodes of acute renal failure may be a risk factor for the development of chronic renal failure. This may be of particular relevance in our ageing CF population, particularly those with recurrent pulmonary sepsis with concurrent acute renal impairment, as well as cumulative intravenous aminoglycoside exposure. Patients with CF are also susceptible to renal calculi and obstructive renal failure.

1.10.4 Measuring glomerular filtration rate (GFR)

Normal kidney function varies between individuals and depends upon kidney size and total body surface area. A surface area of 1.73m² is taken as the normal mean value of a young adult and is a continuous variable. Body surface area must be considered when interpreting 'normal' renal function. The GFR is widely accepted as the most reliable measure of renal function. It can be measured directly via urinary or plasma clearance measurements of an exogenous renal marker or via estimations using endogenous serum markers within biochemical equations. Accurate measurements of GFR are important in order to adequately diagnose those with chronic kidney disease, accurately adjust medications with narrow therapeutic indices in light of renal dysfunction and to risk stratify for cardiovascular disease and end stage renal failure(171).

1.10.5 Exogenous renal markers and measured GFR

'Clearance' is defined as "the volume of plasma from which a substance is completely removed, per unit time," measured in millilitres per minute (ml/min)(172). The gold standard for measuring GFR is through clearance of an 'ideal' filtration marker such as inulin, iohexol or iothalamate(173). These exogenous compounds are exclusively filtered and excreted by the kidneys. This method would directly measure GFR (mGFR) and hence is the most accurate way to calculate renal function. However, these measurements would necessitate intravenous infusion of the filtration marker along with timed collection of urine and serum samples to determine renal clearance, making this technique both cumbersome and expensive in clinical practice, and as such is not used routinely.

The first technique of measuring GFR using inulin was in the 1950s. Inulin is a derivative of fructose, is expensive in purified form and, during continuous intravenous infusion, multiple samples of serum and urine inulin are required to measure GFR. Both expense and lack of practicality limit its use in clinical practice and as such it is now only used in research arenas when very accurate GFR needs to be obtained.

Radioisotope methods were developed in the 1960s and include iothalamate. The calculation of mGFR via the clearance of iothalamate correlates well with inulin and only a single intravenous dose is required. However, the proper handling and disposing of radioactive materials in clinical environments limits its use. Radioisotope measurements of mGFR are again used mostly in the renal transplant setting if accurate GFR has important

implications for clinical decision-making. Both inulin and iothalamate clearance require both urine and serum samples post-infusion over an increasing time interval with declining GFR, such that those with advanced CKD may require samples 24 hours after initial infusion to assess the terminal elimination phase. This obviates further clinical impracticality.

Iohexol clearance GFR is becoming increasingly popular in renal research centres. Iohexol clearance has been shown to highly correlate with radioisotope mGFR(174) as well as inulin clearance(175). As such, iohexol may be the most suitable alternative to inulin given its equivocal exclusive renal excretion and plasma stability coupled with lower cost and more practical administration technique. Plasma clearance measurements are preferred over urine samples and single sample protocols have been developed, increasing patient convenience. Iohexol mGFR has been shown to be superior in measuring accurate renal function in multiple settings when compared with creatinine-based estimated GFR calculations(176). However, the logistics of use including timing, equipment and expense currently limit its use in standard clinical care.

1.10.6 Endogenous renal markers and estimated GFR

In current clinical practice, endogenous glomerular filtration markers such as creatinine, are used to make an *estimation* of GFR (eGFR) by calculating serum creatinine alone or by using measurements of creatinine clearance via a variety of biochemical models. Creatinine is an amino acid and is a product of creatine breakdown in muscle. It is produced at a fairly constant rate, excreted via glomerular filtration with minimal tubular reabsorption and can be measured in both serum and urine. Estimated GFR based on creatinine in serum or urine is quick and cost-effective and is preferred in routine clinical practice to the 'gold standard,' more time-consuming method of inulin or iohexol clearance mGFR.

Measured creatinine will vary depending on its metabolism within muscles and its degree of renal tubular secretion(177). Factors affecting these variables include muscle mass, age, gender and race. This results in different 'normal' values between patient groups and must be considered when interpreting results. Due to the variation in creatinine between patient groups and laboratory reference ranges, there may be a discrepancy between paired eGFR and creatinine levels. A significant decline in eGFR may be seen prior to creatinine reaching abnormal levels.

To improve accuracy of eGFR measurements, the Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) recommends eGFR calculation derived from equations that utilise serum creatinine levels in combination with age, gender, weight and race(178). The accuracy of these equations has improved in recent decades. It is important to note that these equations are only validated for use in CKD, not acute renal impairment.

The Cockcroft-Gault (CG) equation was developed in 1973(179). The eGFR is derived from the below calculation;

C_{Cr}={((140-age) x weight)/(72 S_{Cr})} x 0.85 if female (mL/min)

This calculation is not adjusted for body surface area and has been superseded by the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study formula (MDRD or 4-v MDRD)(180) in 1999. The most recent version of MDRD is adjusted for body surface area along with age, sex and race, thus is thought to be more accurate than CG. The MDRD equation is shown below;

GFR = 175 x (Standardized S_{Cr})^{-1.154} x (age)^{-0.203} x (0.742 if female) x (1.210 if African American) (mL/min/1.73m²)

The MDRD equation was developed using data from patients with chronic renal disease and thus may underestimate GFR in healthy populations(181). Notably, equations to measure eGFR from serum creatinine seem to be less accurate for eGFR levels of over 60ml/min/1.73m². The relationship between GFR and creatinine is disproportionate and a much greater decline in eGFR will be seen for a similar decline in creatinine for patients with better preserved renal function than those without(182).

Serum creatinine may be unreliable in a 'non-steady' clinical state or those with nutritional deficiency. Patients with chronic disease may have reduced muscle mass and thus creatinine-based calculations may underestimate GFR. This is of particular importance in CF patients due to chronic malabsorption, high metabolic rate and caloric requirement, relative under-nutrition and characteristic low muscle mass.

The Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) equations were developed in the early 2000s and have been recognised in KDIGO guidelines since 2012.

However, they are not yet being used in preference to MDRD in calculating eGFR in all secondary care centres. CKD-EPI calculations have three forms to include a creatinine-based equation, a cystatin C-based equation and a combination of the two. All adjust for the same four variables as in MDRD calculations. The CKD-EPI creatinine and the CKD-EPI creatinine-cystatin C calculations have been shown to have improved reliability when compared with MDRD, particularly in the elderly and those in higher GFR ranges(183)(184).

The inaccuracies of creatinine-based eGFR equations have led to the development of calculations using other endogenous biomarkers. Cystatin C is a protease inhibitor present in all nucleated cells. It is filtered by the glomerulus and then reabsorbed by renal tubular epithelial cells and thus only small amounts are excreted in the urine. Only serum levels therefore can be measured. Serum cystatin C levels in health remain fairly constant and have been shown to vary less with body mass, age and gender(185). Blood concentration of cystatin C rises in response to decline in renal function. Studies have shown serum cystatin C to better predict GFR than serum creatinine(186). In addition, cystatin C has been shown to be superior to creatinine-based MDRD calculations in measuring eGFR in patients with lower GFR ranges when compared directly to the gold standard of renal iohexol clearance(187). Cystatin C may also be superior to creatinine clearance in diabetic populations when calculating eGFR and also early renal impairment in the presence of normal serum creatinine(188). Cystatin C has also been shown to be a more accurate measure of GFR in CF patients, compared to methods using serum creatinine and creatinine clearance(189), and is a more accurate predictor of CV risk than creatinine in a CKD population. Accurate GFR measurements in the CF population are important both for optimal medication dosing and early detection of renal disease. A deficiency in availability of laboratory cystatin C assay and cost has impacted on this test being used in routine clinical practice for populations where creatinine based eGFR may less inaccurate.

Urinary creatinine clearance may be a more accurate marker of eGFR in populations with nutritional impairment and fluctuating clinical stability in chronic disease, in the absence of cystatin C measurements. Urinary creatinine clearance historically has been considered the 'gold standard' for eGFR measurements and its calculation requires a 24-hour urine collection for creatinine along with urine volume and a single serum creatinine sample. Information is then inputted into the equation below;

Creatinine clearance (CrCl) ml/min = (urine creatinine x volume) / serum creatinine.

However, the technique is limited by patient compliance and timing of collection. In addition, since creatinine is secreted by the renal tubules, GFR is often over-estimated, particularly in patients with CKD. For these reasons, the measurement of eGFR from urine creatinine clearance has largely been replaced by the above serum creatinine eGFR formulas. Decline in urinary creatinine clearance may be useful in CKD patients as a prediction tool for renal decline and mortality(190).

1.10.7 Proteinuria

Urinary albumin creatinine ratio (ACR) is a marker of renal protein loss. Raised urinary protein and ACR may be the first indicator of early renal dysfunction and may be seen in patients with diabetes mellitus, systemic hypertension and intrinsic renal pathology. Microalbuminuria has been found to be a surrogate marker of enhanced cardiovascular risk. Spot urine ACR measurements are routinely performed in diabetic clinic and are utilised in annual assessments of diabetic CF patients to screen for early diabetic nephropathy. Urine ACR is also used to detect renal decline in CKD populations and in hypertensive populations to monitor the effects of treatment. The presence of proteinuria in hypertensive patients is associated with a greater risk of cardiovascular disease and mortality(191)⁻ In CF cohorts, urine ACR may be useful in the detection of renal dysfunction in both non-diabetic and diabetic groups(192). A 24-hour urine sample can also be measured for protein, however a spot morning ACR sample is both easier and has equivocal accuracy as a measure of microalbuminuria.

1.11 Ageing in Cystic Fibrosis

1.11.1 Overview of ageing in CF

Following the discovery of CF as a clinical entity by Dorothy Andersen in 1938 the prognosis was extremely poor, evidenced by the famous quotation; "The child will soon die whose brow tastes salty when kissed" (193).

As understanding, screening and treatment options for the disease have advanced, there has been an exponential increase in survival. The predicted median age of survival for a CF patient born in the UK today is 47 years(4). This is compared to a survival of less than one year around four decades previously. Historically, CF has been a childhood disease with early mortality however, the UK CF Registry reported in 2017 that over 60% of patients were adults, reflecting the changing demographics of the disease.

Factors associated with worse survival in CF include female gender, ethnicity, lower lung function, sputum microbiology and poor nutritional status(194)⁻ Although there remains a cohort of CF patients with aggressive disease who die at younger ages, CF centres around the world are now seeing an ageing CF population. Some influencing factors on increasing survival rate no doubt include the introduction of anti-pseudomonal antibiotics, nebulised mucolytics and pancreatic enzyme replacement. In addition, the development of individualised physiotherapy regimens, with emphasis on airway clearance(195), and multidisciplinary (MDT) services have revolutionised CF care. The shift of CF management to specialist regional centres has proven to be beneficial for patient outcomes, including improved BMI and lung function(196)⁻ Recognition of transmissible infections and patient segregation in clinic and ward environments have contributed, and more recently CFTR modulating therapies offer an exciting new era of treatment.

Although newborn CF screening is now routine in most UK centres, over 70% of CF patients in 2017 were diagnosed following recognition of classic CF symptoms rather than screening(4). Diagnostic techniques for CF have certainly advanced over the years and patients may now be diagnosed with increasing genotypic clarity. There are now over 2000 recognised CFTR mutations, with approximately 300 disease-causing mutations(197). These are separated into seven functional classes depending on the degree of CFTR function. The diversity of genotypic classes now includes those patients with residual function CFTR mutations conferring atypical or 'non-classical' CF. In the absence of typical CF clinical features, these patients may be diagnosed later in life, often in adulthood, and such genotypes may correspond to less severe phenotypic disease. This may include exocrine pancreatic sufficiency, less prevalent chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection and higher lung function(198). It has been hypothesised that previous CF survival data may be distorted by these "less severe" disease genotypes and are not a true reflection of improving survival in 'classical' CF(199). However, a case series published by Simmonds et al in 2009, describing a cohort of CF patients aged 40 years and above, has shown that a significant proportion of their ageing CF population had 'classical' CF, with 30% homozygous for Phe508del mutation and over 80% with exocrine pancreatic insufficiency(200).

Although the CF story over the last few decades has been one of success, we must recognise the potential problems associated with an ageing CF population and increasing numbers of patients with chronic illness. This will inevitably place strain on healthcare resources as treatment burden continues to increase in relation to direct CF complications as well as complications from longevity of treatment and non-CF ageing comorbidities. A study by Burgel et al in early 2018 has shown that, in Western European societies, the total number of CF patients is likely to rise by approximately 50% by 2025(201), and over 75% of this increase will be in CF adults. If service capacity does not expand along with demand, this may lead to a concerning deficiency in future CF resources. The burden of treatment for CF patients in the UK remains high, with over 50% of adult patients requiring at least one course of intravenous antibiotics and with 20% taking three or more inhaled medications in 2017(4).

Historically, the goal of CF treatment was to manage progressive lung disease and the majority of patients would succumb to end stage lung disease and respiratory failure. Although mortality in CF is predominantly related to pulmonary complications, with an ageing population CF management is evolving to recognise and treat emerging age-related comorbidities. These may be direct complications of CFTR dysfunction with age, CF treatment-related complications or comorbidities related to a general ageing process.

1.12 Age prevalent CFTR-related complications

1.12.1 Pulmonary complications

Pulmonary disease is CF is the predominant cause of morbidity and mortality. Pulmonary exacerbations are relentless with time and negatively correlate with both lung function and survival(202). As lung disease progresses there is also a greater incidence of both haemoptysis and pneumothorax with increasing age, both impacting survival. CF patients experience a progressive decline in lung function with advancing age and annual ppFEV₁ acts as a marker for clinical deterioration, risk of death and suitability for lung transplantation. However, with advances in treatment and increasing numbers of adult patients, we may be observing a shift in lung function trends. Inhaled mucolytics and antimicrobials as well as long term macrolide therapy have contributed positively to reduction of pulmonary exacerbation rates and resulting decline in ppFEV₁. A study by Que et al in 2006 presented a decreasing annual FEV₁ decline among a cohort of young adults with CF over a 40-year period,(203) correlating with the improving survival being observed in CF populations today.

Patients with chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection show a greater rate of lung function decline than those without. This reflects the importance of CF sputum microbiology which changes with age and represents major prognostic significance. The prevalence of chronic infection within Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Burkholderia cepacia complex (BCC) and non-tuberculous mycobacteria (NTM) increases with age. Although the incidence of BCC in UK CF patients has shown a mild reduction in the last few years, in part as a result of improving patient segregation practices, it remains challenging to treat. Burkholderia cenocepacia, a prominent member of the BCC family, in particular shows increased virulence and antimicrobial resistance compared with other species. It is associated with accelerated FEV₁ decline, increased pulmonary exacerbation rate and in some cases 'cepacia syndrome,' a rapidly progressive pneumonia with high mortality(204). There is a high risk of post-transplant sepsis with *Burkholderia cenocepacia* infection and thus patients with chronic infection are deemed unsuitable candidates for lung transplantation. However, patients with other species of BCC may still be considered suitable for lung transplantation due to evidence that they have improved post-transplant survival as compared to those with Burkholderia cenocepacia(205).

As survival in CF populations improves, NTM infection is becoming more prevalent and may be as high as 13% in some cohorts(206). It has been hypothesised that the widespread use of long-term macrolide therapy has contributed to the rise in chronic NTM infection(207). The emergence of NTM brings new treatment challenges. NTM infection is diverse with a wide spectrum of clinical phenotypes and resistance patterns, often necessitating multiple antibiotics regimens for control. Chronic NTM infection can cause a similar clinical impact as BCC, with more rapid progression of lung disease and accelerated lung function decline. The commonest NTM infection in CF is *Mycobacterium avium complex* (MAC) but chronic *Mycobacterium abscessus* infection is also increasingly prevalent. *Mycobacterium abscessus,* a fast-growing NTM, is of particular importance due to increased morbidity and worse clinical outcomes when compared with other NTM species. It is also causative of poor lung transplantation outcomes, attributed to disseminated infection following the commencement of immunosuppression(202).

In addition, emerging pathogens such as *Achromobacter xylosoxidans* and *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* are becoming more prevalent in an ageing CF population. In a recent Canadian study, chronic *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* infection, although not independently associated with decline in FEV₁, showed a higher rate of pulmonary exacerbation requiring inpatient treatment(208).

Not only does the pathogenic make-up of the CF lung change over time, the resistance patterns of said pathogens also change, making management more complex. The prolonged and recurrent use of antimicrobials certainly plays a role in alterations in antimicrobial resistance patterns with time, particularly with chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Staphylococcus aureus* infections.

With improving CF survival, end-stage lung disease and respiratory failure is now becoming increasingly an adult phenomenon. FEV₁ of 30% of predicted or less indicates advanced lung disease and historically this parameter has been the most reliable predictor of mortality in CF(209). Amongst other variables, this is an indication for lung transplant referral. However, many patients are now surviving for longer into adulthood with low lung function. In 2008, Hodson and colleagues analysed a cohort of 366 CF patients over several CF centres worldwide, showing that those patients reaching the age of 40 years and above showed

stabilisation of lung function and BMI, and had a median survival of 53 years(210). George et al (2011) showed improved survival in CF patients with low lung function, perhaps partly as a result of increased use of nebulised mucolytic therapy(211). Ramos et al (2017) observed CF patients with $FEV_1 < 30\%$ predicted to exceed survival expectations, with perhaps increasing pulmonary exacerbation frequency and the use of supplemental oxygen use to be stronger predictors of mortality in CF(212).

Non-invasive ventilation and domiciliary oxygen therapy are used in CF patients with respiratory failure. NIV is indicated for both palliation and as a bridge to lung transplantation. Increasing survival in CF will influence lung transplant numbers, and indeed the CF Registry reported a 9.8% increase in CF lung transplants 2017 than in the previous year. With increasing numbers of patients on the transplant waiting list comes a greater demand for organs which may vastly exceed supply in an ageing CF population. Optimal timing of lung transplantation in the CF disease course is challenging and relies on 'stability' of severe lung disease along with optimal BMI, adequate liver, renal and cardiac function as well as psychological stability. As survival in CF increases and comorbidities emerge, we may see 'ageing' organs and their subsequent dysfunction become a barrier to lung transplantation. Since CFTR-related complications continue to occur in other native organs post lung transplant, optimal pre-transplant care should remain the main goal in the quest for longevity in CF.

Invasive ventilation in an intensive care setting can be used in selected CF patients and tends to be reserved for those with acute, reversible pulmonary complications such as haemoptysis and pneumothorax, with generally a good prognosis. However invasive ventilation in the event of NIV failure in end stage disease or during deterioration whilst awaiting lung transplantation carries a poor prognosis. In some transplant centres extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) has been used in a minority of CF patients as a bridge to lung transplant. Patients with refractory hypercapnic respiratory failure may benefit from a limited time on veno-venous (VV) ECMO whilst awaiting transplantation. 'Awake' ECMO allows the patient to be assisted with airway clearance and maintain a degree of functional limb strength before heading into transplantation, potentially producing better outcomes. With this being said, ECMO is still considered a contraindication to lung transplant in many centres. Outcomes of CF patients on ECMO remain poor(213) but
optimal ECMO strategies and intensive care input may prove increasingly necessary in an ageing CF population with a greater proportion of patients reaching end stage lung disease and its associated complications(214).

1.12.2 Extra-pulmonary complications

A number of extra-pulmonary comorbidities in CF are more prevalent with age. These include bone disease, CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD), CF arthropathy and gastrointestinal malignancy.



Figure 1.8: The prevalence of extra-pulmonary manifestations of CF with age – from Quon et al, 2012(202).

Specifically, macrovascular disease and renal dysfunction may become more common in an ageing CF population.

1.12.2.1 Bone disease

Osteoporosis and osteopenia are more prevalent with age in CF. Low bone mineral density (BMD) in CF is the result of a multitude of factors, including malabsorption, vitamin K and D deficiency, malnutrition, chronic pulmonary infection and reduced physical activity. Corticosteroid therapy and hormonal imbalance including delayed puberty also contribute. Some studies have shown a lower BMD in those with homozygous Phe508del mutations than in other CFTR mutation classes(215). A direct CFTR effect on bone interferes with osteoclast and osteoblast function. Loss of BMD may be increased by inflammatory cytokine release during pulmonary exacerbation. Fractures associated with low BMD generally occur in adulthood, of which the commonest sites are ribs and thoracic vertebrae. Low BMD has implications for morbidity and is closely related to lung function(216). Optimising BMD is also important for transplant eligibility. In an ageing CF population with increasing risk of BMD and fracture, we may see increasing prevalence of bisphosphonate use.

1.12.2.2 Diabetes mellitus

CF related diabetes mellitus (CFRD) is the commonest extra-pulmonary comorbidity in CF and is a distinct entity from T1DM and T2DM. There is an increasing insulin deficiency over time due to pancreatic fibrosis and islet cell destruction. There is also fluctuating peripheral insulin resistance with age, malabsorption and pulmonary exacerbation. Hyperglycaemia in CF includes a clinical spectrum ranging from impaired glucose tolerance to overt diabetes, with or without fasting hyperglycaemia. The incidence of fasting hyperglycaemia amongst CFRD patients increases with age(45).

CFRD is an age prevalent condition, with the majority of patients being diagnosed in adulthood. In some studies, this is as high as 52% of patients over the age of 40 years(217). The prevalence of CFRD is also influenced by exocrine pancreatic status, gender, CFTR class and oral corticosteroid use. Lung function, nutritional status and CFRD are intimately linked(218), and optimal treatment of CFRD is essential to prevent sustained clinical decline. CFRD screening is performed annually using glucose tolerance testing or continuous glucose monitoring. Mortality is higher in CF patients with CFRD and microvascular complications seem to accumulate with time following established fasting hyperglycaemia in those with poorer glycaemic control(219). Microalbuminuria is common in CFRD and is often the first sign of diabetic nephropathy. CFRD may predispose both chronic renal impairment(220) and antibiotic-related acute renal injury(221).

1.12.2.3 Macrovascular disease and arterial stiffness

Macrovascular disease is thought to be rare in the CF population as compared with the general population. However, the incidence of macrovascular disease, as with non-CF diabetics, increases with duration of hyperglycaemia and thus is likely to become more significant with an ageing CF population. As survival in CF continues to increase, the prevalence of other cardiovascular risk factors may also increase along with CFRD, including systemic hypertension, dyslipidaemia and obesity. A study by Skolnik and colleagues in 2016 showed a CFRD prevalence of 56% and a dyslipidaemia prevalence of 69% in a small CF

population over 40 years of age(222)⁻ High fat diets and high inflammatory burden in CF contribute to cardiovascular risk. Those on long term oral corticosteroid therapy will be more prone to dyslipidaemia and systemic hypertension. CFTR modulating therapy, in correcting CFTR-related malabsorption and nutritional deficits, may indeed contribute to hypercholesterolaemia and weight gain with increased CF survival. Ivacaftor has been shown to normalise gastrointestinal pH and raise BMI in as little as four weeks(223). Longitudinal data on this topic is yet to be explored but may prove insightful.

Coronary artery disease is rare in CF but has been seen in a handful of cases in the pretransplant setting, one reported case with significant multi-vessel disease in the absence of CFRD(224). Aortic wall stiffness increases as part of the normal vascular ageing process and has been shown to be an independent risk factor for coronary artery disease. Central arterial (aortic) stiffness can be measured non-invasively using carotid-femoral pulse wave analysis, calculating measurements of AIx and PWV. PWV is a direct measure of arterial stiffness and is the most reliable in adult populations. AIx is a surrogate measure of arterial stiffness and may be influenced by left ventricular function, heart rate and blood pressure.

The chronic systemic inflammation occurring in CF increases arterial stiffness and endothelial cell dysfunction, creating a risk factor for premature cardiovascular disease. Alx appears to correlate with blood markers of inflammation, C-reactive protein (CRP), in CF patients when adjusted for heart rate, but PWV does not. Hull et al (2010) showed that using a short course of intravenous antibiotics to reduce systemic inflammatory levels in a small number of adult CF patients resulted in no change in Alx or PWV, indicating that other factors must contribute to arterial stiffness in CF(225).

Alx shows more sensitivity to change at younger ages and has been used to determine arterial stiffness in the paediatric CF population. Buehler et al (2011) showed that arterial stiffness is higher in children with CF than those without and is higher in those with chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection. It does not however seem to correlate with diabetic status(226). Conversely, Hull et al (2009) showed that both PWV and Alx are higher in adults with CFRD than those without. The lack of correlation with CFRD and arterial stiffness in paediatric CF patients may indicate the importance of duration of hyperglycaemia in CF vascular dynamics. Arterial stiffness in an ageing CF population is likely to play a role in cardiovascular risk and this may be independent of the presence of CFRD or other cardiovascular risk factors(227).

Structural vascular changes in CF may occur as early as childhood. It is hypothesised that CF patients therefore suffer from premature vascular ageing as a result of their chronic inflammatory process and this process may be accelerated in those with CFRD(199). A similar process occurs in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and non-CF bronchiectasis given the chronic inflammatory burden and recurrent infection(228). Research into arterial stiffness specifically in an ageing CF population will help to provide evidence of cardiovascular risk in this group and may have implications for future management as survival continues to increase.

There is currently no guidance in the CF population regarding specific assessment of cardiovascular risk. It is feasible that, as CF survival improves, utilising primary care cardiovascular risk scores such as the *QRisk®2/3* as in the general population, would be appropriate in this setting. It may then help to stratify those older CF patients at higher risk of cardiovascular disease. Total cholesterol and LDL cholesterol increase with advancing age and raised blood levels can be seen in 24-43% in adult CF patients, depending on exocrine pancreatic status(229). Cardiovascular risk scoring in CF patients aged of 40 years and above, and those with traditional cardiovascular risk factors, will aid decision making regarding the introduction of cholesterol lowering medication, anti-hypertensives and performing further investigation. The assessment of cardiac function in more detail using cardiac MRI may be useful in those with higher cardiovascular risk, particularly given that advancing pulmonary disease can lead to pulmonary hypertension, right ventricular dysfunction, left ventricular diastolic dysfunction and cardiac failure(230).

The inclusion of CFRD into cardiovascular risk scoring will be challenging due to the lack of ability to confidently categorise it into a distinct T1DM or T2DM class. The difference in calculated risk between these two entities in CFRD may be insightful and worth further exploration. Cardiovascular risk scoring in CF may also prompt closer attention to family history and genetic factors, which will have bearing on the risk of premature CVD. In addition, the use of ApoB measurements in the general population has been shown in the literature to be a more sensitive marker of hypercholesterolaemia and cardiovascular risk prediction than LDL cholesterol(231). This is yet to be investigated in an older CF population.

1.12.2.4 Renal disease in CF

Both chronic and acute renal disease is seen in the CF patient. The majority of this is secondary in nature with primary renal pathology remaining rare. Current data suggests that CKD of a moderate to severe degree is seen in around 2% of the adult CF population, with significant risk in the CFRD cohort(220). Alongside renal nephron loss and decline in renal function with general ageing, the prevalence of CKD in CF seems to increase with age to a greater degree than in the general population. Renal nephron loss is accelerated by diabetes mellitus, vascular disease and chronic infection, all of which pertain to the ageing CF patient. In addition, renal risk factors in CF include recurrent sepsis, nephrolithiasis and the recurrent use of nephrotoxic medication such as aminoglycosides, non-steroidal anti-inflammatories (NSAIDs) and post-transplant immunosuppressive agents.

As CF survival increases, a greater number may receive lung transplantation and at older ages. Immunosuppressive therapy such as ciclosporin is a risk factor for renal failure. A study by Ishani et al found that renal dysfunction was present in up to 90% of patients following lung transplantation with around 7% eventually developing end stage renal failure. However, the risk in CF patients did not seem to be higher than in other recipients. The risk for post-transplant renal dysfunction seems to be higher in females and those with a lower eGFR in the pre-transplant period(232).

1.12.2.5 Measuring renal function in CF

As survival continues to increase in the CF population, renal failure will become an increasing concern and it is essential to find an optimal clinical tool for monitoring and diagnosing renal dysfunction in these patients. Measuring renal function accurately in CF patients is challenging. Frequent fluctuations of creatinine with clinical status means that creatinine-based eGFR equations may often be inaccurate. In addition, the MDRD and CG formulas, although widely used, have not been validated in CF populations. CKD-EPI equations are increasingly being used and may prove the most reliable serum creatinine measurement of eGFR. Although urinary creatinine clearance has long been established in clinical practice as an adequate marker of eGFR in CF, its measurement requires accurate

urine collection over a 24-hour period and is subject to error. Literature suggests that creatinine-based eGFR calculations tend to over-estimate renal function in CF patients and thus may miss the subtleties of early renal disease(71). A study by Al-Aloul in 2007 showed that CG and MDRD formulas overestimate renal function by over 18 and 15ml/min respectively in adult CF patients with measured urinary creatinine clearance of less than 80ml/min(233). In addition, serum creatinine may not rise above normal levels until up to 60% of GFR has been lost(234). Hence it is vital that, when creatinine is within normal range, accurate GFR calculation is sought to optimally assess renal function.

Extensive research in non-CF populations has previously shown the most accurate GFR measurement to be obtained by serial serum and urine clearance measurements of exogenous compounds filtered exclusively by the glomerulus, including inulin, iothalamate and iohexol. A study by Novel-Caitin et al in 2017 compared iohexol and inulin mGFR to MDRD and CG eGFR in 21 CF patients with a median age of 31 years awaiting lung transplantation, finding a lower mGFR than eGFR in 9.5% of patients(235). However, the expense and impracticality of their use in standard clinical practice has influenced research into other urine and serum endogenous biomarkers as measurements of renal function in CF.

Cystatin C is a useful serum endogenous renal marker since it is exclusively filtered by the glomerulus with minimal tubular reabsorption. Its incorporation into recent CKD-EPI eGFR calculations have shown promise, although more research needs to be done in its use in a large CF population. A study by Beringer and colleagues in 2009 showed cystatin C to be a more sensitive marker of eGFR in CF patients than serum creatinine-based equations when compared to iothalamate GFR(189). A study by Halacova et al showed Cystatin C to be a better indicator of eGFR in CF patients being treated with IV amikacin than both serum creatinine and creatinine clearance(236). Cystatin C eGFR calculations have also shown promise in monitoring renal function decline in diabetic populations when compared to iothalamate clearance, which may be extremely relevant in a comparable, ageing diabetic CF population(237).In addition, urine biomarkers of renal tubular damage may have a role in early renal disease screening in CF, including N-acetyl- β -D-glucose-aminidase (NAG) and alanine amino-peptidase (AAP). A study by Etherington et al has shown urinary NAG levels

to be raised in CF patients undergoing intravenous aminoglycoside treatment in the acute setting and, although this appeared to normalise within a few months in most, patients with CFRD had raised urinary NAG at baseline and follow-up indicating a degree of sustained renal impairment(221).

The use of intravenous aminoglycoside therapy for the treatment of pulmonary exacerbation is a necessity in a large number of patients due to its rapid distribution, high efficacy and anti-pseudomonal activity. The most prevalent strain of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in the UK is the Liverpool epidemic strain (LES), most sensitive in vitro to tobramycin. However, aminoglycosides such as tobramycin are nephrotoxic and cause direct proximal renal tubular cell damage in a dose-dependent manner. Due to alterations in renal pharmacokinetics in CF patients(238), high doses are often required to achieve target therapeutic levels thus increasing risk of renal damage. Aminoglycoside therapy has been shown, as early as the 1980s, to contribute to both acute renal impairment and cumulative renal injury predisposing the CF patient to chronic renal failure later in life(239)[.]

In 2005, Al-Aloul and colleagues examined a CF cohort for renal damage from cumulative aminoglycoside use, using urinary creatinine clearance and CG estimations of GFR. They showed that 42% of patients with normal baseline creatinine had renal impairment of less than 80ml/min/1.73m², appearing to correlate with cumulative intravenous aminoglycoside use with a median number of patient antibiotic courses of 40(86). If aminoglycosides cannot be avoided, a once daily dosing strategy is used to reduce the risk of renal toxicity with similar therapeutic outcomes to multiple dosing regimens, as shown in the TOPIC study in 2005(240). Alternative routes of aminoglycoside administration have been studied, showing less renal damage with the nebulised than with the intravenous route, however further studies are needed prior to its replacement in standard clinical practice. In an ageing CF patient, recurrent and cumulative use of intravenous aminoglycosides may be a causative factor in the prevalence of renal disease, and this has not yet specifically been studied in the over 40-year old population. Further work is needed to establish the most accurate measure of renal function in CF patients as a whole as well as establishing the causative factors and prevalence of renal dysfunction in older CF patients.

Nephrolithiasis in CF is caused primarily by electrolyte imbalance from malabsorption and dehydration, resulting in hyperoxaluria and hypercalciuria(241)⁻ Diuretics and corticosteroid treatment can exacerbate abnormalities in calcium metabolism. Recurrent antibiotic use alters the function of oxalate-degrading bacteria in the gastro-intestinal tract, predisposing to renal oxalate stones(242). Cumulative antibiotic use with age may therefore exacerbate this pathology.

Although primary renal pathology is rare in CF, amyloidosis and IgA nephropathy are increasingly being recognised. Secondary amyloidosis is a result of chronic inflammation in CF, can cause nephrotic syndrome and has a poor prognosis(243). IgA nephropathy is the commonest glomerulonephritis reported in CF patients(244). High IgA levels and associated renal deposition is associated with autoimmune disease but can also be seen in the chronic inflammatory state created by CF. It too may carry a poor prognosis.

1.12.2.6 Psychosocial complications

An ageing CF population inevitably will alter psychosocial aspects of the disease. With survival historically being poor, options for employment and having families were limited. As survival increases, more patients are entering and sustaining full or part-time employment. It has also been shown that CF is not necessarily a barrier to career success and progression(245). The number of successful CF pregnancies is rising and the CF Registry reported increasing numbers of female CF patients having children in 2017(4). Pregnancy can sometimes be associated with decline in overall clinical status so must be monitored closely by CF and obstetric teams. Goss and colleagues in 2003 showed that pregnancy in CF is not associated with a survival disadvantage in the longer term(246). With the advent of intracytoplasmic sperm injection, increasing numbers of male CF patients are also becoming fathers. This perhaps evidences the shift in attitudes towards CF and disease longevity. Patients are 'living with' CF rather than suffering its consequences. Qualitative research into this area may reveal new patient perspectives of ageing with CF and will be an exciting area for research.

Improving health-related quality of life in CF is becoming increasingly important in an ageing population, on which mental illness has a large impact. Anxiety and depression are up to 30% more common in CF patients than the general population and are associated with

poorer quality of life and, in some cases, lower lung function(247) Questionnaires and scoring systems are used frequently in CF communities to monitor psychosocial health and most MDT services include dedicated psychology and social work teams. Some themes contributing to mental health issues in CF may include high treatment burden, family and employment life balance, difficulties in self-management and maintenance of independence, and premature death. Insomnia is also common in CF patients and may contribute to mental health issues(248). CF clinicians may see an increasing prevalence of anxiety and depression with advancing disease in an ageing CF population, adding to complexities of multidisciplinary management.

1.12.2.7 Complications of treatment with age

As already discussed, aminoglycosides contribute significantly to renal toxicity in CF. Since aminoglycosides remain important in CF care, clinicians will utilise the least nephrotoxic aminoglycoside agent, monitor drug levels closely and adjust dosing according to target drug levels and renal function. Tobramycin is less nephrotoxic than gentamicin. Concomitant nephrotoxic medication such as nonsteroidal anti-inflammatories should be avoided. A strategy using additional drugs to compete for renal binding sites, and therefore reducing tubular reabsorption of aminoglycoside, may decrease renal toxicity. Fosfomycin is such a drug, with good anti-pseudomonal properties and which has been shown to be well tolerated in patients when used in combination with standard antibiotics during treatment of pulmonary exacerbation(249). However, Fosfomycin is not routinely used in intravenous form for the treatment of pulmonary exacerbation in CF patients in the UK. This may become more relevant in an ageing CF population, with the emergence of bacterial resistance to antibiotic therapy and deteriorating renal function with cumulative aminoglycoside use.

Inhaled antibiotic therapy is widely used in CF due to the high sputum distribution, ease of self-administration and efficacy against chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection. Their regular use may reduce the requirement for intravenous therapy and, given the low systemic absorption of nebulised tobramycin, there is less potential for renal toxicity(98).

Anti-inflammatory therapies in CF remain contentious due to side effects, particularly in an older age group. NSAIDs have been shown to benefit lung function in a paediatric population(250) but their use is limited in adult populations due to the potential for

gastrointestinal and renal complications. Oral corticosteroids are only recommended for chronic use in ABPA given their negative long-term effects on diabetes mellitus, lipid control and BMD. Azithromycin is widely used in CF due to its anti-inflammatory and antimicrobial properties. Chronic use has been shown to improve lung function and reduce pulmonary exacerbations(251). Concerns with long term use spanning into an ageing adult population include emergence of drug-resistant pathogens, including NTM.

1.12.2.8 Genotype and survival

The effect of CFTR genotype and resulting clinical disease expression is variable in CF. The phenotypic variability between genetic groups will depend upon the interplay between the degree of CFTR activity, modifier genes contributing to non-CFTR specific organ dysfunction and environmental factors. However, in general terms, the greater the loss of CFTR activity the more significant the clinical disease. CFTR class I to III mutations confer more severe disease in CF, usually accounting for exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, greater lung function decline and higher rates of chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection. In 1996, Kerem et al showed that CF patients homozygous for Phe508del, a class II mutation, were diagnosed earlier in life, were exocrine pancreatic insufficient, had worse lung disease and a lower BMI than those with heterozygous Phe508del or no Phe508del mutations(252). Class IV and V CFTR mutations confer residual function of CFTR protein and usually less severe disease. A study by McKone et al in 2006 showed that groups with these "low risk," residual CFTR function mutations are diagnosed at an older age, have lower rates of chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection and lower mortality when compared with classes II and III(253). In addition, higher sweat chloride levels correlate with greater loss of CFTR activity, lower lung function, lower BMI and worse survival (254). When assessing the genetics and sweat chloride levels in our older CF population, we may see a high proportion of low risk CFTR mutations accounting for their survival advantage. Simmonds et al in 2009 showed that 37% of their over 40 CF cohort were Phe508del homozygous, the rest being in Phe508del heterozygous or other mutation groups (200). It is worth noting however that class IV and V CFTR mutations can still cause severe disease and premature mortality. Lung function decline is inevitable across all genotype classes, however the rate of decline may appear to be slower in those with heterozygous Phe508del mutations with greater residual CFTR function(255). The rate of decline in lung function may be seen to 'even out' between

genotypes with advancing age, given that the more severe genotypes confer lower lung function and premature mortality. In addition, age of diagnosis and gender has an influence on long term survival. Females diagnosed with CF in childhood have a worse prognosis than males, although there is no such survival disadvantage in adult-diagnosed females. Patients diagnosed in adulthood may have non-classical genotypes, a delay in pulmonary disease, higher baseline lung function and slower rate decline. However, those who survive beyond 40 years of age will see similar rate of FEV₁ decline irrespective of genotype and age at diagnosis(256).

1.12.2.9 CFTR modulators

The importance of CF genotype cannot be understated in modern CF treatment and there has been a significant shift in management over the last decade to include CFTR mutationspecific therapies. The defect in CFTR protein quantity or function determines eligibility for specific therapies. CFTR mutation classes, CFTR abnormality and potential targets for CFTR modulation are shown below.



Figure 1.9: CFTR classes and options for CFTR modulator therapy. Adapted from Moss et al, 2015(257) (WT=wild type {normal}).

Ivacaftor (Kalydeco[®]) monotherapy has shown clinical benefit in CFTR class III and IV gating mutations, which represent a relatively small number of CF patients. However, in combination with lumacaftor or tezacaftor, ivacaftor has shown clinical benefit in class II Phe508del homozygotes by improving lung function, exacerbation rates, BMI and quality of life. Tezacaftor/ivacaftor (Symdeko[®]) has also shown benefit in heterozygous Phe508del and CFTR residual function mutations(258), creating potential treatment options for a larger number of CF patients. The recent emergence of triple combination CFTR modulators will have benefit to a wider range of CFTR genotypes moving forwards, including those with residual and minimal function CFTR mutations(95)(96). Survival in CF will undoubtedly be positively influenced by the introduction of these medications. Longitudinal data regarding adverse effects of these medications will be important to examine in an ageing CF population as survival continues to increase.

1.13 Conclusion

The advances in diagnosis and management of CF and the resulting impact on survival is one of the success stories of modern medicine. As survival rates in the CF population continue to increase and more patients survive into their fifth and sixth decades, and even beyond, there is no doubt that the complexities of CF disease and associated comorbidities will make management increasingly more challenging.

We may see an evolving complex interplay between metabolic factors, renal disease, conventional cardiovascular risk and inflammatory arteriopathy. This will predispose an ageing CF patient to premature vascular ageing and atherosclerosis, increasing their risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. Cumulative doses of nephrotoxic medication will impact comorbid burden and treatment course. Survival advantage conferred by the development of CFTR modulation therapy and continual advances in CF MDT care may be complicated by the emergence of ageing, CFTR-related and treatment-related comorbidities. This will inevitably result in higher treatment burden for older CF patients as well as placing strain on specialist CF services. Although recent literature has contextualised the older CF patient and developing complications, the true impact of renal disease, cardiovascular morbidity and ototoxicity is unknown in the CF population over 40 years of age. Therefore, we must consider some important research questions;

1. How prevalent is cardiovascular disease in the CF population over 40 years of age and how can we better stratify risk in order to positively influence management decisions?

2. How prevalent is renal disease and what is the most accurate measure of renal function in these patients?

3. Are there ways to protect older CF patients from the risks of ageing and optimise management of the comorbidities associated with this process?

I will be undertaking an observational, cross-sectional, prospective study of CF patients aged 40 years and above currently under the care of the Manchester Adult Cystic Fibrosis Centre (MACFC). My research aims to further analyse and advance knowledge in the area of ageing in CF, closely observing the cardiovascular and renal comorbidities in this patient cohort. In addition, treatment complications with age such as aminoglycoside nephrotoxicity will be analysed. We hope to provide further insight into the ageing CF patient in order to aid clinical decision-making and management of this group, but of greater importance to understand the process of ageing in CF and how we can work together to maintain stability and quality of life in CF patients as survival continues to increase. The Complexities of Ageing in Cystic Fibrosis

Chapter Two: Study aims and methods

2.0 The Complexities of Ageing in Cystic Fibrosis Study (COA-CF)

2.1 Hypothesis

Survival in CF is improving exponentially and with this brings an ageing CF population. Along with CFTR-mediated disease progression over time, patients will begin to develop agerelated comorbidities similar to an ageing general population. I postulate that these comorbidities may develop to a greater extent in older CF patients compared with the general population and will increase the complexity of their management.

2.2 Study aims and objectives

- To characterise the demographics of an older adult cystic fibrosis population, specifically those aged 40 years of age and above.
- To assess the cardiovascular risk and contributory factors in this cohort, including the prevalence of systemic hypertension, hypercholesterolaemia and CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD).
- 3. To assess arterial stiffness parameters in the older adult CF patient, whether this is augmented in CF when compared with the general population, and a chronic kidney disease (CKD) cohort, and thus if CF patients are at risk of premature vascular ageing as part of their disease process.
- To assess the prevalence and causative factors of renal disease in an older adult CF population.
- 5. To better define the most accurate method of calculating renal function (using glomerular filtration rate, GFR) in order to diagnose early renal disease in higher risk groups, such as those with CFRD.
- 6. To investigate cardiac structure, function and the presence of myocardial fibrosis in older adult CF patients.

Our overall aim is to better understand an ageing CF population and the complexities that will inevitably arise with improving survival. These complexities will include age-related, treatment-related and CFTR-related comorbidities. Median age of survival is increasing exponentially and factors contributing to survival are plentiful. With the advent of CFTR modulator therapies and the ever-changing landscape of CF treatment, patients will continue to gain survival benefit giving rise to age-related comorbidities not commonplace in previous CF management. It will be of utmost importance to recognise and manage these emerging complications in order to optimise future CF care.

2.3 Study Methods

2.3.1 Study Overview

This was a prospective, cross-sectional, observational, cohort study of CF patients at the Manchester Adult Cystic Fibrosis Centre (MACFC) aged 40 years and above. We aimed to recruit from a total of 92 eligible patients within our centre, selected on the basis of inclusion criteria listed below.

Ethical review was undertaken and approved by The Health Research Authority (HRA) and Health and Care Research Wales (HCRW) Ethics committee (reference 19/EM/0067). This work was conducted according to the Helsinki Declaration.

The study took place between August 2018 and August 2020.

2.3.2 Participants Inclusion criteria

- Diagnosis of CF and under the care of MACFC
- Aged 40 years and above
- Able to provide informed consent

Exclusion criteria

- Current pulmonary exacerbation
- Lung transplant recipient
- Pregnant
- Under the age of 40 years

Eligible patients were recruited during one of their routine clinic visits, preferably at their annual assessment due to the necessity of a fasting blood sample, which is performed as part of the CF annual assessment. Collating the annual visit and study visit aimed to optimise patient convenience. Patients were provided with a patient information sheet (PIS) via post at least 24 hours prior to recruitment, providing the opportunity to ask questions and discuss the study in greater detail if needed.

2.3.3 Data collection

- Patient questionnaires were completed by the research team with each patient during study visit one for epidemiological and clinical data collection (appendix 2).
- Supplementary retrospective data collection was performed from patient case notes.
- Intravenous aminoglycoside days were calculated for the preceding ten-year period using specific case notes containing detailed records of pulmonary exacerbations and treatment for each study patient for the duration of their care at MACFC to date.
- 4. Study participants then had the following prospective data collected;
 - a. Central systolic blood pressure (CSBP) using Vicorder[®] analysis (Skidmore Medical).
 - b. Arterial stiffness measurements using Vicorder[®] analysis (Skidmore Medical), to include pulse wave velocity (PWV) and augmentation index (AIx). A carotid/femoral approach was used in order to measure central aortic PWV (cfPWV) and AIx.
 - c. Sweat testing was performed using the protocol outlined by Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust, MFT (Wescor macroduct[™] iontophoresis); to assess sweat chloride concentration (appendix 4). Pre-modulator sweat chloride results were used for patients already commenced on CFTR modulation at the time of the study.
 - d. Blood sampling was undertaken as follows;
 - High sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP).
 - Standard renal profile (sodium, potassium, urea, creatinine) and derivations of estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) were made using Modification of Diet in Renal Disease (MDRD) and Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) formulae.

- Cystatin C; as a measure of renal function and derived eGFR using CKD-EPI equations.
- Lipid profile to include LDL cholesterol (LDL-C), HDL cholesterol (HDL-C), total cholesterol (TC), triglycerides (TG) and HDL-C/TC ratios.
- Samples for apolipoprotein A1 (ApoA1), apolipoprotein B (ApoB) and ApoB/A1 ratios (samples sent to Sheffield).
- Iohexol clearance GFR blood sampling was performed at 0, 30, 120, 180, 240 minutes following iohexol injection (see protocol; appendix 3).
- e. Urine sampling was performed to include:
 - Albumin-creatinine ratio (ACR).
 - 24-hour urinary creatinine clearance.
- f. Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMR) was performed in a select group of patients to assess cardiac structure and function.

Although most data were collected prospectively, we recognise the limitations of retrospective data collection (bias and systematic error) and this may be particularly relevant to the calculation of intravenous aminoglycoside days from case records.

2.3.4 Study visit schedule

The majority of visit data collection for each patient was performed at their routine outpatient clinic visit. A minority of patients attended for an additional 'study-specific' appointment at their request. The study visit schedule is shown below (figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Study visit flow diagram

<u>Visit one</u>

This visit lasted approximately 1.5 to 2 hours. Informed written consent was taken by myself, or my supervising consultants in my absence, as per the study delegation log. A questionnaire was completed with each patient to collect epidemiological and clinical data (appendix 2). Data collection for this visit also included;

- Measurements of CSBP, Alx and carotid femoral PWV (cfPWV) using the Vicorder[®] device (Skidmore Medical).
- A sweat test.
- Blood sampling for the biochemical tests as outlined above. The patient received instructions to be fasted for ten hours prior to this visit (if possible). If the first study visit coincided with the patient's annual assessment, they were fasted as per usual annual visit protocol.
- Urine sampling was taken for the biochemical tests as outlined above.

<u>Visit two</u>

Selection of participants for the second study visit was largely determined from the outcome of visit one. Although recruitment for visit one included all eligible patients (n=92), the nature of visit two required recruitment of a smaller patient numbers with an aim to include 10 to 20 patients for each test.

- Eligible patients attended for CMR, chosen based on lack of contraindications and willingness to undertake cardiac MRI.
- Iohexol blood sampling was be undertaken over a four-hour period according to the derived protocol (appendix 3).

<u>Visit three</u>

The third study visit was optional, following on from the study data collection performed in the first two visits. Study results and feedback, according to patient wishes, were disseminated at their next routine outpatient clinic visit at MACFC.

2.3.5 Sampling methods

2.3.5.1 Blood sampling

Patients were invited to fast for ten hours prior to a morning study visit to enable all initial study blood biomarkers to be collected within one visit.

Blood sampling was undertaken via a single venepuncture procedure where possible by myself or the specialist CF clinic nurses. A total of three serum blood tubes were filled.

Samples were transferred directly from MACFC to the biochemical laboratory at Wythenshawe Hospital. Blood samples were then centrifuged and split into appropriate aliquots for further processing. All samples aside from the non-routine apolipoprotein and cystatin C were processed and stored at Wythenshawe hospital, according to standard MFT laboratory protocol. Cystatin C samples were transported via internal sample transport to the biochemistry laboratory at Manchester Royal Infirmary (MRI), where samples were processed and stored according to standard MFT laboratory protocols.

The apolipoprotein A1 and B samples were transported by first class Royal Mail delivery to the Immunology department at Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust. Samples were processed and stored according to local laboratory protocols, under the supervision of Jonathan Aldis, Immunology Laboratory Manager. Results were sent directly back to MACFC for collation and analysis.

Details of laboratory processing procedures are shown in the tables below. Normal reference values for clinical biochemistry tests will vary between laboratories and the quoted reference ranges are applied to interpretation of results within the stated laboratory trusts.

Biochemical test	Sample assay	Assay frequency	Reference range and source	Processing method	Storage information
hsCRP	Serum, lithium heparin plasma or EDTA plasma.	Daily	<5 mg/L (Roche kit insert)	Particle enhanced immunoturbidimetry (Roche)	4 C for 4 days
Creatinine (serum)	Serum, lithium heparin plasma or EDTA plasma.	Daily	59-104 μmol/L male 45-84 μmol/L female (Roche kit insert)	Enzymatic (Roche)	4 C* for 4 days
Urea	Serum, lithium heparin plasma or	Daily	2.5-7.8 mmol/L (Pathology harmony)	Enzymatic (Roche)	4 C for 4 days

	EDTA plasma.				
Triglycerides (fasting)	Serum, lithium heparin plasma or EDTA plasma.	Daily	<1.7 mmol/L (Roche kit insert)	Enzymatic (Roche)	4C for 4 days Used to calculate LDL- cholesterol (Freidewald equation) Fasting sample required.
HDL- cholesterol (HDL)	Serum, lithium heparin plasma or EDTA plasma.	Daily	Male >1.0 mmol/L Female >1.2 mmol/L (JBS 2: Joint British Societies' guidelines on prevention of cardiovascular disease in clinical practice)	Enzymatic cholesterol esterase (Roche)	4C for 4 days Total cholesterol: HDL ratio used to calculate cardiovascular risk in primary prevention
Cholesterol (total)	Serum, lithium heparin plasma or EDTA plasma.	Daily	Ideal cholesterol ≤5.0 mmol/l See risk factor tables in BNF for primary prevention	Enzymatic, colorimetric (Roche)	4 days at 4C
Cystatin C	Serum, lithium heparin plasma.	Daily	Age-related: 18-50 years: 0.56-0.98 >50 years: 0.61-1.40	Particle enhanced immunoturbidimetric method (Roche Diagnostics c702 analyser)	At 4C until testing

Apolipoprotein A1, B and B/A1 ratio	Serum, lithium heparin plasma or EDTA	Daily	Apolipoprotein A1 = 1.30 g/L ($1.10 - 2.05$) Apolipoprotein B = 0.65 g/L	Siemens BNII nephelometer (method principle = nephelometry	At 4C until testing
	plasma		(0.55 - 1.40) Apolipoprotein B/A1 Ratio = 0.50 (0.35 - 1.00)		

Table 2.1: Laboratory analysis methods for serum cholesterol sampling (*4C = 4 degrees centigrade).

2.3.5.2 Measurements of renal function

Estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) is a derived result from serum creatinine and cystatin C measurements. The following equations for eGFR calculation were utilised in this study, taken from The International Society of Nephrology(259);

1. Modification of Diet in Renal Disease (MDRD)

GFR = 175 x (Standardized SCr)^{-1.154} x (age)^{-0.203} x (0.742 if female) x (1.212 if African American) (mL/min/1.73m²)

eGFR (estimated glomerular filtration rate) = $mL/min/1.73 m^2$, S_{cr} (standardized serum creatinine) = mg/dL, age = years

- 2. Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration CKD-EPI
 - a. CKD-EPI creatinine (2009):
 eGFR = 141 x min(SCr/κ, 1)^α x max(SCr /κ, 1)^{-1.209} x 0.993^{Age} x 1.018 [if female] x 1.159 [if Black]

 κ = 0.7 (females) or 0.9 (males), α = -0.329 (females) or -0.411 (males), min = indicates the minimum of S_{cr}/ κ or 1, max = indicates the maximum of S_{cr}/ κ or 1

b. CKD-EPI cystatin C (2012):

eGFR = $133 \times \min(Scys/0.8, 1)^{-0.499} \times \max(Scys/0.8, 1)^{-1.328} \times 0.996^{Age} \times 0.932$ [if female]

Scys (standardized serum cystatin C) = mg/l, min = indicates the minimum of Scys/0.8 or 1, max = indicates the maximum of Scys/0.8 or 1.

c. CKD-EPI cystatin C creatinine (2012):

eGFR = $135 \times \min(S_{Cr}/\kappa, 1)^{\alpha} \times \max(S_{Cr}/\kappa, 1)^{-0.601} \times \min(S_{cys}/0.8, 1)^{-0.375} \times \max(S_{cys}/0.8, 1)^{-0.711} \times 0.995^{Age} \times 0.969$ [if female] × 1.08 [if black]

α = -0.248 (females) or -0.207 (males).

Definitions used to classify chronic kidney disease (CKD) and proteinuria (as measured by ACR) were taken from The Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes collaboration (KDIGO) guidelines, 2012(259). For study purposes, GFR of >90 ml/min/1.73m² and ACR <3 mg/mmol were classed as normal. As per guidelines, a GFR of <60 ml/min/1.73m² (G3a, G3b, G4 and G5) was classed as CKD. G1 and G2 were classed as abnormal renal function if there was evidence of proteinuria (and thus renal damage).

GFR category	GFR (ml/min/1.73m ²)	Terms
G1	>90	Normal or high*
G2	60-89	Mildly decreased*
G3a	45-59	Mildly to moderately decreased
G3b	30-44	Moderately to severely decreased
G4	15-29	Severely decreased
G5	<15	Kidney failure

Table 2.2: Categories of CKD according to GFR. *In the absence of evidence of renal damage, G1 and G2 do not constitute CKD.

Category	Albumin excretion rate (AER) mg/24hr	ACR mg/mmol	Terms
A1	<30	<3	Normal to mildly increased
A2	30-300	3-30	Moderately increased

A3	>300	>30	Severely increased

Table 2.3: Albuminuria categories in CKD according to KDIGO. (ACR=albumin creatinine ratio). *Presence of renal disease to include haematuria, proteinuria, structural kidney abnormalities, genetic kidney syndromes, renal tubular disorders and history of renal transplantation.

2.3.5.3 lohexol protocol

Accurate (measured) GFR was calculated using iohexol clearance. This was then used as a

reference for identifying the most accurate eGFR method outlined above.

Iohexol GFR was calculated using a multi-sample method, with blood sampling undertaken at 0, 30, 120, 180 and 240 mins following iohexol infusion (see appendix 3).

2.3.5.4 Iohexol laboratory processing and interpretation of mGFR Iohexol is stable at room temperature and therefore iohexol clearance measurements can be performed in most clinical settings. In addition, samples may be taken to the laboratory for storage and processing without the need for dry ice transportation. Urine sampling for iohexol clearance can be used, however plasma sampling is more accurate and clinically feasible.

We used liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS) for iohexol sample analysis(260). The most commonly used method for iohexol analysis in European studies is high performance liquid chromatography with ultraviolet detection (HPLC-UV) due to its lower cost and easier technique, however the higher sensitivity and specificity of LC-MS makes this the preferred method where available(261).

There are considerations for intra-individual variation of mGFR using the iohexol method and a coefficient of variation between 4.2 and 10% is deemed acceptable, independent of the analytical method used. The accuracy of one method results within 10% of another study method results is considered excellent agreement. Our samples were validated using comparison between MFT analytical method and that of a Belgian group studying iohexol GFR in CF(262).

The accuracy of mGFR to eGFR within 10 to 30% (P10 and P30) is frequently used in study analysis and will be referenced in subsequent results.

The level of estimated GFR determines the timing of iohexol sampling, and a longer duration of sampling is required to improve accuracy of measured iohexol GFR in those with lower baseline renal function. Although this is not relevant to the majority of our CF patients, the lack of validity of single-sample iohexol protocols necessitated the use of a multi-sample method in our study group.

Although sampling was performed at 30 minutes following iohexol injection as a measure of iohexol distribution (fast) phase, this was not included in final analysis. Sampling at least two hours following iohexol injection, and a one compartment clearance model in the elimination phase of iohexol clearance, was utilised here.

Measured GFR was calculated from iohexol plasma clearance over time, using a one compartment model and corrected using the Bröchner-Mortensen factor to account for lack of multiple sampling in the initial iohexol distribution (fast) phase.

The resulting 'slope-intercept' measured GFR as a derivative of iohexol clearance was calculated using the method below(262)(263);

• The slope-intercept GFR (mL/min) = $k \times \text{Iohexol dose } (\mu g)/C_0 (\mu g/mL)$

k = slope of the (neperian) semi-logarithmic plot of plasma iohexol concentration, C_0 is the calculated iohexol concentration at time zero (intercept),

- This value was multiplied by 1.73 and divided by the body surface area (BSA, calculated from the equation: BSA = 0.20247 × height (metres)^{0.725} × weight (kg)^{0.425} (DuBois equation).
- The BSA-slope intercept GFR value (ml/min/1.73 m²) was corrected by the Bröchner-Mortensen correction factor = (0.990778 × GFR) - (0.001218 × GFR²), producing a measured iohexol GFR value (ml/min/1.73 m²).

A single sample method using the Jacobssen formula(261) can be used in preference to a multi-sample method, although extremes of weight and the required calculation of extracellular volume are limiting factors in this method, hence we have not used this method here.

Biochemical test	Sample assay	Assay frequency	Reference range and source	Processing method	Storage information
lohexol GFR	LC-MS	As needed	LC-MS validation against ioversal (HPC- UV to LC-MS method)(260) Validated for iohexol concentrations between 6.8 and 250µg/ml	Deuterated iohexol, 400 acetonitrile Vortex centrifuge Waters TQS Micro mass spectrometer	-80 C

Table 2.4: Iohexol laboratory processing method using LC-MS at MFT.

2.3.5.5 Urine sampling

Urine samples were sent to the Wythenshawe biochemistry laboratory for processing,

including albumin-creatinine ratio (ACR) and 24-hour urine samples for creatinine clearance

(where possible). These tests are done routinely in CF outpatient care.

Biochemical test	Sample assay	Assay frequency	Reference range and source	Processing method	Storage information
Creatinine (Urine) 24 hr or random urine, (24 hr for creatinine clearance)	Plain urine preferred, samples acidified with HCl or preserved with boric acid are also acceptable.	Daily	Male 9-21 mmol/24 hrs Female 7-14 mmol/24hrs(264) Normal creatinine clearance GFR=66–143 ml/min	Enzymatic (Roche)	4 C for 4 days
Albumin/ACR (urine)	Plain urine	Daily	In context of ACR, ≤2.9mg/mmol is normal	Colorimetric Bromocresol purple (Roche)	4 C for 4 days

Table 2.5: Laboratory processing procedure for urine samples.

Creatinine clearance and urine ACR are derived measurements. ACR, a strong marker of prognosis and cardiovascular risk in CKD populations, is calculated from urinary creatinine and urinary albumin. Normal ACR is ≤2.9mg/mmol.

The 24-hour urinary creatinine clearance is calculated from the following equation;

Creatinine clearance (CrCl) ml/min = (urine creatinine x volume) / serum creatinine

The normative reference values for urinary creatinine clearance at MFT is currently quoted at 66–143 ml/min, with no variation for gender(264). Reduced urinary creatinine clearance was defined as <80ml/min/1.73m² in line with a similar study in CF(86).

All laboratory samples will be stored for no greater than one week and, following processing, will be destroyed within this time frame according to local trust policy.

2.3.5.6 Sweat testing

In the years preceding the discovery of the CFTR gene in CF, diagnosis was made on the basis of clinical symptoms and sweat testing. Patients with CFTR dysfunction consistent with phenotypic CF classically have an elevated sweat chloride and this can be measured via a simple non-invasive method. The later introductions of new-born screening and gene testing, alongside sweat collection, form the foundation of definitive CF diagnosis. If new-born screening suggests a diagnosis of CF, sweat chloride measurement is the gold standard confirmatory test, usually done prior to genetic testing(265).

The sweat test can be undertaken in patients suspected of having CF from as early as two weeks after birth. Furthermore, sweat chloride levels can also be used to monitor therapeutic effect of and patient compliance to CFTR modulator therapy.

Sweat chloride levels of >30mmol/L are considered abnormal based on current guidelines, with 30-59 being an intermediate (equivocal) result(27). However, to make a diagnosis of CF, sweat chloride concentration must be ≥60mmol/L(265). Details of the sweat test laboratory processing at MFT are shown below (table 2.6). It should be noted that MFT uses an equivocal sweat chloride concentration of between 40 and 60mmol/L, slightly different to current guidelines.

Biochemical test	Sample assay	Assay frequency	Reference range and source	Processing method	Storage information
Sweat test	Sweat (plain tube)	Weekly	Cl <40 mmol/L conductivity (CF foundation) <50 NaCl equivalents Cl >60 mmol/L - abnormal, consistent with cystic fibrosis Cl 40-60 mmol/L - equivocal results CL <40 mmol/L - normal	Conductivity- argentimetry Sweat chloride concentration- colourometry (Sherwood 926 chloride meter) Chloride - Indirect ISE (Roche)	7 days at 4C

Table 2.6: Sweat test analysis method at MFT

The sweat test procedure takes around 45 minutes to complete. The sweat collection method at MACFC uses the Wescor Macroduct[™] (Logan, Utah 1983) system. The Wescor Macroduct[™] system is suggested in the guidelines for the Performance of the Sweat Test for the Investigation of Cystic Fibrosis in the UK (BI-X-MISC-10) as being an appropriate system for sweat collection(266).

The Wescor Macroduct[™] system uses iontophoresis. This is a process by which topical pilocarpine (within gel discs) is propelled transdermally using a small electrical current (2.5-4mA for five minutes), causing stimulation of muscarinic receptors in eccrine sweat glands to produce sweat. The sweat is collected into a narrow plastic tubing forming part of the macroduct system.

The sweat test procedure

The test was performed by a qualified nurse or doctor in MACFC, who has been appropriately trained and in whom competency in the procedure has been established and regularly reviewed.

The full Wescor Macroduct[™] sweat collection kit is required is shown in figure 2.2. The procedure is outlined in appendix 4.



A – Sweat inducer component – electrical current/positive and negative electrodes/straps

B – Pilocarpine infused gel discs

- C Collecting disc/coil
- 1 Iontophoresis
- 2 Sweat collection

Figure 2.2 – sweat test equipment and procedure steps(267)

In an older CF patient cohort, sweat testing will have pre-dated both new-born screening and genetic testing for diagnosis. Genotype-phenotype studies in CF show correlations between CFTR mutation class and disease severity(268). In addition, sweat chloride as a measure of CFTR activity shows variations between CFTR mutation classes and phenotypic disease expression(269). Given the predicted clinical diversity of the over-40 years age group of CF patients at MACFC, the relationship between sweat chloride, genotype and clinical disease has added an interesting and informative element to the study.

2.3.5.7 Arterial stiffness measurements

Multiple devices are available in the clinical setting for the non-invasive measurement of arterial stiffness. The Vicorder[®] device (Skidmore medical, Bristol, UK) was chosen for this study due to MACFC links with the reno-vascular research teams at Salford Royal Foundation Trust (SRFT) and availability of software.

The Vicorder[®] system (Skidmore Medical) is an instrument used for measurement of PWV and Alx, along with a variety of other measurements of vascular stiffness and arterial pulse wave analysis. The process by which the Vicorder[®] analyses arterial pulse waves uses applanation tonometry. The Vicorder[®] generates highly reproducible PWV measurements, which are comparable to those generated by the SphygmCor[®] (AtCor Medical), an alternative device. Aortic (central) Alx and PWV are most frequently measured and bear the most relevance to CV morbidity and mortality.

The equipment required for the Vicorder[®] method of pulse wave analysis (PWA)(270);



Figure 2.3: Vicorder[®] transducer device with brachial/femoral blood pressure cuff, carotid cuff with photoplethysmographic sensor and PWA recording via computer software. *Figure 2.4: An example of PWA on Vicorder*[®] *computer* software.

Vicorder[®] procedure

In order to perform the Vicorder[®] (Skidmore Medical) measurements the patient is settled into a quiet room for approximately ten minutes to ensure that he/she is relaxed and calm. The patient is asked to lay semi-recumbent on their back with the head supported and arms by their side. By using the appropriate size cuff and Korotkov method two brachial blood pressure readings are obtained manually using a Timesco Sapphire sphygmomanometer. A third blood pressure reading is obtained after a five minute interval if there is a discrepancy of more than 5mmHg in the initial two blood pressure recordings. The data are entered into the computer software connected to the Vicorder[®] device.

A 100mm wide blood pressure cuff (Hokanson Inc. Bellevue, WA, USA) is placed around the upper thigh to measure the femoral pulse and a 30mm partial cuff (Hokanson Inc. Bellevue, WA, USA), which is equipped with a photoplethysmographic sensor at the level of the carotid artery, is placed around the neck in order to record the carotid pressure. The cuffs are inflated to 90mmHg and high-quality waveforms are recorded simultaneously for three seconds with the subject in the supine position.

Path length (between carotid and femoral cuffs) is the length obtained following the subtraction of proximal from distal measurements. In order to determine the path length, using a tape measure, the distance from the sternal notch to the site of the probe on the carotid artery is recorded in millimetres. This is labelled as the proximal measurement. Then the distance from the sternal notch to the groin crease at the point where the femoral artery is studied is measured and recorded in millimetres. This is the distal measurement. These measurements are entered into the software and the path length is automatically calculated by subtracting the proximal from the distal measurement. The Vicorder[®] measurements are repeated twice for each patient for accuracy.

The software displays pulse waveforms in real-time and calculates measurements of PWV and Alx, which are automatically saved onto a laptop with links to an excel sheet format such that data can easily be extracted for analysis purposes.

Reference ranges for PWV and AIx are contentious due to variations of normative values with advancing age and degree of systemic hypertension. For the purposes of this study we will be referring to guidelines published in current literature(149)(151).

2.3.5.8 Cardiovascular risk scoring

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of premature death in the UK. Multiple cardiovascular (CV) risk factors influence the prevalence of CVD, including systemic hypertension, hypercholesterolaemia and diabetes mellitus (DM). CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD) is an age prevalent condition in CF with 40-50% of adults being affected(271). In the general population, cardiovascular risk scoring is applicable to patients over the age of 40 years. Several CVD risk scoring systems have been developed and, although QRisk[®]3 is the most recent and recommended by NICE (2017), the QRisk[®]2 is still the most widely utilised within primary care. These CVD scoring systems are computerised methods that have been developed using data from large CVD-naive general population studies(160). Patients undergoing cardiovascular risk scoring must have no previous diagnosis of CVD in order to be scored accurately. Evidence has shown that early treatment with lipid lowering therapy and anti-hypertensives for primary CVD prevention can substantially lower the risk of CVD, forming the clinical evidence for CVD risk scoring(272).

In CF management, most care is delivered in a specialist cystic fibrosis centre and patients rarely utilise primary care. As a consequence, cardiovascular risk scoring in an older CF population may be overlooked. We developed a questionnaire that would enable specific clinical and epidemiological data to be collected in our over-40 population to apply to standard QRisk[®]2 and QRisk[®]3 cardiovascular risk scoring systems. It must be highlighted that the inclusion of DM within CV risk scoring necessitates a distinction between type 1 and type 2 classes of DM. No such distinction can be applied to CFRD, with the pathophysiological process including both insulin deficiency and insulin resistance. This could be a limitation to CV risk scoring within CF, however we thought it interesting to establish any significant difference between diabetic subtypes and CV risk in this cohort.

Questionnaires were completed with the patient during the first study visit. This data was then transferred onto a spreadsheet and subsequently inputted into computerised QRisk[®]2 and QRisk[®]3 scores(162)(273). These algorithms automatically generated a percentage risk score of sustaining a cardiovascular event over the forthcoming ten years, i.e. a ten-year CVD risk prediction. The QRisk[®]3 score is shown in appendix 1.

2.3.5.9 Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMR)

CFTR is expressed in myocardial cells. The cardiac pathological process in CF is classically right ventricular (RV) hypertrophy and dilatation, manifesting as cor pulmonale, as a result of chronic hypoxia and progressive lung disease(274). Although there have been a few case reports in the literature, primary cardiac disease in CF is seen infrequently, particularly ischaemic heart disease and left ventricular pathology. This may be due simply to the fact that CF patients have historically not survived long enough to develop the atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease seen with ageing and cardiovascular comorbidity in the general population. Cardiac disease may become more relevant in CF as survival continues to improve and may have implications for both morbidity and mortality as well as organ transplantation suitability in an ageing CF cohort.

The role of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in CF clinical practice has largely been focused on the study of lung pathology and ventilation. Cardiac MRI (CMR) allows us to image the CF heart and great vessels in detail, assessing atrial and ventricular morphology and dynamics as well as myocardial structure and pathology.

CMR enables highly specific, three dimensional cardiac images to be obtained with great clarity regardless of body habitus and without the use of ionising radiation, hence being advantageous over echocardiography and cardiac CT. In addition, the accuracy and reproducibility of CMR means that relatively small sample sizes are often sufficient, hence our small sample size of ten patients.

Ten patients for cardiac MRI were prospectively selected following visit one and represented a variety of cardiovascular risk factors/scores and CF clinical disease severity. No patients were identified as having a diagnosis of CVD during screening and hence none were excluded from this part of the study. CMR-specific exclusion criteria also included claustrophobia, allergy to gadolinium-based contrast agents (GBCA) and eGFR < 40ml/min/1.73m².

Protocol for cardiac MRI

The CMR scan was performed by Lenin Francis, CMR radiographer (Alliance Medical) using a specific CMR protocol, designed in conjunction with Dr Christopher Miller (Consultant Cardiologist). The 1.5 T Tesla MR scanner at Wythenshawe Hospital (Avanto, Siemens Medical Imaging). The scan time was around 45 minutes and the CMR protocol used is shown in appendix 5.

Scans were supervised and initial image analysis performed by Dr Christopher Orsborne (Cardiology Clinical Research Fellow).

Parameters of measurement included left and right ventricle mass, volume and ejection fraction, atrial area and myocardial tissue characterisation. Important techniques used are T1 mapping, late gadolinium enhancement (LGE) and extracellular volume (ECV) fraction calculation. LGE imaging began at six minutes following gadolinium bolus to assess for focal myocardial fibrosis. T1 mapping (by Modified Look-Looker Inversion Recover (MOLLI)) at basal and mid left ventricular short axis level before and 15 minutes following the final bolus of gadolinium provided evaluation of myocardial fibrosis and oedema.

T1 time is longitudinal (spin lattice) relaxation time of the myocardium. T1 time is an important indicator of myocardial disease and, in the absence of contrast, may be increased in myocardial oedema and fibrosis and shortened in excess lipid or iron deposition. In the
presence of contrast (LGE), T1 mapping can be used to calculate the ECV fraction, which is an important marker of myocardial tissue remodelling and fibrosis(275). LGE with T1 mapping can assess for localised myocardial scar and fibrosis. The combination of LGE, T1 mapping and ECV fraction calculation can assess for more diffuse myocardial fibrosis.

LGE and both native and post-contrast T1 mapping were performed to assess for localised myocardial fibrosis. ECV fractions, based on native and post-contrast T1 values of blood and myocardium, were calculated to evaluate the presence of diffuse myocardial fibrosis. ECV fraction estimates are calculated using pre and post-contrast T1 mapping and patient haematocrit value(276) (shown below).

$$ECV = (1 - hct) \frac{1}{post \ contrast \ T1 \ myo} - \frac{1}{native \ T1 \ myo} \ \div \ \frac{1}{post \ contrast \ T1 \ blood} - \frac{1}{native \ T1 \ blood}$$

Analysis and interpretation of cardiac MRI data was performed using CVI Circle ImagingTM, with the assistance of Dr Christopher Miller and Dr Christopher Orsborne.

2.4 Statistical analysis

• Characterising the demographics of an adult cystic fibrosis population, specifically aged 40 years and above.

Data were collected prospectively during study visits using a formulated questionnaire (appendix 2). Epidemiological and clinical demographic data of this population was supplemented by review of patient case notes. We aimed to investigate the overall genetic and phenotypic characteristics of this group. We also aimed to investigate specific correlations between patient clinical characteristics, genetic CFTR classification and sweat chloride.

Data were analysed, represented and discussed using descriptive statistics, to include tabular numerical summaries and relevant graphical methods. Group comparison was represented using one-way ANOVA, Student's T-test and Chi squared testing. Non-parametric equivalents were used for skewed data.

• To assess the cardiovascular risk and contributory factors in an older adult CF cohort, including the prevalence of hypertension, hypercholesterolemia and CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD).

Observational data collected from study visits provided insight into the prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in this older CF population. Blood sampling for the described tests provided cholesterol parameters and an idea of the degree of inflammatory burden (hsCRP), contributing to altered arterial dynamics. Data were used to assess demographics and comorbidities in this population, to specifically include the presence of CFRD, systemic hypertension and hyperlipidaemia. Cardiovascular risk scoring was calculated using methods described and were used to define cardiovascular risk in our older CF cohort. Patients were recruited for further assessment of cardiovascular morbidity using cardiac MRI (CMR). CMR enabled us to evaluate cardiac morphology and function in greater detail as well as providing further insight into central arterial vascular integrity.

• To assess arterial stiffness parameters in the older adult CF patient

Arterial stiffness (cfPWV and AIx) and central systolic blood pressure (CSBP) measurements provided information regarding the prevalence of systemic hypertension and arterial stiffness in this cohort. Data were compared to a matched data from CKD cohort (Salford reno-vascular research group) to assess for trends and significant differences between groups. Inferential statistical analysis was used, including appropriate combinations of student's T-test, one-way ANOVA, Bonferroni, Chi squared and correlations to analyse, display and discuss the data. Linear regression models were used to make comparisons between groups, adjusting for confounding variables, particularly in the absence of matched data.

• To assess the prevalence and causative factors of renal disease in an older adult CF population.

Blood and urine sampling were performed in order to collect information on renal status for each patient. Methods to obtain estimated measurements of renal function were utilised to include MDRD, CKD-EPI and creatinine clearance. Urinary ACR measurements were used to detect any microalbuminuria which may indicate early renal disease, particularly in patients with CFRD.

• To better define the most accurate method of calculating renal function (using glomerular filtration rate, GFR) in older adult CF patients.

Estimated GFR (eGFR) was calculated using several formulae as outlined previously. Inaccuracies in measuring eGFR using creatinine-based equations in CF patients exist and more novel biomarkers such as cystatin C may improve reliability of renal function measurements in this population group. Gold standard iohexol-measured GFR can be used as a comparator to assess validity of each derived eGFR value and was performed in a small number of patients. Comparisons between GFR methods were performed using assessments of agreement and bias with Bland Altman plots, and accuracy between methods (P10 and P30).

• To investigate cardiac function, structure and presence of myocardial fibrosis in older adult CF patients.

A specifically developed cardiac MRI (CMR) protocol (appendix 5) using late gadolinium enhancement (LGE) and T1 mapping was used to investigate cardiac structure, function and

volumetrics in nine patients in this cohort. Data for LV/RV mass, left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), extracellular volume (ECV) fraction and presence/absence of myocardial fibrosis was recorded for each patient. Data were analysed using descriptive methods and comparison between severe (ppFEV₁ <40%) and non-severe (ppFEV₁ >40%) lung disease groups was undertaken using student's T testing.

All statistical analysis was performed using SPSS[®] (IBM[®], version 25.0), with two-tailed p values of <0.05 deemed statistically significant.

2.5 Individual contributions to study

The research in this thesis was conducted at the Manchester Adult Cystic Fibrosis Centre, in collaboration with several other internal and external institutions. The author of this thesis (Sarah Paterson) was the study principle investigator, supervised by Professor Andrew Jones and Dr Rowland Bright-Thomas.

- Dr Sarah Paterson, Respiratory ST7 and Research Fellow consent, data collection, data analysis, write-up.
- Professor Andrew Jones (MD) and Dr Rowland Bright-Thomas (PhD), Consultant respiratory and CF physicians consent, assistance with analysis and write-up.
- Dr Darren Green (PhD), Consultant renal and acute medicine physician at SRFT provision of Vicorder[®] machine, assistance with analysis of PWV and Alx data (to include control CKD data and statistical analysis) and assistance with completion of successful Kidneys UK research grant for iohexol study arm.
- Dr Anne-Marie Kelly, Consultant physician/Biochemist at Manchester NHS Foundation Trust (MFT) – assistance in lipid profile/QRisk[®] analysis and interpretation.
- Dr Christopher Miller (PhD), Consultant cardiologist at MFT development of CMR study protocol and interpretation of CMR data
- Dr Christopher Orsborne, Cardiology ST4 and Research Fellow at MFT assistance with development of CMR study protocol, supervision of CMR scans, analysis of images and interpretation of results.
- Professor Brian Keevil Consultant biochemist at MFT. Processing and interpretation of iohexol samples and mGFR calculations.
- Mr David Marshall Senior biochemist at MFT. Assistance with processing iohexol samples and mGFR calculations.
- Mr Jonathan Aldis Chief Biochemist, Sheffield Teaching Hospitals. Processing of apolipoprotein samples.
- Mrs Karen Morris and Mrs Sherly George, Biochemists at MFT assistance with laboratory protocols, transport and processing of blood and urine samples.
- Mr John Belcher, Chief Statistician at MFT assistance with statistical analysis of data.

The Complexities of Ageing in Cystic fibrosis

3.0 Chapter 3: The demographics of an older cystic fibrosis cohort

3.1 Abstract

3.1.1 Introduction

Survival in cystic fibrosis (CF) is increasing exponentially. A child born with CF today has a median survival into their fifth decade and there are now more adults than children living with CF in the UK. An insight into the older CF cohort and exploration of reasons for longevity is crucial in order to understand this fascinating population, the complexities of their disease as they age and to target potential new areas for management.

3.1.2 Methods

Patients aged 40 years and above, attending Manchester Adult Cystic fibrosis Centre (MACFC), underwent data collection between August 2018 and August 2020. Study visits incorporated data collection for general demographics and disease comorbidities using a formulated questionnaire. Serum high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP) and total intravenous (IV) aminoglycoside days over a preceding ten-year period were measured as markers of disease severity. Data collation was supplemented by retrospective case note review. Sweat testing was performed to assess for trends in genotype, sweat chloride and disease phenotype. Severity of disease in this group was classified by percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second (ppFEV₁) and total intravenous (IV) antibiotic days. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS (IBM), with p<0.05 used for statistical significance.

3.1.3 Results

A total of 85 patients were studied from 92 eligible at the time of data collection. This group accounted for 20% of the total CF patient cohort at MACFC. Mean(\pm SD) age of this older cohort was 48.6(\pm 7.70) years and 65.9% were male. Mean ppFEV₁ was 52.9(\pm 23.3)%, indicating a cohort with plentiful lung disease. 72.9% had severe cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator gene (CFTR) mutations and 65.9% had chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (PsA) infection. A high proportion had CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD); 49.4% (n=42). Median age of CF diagnosis was 1.5 (IQR; 19, range 0-72) years and 83.5% were exocrine pancreatic insufficient. Median sweat chloride was 97.0 (IQR; 35.8, range; 23-135) mmol/L. Median hsCRP was 5.0(IQR 8.0, range;1-42)mg/L and median IV antibiotic use was 88.0 (IQR 188) days. 55.3% of patients were in full or part-time employment and 34.1% had biological children.

Analysis between age deciles and between late and early diagnosis groups observed statistically significant trends towards lower sweat chloride levels (p=0.039), higher prevalence of exocrine pancreatic sufficiency (p=0.02) and less severe CFTR mutation classes (p<0.001) with advancing age. However, there were no significant differences in pulmonary and nutritional parameters between age groups. Variation in phenotype was seen throughout age groups and within CFTR mutation classes. There also exists a degree of cardiovascular risk in this older CF cohort, with 18.8% and 15.5% with systemic hypertension and hyperlipidaemia respectively. This will be an important area for future research.

3.1.4 Conclusion

Patients aged 40 years and above constitute a significant proportion of the total patient cohort at MACFC. This is a heterogeneous group and, although a proportion have late diagnoses of CF and milder clinical disease, many have severe CFTR genotypes with exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection and classical CF phenotypic disease. However, the demographics of an ageing CF population is likely to change over time, particularly in the era of CFTR modulation therapy.

In the older CF population, we may observe end organ damage from the general ageing process as well as CFTR dysfunction and, with advancing pulmonary disease, more older patients may progress to lung transplantation. Further areas for research should logically include cardiovascular risk in this ageing CF population, the effect of CFTR dysfunction on the ageing CF myocardium and the impact of chronic CF therapies on renal function. Predicted future increases in CF survival, particularly in the era of CFTR modulation, makes this research into ageing in CF both timely and essential, and will aid in understanding and management of an ever-challenging and complex disease.

3.2 Introduction

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is an autosomal recessive, multi-system, life-limiting genetic disease seen mainly in Caucasian populations. The underlying pathological process stems from abnormal cystic fibrosis-related transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene, encoding for an anion channel in the membrane of epithelial cells. The corresponding clinical manifestations involve the accumulation of viscous secretions in multiple organs expressing abnormal epithelial cell CFTR, including the lungs, gastrointestinal tract, pancreas and liver(2).

When CF was first diagnosed as a clinical entity by Dorothy Anderson in 1938, survival rarely surpassed one year(53). However, the 20th century has seen disease perspectives and treatment modalities for CF develop dramatically, such that the 21st century CF community is now beginning to see an ageing CF population. There are now a greater proportion of adult than paediatric CF patients in the UK(4). The median age of survival of a child born with CF today is into their fifth decade(11) and this is predicted to rise further, particularly in the era of disease-modifying CFTR therapy.

The rapid development and subsequent success of CF treatment over the last 80 years has undoubtedly contributed to survival advantages. However, there may be many more factors contributing to improving survival in CF. What does an ageing CF population look like now? It is likely that they will incorporate a vast spectrum of phenotypic disease, influenced not only by genetics but also by environmental and socioeconomic factors. Although CF patients with milder disease and later age of diagnosis may have a survival advantage, the demographics of an ageing CF population are likely to change over time with an increasing proportion of patients with 'classical' CF reaching older ages, particularly in the era of CFTR modulation. It is necessary to develop our knowledge of this older CF population in order to enhance our understanding of the complexities of older CF phenotypes. Ageing complications may be predominantly related to the longevity of CFTR organ dysfunction, however non-CFTR related complications such as the long term effects of chronic therapies and of the general ageing process itself are likely to become important factors in future CF management. An ageing CF population will bring novel challenges to the CF multidisciplinary team and, as with the general ageing population, new demands on resources. Less severe CF phenotypes, with residual CFTR function, may correlate with a delayed or adult diagnosis. However, we know from previous studies that older CF populations still include a high proportion of patients with early diagnosis and severe 'classical' disease, with a high prevalence of exocrine pancreatic insufficiency and chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection(200). However, this study is over a decade old and the demographics of long term CF survivors may have changed over time. The heterogeneity of an older CF group exemplifies the challenges of analysing survival advantage and predicting emerging comorbidities in an ageing CF population.

Within each CFTR mutation class exists a spectrum of clinical disease(268). Studies analysing the genotype-phenotype relationship within CF have postulated that a milder CFTR genotype (i.e. non-severe CFTR mutation classes IV and V) may confer a less severe, "non-classical" CF phenotype when compared with severe CFTR mutations. Clinical phenotype depends upon the degree of preservation of normal CFTR protein translation and function. The genotype-phenotype correlation of CFTR function and its relationship to CF clinical disease manifestation is illustrated in figure 3.1. Although this categorisation of CFTR function and resulting phenotypic expression may be accurate in the majority of patients, making definitive conclusions about genotype-phenotype correlation is challenging due to considerable variability of phenotypic expression within CFTR mutation classes(253)(199). An adult diagnosis of CF often accompanies a less severe CFTR genotype. Although still experiencing disease progression, this patient group is likely to be prevalent in an older CF cohort due to less severe disease and subsequent perceived survival advantage.



Figure 3.1: Illustration of genotype-phenotype correlation in CF (CFLD=CF-related liver disease, PI=exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, CBAVD-congenital bilateral absence of vas deferens).

Only a few studies to date have analysed the demographics of older CF cohorts. Simmonds and colleagues (2010) explored factors for longevity in CF by studying a CF patient group aged 40 years and above with a birth date-matched control group of CF patients with mortality below the age of 30 years(277). Although a late diagnosis group was not studied and the patterns of disease phenotypes in early diagnosis patients were variable, survival advantage could be explained, and not unexpectedly, by higher ppFEV₁ at transition to adult services, absence of chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection and higher body mass index (BMI). Rodman and colleagues analysed an older CF population in terms of both early and late diagnosis groups, observing that in patients with late diagnoses (>24 years) there existed a trend towards lower sweat chloride and higher ppFEV₁. In addition, and as expected, the frequency of the Phe508del mutation was lower in the late diagnosis group, corresponding clinically as increased prevalence of CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD)(199).

Although there was a lower rate of chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection in the late diagnosis group, there was a higher prevalence of non-tuberculous bacteria (NTM).

Increasing survival in CF will be accompanied by an increasing burden of chronic therapies, microbial resistance and progressive organ dysfunction. CFTR-related ageing will also predispose to CF-arthropathy, metabolic bone disease and CFRD. Lung transplantation may become relevant for a larger number of older patients and CFTR modulation is likely to alter the landscape of CF disease as a whole. Pulmonary decline may still be inevitable despite CFTR modulation and the effects of residual CFTR function on progression of disease is unknown, making the future of CF unpredictable. The introduction of triple CFTR modulation therapy (Kaftrio®) is an exciting recent development in CF treatment and is likely to further improve survival. Middleton et al (2019) report Kaftrio[®], a triple CFTR modulator (elexacaftor, tezacaftor and ivacaftor) to produce a 14.3% increase in ppFEV₁, 63% reduction in pulmonary exacerbation rate and 41.8mmol/L reduction in sweat chloride concentration at 28 days in CF patients aged 12 years and above with one Phe508del and one minimal function CFTR mutation(95). Heijerman et al (2019) show similar benefit in Phe508del homozygotes with Kaftrio[®], reporting a 10% increase in ppFEV₁, a 45.1mmol/L reduction in sweat chloride and an increase of 17.4 points in the CF-questionnaire respiratory domain (CFQ-R) quality of life index at 28 days in those aged 12 years and above(96). These results are outstanding and kaftrio will change the landscape of CF dramatically in years to come.

A paucity of data in older CF populations highlights the importance of further studies aimed at developing our knowledge of emerging complications with CF longevity and to develop more definitive conclusions regarding optimal future management of these complex patients.

3.3 Methods

A full description of methodology for this study is outlined in chapter two. The age of 40 years and above was used to define an 'ageing' CF cohort. This age group has been used as a milestone in previous studies to define longer term survival in CF(278)(199).

Ethical approval was obtained from the Health Research Authority (HRA) and Health and Care Research Wales (HCRW) Ethics committee (reference 19/EM/0067).

In brief, a database of all CF patients at MACFC aged 40 years and above was created in order to assess trends in their demographics, predict emerging complications and identify further areas for research. An observational, cross-sectional cohort study was then performed from August 2018 to August 2020 at MACFC. Eligible patients were consented and recruited for a study visit during a time of clinical stability, defined as the absence of pulmonary exacerbation requiring oral or intravenous antibiotics within the preceding fourweek period(279). Lung transplantation recipients were excluded.

3.3.1 Demographic data

Data were collated for demographic data at the first study visit using a formulated study questionnaire (appendix 2). Supplementary demographic data were collected retrospectively from patient case notes. Data not obtained at the time of study visit were collected from within the previous 12 month period, either at latest clinical review or from annual assessment results. Demographic data collected during study visits included; genotype, age at CF diagnosis, lung function parameters (percent of predicted forced expiratory volume in one second {ppFEV1} and forced vital capacity {FVC}), total intravenous (IV) aminoglycoside days within the preceding ten-year period, sputum microbiology (previous three samples or predominant organism in last 24-month period), exocrine pancreatic status, body mass index (BMI), presence of CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD) and the presence of other organ involvement (to include liver, renal, bone disease, gastrooesophageal reflux disease {GORD}, malignancy and arthropathy). Employment, social and family history information was also collected.

The presence of CFRD was confirmed by previous diagnostic OGTT and/or continuous glucose monitoring. Exocrine pancreatic status was defined from historical faecal elastase

measurements and/or the use of pancreatic enzyme supplementation. Disease severity was defined in terms of ppFEV₁ (</ \geq 40%), high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), (>5mg/L) and BMI (<18.5kg/m²). Total intravenous aminoglycoside days over the preceding ten year period were calculated from detailed clinical records of pulmonary exacerbations for each patient. Most patients received a dual combination of intravenous antibiotic treatment during pulmonary exacerbation, however only intravenous aminoglycoside days were recorded for the study.

Demographic data from this cohort were analysed together and then with reference to differences between three distinct age groups; 40-49, 50-59 and \geq 60 years of age.

3.3.2 Blood sampling

Blood sampling was performed using venepuncture at the patient study visit. Measured biomarkers included renal function, hsCRP, lipid profiles and HbA1c. The analysis of hsCRP in the context of disease severity is described in this chapter. The other blood parameters are analysed further in future chapters.

3.3.3 Sweat testing

Prospective sweat testing was performed for the majority of patients using the Wescor macroduct[®] iontophoresis method(280)(appendix 4). For patients already commenced on CFTR modulation (and thus have an expected sweat chloride reduction), the pre-initiation sweat chloride level was used. For those patients with a recent diagnosis of CF (within the last ten years), the sweat chloride value obtained during initial diagnostic work-up was used in analysis. Age of CF diagnosis, sweat chloride concentration (colourometry), CFTR genotype and other demographic data were then analysed in early diagnosis (<16 years) and late diagnosis (≥16 years) comparator groups. CFTR mutation classes were divided into severe (class I-III) and non-severe (class IV-V). Rarer class VI CFTR mutations were included as severe.

3.3.4 Data analysis

Data analysis was performed using SPSS[®] statistical software (IBM[®], version 25.0). Data were analysed for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov method. Independent T-test, one-way ANOVA and Pearson correlations were performed to display normally distributed

data. Logarithmic transformation was performed prior to analysis of skewed data and results displayed as geometric mean/SD or back-transformed mean/CI as applicable. For data without normal distribution on logarithmic transformation, non-parametric testing was used for analysis. Categorical data were analysed using Chi-squared testing. Univariate and multivariate regression models were also used to determine relationships between dependent and independent variables. Two-tailed p values of <0.05 were deemed statistically significant.

3.4 Results

From the total number of CF patients at MACFC, 92 patients were identified as being aged 40 years or above at the time of data collection, between August 2018 and August 2020. 85 of these patients went on to participate in prospective study investigations and this group represents 20% of the total CF patient population at MACFC.



Figure 3.2: A consort flow diagram of patient recruitment.

3.4.1 Demographics of study cohort

Full demographic data for all 85 study participants are shown in table 3.1 (appendix 6). The mean (\pm SD) age of the study cohort was 48.6 (\pm 7.70) years. 65.9% are male. 72.9% of patients had a severe CFTR genotype. There was a high prevalence of exocrine pancreatic insufficiency; 83.5% and chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* colonisation; 65.9%. Mean ppFEV₁ was 52.9(\pm 23.3)%, mean BMI was 23.9(\pm 3.13)kg/m² and 49.4% had CFRD. 72.9% of patients were on regular nebulised antibiotic treatment and 63.5% on nebulised mucolytic therapy.

Three patients received a double lung transplantation during the study period (patient 36, 37 and 56, see table 3.1, appendix 6). All transplant recipients had a ppFEV₁ of less than 30%, chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection and exocrine pancreatic insufficiency. There were three deaths (patient 1, 20 and 60, see table 3.1, appendix 6), all from recalcitrant pulmonary exacerbation, providing a two-year mortality rate of 3.3% in our older cohort. The mean ppFEV₁ of this group was 30.7(±9.7)%, two had chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection, all were exocrine pancreatic insufficient and all had CFRD.

3.4.2 Analysis of groups by age range

Data were categorised into age groups; 40-49 years, 50-59 years and \geq 60 years to assess for demographic trends with advancing age. Statistically significant differences were shown between groups for exocrine pancreatic status (p=0.022), CFTR mutation class severity (p=0.005), median age at diagnosis (p<0.001) and median sweat chloride (p=0.017) using one-way ANOVA/Kruskal-Wallis testing. There was also a statistically significant difference in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* prevalence between groups. There was a greater prevalence of systemic hypertension and hyperlipidaemia (total cholesterol >5mmol/L) with increasing age. No significant difference was seen in either ppFEV₁ or BMI between groups (table 3.2).

Age range	Total	40-49	50-59	≥ 60	P value
Number of patients (n)	85	57	20	8	-
%male	65.9%	70.2%	50.0%	75.0%	0.228
Median age at Diagnosis (IQR, range) (years)	88.0 (188)	1.5 (5, 0-40)	4.5 (25 <i>,</i> 0- 55)	52.5 (54 <i>,</i> 0- 72)	<0.017*
Mean ppFEV ₁ (%)(SD)	52.9 (23.3) %	53.0 (22.2) %	50.3 (24.6) %	58.0 (29.7) %	0.731
Mean BMI (kg/m ²) (SD)	23.9 (3.13)	24.2 (3.24)	23.2 (2.41)	24.2 (3.99)	0.450
% with CFTR class I-III (n)	72.9% (62)	78.9% (45)	75.0% (15)	25.0% (2)	0.005

% PI	83.5%	85.9%	90.0%	50.0%	0.022
(n)	(71)	(49)	(18)	(4)	
% chronic PsA infection (n)	65.9% (56)	73.7% (42)	65.0% (13)	12.5% (1)	0.003
% chronic BCC infection (n)	15.3% (13)	17.5% (10)	15.0% (3)	0	0.434
% CFRD (n)	49.4% (42)	52.6% (30)	55.0% (11)	12.5% (1)	0.089
% HTN (n)	18.8% (16)	15.8% (9)	20.0% (4)	37.5% (3)	0.034
% Hyperlipidaemia (n)	15.5% (13)	7.02% (4)	25.0% (5)	37.5% (3)	0.007

Table 3.2: Demographic analysis by age group of study population, *Kruskal-Wallis used. (HTN=systemic hypertension, BCC=Burkholderia cepacia complex, PsA=Pseudomonas aeruginosa).

3.4.3 Disease severity

Total intravenous (IV) antibiotic days over the preceding ten-year period, baseline high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), ppFEV₁ and BMI were used as markers of disease severity. In the total cohort, mean ppFEV₁ was 52.9(\pm 23.3) %, showing quite significant lung function impairment in the study group. Median hsCRP was 5.0(IQR 8.0, range;1-42)mg/L and mean BMI 23.9(\pm 3.13) kg/m². There was no statistically significant difference in these parameters between age groups. The median total IV aminoglycoside days over ten years for the cohort was 88.0 (IQR 188, range;0-562) days. There was no significant difference in IV antibiotic days between the defined age groups (p=0.146). However, unsurprisingly, there was a statistically significant negative correlation between total IV aminoglycoside days and ppFEV₁ in the total over 40 year old cohort (r=-0.526, p<0.001). Linear regression analysis suggests that ppFEV₁ decreases by 0.084% for every additional IV day (r²=0.276, p<0.001). As expected, there was a strong correlation between ppFEV₁ and BMI; r=0.436, p=<0.001 (figure 3.3). There was a statistically significant correlations between IV days and baseline hsCRP (r=0.454, p<0.001), the presence of CFRD and BMI (r= -0.224, p=0.04) and ppFEV₁ and hsCRP (r= -0.515, p<0.001).



Figure 3.3: A scatterplot showing the correlation between $ppFEV_1$ and BMI (r=0.436, p<0.001).

3.4.4 Gender and disease severity

The majority of patients in our older CF cohort were male (65.9%). This gender disparity seems to decrease between the ages of 50 and 59, with 43.5% of this group being female. In addition, all 15% (n=3) of the patients in this age group (50-59 years) chronically colonised with *Burkholderia cenocepacia* are female, with relatively preserved lung function (mean $ppFEV_1 57.7\%$).

Analysis of gender and ppFEV₁, when categorised into severe (<40%) and less severe (\geq 40%) groups, show no statistical difference using Fishers Exact test; p=0.075. The relationship between gender and hsCRP (<5 and \geq 5mg/L) similarly shows no statistical significance using Fishers exact test; p=0.408.

3.4.5 CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD)

In our cohort, 49.4% had a diagnosis of CFRD. There was a statistically significant difference in the prevalence of CFRD between severe and non-severe CFTR class groups (p=0.008) and also between early and late diagnosis groups (p=0.024). A higher prevalence of CFRD was seen in the severe CFTR mutation and early diagnosis group; 56 vs 20%.

There was a significant statistical difference in $ppFEV_1$ (p=0.040) and BMI (p=0.041) between those with CFRD and those without (Chi squared analysis; table 3.3).

Variable	CFRD	Non-CFRD	P value
Patient number (n)	43	42	-
Mean ppFEV ₁ % (SD)	47.6 (21.4)	57.9 (24.2)	0.040
Mean BMI kg/m ² (SD)	23.3 (2.79)	24.6 (3.33)	0.041

Table 3.3: Differences in disease parameters for CFRD and non-CFRD groups.

3.4.6 Sputum microbiology

The most prevalent pathogen isolated in sputa of our older CF cohort was *Pseudomonas*

aeruginosa (table 3.4).

Organism in sputum	n (% of group)	Male vs female (%)
Pseudomonas aeruginosa (PsA)	56 (65.9%)	41.2 vs 24.7 %
Burkholderia cepacia	13 (15.3%)	9.4 vs 5.9 %
complex (BCC)	<i>B.multivorans;</i> n= 6	
	<i>B.cenocepacia</i> ; n=7	
MRSA	6 (7.1%)	→ 3.5 %
Stenotrophomonas maltophilia	2 (2.4%)	▲ 1.2 %
NTM	3 (3.3%)	-
	<i>M.abscessus</i> ; n=1	
	MAC n=2	

Table 3.4: Chronic microbial sputum colonisation in our older CF cohort (MRSA=methicillin resistant staphylococcus aureus, NTM-non-tuberculous mycobacteria, MAC=mycobacterium avium complex).

Our cohort showed a lower ppFEV1 in patients chronically colonised with Pseudomonas

aeruginosa; 47.4 vs 63.4% (Student's T-test; p=0.008). No such trend existed for chronic BCC infection (p=0.287).

Three patients (3.3%) had isolated non-tuberculous mycobacteria (NTM) within the 12 months preceding this study, one with *Mycobacterium abscessus* and two with *Mycobacterium avium* complex (MAC).

3.4.7 Cardiovascular morbidity

One patient in the late diagnosis group has a history of a cerebrovascular accident (CVA) preceding his CF diagnosis. 15.5% of our patients aged 40 years or above have been diagnosed with hypercholesterolaemia and 18.8% are on anti-hypertensive therapies. We note that some patients may have been started on angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEi) for microalbuminuria. The prevalence of systemic hypertension and hyperlipidaemia increased with advancing age in our cohort (one way ANOVA; p=0.034 and 0.007 respectively). Although no patients in this group have a diagnosis of cardiovascular disease (CVD), a significant family history of cardiovascular disease (first degree relative with cardiovascular event ≤60 years), determined from the study questionnaire, was found in 11.8% of patients. The impact of CFRD and duration of dysregulated glycaemic control in ageing CF patients is likely to have an impact on the prevalence of macrovascular disease, as is true for the general population. Cardiovascular risk will be discussed further chapter four.

3.4.8 Analysis of other comorbidities in an ageing CF population

One patient is currently being treated for rectal adenocarcinoma. One patient has previously had thyroid papillary carcinoma with successful surgical resection and radiotherapy.

One patient has had a staggered renal and pancreatic transplant for refractory hypertension and CFRD. 20% have CF-related liver disease. 14.1% have CF-related arthropathy and 24.7% had evidence of low bone mineral density on DEXA imaging. 61.2% of patients were on treatment for chronic gastro-oesophageal reflux disease (GORD), although a number were noted to be on proton pump inhibitors for optimisation of gastrointestinal absorption with creon use, with two under regular endoscopic surveillance for Barrett's oesophagus. 8% of our older patients are currently being treated for depression.

3.4.9 Sweat chloride analysis

A sweat chloride result of >60mmol/L is diagnostic of CF. A level of 40-60mmol/L was classed as an equivocal result and <40mmol/L is normal at MFT. It should again be noted

that this slightly differs to diagnostic measurements set out in consensus CF guidelines by Farrel et al, in which <30mmol/L is a normal result(27).

Sweat chloride analysis data was available for 59 patients. Both sweat chloride concentration (colourometry) and conductivity were measured, the former being the most important and used in analysis. Prospective sweat testing was performed at the study visit of 45 patients. Retrospective sweat chloride results were analysed for a further 14 patients, with pre-modulator (n=11) or recent diagnostic sweat chloride levels (n=3). The demographics of the sweat chloride group are shown in table 3.5 (see appendix 7).

54 patients had an elevated sweat chloride, four had normal sweat chloride and one had an equivocal result. All normal or equivocal results were seen in patients aged \geq 50 years. Median sweat chloride levels were higher in males than females; 100 (IQR 34.5) vs 92 (IQR 39)mmol/L, p=0.700. Mean baseline ppFEV₁ is also higher in males; 54.9(±23.7) vs 48.9(±22.5)%, p=0.732.

Comparison between age groups revealed a statistically significant difference in sweat chloride values using one way ANOVA testing, showing lower sweat chloride with advancing age (table 3.6).

Age (years)	Total	Age 40-49	Age 50-59	Age ≥60	p value
	(n=59)	(n=38)	(n=15)	(n=6)	
Sweat	97.0 (35.8)	100 (23.3)	94.5 (63.3)	67 (44)	0.039*
Chioride Median (IOR)	{23-135}	{30-135}	{23-117}	{26-103}	
{range}					
(mmol/L)					



3.4.10 Analysis of early and late diagnosis groups

3.4.10.1 Total cohort analysis

Our older CF cohort was divided into early and late diagnosis groups. The early diagnosis

(ED) group was defined as CF diagnosis aged <16 years, and late diagnosis (LD) as \geq 16 years.

The median age of diagnosis of the total patient group was 1.5 (19, range 0-72) years. From the 77 patients with a confirmed age of diagnosis, 57 (74%) were classified as ED and 20 (26%) as LD. The median age of diagnosis was 1.0 (IQR 3, range 0-12) year in the ED group and 36.5 (IQR 29, range 16-72) years in the LD group (Mann-Whitney U test; p<0.001). Figure 3.4 represents the differences between current mean age and median age at diagnosis between ED and LD groups.



Figure 3.4: Age of patient and age of CF diagnosis as a comparison between ED and LD groups.

Comparison of clinical parameters between ED and LD groups using independent sample T-testing shows a significant difference, with a lower ppFEV₁ (47.8 \pm 17.6 vs 63.4 \pm 28.8%, p<0.001) and BMI (23.8 \pm 2.6 vs 24.5 \pm 4.5 kg/m², p=0.005) in the ED group.

Logistic regression shows the relative risk of being diagnosed with CFRD to be higher in the ED group, along with a higher probability of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection and exocrine pancreatic insufficiency (table 3.7).

Comorbidity	ED group	LD group	OR	95% CI	p value
CFRD (n)	33 (57)	6 (20)	3.35	1.12, 10.0	0.024
PsA n	45 (57)	6 (20)	9.55	2.99, 30.5	<0.001
PI (n)	55 (57)	1 (20)	67.2	7.71, 585.8	<0.001

Table 3.7: Regression analysis of ED and LD groups with regards to markers of severe disease. PsA – Pseudomonas aeruginosa, PI= exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, CFRD= Cystic fibrosis-related diabetes mellitus, OR=odds ratio, CI= confidence interval.

From the three bilateral lung transplantation recipients, two were from the ED and one from the LD group. There were three deaths during the study period from recalcitrant pulmonary exacerbation, all from the ED group.

Analysis of sweat chloride and age of CF diagnosis was undertaken (figure 3.5), showing a significantly higher sweat chloride level in the ED group when compared with the LD group.



Figure 3.5: Boxplot analysis of differences in sweat chloride between ED and LD group.

There is a negative Spearman correlation between sweat chloride and age of diagnosis with a lower sweat chloride for those patients diagnosed at an older age; r=-0.662, p<0.001 (figure 3.6). A statistically significant correlation also exists between increasing sweat chloride and lower ppFEV₁ (r=-0.250, p<0.046).



Figure 3.6: Correlation between sweat chloride and age of CF diagnosis (r=-0.662, p<0.001).

3.4.10.2 LD group analysis - demographics

For further analysis, the characteristics of the LD group are described in table 3.8 (appendix 8). There were 20 patients in the late diagnosis group, 23.5% of the total cohort. Median age of diagnosis was 36.5 (IQR 29, range 16-72) years and 65% of these patients had preserved exocrine pancreatic function. Although there is a relatively high prevalence of chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* colonisation within the LD group, the majority of patients are exocrine pancreatic sufficient. Mean ppFEV₁ in the LD group is $65.4(\pm 29.4)$ %, compared with 47.8 (± 17.6)% in the ED group (p<0.001). We observed a high prevalence of Phe508del heterozygotes in the LD group (n=17).

3.4.10.3 LD analysis – sweat chloride

For those with available sweat test data, five patients had elevated sweat chloride levels. However, a significant number were noted to have normal (n=4) or equivocal (n=1) sweat chloride. The median sweat chloride in the LD group is 59.5 (IQR 36.3, range 23-92) mmol/L, which is significantly lower than for the ED group; 102.5 (IQR 17.3, range 36-135) mmol/L, Mann-Whitney U test; p<0.001.

3.4.10.4 Residual function CFTR mutations

There was also a high frequency of residual function mutations in the LD group, with Arg117His being the commonest (n=8). From these, two patients were heterozygote for Phe508del/Arg117His-5T and four for Phe508del/Arg117His-7T. Two patients were homozygote for Arg117His-7T. Interestingly, one patient in the group was a Phe508del homozygote with a ppFEV₁ <40%, exocrine pancreatic insufficiency and an atypical late diagnosis aged 43 years.

3.4.11 Genotype-phenotype correlation

Similar to data presented by Simmonds et al in 2009(200), our older CF study population showed a high prevalence of Phe508del homozygotes at 37.6% (n=32), with the majority being in the 40-49 years of age cohort (n=24, 42% of this age group). There were no Phe508del homozygotes in the \geq 60 year age group. Compound Phe508del heterozygotes were prevalent in all age groups and the highest rate of Gly551Asp (heterozygote or homozygote) mutation was seen between 50 and 59 years (shown together with Phe508del heterozygotes and as a separate bar in figures below). Five out of eight patients in the \geq 60 year age group had either Arg117His-5T, Asp1152His or TG12-5T residual function mutations accompanying Phe508del. Genotype proportions of the total group and then within age groups are shown below (figures 3.7-3.10).



Figure 3.7: Genotype distribution in total cohort



Figure 3.8: Genotype distribution in the 40-49 year age group





Figure 3.9: Genotype distribution in the 50-59 year age group

Figure 3.10: Genotype distribution in the \geq 60 year age group

Data were then categorised into severe (class I-III) and non-severe (class IV-V) CFTR mutation groups for further analysis (table 3.9). All patients included in the study had two confirmed CFTR mutations.

Mutation class	Severe vs non- severe	Number of patients n (%)
CFTR class I-III:	Severe	62 (72.9% of total group)
 Phe508del Gly551Asp Stop codon 2nd allele: Phe508del Gly551Asp Stop codon Other class I-III 		51.6% Phe508del homozygous, n=32 41.9% Phe508del heterozygotes, n=26 6.5% other, n=4
CFTR class IV-V (residual function, RF) At least one class IV-V mutation: e.g.	Non-severe	23 (27% of total cohort) 39.1%
 Arg117His(5T/7T) Other class IV-V 		Arg117His(5T/7T), n=9

Table 3.9: Proportions of severe and non-severe CFTR mutations in our cohort.

Patient	Allele 1	Allele 2	Phenotype	Disease features
13	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	Non-classical	CBAVD, sinus disease
22	Phe508del	Arg117His-5T	Classical	PsA, ppFEV ₁ 56%, PS
27	Phe508del	Arg117His-5T	Classical	MRSA, BCC, ppFEV ₁ 26%, PI
34*	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	Non-classical	CBAVD, CFRD
38**	Arg117His-7T	Arg117His-7T	Asymptomatic	CBAVD
49**	Arg117His-7T	Ar117His-7T	Non-classical/ ?asymptomatic	Joint disease only
59*	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	Non-classical	CBAVD, CFRD, pulmonary disease
82	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	Asymptomatic	CBAVD
85	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	Non-classical	CBAVD, pulmonary disease, PsA

Table 3.10: Disease characteristics and phenotypic variability of the Arg117His cohort in our older CF population (patient numbers referenced from table 3.1) {*sibling pair, **sibling pair}

Table 3.10 highlights the variability in disease expression within the residual function Arg117His-5T/7T genotype group. More severe, classical disease is seen with Arg117His-5T, although both patients had a late CF diagnosis with a mean age of 32 years. Asymptomatic and non-classical disease is seen with Arg117His-7T. All patients in this cohort had an adult CF diagnosis, median age 36.5 (IQR 29) years. Differences in disease expression is seen in patient 34 and 59 despite being siblings with the same CFTR genotype. Genotype analysis revealed a greater prevalence of non-severe CFTR mutations with increasing age, with a statistically significant difference between the 40-59 and \geq 60 year age groups on Chi squared testing (p=0.002). Although there were outlying results, the median age of CF diagnosis was significantly lower in the severe CFTR group compared to the non-severe group; 1.0 (IQR 3, range 0-47) vs 30.0 (IQR 37, range 0-72) years, p<0.001 (figure 3.11).



Figure 3.11: Boxplot of age at diagnosis vs CFTR class.

Chi squared testing also revealed a significantly higher prevalence of CFRD, exocrine pancreatic insufficiency and chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection in patients with two severe CFTR mutations. Binary logistic regression did not maintain this significance for the presence of exocrine pancreatic insufficiency and CFRD between classes, however it did show a higher rate of both clinical parameters in the severe CFTR mutation group as expected (table 3.11).

Clinical parameter	CFTR class I-III	CFTR class IV-V	OR	95% CI	P value (LR)	P value (Chi squared)
CFRD (n)	36 (62)	6 (23)	1.47	0.26, 8.26	0.662	0.008
PI (n)	60 (62)	11 (23)	3.02	0.30, 30.1	0.347	<0.001
PsA (n)	50 (62)	6 (23)	6.14	1.29, 29.3	0.023	<0.001

Table 3.11: Analysis of clinical severity parameters against CFTR class.

CFTR class showed no relationship to gender in our cohort using Chi squared testing; p=0.566. There was a lower baseline $ppFEV_1$ in patients with severe CFTR genotypes as compared to those without (Students T-test; p<0.001). However, there was no significant difference in BMI between CFTR mutation groups.



Figure 3.12: Boxplot showing the difference in $ppFEV_1$ between severe and non-severe CFTR mutation groups.

There was a significantly higher baseline sweat chloride level in the severe (class I-III) CFTR mutation group compared to the non-severe (class IV-V) group (Mann Whitney U test; p=0.001).

CFTR class	CFTR class I-III	CFTR class IV-V	P value
Sweat chloride	101 (19.5)	67 (58.5)	0.001*
{range}	{23-135}	{26-123}	
(mmol/L)			

Table 3.12: Sweat chloride values by CFTR mutation class (IQR=interquartile range), *Mann Whitney U analysis.

We also observed a lower sweat chloride with higher ppFEV₁; Spearman rank correlation;

r=-0.250, p=0.046.

3.4.12 Social analysis

55.3% of our older CF cohort (n=47) are currently in part time or full time employment;

48.2% (n=13) of all women and 60.7% (n=34) of all men. Those with more severe pulmonary

disease (ppFEV₁ <40%) expectedly had a lower rate of employment than those without

(42.9% vs 74.5%, Chi squared; p<0.001). Five patients from our older CF cohort were retired, two of whom have severe disease and three of whom have residual function CFTR mutations.

34.1% of all patients (n=29) had biological children, ten of whom are CF mothers; 34.5% of all women and 33.9% of all men. Similarly, more patients in the preserved lung function group had children; 36.4% vs 16.7% (p=0.046).

3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 General discussion

The aim of this study was to explore the demographics of a current older cohort of CF patients, to stimulate discussion and to identify areas for further research. Our study represents one of the largest cross-sectional cohort studies of CF patients over 40 years of age thus far in the UK. This is a diverse cohort with a spectrum of CFTR genotypes and phenotypic disease severity. We observed a relatively high prevalence of class I-III CFTR genotypes and a 37.6% prevalence of Phe508del homozygosity, similar to results reported by Simmonds and colleagues in 2009. There was also a high rate of CFRD (49.4%), chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa colonisation (65.9%) and exocrine pancreatic insufficiency (83.5%). An increasing prevalence of non-severe CFTR mutations conferring residual CFTR function was seen with increasing age. In particular, for those aged 60 years and above, only a minority had severe CFTR genotypes. There was an increasing prevalence of systemic hypertension (15.8% aged 40-49 years and 37.5% aged \geq 60 years) and hyperlipidaemia (7% aged 40-49 years and 37.5% aged \geq 60 years) with increasing age, the analysis of which will be expanded on in chapter four. These patients exhibit a spectrum of functional status, with a large proportion in part or full time employment (55.3%), and an increasing number with biological children (34.1%). Although it is challenging to predict emerging comorbidities in an older CF cohort with such a range of genotypes and phenotypic diversity, there is a signal that indicates the need to develop our knowledge of long term survivors, particularly in the era of CFTR modulation, and how the complexities of CF ageing will impact future management.

3.5.2 Disease severity

In our cohort, 36.1% (n=30) had severe pulmonary disease as measured by ppFEV₁<40%. Ten (33.3%) of these patients had a ppFEV₁ of <30%, three of whom were transplanted during the study period and one who was on the active lung transplantation list. Lung function decline (as measured by ppFEV₁) is the most robust marker of survival in CF(281). Recurrent pulmonary exacerbations, particularly those requiring intravenous antibiotics, contribute to significant disease morbidity. A higher pulmonary exacerbation rate correlates with a more rapid ppFEV₁ decline and a higher mortality rate(202). In our cohort, the median total IV antibiotic use over the preceding ten year period was 88.0 (IQR 188) days. A higher rate of IV aminoglycoside use was seen in patients with lower baseline ppFEV₁ (p<0.001). There was a high prevalence of both nebulised antibiotics (72.9%) and mucolytics (dornase alfa and 7% sodium chloride; 63.5%), evidencing a high chronic respiratory therapy burden in this group. The relatively high prevalence of severe lung function impairment with a wide range of IV aminoglycoside use in our older CF adults further highlights the diversity of this group and that the problems associated with classical CF are still frequently encountered in older patients.

Although median age of survival in CF is increasing, progressive loss of lung function is seen in all age and genetic cohorts. Corey et al (1997) reported exocrine pancreatic sufficiency, non-Phe508del CFTR mutations and male gender to be associated with a slower rate of pulmonary decline(255). However, Desai et al (2019) showed a proportion of an adultdiagnosis (>18 years) CF cohort with a high prevalence of residual function CFTR mutations to still have significant annual lung function deterioration(202)(282). Interestingly, the International Study of Ageing in CF observed 'relative stability' in cross sectional lung function data for patients over the age of 35 years, with a mean annual ppFEV₁ decline of only 0.4%, and around 12% higher mean predicted ppFEV₁ in exocrine pancreatic sufficient patients(210). These studies highlight the variability of phenotypic expression in the older CF population.

3.6% (n=3) of patients had a BMI of <18.5kg/m². However, the majority (61.3%) of our older CF cohort had a normal BMI between 18.5 and 24.9, with a mean of 23.9 (±3.13) kg/m². Interestingly, 28.6% were overweight (n=24) and 4.8% (n=4) were classed as obese. From the overweight group, four patients were on CFTR modulation (three on ivacaftor, one on Symkevi®) and five were in non-severe CFTR mutation groups. One patient in the obese group had a severe CFTR genotype (Phe508del/Phe508del). Nutritional status in CF, expressed in terms of context of body mass index (BMI), is one of the most important factors in CF survival, closely correlating with pulmonary severity(196). This is true of our older CF cohort, showing a statistically significant positive correlation between ppFEV₁ and BMI (r=0.436, p<0.001). BMI also correlates with exocrine pancreatic function and CFRD status. Exocrine pancreatic status has the strongest genotype-phenotype correlation, with exocrine pancreatic insufficiency manifesting almost universally in patients with severe CFTR mutations(283). A raised BMI was associated predominantly with less severe CFTR

genotypes in our cohort, however interestingly we observed the majority of overweight and obese patients to have exocrine pancreatic insufficiency; n=22 (91.6%) and n=3 (75%) respectively. CFTR modulators such as ivacaftor have been shown to be associated with weight gain(284) and hence BMI must be monitored closely in an older CF population with other emerging cardiovascular risk factors, particularly with the increasing availability of CFTR modulation.

High sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP) is a sensitive biomarker of systemic inflammation and can be used to both confirm and measure response to treatment during pulmonary exacerbation(285). CF patients with more severe underlying disease and a higher degree of chronic systemic inflammation, as evidenced by elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, may have a raised baseline hsCRP. In our older cohort, 46.4% of patients had a raised baseline hsCRP (>5mg/L). In our cohort, raised baseline hsCRP was seen in patients with lower ppFEV₁ (r= -0.515, p<0.001) and a higher IV aminoglycoside requirement (r^2 =0.276, p<0.001). Matouk and colleagues (2014) also observed a higher risk of pulmonary exacerbation in a high baseline hsCRP patient group (>5.2mg/L), noting a higher degree of correlation in patients with lower lung function(279).

Female survival disadvantage seems evident in our older CF cohort with the majority of patients being male (65.9%). Simmonds and colleagues also observed a male predominance in their study cohort at 57%(200). Our male survivors also surpass those of a study by Nick et al (2010), showing a 53.6% male predominance in a large US registry study(286). However, Nick et al also observed the majority of long term CF survivors with an *adult* diagnosis to be female and, upon reaching aged 40 years and above, females had a distinct survival advantage compared to their male counterparts(286). However, our study shows a male predominance again in our late diagnosis group at 60%, highlighting a female disadvantage with delayed CF diagnosis. Could this difference be explained by female underrepresentation in milder CF disease? Interestingly the gender disparity in our study seems to decrease between the ages of 50 and 59 years, with a more equitable male to female ratio in this age group (56.5% male). Female CF patients have consistently been observed to have lower predicted median survival than males and the causes of this gender gap are largely uncertain. Speculated reasons include the effects of oestrogen on bronchial epithelial mucous viscosity and the acquisition of chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection at an

earlier age(287). As survival increases, more women will reach menopause, and this may also have a detrimental impact on lung function and other parameters of health status in CF. The study of hormonal changes and menopause in ageing female CF patients would be insightful.

3.5.3 Other predictors of survival

Reaching the age of 40 years and above defines long term survival in CF(278). Since ageing in CF is a relatively novel concept when considering the natural history of disease, the effects of the ageing process on CFTR dysfunction and clinical phenotype, and vice versa, are largely unknown. As survival continues to increase, it is essential to understand more about the ageing CF patient and how this process alters and complicates disease.

Ageing comorbidities in CF may be classed as CFTR-related and non-CFTR related. CFTR related ageing complications are defined by longevity of CFTR organ dysfunction. Non-CFTR related complications may include the processes of general organ and vascular ageing as well as side effects of chronic therapies. The relationship between CFTR-related and non-CFTR related ageing complications will be challenging to decipher and together add further layers of disease complexity to the ageing CF patient.

3.5.3.1 CF-related diabetes mellitus

CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD) is an age prevalent complication of CF, with increasing risk of dysglycaemia with advancing age. In our cohort, 49.4% had a diagnosis of CFRD, which is in keeping with the overall UK prevalence of CFRD in patients over 40 years of age(43). Chi squared testing showed a significantly higher prevalence of CFRD in the severe CFTR mutation group compared to the non-severe groups (p=0.008) and in the early diagnosis compared to late diagnosis group (p=0.024). A diagnosis of CFRD has significant impact on morbidity and mortality in CF, contributing to poorer nutritional status and more rapid decline in lung function(288). In our cohort, we observed lower mean ppFEV₁ (47.6 vs 57.9%, p=0.040) and lower BMI (23.3 vs 24.6 kg/m², p=0.041) in the CFRD group compared to the non-CFRD group.

Complications of CFRD are particularly important in older CF patients in whom the risk of developing microvascular complications is proportional to the duration of hyperglycaemia. Although there have been only a handful of case reports of macrovascular complications in

CF to date(224)(289), these may well become more relevant with an ageing population and particularly in the context of conventional cardiovascular risk factors associated with general ageing, such as systemic hypertension and hypercholesterolaemia. CFRD-related renal disease may also become more prevalent with increasing survival. These areas will be discussed in more detail in subsequent chapters. Having observed over 30% of our older CF population with a raised BMI, obesity is also likely to have an impact on the development of dysglycaemia in an ageing CF population. The resulting metabolic syndrome will perhaps confer a different diabetic phenotype in some patients than classically seen with CF-related diabetes mellitus and may in turn require different treatment strategies.

3.5.3.2 Sputum microbiology

A significant proportion of patients in our older adult cohort had chronic *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa infection (65.9%). Higher morbidity and mortality have been shown in CF patients with earlier acquisition of chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection, with a higher frequency of pulmonary exacerbation and antimicrobial treatment burden, more rapid decline in pulmonary function and a lower median survival (290) than their non-Pseudomonas aeruginosa counterparts. Just over 15% (n=13) of our older cohort had chronic infection with Burkholderia cepacia complex (BCC), seven patients with Burkholderia cenocepacia and the remainder with Burkholderia multivorans. Chronic BCC infection is classically associated with poor prognosis in CF and can lead to fulminant systemic 'cepacia' infection in up to 30% of patients(291). In addition, chronic infection with Burkholderia cenocepacia has adverse impacts for both suitability and outcomes of lung transplantation (292). Over the last few decades, the majority of patients with Burkholderia cenocepacia in our unit have died, the remaining few comprising only around 1% of the total population at MACFC. Interestingly, severe lung function impairment was not significantly related to BCC infection in our cohort. The discordancy between the prevalence of BCC infection and severe clinical phenotype further highlights the diversity of this older CF population and implies a plethora of different factors influencing survival.

A small proportion of our older cohort have had recent isolation of non-tuberculous mycobacteria (NTM) in sputum analysis. Two patients had isolated *Mycobacterium avium* complex (MAC) within the previous 12 months, and one had chronic *Mycobacterium abscessus* infection. This is perhaps less prevalent than expected, particularly given the

findings by Rodman et al in their late diagnosis CF survivors(199). The low prevalence of NTM infection in our centre is challenging to explain, however some geographical variation may be relevant. The prevalence of chronic NTM infection increases in an age-dependent manner in CF, with Olivier and colleagues observing older age to be the most significant predictor of NTM isolation in CF, particularly the MAC subgroup(293). Longevity of azithromycin use in CF patients has been considered a risk for the development of macrolide-resistant NTM infection over time and may become more relevant in an ageing population(294). Infection with multi-resistant NTM strains such as *Mycobacterium abscessus* are difficult to treat and can have adverse implications for lung transplantation(295).

3.5.4 Organ transplantation

Three of our patients received double lung transplantation during the study period. Increasing survival in CF may lead to older age at lung transplantation. US data from 2010 shows 18.8% of CF lung transplant recipients were older than 40 years of age(198). One patient in our cohort was a pancreas and renal transplant recipient for refractory CFRD and systemic hypertension. It is thus worth noting that, with an increasing number of patients aged \geq 40 years, we may also see a higher prevalence of solid organ transplantation in older CF, which will impact clinical disease course. There is likely to be an accumulation of age-prevalent comorbidities as survival in CF increases, including CFRD, and with an increasing age at transplantation we may also see emerging renal and cardiovascular disease, rendering post-transplant management ever more complex.

3.5.5 Malignancy

One patient in our study group was undergoing treatment for rectosigmoid adenocarcinoma (stage T3N0M1). Increasing survival is likely to have an impact on the prevalence of malignancy in CF, similar to that seen in the general population. However, an inherent carcinogenic risk may exist from CFTR dysfunction itself. Studies have found an increased frequency of gastrointestinal adenocarcinoma in CF cohorts and have suggested a link between CFTR-influenced microbial gut dysregulation and the development of malignancy(59)(296). There is particular concern regarding the existence of a 'colon cancer syndrome' in CF. Niccum and colleagues(62) observed an increased incidence of premalignant adenomatous polyps and colorectal cancer in CF patients compared to the
general population, particularly those over 40 years of age. It is therefore recommended that regular colonoscopic review be carried out for CF patients aged 40 year and above, even if asymptomatic, ten years earlier than colorectal screening in the general population. It is noteworthy that one patient from our cohort is currently being treated for rectal adenocarcinoma. In a study of long term survivors by Simmonds and colleagues (median age 43.1 years), one patient had died of metastatic pancreatic carcinoma(200). There is also a risk of malignancy, including skin and haematological, following organ transplantation and subsequent long term immunosuppression(297). One patient in our cohort was a renal and pancreatic transplant recipient and three had bilateral lung transplantations during the study period. In an older CF population with the potential for an increasing incidence of organ transplantation, we may see an associated rise in malignancy.

3.5.6 Cardiovascular risk

One late diagnosis patient in our cohort had had a previous stroke. None had a history of cardiovascular disease, although the prevalence of systemic hypertension and hyperlipidaemia was 18.8 and 15.5% respectively, increasing with age. Historically CF patients were presumed to have low risk of cardiovascular disease due to exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, lipid malabsorption and low serum cholesterol levels (298). A lifetime of high fat diets, an increasing prevalence of CFRD and the nutritional impacts of CFTR modulation may change that perspective as CF survival improves.

Hypertriglyceridaemia has been shown to be prevalent in CF patients, independent of CFRD status(299). There may be a higher prevalence of residual CFTR function in an older CF cohort, and Rhodes and colleagues observed higher levels of total cholesterol and LDL-cholesterol in patients with exocrine pancreatic sufficiency and higher BMI(300). This particular CF group may therefore harbour a higher level of cardiovascular risk, and results of my current study corroborate this. Skolnik and colleagues observed 69% of their CF cohort over 40 years of age to have evidence of dyslipidaemia(222), which is significantly higher than my study. However, this was a small study (n=25) concentrating on lipid status during lung transplantation assessment. Despite this, evidence shows must not overlook the importance of lipid monitoring and adequate management of hyperlipidaemia in an ageing CF population.

CFTR modulation may also have an impact on cholesterol metabolism. Longitudinal ivacaftor studies have observed alterations in gastrointestinal absorption, leading to weight gain in CF children(284)(301). Four patients in our study group were overweight and on CFTR modulation. Could this elude to the potential for weight gain and altered lipid metabolism with CFTR modulator longevity in CF adults? The study of cholesterol trends and CFTR modulation would be informative.

C-reactive protein (CRP) and systemic inflammatory burden in CF may also have an association with cardiovascular risk, independent of other cardiovascular risk factors. We have seen that a high proportion of our patients (46.4%) have raised baseline hsCRP during periods of clinical stability. The effects of enduring systemic inflammation in CF could be similar to those seen in other chronic lung conditions such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), where airflow limitation is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease and systemic inflammation may correlate with the development of atherosclerosis(302).

Non-CFTR related complications of ageing such as atherosclerosis, systemic hypertension and hypercholesterolaemia will be discussed further in subsequent chapters, where I will also explore arterial stiffness, central systolic blood pressure, cholesterol biomarkers and QRisk[®] scores as predictors of cardiovascular disease in CF.

3.5.7 Genotype phenotype correlation

Defining genetics and markers of disease severity in CF has never been as important as in this present era of CFTR modulation, influencing initial patient selection and resulting clinical efficacy. In the UK CF population, the most common CFTR mutation is Phe508del, with 49.3% of patients homozygous for Phe508del and 40.5% compound heterozygotes(4). 37.6% of our long term CF survivors were Phe508del homozygotes and 72.9% had severe class I-III CFTR mutations, resulting in severe CF disease manifestations. However, I did see an increasing prevalence of 'residual function' CFTR mutations with advancing age in the study group, often associated with an adult CF diagnosis. Less severe CFTR mutations may be an important factor in long term CF survival however, as CF survival increases, we could observe a rising prevalence of severe CFTR genotypes in an older CF population.

3.5.7.1 Age of CF diagnosis

Genetic and clinical advances over the last eight decades have led to a greater understanding of the vast spectrum of CF disease and a greater number of adult diagnoses over time. In fact, 8.5% of CF diagnoses made on the UK in 2018 were in patients aged 16 years or above(4). In our older group, 27.3% of patients had an adult CF diagnosis, with a median age of diagnosis of 36.5 (IQR 29) years in this late diagnosis group. It should be noted that the current study cohort were all born before initiation of newborn CF screening.

Our late diagnosis group shows a trend towards lower sweat chloride and exocrine pancreatic sufficiency than in the early diagnosis group. However, a significant proportion have chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection and severe lung function impairment. The prevalence of residual function CFTR mutations was high in the late diagnosis group, with Arg117His-5T or 7T at 45% being the most prevalent CFTR mutation seen. This is similar to McCloskey and colleague's findings in a late diagnosis CF group in Northern Ireland(303). As expected, our late diagnosis group had a significantly higher ppFEV₁ (p<0.001) and BMI (p=0.005) than the early diagnosis group, and a lower prevalence of CFRD.

The older adult CF population is diverse with a variety of genetic and phenotypic disease expression. It has been observed that a late diagnosis adult CF group has a trend towards higher prevalence of exocrine pancreatic sufficiency, better preserved lung function and less severe CFTR genotypes(199). However, our study group consists of both classical CF patients with severe CFTR mutations and those with later CF diagnosis and less severe genotypes. Defining potential survival advantages in older CF patients and exploring the relationship between genotype and phenotype in this population may provide insight into the complexities of their disease and develop avenues for management optimisation as survival continues to increase. The genotype-phenotype correlation in CF is notoriously challenging to define, with wide phenotypic disease expression within CFTR mutation classes.

Several studies have analysed the ageing population and survival in CF in the context of early and late diagnosis, showing similar results to our study. Gan and colleagues (1995) compared LD and ED groups, with late diagnosis defined as \geq 16 years, showing higher baseline ppFEV₁, a greater prevalence of exocrine pancreatic sufficiency and lower rates of chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection in the LD group(304). Rodman and colleagues (2005), using \leq 15 years as early diagnosis and >24 years as late diagnosis, observed a higher prevalence of exocrine pancreatic insufficiency and lower BMI in the ED group(199). Widerman and colleagues (2000) explored a patient group with an adult CF diagnosis (≥18 years), exhibiting significantly less hospital admissions and intravenous antibiotic use alongside a lower prevalence of Phe508del homozygotes and exocrine pancreatic insufficiency(305). This study also showed a higher proportion of women in the late diagnosis group, in contrast to our cohort in which males outnumbered females 3:2. Durno and colleagues observed exocrine pancreatic sufficiency to be related to increased survival in CF and has a greater prevalence in milder CF genotypes and in a late diagnosis group(283). Although, as with similar studies, our older CF cohort contains a high prevalence of severe disease phenotypes, late diagnosis patients with a greater degree of residual CFTR function may introduce bias into CF survival statistics.

The high proportion of severe phenotypic disease expression in our cohort provides further insight into the heterogeneity of the older CF population. This diversity also correlates with a similar study by Simmonds et al(200). One of the oldest patients in our study (aged 71 years), a heterozygote for Phe508del/Arg117His-5T, with severe clinical disease, exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, a baseline ppFEV₁ of <40% and chronic infection with both *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and MRSA, was diagnosed with CF at aged 38 years. Three patients in our study group, heterozygote for Phe508del and a residual CFTR mutation and with preserved exocrine pancreatic function, had early diagnosis and have severe lung function impairment. These patients highlight disease diversity and relative inaccuracy of assessing older CF cohorts in terms of age at diagnosis.

3.5.7.2 Residual function CFTR genotypes

The term 'residual function' in CF genetics refers to the degree of preservation of normal CFTR protein expression and function(252). The majority of patients have "classical CF," caused by severe CFTR class I-III mutations accounting for both CFTR gene alleles, resulting in little or no CFTR protein function. Severe CFTR genotypes are associated with exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, severe lung disease and multiorgan involvement. However, around 5% of the CF population have 'residual function' CFTR mutations. Corresponding genotypes are within the less severe CFTR mutation classes IV and V, including Arg117His(5T/7T) and TG12-5T, exhibiting variable preservation of chloride channel gating and function. Residual function CFTR mutations confer a less severe CF phenotype and clinically these patients

usually have exocrine pancreatic sufficiency and less severe disease manifestations, often termed "non-classical" CF(6). Definitions of residual CFTR function for clinical trial purposes include a sweat chloride of less than 86mmol/L, and thus evidence of residual chloride ion transport, and a low incidence of exocrine pancreatic insufficiency (<50%)(306). Homozygotes for residual function CFTR mutations may be asymptomatic, with congenital bilateral absence of the vas deferens (CBVD) and infertility being the only clinical sign in affected males(307). Some examples are shown in table 3.13.

Allele 1	Allele 2	Phenotype
Severe	Severe	Classical
Arg117His-5T	Severe	Non-classical
Arg117-His-7T	Non-severe	Asymptomatic
		female or CBVD
TG12-5T	Severe	Non-classical
TG12-5T	Non-severe	Asymptomatic
		female or CBVD
Arg117His-7T or 9T	Arg117His-7T or 9T	Asymptomatic

Table 3.13: Examples of residual function CFTR mutations.(CBVD=congenital absence of vas deferens, severe = class I-III mutations, non-severe = class IV-V mutations).

The variable penetrance of Arg117His depends upon the number of poly-thymidine repeats on intron 9 (5T, 7T or 9T), caused by abnormal RNA splicing, resulting in interruption of normal CFTR protein development(308). Arg117His-5T is the only variant associated with classical CF disease when paired with a severe CFTR mutation.

Despite these classifications, variability of disease severity exists within CFTR genotype groups, highlighting the complexity of the genotype-phenotype relationship in CF. Variability in pulmonary disease severity between severe and non-severe CFTR mutation groups are well defined. Hubert and colleagues observed more rapid lung function decline, lower arterial oxygen levels and higher chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection rates in

patients with two severe CFTR mutations(309). In a large US CF Registry study, McKone and colleagues showed survival disadvantage in patients with high risk CFTR mutations (class I-III), with the median age of death around 13 years lower compared with the lower risk CFTR mutation classes (IV-V). However, it was noted that differences in mortality could not be completely explained by clinical disease severity and variability of phenotypic expression within groups exists(268).

Less severe, residual function CFTR mutations have been shown to correlate with a later age of diagnosis and exocrine pancreatic sufficiency. Although less severe CFTR mutations are usually associated with improved survival, patients will still experience lung function decline and pulmonary disease progression that may in fact just be delayed rather than reduced. DeBoek and colleagues (2017) showed decline in lung function in patients with at least one non-severe CFTR mutation and those with higher baseline ppFEV₁ (and less severe disease) had the highest annual rate of decline(310). Wagener and colleagues (2016) observed lung function deterioration in patients with residual function mutations over a four year period and, although delayed when compared to Phe508del homozygotes, the rate of decline becomes similar to homozygotes with advancing age and may well be more significant in those with higher baseline values(311).

Our late diagnosis cohort displays a high prevalence of Arg117His mutations; four patients heterozygous for Arg117His-7T, three heterozygous for Arg117His-5T and two homozygous for Arg117His-7T. We observed a diversity of phenotypic expression within this group. This may be explained by the variable penetrance of residual function CFTR mutations, but also by variation in environmental factors and genetic polymorphisms between individuals. In addition, although our data shows a relationship between severe (class I-III) CFTR mutations and more severe phenotypic disease, there still remains some disease variability and later diagnosis in this group. CFTR genotype-phenotype studies have postulated various factors contributing to this discrepancy. Burke and colleagues observed disease variability in CF siblings with genetically identical CF gene loci, identifying that environmental factors may influence CF phenotype(312). Collaco and colleagues showed an equal contribution of environment and genetics on disease variability between CF twins and siblings(7). Some environmental factors contributing to this phenotypic difference may include socioeconomic status and exposure to both tobacco smoke and air pollution(202).

The variability of genotype-phenotype relationship in CF patients may also be explained by differences in the expression of "modifier" genes between patients of identical CFTR alleles, affecting CF phenotype independent of CFTR function. Gu and colleagues identified variable expression of IFRD1, a transcriptional regulator of neutrophil differentiation, between CF siblings, influencing inter-subject levels of pulmonary inflammation(313). In addition, they observed variation in bacterial airway clearance and neutrophilic inflammation in mice models. Genetic polymorphisms in transforming growth factor $\beta 1$ (TGF $\beta 1$), a cytokine involved in cell growth, have been shown to affect pulmonary disease severity in Phe508del homozygotes(314).

The study of genotype and phenotype relationship has also observed a disparity in organ 'dysfunction thresholds' and response to abnormal CFTR, resulting in variable disease expression(315). Although inconsistent in its degree of abnormality, a sweat chloride level of >60mmol/L is a universal feature of clinical CF, independent of genotype. However, elevated sweat chloride alone does not cause phenotypic disease. The most reliable clinical manifestation of abnormal CFTR is male infertility through congenital bilateral absence of the vas deferens (CBAVD)(316). Other organ involvement has been shown to vary greatly between genotype groups and tissue sensitivity to abnormal CFTR. Exocrine pancreatic insufficiency often presents in early diagnosis, 'classical' CF since the pancreas requires a high degree of CFTR dysfunction in order to manifest disease.

Nine patients in my study group had Arg117His mutations and two had TG12-5T. The CFTR mutation Arg117His (5T or 7T) is classically associated with less severe CF clinical disease. However, diversity in clinical phenotype with residual function CFTR mutations have been observed. This variable penetrance of less severe CFTR mutations in CF populations has been reported by Thauvin-Robinet and colleagues, who observed only a 3.1% prevalence of clinical CF in those with at least one Arg117His mutation(307). A high proportion of patients with Arg117His-7T present with infertility due to CBAVD with a low prevalence of other CFTR-related disease, hence these patients have a late age of diagnosis that may constitute a 'CF-related disorder' rather than true CF. It is likely that there are a proportion of people carrying two copies of the Arg117His gene and who are asymptomatic, likely never to experience pulmonary disease. Nasal potential difference may be a useful diagnostic adjunct in less classical CF presentations, particularly in the setting of a normal or equivocal sweat

chloride level(317). The diagnosis of CF in Arg117His-7T homozygotes is contentious and their inclusion in our study may skew our long term survival figures.

However, in a recent publication by Keogh et al (2020), the proportion of CF patients aged 40 years and above at our centre appears reflective of that of the UK CF population as a whole based on 2017 UK registry figures(318).

Diagnosis and follow-up remains important in residual function CFTR mutations due to the possibility of developing pulmonary disease later in life, particularly with TG12-5T homozygotes, and also for appropriate genetic counselling.

Waller and colleagues observed variable phenotypic expression of Arg117His-7T in male monozygotic twins, one with an equivocal sweat chloride level, CBAVD and a diagnosis of CF-related disorder and the other, a biological father, with raised sweat chloride but the absence of any clinical manifestations of CF-related disease(319). Picci et al describe phenotypic disparity for TG12-5T in monozygotic twins, both with exocrine pancreatic sufficiency but differing pulmonary involvement(320).

Although Arg117His-7T is historically associated with less severe disease than Arg117His-5T, Keenan and colleagues observed a cohort of Arg117His-7T patients with similarities in disease severity to those with Arg117His-5T, highlighting the need for diagnosis and monitoring in these patients(321). Patients with residual function mutations such as Arg117His-7T and single organ CFTR dysfunction, such as sinonasal disease or obstructive azoospermia, can be challenging to define in current CF classification, and could represent CFTR-related disorders rather than distinct clinical CF. This is exemplified by two siblings in my study, one male and one female, homozygous for Arg117His-7T. The male patient had isolated CBAVD in the absence of other clinical disease, and the female patient had significant inflammatory arthropathy but no obvious CFTR-specific disease manifestations, having been diagnosed only through genetic screening following her brother's infertility diagnosis.

There is a consensus European and US guideline regarding CF diagnosis, including diagnostic algorithm and sweat chloride threshold(27). For patients with CFTR dysfunction, who do not fall into the category of classical CF, there is a lack of longitudinal data regarding disease

progression. However, studies have observed significant morbidity and clinical decline over time in patients with milder CFTR genotypes, with premature mortality compared to the general population(310)(311). Defining disease in these less severe genotypic cohorts will have implications for prognosis and treatment options, particularly in the era of CFTR modulation. Regular multidisciplinary review remains essential given the uncertainty of their disease course and their potential for greater treatment requirements with time.

3.5.7.3 Future survival in CF

Estimating future survival in CF is complex. Further advancement of treatment, the impact of CFTR modulation and the unpredictability of disease in some genetic cohorts must all be considered. The inference of a constant reduction in annual mortality rate also limits reliability. Taking these factors into account, Keogh and colleagues (2018) performed a large UK CF cohort study analysing predicted median survival from birth in various genetic groups, using flexible parametric survival modelling(11). CF survival was analysed based on gender, age of diagnosis and the condition of reaching certain age deciles, showing survival advantages in male Phe508del homozygotes and heterozygotes, and in Phe508del heterozygotes with an older age of diagnosis. Extrapolation of survival curves for Phe508del homozygotes postulates a median age of survival into the sixth decade if survival to 30 years of age had been achieved. The highest estimated survival rate was seen in the male Phe508del heterozygote group with a later age of diagnosis (>5 years)(11).

These estimates indicate a continued upward trend in median survival in CF over the coming years and, with the impact of CFTR modulation, an ageing CF population seems inevitable. As such, the study of ageing comorbidity in CF is of paramount importance in the current CF research climate to ensure optimal clinical care in the immediate and future care of an ageing CF population.

3.5.8 Sweat chloride and CFTR modulation therapy

CFTR genotype is essential for determination of individual eligibility for novel CFTR modulation. These compounds target abnormal CFTR at different stages in its formation, from production at RNA level, trafficking throughout the epithelial cell to its transport across epithelial cell membranes. The efficacy of CFTR modulation is relative to the preservation and degree of normal CFTR function and expression. Although it is too early to assess the long term impact of CFTR modulation on survival in CF, it is predicted to change the landscape of the CF phenotype and clinical management moving forwards.

The efficacy of CFTR modulation in clinical practice has been assessed by improvements in clinical parameters such as CF Questionnaire-Respiratory symptom (CFQ-R) scores, BMI and ppFEV₁. The degree of sweat chloride reduction has also been an important parameter in measuring treatment success. Initial ivacaftor studies showed significant reductions in sweat chloride, indicating the extent of CFTR response at cellular level. The measurement of sweat chloride can also give us an indication of disease severity in CF. As such, we analysed the relationship of sweat chloride to genotype and phenotype in our older CF population.

In our cohort we observed significantly higher sweat chloride levels in the severe (class I-III) CFTR mutation group compared to the non-severe (class IV-V) group. Similar results were shown by Wilschanski and colleagues (1995) in a large paediatric CF cohort, using the initial diagnostic sweat chloride result(269). McKone and colleagues (2003) also showed lower mean sweat chloride levels in patients with class IV-V CFTR mutations, along with later age of diagnosis and higher ppFEV₁(268). However, the relationship between sweat chloride level (as a marker of residual CFTR function) and survival in CF is unclear. A study by Simmonds and colleagues (2011) in fact demonstrated no link between long term survival (>38 years) and sweat chloride levels taken later in life(322). In addition, sweat chloride concentration as a marker of CFTR dysfunction and clinical response to modulation therapy may be reliable on a population level but not necessarily on an individual one(323).

Sweat chloride and CFTR genotype analysis are important tools, however neither must be used alone to navigate to a diagnosis of CF, and variability in sweat chloride levels exists within CFTR genotype and phenotypic groups. There is a poor correlation between sweat chloride and clinical phenotype in Arg117His-7T mutations(307) and sweat chloride is not necessarily predictive of severity of CF lung disease(324). Ratkeiwicz and colleagues (2017) showed intermediate sweat chloride results in patients with two identified CFTR mutations, and elevated sweat chloride levels in patients with no CFTR mutations found(325). Patients with intermediate sweat chloride levels and two CFTR mutations are more likely to have CFTR dysfunction and have been shown to be a distinct phenotypic group when compared to both 'non-classical' CF with exocrine pancreatic sufficiency and to 'classical' CF with exocrine pancreatic insufficiency(326). Mickle and colleagues reported a rare heterozygote CFTR mutation in a mother and daughter with isolated elevation of sweat chloride but no clinical CF(327). This validates the importance of CFTR mutation analysis, sweat chloride and clinical phenotypic expression together in the CF diagnostic algorithm.

The measurement of sweat chloride in CFTR modulation has become an important factor in determining efficacy of treatment and as a measure of CFTR response. Since sweat glands are not affected by the inflammatory response seen in other CF organ involvement, sweat chloride analysis is an accurate biomarker of CFTR dysfunction and hence of CFTR modulator response. The variation in sweat chloride response renders this test of modulator efficacy in the older CF population challenging, particularly in those with previously borderline sweat chloride levels.

Just under 30% of our older adult CF patients had already been commenced on CFTR modulation therapy during their participation in the study, some on a compassionate use basis. Since then, Symkevi® is now being funded by NHS England for patients with eligible genotypes. In addition, it has recently been announced that Kaftrio® (triple therapy) will be funded through the NHS, offering CFTR modulation to a greater number of patients. These developments have meant that a much larger number of our older CF cohort are now on CFTR modulation than at the start of this study. Interestingly, two patients in our group have been temporarily removed from the active lung transplant list due to the degree of improvement in both symptoms and lung function on Kaftrio®. Longer term CFTR modulation in the CF population as a whole is expected to impact survival and change the landscape of CF management, particularly in younger patients. However, it will be interesting to assess the benefit of CFTR modulation in an older CF cohort, the majority of whom will already have established organ disease.

3.5.9 Psychosocial factors

A significant proportion of our older patient cohort were in part or full time employment at the time of study (55.3%). In addition, 34.1% of patients had biological children. These results are similar to those found in the study of long term CF survivors by Simmonds et al in 2009(200). Unsurprisingly, patients with more advanced lung function had a lower rate of employment. There are increasing numbers of CF patients having families and entering regular employment. Indeed, five of the older CF patients in our study are now in retirement. For younger patients, improving survival predictions will undoubtedly influence perspectives regarding employment and family planning. However, along with fertility challenges, there will be implications for both physical health and psychological wellbeing during parenthood. We have already seen a significant number of our older patients suffering with mental health issues and contributing themes in the context of family and work life may include a continuing high treatment burden, challenges with work-life balance, difficulties with self-management and maintenance of independence, and premature death. Insomnia is also common in CF patients and may contribute to both physical and psychological health issues.

Nevertheless, an increasing notion of achievable family and work life in CF perhaps represents a shift in attitudes towards CF and disease longevity. Patients are 'living with' CF rather than suffering its consequences. Particularly with increasing availability of CFTR modulation, patients will need to consider developing skills and making plans early in adulthood to prepare them for employment, family life and possibly even retirement as survival continues to improve.

It is also important to remember that a number of patients in our older CF cohort were born at a time when prognosis was still extremely poor. Having observed dramatic treatment development during their lifetimes, their perspectives of disease and survival in CF will have been greatly influenced, adding a level of cognitive depth to this already complex group. Qualitative research into this area may reveal new patient perspectives of ageing in CF and will be an exciting area for future research.

3.6 Limitations

A number of limitations to this study should be recognised. This is a cross sectional analysis of an older CF cohort and therefore assumptions regarding factors contributing to disease longevity must be interpreted with caution. We were unable to analyse sweat chloride levels in a small number of patients due to their pre-existing commencement of CFTR modulation, without availability of pre-modulator levels. Analysis of early and late diagnosis groups was challenging due to a lack of consensus for age parameters. Longer term survival in CF has been defined as aged 40 years and above, as in similar studies, however the targets for "old age" in CF is likely to change over time. The influence of CFTR modulation on survival in CF may mean that defining an older CF population will be different in years to come. Certainly, the CF population aged 40 years and above will continue to evolve, and a greater number of patients with severe CFTR mutations and classical CF disease will reach longer term survival. Given the rarity of disease, the study of CF cohorts in general, particularly with reference to older age, is accompanied by the inevitability of small sample sizes. Larger, multicentre epidemiological studies are required to analyse and interpret survival influences in the older CF community.

3.7 Conclusion

At 20%, a significant proportion of our adult CF centre comprises patients aged 40 years and above. This is likely to increase on an annual basis for the foreseeable future, particularly in this new era of CFTR modulation therapy.

The older CF patient cohort is a diverse, heterogeneous and fascinating population. There exists a spectrum of CFTR genotype and phenotypic disease and this study demonstrates poor correlation between the two. Although a percentage have less severe CFTR genotypes and milder clinical disease in this population, it is important to recognise that a large proportion of our older CF patients have severe CFTR mutations with classical disease. The reasons for variability between genotype and phenotypic expression are diverse and largely unproven, although the expression of modifier genes and environmental factors are likely to play a large part in the clinical diversity between genetically identical patients.

Older patients with a later age of diagnosis, a milder genotype and less severe disease phenotype may skew CF survival figures, given their anticipated survival advantage. However, this group may still have significant morbidity, a less predictable disease course and a greater degree of uncertainty regarding future disease complications(328). Perhaps the survival gap between severe and less severe genotypes will be narrowed by CFTR modulation and as such we are likely to see median CF survival continue to improve.

CF survival is predicted to increase in each birth cohort over time and the demographics of the older CF population will continue to evolve. This highlights the timeliness of our research into this heterogeneous group, and why further work is essential in order to identify emerging ageing comorbidities and to prepare for future challenges of large numbers of CF patients with complex, multisystem CFTR-related and comorbid disease.

The Complexities of Ageing in Cystic Fibrosis

4.0 Chapter 4: Cardiovascular risk in an older cystic fibrosis cohort

4.1 Abstract

4.1.1 Introduction

As survival in cystic fibrosis (CF) increases, addressing ageing comorbidities will become an important part of patient management. Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of mortality in the general population worldwide, accounting for around 30% of all deaths(329). The risk of sustaining a cardiovascular event increases with age and the presence of various risk factors including systemic hypertension, diabetes mellitus and hyperlipidaemia, all of which may become relevant in an ageing CF population. This paper aims to explore cardiovascular risk in an older CF cohort, to analyse CFTR-related and non-CFTR related influences on this risk and to identify areas for closer scrutiny as more patients achieve longer term survival.

4.1.2 Methods

A cross-sectional, observational study was carried out for CF patients aged 40 years and above attending MACFC between August 2018 and August 2020, during a period of clinical stability. Data were collected for disease demographics using a formulated questionnaire and review of case notes. Measurements of central (aortic) arterial stiffness (pulse wave velocity {PWV} and augmentation index {AIx}) and central systolic blood pressure (CSBP) were taken using a Vicorder[®] (Skidmore Medical). Blood sampling for high sensitivity Creactive protein (hsCRP), lipid profiles and apolipoprotein markers was performed using venepuncture. QRisk[®] scoring was used to calculate a ten-year cardiovascular risk for each patient, with ≥10% deemed significant. Comparison of our older CF cohort with a smaller, age and gender matched chronic kidney disease (CKD) cohort was undertaken for arterial stiffness measurements. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS (IBM), with p<0.05 used for statistical significance.

4.1.3 Results

Data from 85 CF patients were analysed. There were a high prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors identified; 18.8% had systemic hypertension, 15.5% had hyperlipidaemia and 11.8% had a significant family history of cardiovascular disease. Patients with exocrine pancreatic sufficiency had higher total cholesterol levels than those without (p=0.037). QRisk[®] scores of ≥10% were seen in 34.9% of patients. Mean QRisk[®] scores increased with age and were higher for non-severe CFTR mutation and CFRD groups (p<0.001). Raised Alx (>25%) was seen in 44.7% of patients and raised PWV (>11m/s) seen in 7.1% and, after adjustment for BMI, the odds ratio (OR) for raised Alx in the CF group compared to a matched CKD group was 2.95 (95% CI 1.03-8.45).

4.1.4 Conclusion

This paper highlights the emerging cardiovascular risk in an ageing CF cohort. This is the first study to analyse arterial stiffness, QRisk[®] scores and apolipoprotein levels as part of cardiovascular risk assessment in CF patients aged 40 years and above. Risk factors for cardiovascular disease in CF may include exocrine pancreatic sufficiency, non-severe CFTR mutations and CFRD. The advantage of apolipoprotein analysis in the assessment of cardiovascular risk in CF is uncertain. QRisk[®] scoring may be helpful in assessing cardiovascular risk in CF patients aged 40 years and above. Arterial stiffness increases with age and central systolic blood pressure (CSBP) in CF but is not related to raised hsCRP. The lack of significant difference between AIx and PWV parameters between CF and CKD groups may highlight an inherent cardiovascular risk in CF, as seen in other chronic respiratory disease. Improving survival in CF patients necessitates further research into evolving cardiovascular risk and contributing factors, so that we can effectively manage additional vascular comorbidity in an already complex and challenging multisystem disease.

4.2 Introduction

Survival in CF is improving exponentially, and we are now seeing an ageing population. When CF was first discovered as a clinical entity in 1938(53), survival rarely surpassed one year. This is in stark contrast to children born with CF today, who's predicted median survival is now into their fifth decade(11).

Although the CF story over the last eight decades has been one of success, we must recognise the potential problems associated with an ageing population and increasing numbers of patients with chronic illness. Disease longevity in CF will undoubtedly be accompanied by further complexities of disease and will present new challenges to the CF multidisciplinary team (MDT). Although mortality in CF is predominantly related to pulmonary disease, emerging age-related comorbidities will become ever more prevalent. These will include direct complications of CFTR dysfunction with age as well as non-CFTR related comorbidities including those sustained with chronic treatment longevity and the general ageing process itself.

Historically, poor survival in CF has meant that established cardiovascular disease is rare and has only been described in case reports. However, as the leading causes of mortality in the general population worldwide, cardiovascular disease is a significant comorbidity to consider as CF survival increases. The hallmark of vascular disease is a therosclerosis, an inevitability as part of the general ageing process. This process can be accelerated by various conditions, enhancing cardiovascular risk and the development of premature cardiovascular disease. Cardiovascular risk varies between individuals and risk factors can be separated into modifiable and non-modifiable. Non-modifiable risk factors include genetic susceptibility, ethnicity and gender. Modifiable risk factors include smoking, obesity, systemic hypertension, hyperlipidaemia and diabetes mellitus, the majority of which may be relevant to CF patients as they age. Understanding and minimising cardiovascular risk in CF is of paramount importance as survival continues to increase. This raises some important questions for the CF MDT;

 What are the effects of CFTR dysfunction on the development of cardiovascular disease?

- 2. Does CFTR dysfunction accelerate cardiovascular ageing and are CF patients at heightened risk of cardiovascular disease compared with the general population?
- 3. What non-CFTR related factors contribute to cardiovascular risk in CF?

This paper will begin to explore some of these areas.

4.2.1 Systemic hypertension

Salt depletion and osmotic imbalance in CF has historically been associated with low systolic blood pressure (SBP) and an assumed degree of cardiovascular protection(330). However, as CF patients age, attention must be paid to the development of systemic hypertension particularly in those with milder CFTR mutations, exocrine pancreatic sufficiency and a higher BMI. Essential (primary) systemic hypertension is associated with advancing age and increased cardiovascular risk. Historically, diastolic blood pressure rise has been associated with the majority of end organ damage in hypertension. However, isolated systolic hypertension and raised pulse pressure are becoming increasingly relevant in an ageing population and have been shown to correlate with atherogenesis and cardiovascular disease(331). The increasing prevalence of CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD) with age may influence the development of systemic hypertension. Both CFRD and hypertension can contribute to and accelerate chronic renal disease(332). Blood pressure monitoring and adequate management of systemic hypertension in CF will thus be important not only to reduce cardiovascular risk but also to minimise the risk of renal dysfunction, of particular importance when considering potential lung transplantation and chronic exposure to nephrotoxic medication. It may be worth considering that CFTR modulation, restoring a degree of normal CFTR protein function, may affect salt imbalance and enhance cardiovascular risk in ageing CF patients.

4.2.2 Hyperlipidaemia in CF

The majority of patients with CF will have exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, causing fat malabsorption and nutritional deficiencies. Reduced dietary lipid absorption and altered cholesterol metabolism lead to lower total cholesterol levels in CF patients when compared to the general population(298). Dietary advice for CF patients has changed significantly over the years, particularly with the introduction of pancreatic enzyme replacement therapy (PERT). However, for those with exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, a high fat, high calorie

diet still forms an integral part of CF management. Over time, this dietary trajectory may cause dyslipidaemia and contribute to cardiovascular risk, as is seen with high fat diets in the general population. Skolnik and colleagues reported 69% of a small CF cohort over 40 years of age, with advanced pulmonary disease, to have evidence of dyslipidaemia(222). Those on long term oral corticosteroids will also be at risk of hyperlipidaemia and systemic hypertension. Given the link between dyslipidaemia and diabetes mellitus in the general population(333), an increasing prevalence of CFRD with age may also influence the presence of hyperlipidaemia and cardiovascular risk in CF.

CF patients with exocrine pancreatic sufficiency, although nutritionally replete, may also be at risk of hyperlipidaemia as they age. Rhodes and colleagues observed an increase in total cholesterol levels in patients with preserved exocrine pancreatic function, and a trend towards higher cholesterol and triglycerides with increasing age and BMI in CF, independent of exocrine pancreatic and diabetic status. Indeed, 24-43% of CF patients, dependent on exocrine pancreatic status, were shown to have a raised total cholesterol (TC) and low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) with advancing age(300). CFTR modulation may also contribute to raised BMI and dyslipidaemia over time, as exemplified by the evidence of improved gastrointestinal absorption and weight gain in longitudinal data of patients with a gating CFTR mutation taking ivacaftor(334)(301).

Dyslipidaemia has been shown in the general population to contribute significantly to atherosclerosis and cardiovascular morbidity. Ischaemic heart disease in CF has only been reported in a small number of case studies thus far(224)(289) but is likely to become more relevant as survival in CF continues to improve. The typical atherogenic triad of hyperlipidaemia consists of elevated LDL-C, low high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) and high triglycerides (TG). In CF clinical practice, these fasting parameters are measured at annual assessment. Within the last decade, several studies have shown the benefit of measuring apolipoprotein levels, which form the structural 'envelope' of lipoprotein molecules(335). ApoB corresponds to LDL-C, ApoA1 to HDL-C and ApoB/A1 equivalent to the TC/HDL ratio. They can be measured directly in the blood, are reliable in non-fasting states and retain reliable cardiovascular risk prediction in those already on lipid lowering medication. Studies have shown superiority of serum ApoB monitoring as a marker of cardiovascular risk than LDL-C(115). Although there has been extensive study of apolipoproteins in the general population, there has been no such research in CF to date. This study will represent the first in apolipoprotein analysis in CF patients aged 40 years and above.

4.2.3 CF-related diabetes mellitus

CFRD is diagnosed in up to 50% of adults with CF and the risk of developing impaired glucose tolerance and CFRD increases with age(271). CFRD appears to be a distinct entity from type one and type two diabetes mellitus, combining both relative insulin deficiency, due to progressive pancreatic fibrosis and destruction of β cells, and insulin resistance. CFRD is commoner in patients with severe CFTR genotypes and exocrine pancreatic insufficiency. Historically, CFRD has been associated with more rapid pulmonary decline, poor nutritional status and increased mortality. However, developments in treatment over time has seen the mortality gap between CF diabetics and non-diabetics significantly decrease.

The risk of microvascular disease in diabetes mellitus correlates with the duration of fasting hyperglycaemia in the general population and similarly this risk will become more relevant in CFRD with longevity of disease. In addition, it would seem likely that CF diabetics will also have an increased risk of macrovascular disease over time. CF patients may also be at risk of metabolic syndrome, a triad of hyperglycaemia, increased BMI and hyperlipidaemia. This may be particularly relevant for those with milder CFTR genotypes and exocrine pancreatic sufficiency. Could hyperglycaemia in an exocrine pancreatic sufficient cohort with residual CFTR function in fact represent a non-CF-related diabetic phenotype?

In the general population, cardiovascular risk is higher in those with diabetes mellitus and hence lipid-lowering and antihypertensive therapies are commenced at lower thresholds. This may also be relevant for our ageing CF population, with an increased risk of impaired glycaemic control and CFRD over time. Should we be assessing cardiovascular risk at earlier ages in CF?

4.2.4 Arterial stiffness and non-atherosclerotic risk in CF

When considering the pathophysiology of vascular disease, priority is often given to atherosclerosis, a process by which inflammation, endothelial cell dysfunction and lipid accumulation within the intimal layer of the arterial wall causes intra-arterial plaque and thrombus formation. In contrast, arteriosclerosis predominantly affects the medial layer of the arterial wall and is a dominant process in vascular ageing. Arteriosclerosis causes vascular calcification, leading to a reduction in compliance and distensibility of the arterial wall, resulting in arterial 'stiffening' (336). Although this is an ageing phenomenon occurring in healthy individuals, this process can be accelerated in the presence of certain comorbidities such as diabetes mellitus, chronic kidney disease (CKD) and systemic hypertension(337).

Arterial wall stiffening affects vascular impedance, altering the relationship between blood pressure and flow. Central (aortic) arterial stiffening alters cardiac dynamics and contributes to raised pulse pressure, which has been shown to increase cardiovascular morbidity and mortality, particularly coronary artery disease(338). The presence of vascular calcification and arterial stiffness assists to explain the heightened cardiovascular risk found in certain patient groups, such as those with CKD and end stage renal disease (ESRD), independent of atherosclerotic risk factors. Arteriosclerosis in these populations have been extensively investigated using non-invasive arterial stiffness methods. Raised pulse pressure has been found to be one of the highest predictors of mortality in patients with ESRD, with raised large artery wall stiffness associated with increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in both ESRD and hypertensive groups(151)(150). Early detection of arterial stiffening may enable clinicians to identify and manage cardiovascular risk in a primary prevention setting, but also may allow adoption of 'de-stiffening' treatment strategies for specific patient groups. Examples of de-stiffening strategies, studied in CKD and rheumatoid arthritis (RA) populations, would be the use of angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatories (NSAIDs)(339)(340).

Arterial stiffness can be measured non-invasively using applanation tonometry and pulse wave analysis. Carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity (cfPWV) is the gold standard method used to measure aortic (central) arterial stiffness. The stiffer the artery, the faster the flow of blood, the reflected pulse wave and subsequent PWV. PWV must be interpreted in the context of central systolic blood pressure (CSBP), which is simultaneously recorded with this technique(341). Aortic PWV has been shown to be an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease and its inclusion in cardiovascular risk scoring has been shown to increase the accuracy of predictive risk classification(149). Augmentation index (Alx) can also be used as a measure of arterial stiffness using the percentage of 'augmentation' of the central pulse pressure by the reflected pulse wave. The higher the value, the stiffer the artery. This has less appeal for use in clinical practice as a measure of arterial stiffness due to its considerable variation with other physiological parameters, such as pulse rate, and its lower reliability in patients of older ages(153).

4.2.5 Chronic inflammation and arterial stiffening

Chronic inflammation has been shown to contribute to arterial stiffness, affecting endothelial cell function and vascular wall integrity. This is thought, in part, to be related to increased levels of circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF alpha(342). Anti-TNF therapy in rheumatoid arthritis patients has been shown to cause a reduction in Alx and PWV(343). Chronic inflammatory conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA) carry an increased cardiovascular risk and as such are included in cardiovascular risk prediction tools(162). Diabetes mellitus and CKD also create pro-inflammatory states, which contribute to arterial stiffness and cardiovascular risk(344)(345). CF pulmonary disease is characterised by a complex relationship between chronic infection and a predominantly neutrophilmediated inflammatory response within the lungs, with an elevated presence of proinflammatory cytokines found in both sputum and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) samples(346). C-reactive protein (CRP) is an acute phase protein and marker of systemic inflammation. Patients with CF will commonly have raised baseline CRP levels during times of clinical stability. The chronic systemic inflammatory state in CF is caused by circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6 and TNF alpha, which have been shown to be present at higher concentrations in CF patients compared to healthy controls(347).

The chronic systemic inflammation observed in CF patients, along with an impending cardiovascular risk from CFRD, systemic hypertension and hyperlipidaemia, may deem patients to be at higher risk of premature arterial stiffness, accelerated vascular ageing and cardiovascular disease(348). Indeed, patients with CF have been shown to have abnormal vascular dynamics as a consequence of their disease(349). This may be accentuated in those with CFRD and has been shown to manifest as a raised augmentation index at rest, which can increase during exercise(350).

Studies evaluating the efficacy of anti-inflammatory agents in CF, such as azithromycin, have shown improvement in pulmonary outcomes along with reduction of plasma CRP(346). Intravenous antibiotics have been shown to decrease systemic inflammation in CF during

pulmonary exacerbations and systemic biomarkers of inflammation often guide response to acute therapy(351). Although the relationship between biomarkers of systemic inflammation and cardiovascular risk may be challenging to define, chronic inflammation may have an important role in cardiovascular risk prediction in CF.

4.2.6 The QRisk[®] score

The QRisk[®] scoring system allows physicians in primary care to calculate the risk of a patient sustaining a cardiovascular event within the subsequent ten-year period. It is not applicable to those with a preceding history of cardiovascular disease. A QRisk[®] calculation is generated by inputting demographic and biomarker data into a pre-existing online calculator, producing a percentage score(352). Scores of ≥10% are used as the threshold for significance and may warrant further attention, including lifestyle modification and optimal management of specific cardiovascular risk factors such as systemic hypertension and diabetes mellitus. A score of >20% is deemed high risk and warrants commencement of primary cardiovascular prevention therapy as a first line strategy, including lipid lowering treatment(353)(108) Of course, all scores must be interpreted with appropriate clinical judgment, and may be underestimated in those already established on preventative treatment.

The QRisk[®] scoring system has replaced the Framingham cardiovascular risk score and is recommended by NICE for use in primary care. The QRisk[®] 3 score has recently superseded QRisk[®] 2(353). A QRisk[®] cardiovascular risk calculation is offered to those aged 40 years and above in the general population. A high burden of specialist appointments for CF patients means they are likely to have low primary care attendance. Could we therefore be missing opportunities to assess cardiovascular risk and implementing primary cardiovascular preventative measures in our older CF patients?

Cardiovascular risk scoring in CF may also prompt closer attention to family history and genetic factors, which will influence the risk of premature cardiovascular disease. The inclusion of CFRD into cardiovascular risk scoring is challenging due to the inability to categorise into distinct type one and type two diabetes mellitus (T1DM, T2DM) classes. The difference in calculated risk between CFRD when classified as T1DM or T2DM may be insightful and worth further exploration.

As more patients reach 40 years and above in CF, cardiovascular risk scoring will become ever more relevant as the prevalence of cardiovascular disease increases. Therefore, should formal cardiovascular risk assessment form part of routine CF clinical management?

4.3 Methods

A full description of methods used are outlined in chapter two. In brief, a cross sectional analysis of our cohort of 85 CF patients aged 40 years and above attending MACFC was conducted to assess factors associated with cardiovascular risk. Study investigations were performed during periods of clinical stability, defined as the absence of pulmonary exacerbation requiring oral or intravenous antibiotics within the preceding four-week period(279).

Ethical approval was obtained from the Health Research Authority (HRA) and Health and Care Research Wales (HCRW) Ethics committee (reference 19/EM/0067).

- Prospective data collection was performed for demographic, social and family history.
- Blood testing was performed via venepuncture to collect biomarkers of cardiovascular risk, including HbA1c, high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), total cholesterol (TC), triglycerides (TG), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) and apolipoproteins A1 and B (ApoB and ApoA1).
- 3. Pulse wave velocity (PWV), augmentation index (AIx) and central systolic blood pressure (CSBP) recordings were performed on all patients using non-invasive applanation tonometry via a Vicorder[®] (Skidmore Medical). Results were analysed and compared to a cohort of chronic kidney disease patients with retrospective Vicorder[®] data (Salford Renovascular Research Group).
- 4. QRisk[®] scores were calculated for all patients using QRisk[®]2 and QRisk[®]3 calculators to define cardiovascular risk in this cohort. Patients with CFRD were then analysed as a separate group to establish the variation in scores dependent upon classification of CFRD as T1DM or T2DM.

A positive family history of cardiovascular disease was defined as a first degree relative sustaining a cardiovascular event aged 60 years or below. Raised baseline hsCRP was defined as \geq 5 mg/L. Raised Alx was defined as \geq 25% and raised PWV as >11m/s as per

recommended guidelines(354). Normal cholesterol parameters were referenced according to local trust guidelines (TC <5 mmol/L, TG <1.6 mmol/L, HDL-C >1 mmol/L, LDL-C <3 mmol/L, TC/HDL ratio <4, ApoB 0.55-1.40 g/L, ApoA1 1.10-2.05 g/L and ApoB/A1 ratio 0.35-1). A QRisk[®] score of ≥10% was deemed significant, according to national guidelines(272).

Data were analysed as a total cohort, in age groups; 40-49 years, 50-59 years and ≥60 years, and then grouped for other predictor variables. Data were also compared to a chronic kidney disease (CKD) cohort from Salford Royal Foundation Trust (Renovascular Research Group), matched for age and gender. Independent T-test, one-way ANOVA and Pearson correlations were performed to display normally distributed data. Logarithmic transformation was performed prior to analysis of data without normal distribution and results displayed as geometric mean/SD or back-transformed mean/CI as applicable. For data without normal distribution on logarithmic transformation, non-parametric testing was used for analysis. Categorical data were analysed using Chi-squared tests. Univariate and multivariate regression models were also used to determine relationships between dependent and independent variables. SPSS® (IBM®, version 25.0) was used for analysis of data and two-tailed p values of <0.05 were deemed statistically significant.

4.4.1 Demographics

General demographics of the total cohort are shown in table 4.1.

Demographic	Mean ±SD
Age (years)	48.6 (7.70)
Gender % male (n)	65.9% (56)
BMI (kg/m²)	23.9 (3.13)
ppFEV ₁ (%)	52.9 (23.3) %
PI % (n)	83.5% (71)
CFRD % (n)	49.4% (42)
PsA % (n)	65.9% (56)
CFTR class I-III (severe) %	72.9% (62)
Smoking status	20.2% ex-smokers
	2.4% current smokers
Family history of cardiovascular disease (%)	11.9% (10)

Table 4.1: Demographics of the total study cohort. PsA-Pseudomonas aeruginosa (sputum colonisation), BMI= body mass index, PI=exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, CFTR – Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator protein.

We analysed data from 85 (out of 92) eligible patients aged 40 years and above, representing 20% of the total CF cohort at MACFC. 16 patients (18.8%) were found to have central systolic hypertension, with 10 of these patients already on anti-hypertensive treatment. 13 patients (15.5%) had raised total cholesterol levels. Ten patients (11.9%) had a positive family history of cardiovascular disease. 49.4% had a diagnosis of CFRD with a mean(±SD) HbA1c of 44.1(±8.76)mmol/L.

4.4.2 Cholesterol and apolipoprotein analysis

Data for cholesterol parameters including apolipoproteins are shown in the table 4.2 and 4.3.

Age (years)	Total	40-49	50-59	≥60	P value
Number of	84	54	21	9	-
patients (n)					
TC (mmol/L)	4.06 (0.89)	3.86 (0.77)	4.41 (0.87)	4.67 (1.31)	0.008
Mean (SD)					
TG (mmol/L)	1.08 (0.48)	1.07 (0.46)	1.01 (0.43)	1.26 (0.73)	0.449
Mean (SD)					
HDL-C	1.52 (0.47)	1.44 (0.37)	1.66 (0.60)	1.70 (0.65)	0.111
Mean (SD)					
*LDL-C	1.93 (1.78,	1.82 (1.65,	2.15 (1.81,	2.25 (1.65,	0.098
(mmol/L)	2.08)	1.99)	2.55)	3.06)	
Mean (CI)					
TC/HDL-C	2.83 (0.86)	2.80 (0.76)	2.88 (1.06)	2.93 (1.07)	0.901
Mean (SD)					
*ApoB (g/L)	0.70 (0.65,	0.66 (0.62,	0.78 (0.64,	0.79 (0.60,	0.099
Mean (Cl	0.75)	0.72)	0.95)	1.03)	
ApoA1(g/L)	1.53 (0.35)	1.46 (0.31)	1.67 (0.37)	1.69 (0.47)	0.034
Mean (SD)					
ApoB/A1	0.49 (0.18)	0.49 (0.17)	0.50 (0.24)	0.50 (0.15)	0.990
Mean (SD)					

Table 4.2: Cholesterol parameters for total cohort and per age group. Above normal values analysis: ApoB >1.4mg/L, ApoA1 <1.1mg/L, ApoA1/B >1, TC>5 mmol/L, TG>1.6 mmol/L, HDL <1mmol/L, LDL >3mmol/L, TC/HDL >4.(*Logarithmic transformation used; expressed as back-transformed mean/CI).

% Raised	Total	40-49	50-59	≥60	P value
levels (n)		(years)	(years)	(years)	
Number of patients (n)	84	54	21	9	-
TC (mmol/L)	15.5% (13)	7.4% (4)	28.6% (6)	33.3% (3)	0.007
TG (mmol/L)	14.3% (12)	13.0% (7)	14.3% (3)	22.2% (2)	0.615
HDL-C (mmol/L)	10.7% (9)	13.0% (7)	9.5% (2)	0	0.575
*LDL-C (mmol/L)	11.9% (10)	9.3% (4)	19.0 (4)	22.2% (2)	0.127
TC/HDL-C	8.3% (7)	9.3% (5)	4.8% (1)	11.1% (1)	0.806
*ApoB (g/L)	1.2% (1)	0	4.8% (1)	0	0.177
ApoA1(g/L)	9.5% (8)	13.0% (7)	4.8% (1)	0	0.418
ApoB/A1	2.4% (2)	1.9% (1)	4.8% (1)	0	0.616

Table 4.3: Total number of raised cholesterol markers (% and n) for study cohort.

Due to the small patient number in the \geq 60 years age group, we analysed the data between 40-49 and \geq 50 year age groups as a separate sub-analysis. This showed significantly higher TC (p=0.002), HDL-C (p=0.036) and ApoA1 levels (p=0.009) with increasing age.

Comparison between cholesterol biomarkers for CFRD and non-CFRD groups are shown in table 4.4.

Cholesterol biomarker	CFRD	Non-CFRD	P value
*Apo-B (g/L)	0.64 (0.59, 0.70)	0.76 (0.67, 0.87)	0.017
Mean (CI)			
ApoA1 (g/L)	1.53 (0.37)	1.53 (0.32)	0.949
Mean (SD)			
ApoB/A1	0.46 (0.17)	0.52 (0.19)	0.128
Mean (SD)			
*LDL-C (mmol/L)	1.88 (0.61)	2.25 (0.86)	0.033
Mean (Cl)			
HDL (mmol/L)	1.53 (0.48)	1.51 (0.45)	0.849
Mean (SD)			
TC (mmol/L)	3.90 (0.81)	4.24 (0.95)	0.087
Mean (SD)			
TC/HDL	2.70 (0.73)	2.98 (0.97)	0.126
Mean (SD)			
TG (mmol/L)	1.10 (0.51)	1.05 (0.45)	0.652
Mean (SD)			

Table 4.4: Cholesterol parameters for CFRD and non-CFRD groups. Above normal values analysis: ApoB >1.4mg/L, ApoA1 <1.1mg/L, Apo-A1/B >1, TC>5 mmol/L, TG>1.6 mmol/L, HDL <1mmol/L, LDL >3mmol/L, TC/HDL >4.(*Logarithmic transformation used; expressed as back-transformed mean with Cl).

Ten patients (11.9%) had raised LDL-C. TC/HDL ratio was raised in 8.3% of patients. TG level was raised in 14.3% of patients. 15.5% had raised TC (>5 mmol/L), with a mean of 4.06(±0.89)mmol/L for the whole group. Age groups analysis revealed significantly higher TC with increasing age (p=0.008) and ApoA1 (p=0.034) with increasing age. Lower levels of LDL-C and TC were seen in the non-CFRD group compared to the CFRD group, with log₁₀LDL-C difference showing statistical significance on T-testing (p=0.03).

There was a strong positive correlation between ApoB/A1 and TC/HDL ratios (r=0.931, p<0.001). Strong correlations were also seen for LDL-C and ApoB (r=0.559, p<0.001) and

ApoA1 with HDL-C (r=0.796, p<0.001). Despite this, only one patient from the cohort had raised Apo-B levels compared to ten with raised LDL-C. However, interestingly this patient did not have concurrently raised LDL-C or TC levels. There were eight patients with reduced ApoA1 levels and nine patients with HDL-C levels lower than normal. Only two patients out of the eight with reduced ApoA1 did not have concurrently reduced HDL-C levels, showing better clinical correlation. ApoB/A1 ratio, thought to be a more sensitive marker of cardiovascular risk than TC/HDL, was raised in only 2.4% of patients as compared to 8.3% with raised TC/HDL ratio. 11.8% of patients were on statin therapy for a diagnosis of hyperlipidaemia prior to study participation, which may be a limitation to apolipoprotein analysis. One patient had low ApoA1 in the presence of normal HDL-C. Four patients in the statin group remained with TC of >5mmol/L (all with raised LDL-C), but with normal apolipoprotein parameters.

Using analysis of log-transformed data, there is a significant difference in both $log_{10}LDL-C$ and $log_{10}ApoB$ between CFRD and non-CFRD groups, with a trend to higher levels in patients without CFRD; p=0.033 and p=0.017 respectively (table 4.4).

There was a trend towards higher TC, LDL-C, TC-HDL ratio and TG in patients with exocrine pancreatic sufficiency, although this was not statistically significant. Exocrine pancreatic status was significant as a predictor of raised TC on univariate regression analysis (p=0.003, r^2 =0.106). In multivariate regression analysis, BMI, exocrine pancreatic status and CFRD status together showed statistical significance as predictors of raised total cholesterol level (p=0.03, r^2 = 0.107). Patients with exocrine pancreatic sufficiency are more likely to have a raised TC (>5mmol/L) than those without (p=0.037). Patients in a less severe CFTR class (IV-V) are more likely to have a raised LDL-C (>3mmol/L) than those in severe groups (p=0.006). Data therefore suggests a relationship between exocrine pancreatic sufficiency and raised cholesterol.

A positive correlation was seen between BMI and TG levels (r=0.284, p=0.009). Although the mean TG concentration was slightly higher in patients with CFRD than those without (1.10±0.45 vs 1.05±0.51mmol/L), this result was not statistically significant.

4.4.3 Blood pressure, PWV and Alx analysis

Age (years)	Total	40-49	50-59	≥60	P value
Number of patients (n)	85	54	22	9	-
SBP mmHg Mean (SD)	128.5 (13.3)	126.5 (12.4)	130.6 (14.6)	138.1 (13.1)	0.049
DBP mmHg Mean (SD)	71.8 (8.29)	71.8 (8.36)	71.6 (8.38)	72.2 (8.65)	0.987
PWV m/s Mean (SD)	8.76 (1.35)	8.45 (1.02)	9.24 (1.73)	9.81 (1.59)	0.004
Alx % Mean (SD)	24.1 (8.56)	23.3 (8.06)	24.9 (10.2)	28.4 (7.01)	0.249
*hsCRP mmol/L Mean (CI)	4.44 (3.49, 5.64)	4.57 (3.41, 6.12)	4.90 (2.74, 8.79)	2.82 (1.49, 5.36)	0.465

Table 4.5: Arterial stiffness, BP and hsCRP measurements for the total cohort and by age group.*Logarithmic transformation used; expressed as back-transformed mean with CI.

16 patients (18.8%) had raised central systolic BP (CSBP) (>140mmHg) using Vicorder[®] analysis, of whom ten were already on anti-hypertensive treatment in the form of calcium channel blockers, angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors or a combination of both. Seven patients with pre-existing systemic hypertension had hyperlipidaemia and two had a positive family history of cardiovascular disease. 12 patients in the hypertensive group had exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, nine had CFRD and four had a history of renal dysfunction; two with renal stones, one with diabetic nephropathy and one with refractory hypertension/CFRD with a previous renal and pancreatic transplantation.

The mean PWV and Alx for the total group was $8.76(\pm 1.35)$ m/s and $24.1(\pm 8.56)$ % respectively. As expected, both PWV and Alx increased with age, showing statistical significance using Pearson correlation; r=0.382, p<0.001 and r=0.260, p=0.016 respectively.

Although median PWV was higher in males than females (9.39 vs 8.37 m/s), this was not statistically significant. Six patients (7.1%) had a PWV of >11m/s. A larger proportion had an increased Alx, with 38 patients (44.7%) having a mean Alx recording of >25%. Mean CSBP was $128.5(\pm 13.3)$ mmHg.

One way ANOVA testing shows a significant difference in both CSBP and PWV between age groups, observing higher parameters with advancing age (p=0.049, p=0.004 respectively). On post hoc analysis (Tukey's) this significance was held for PWV, with a significantly higher PWV between age groups one (40-49 years) and three (\geq 60 years); p=0.016.

There were positive correlations between both CSBP and PWV (r=0.533, p<0.001), with regression analysis showing statistical significance between these two variables (adjusted r^2 0.271, p<0.001).

There were no significant differences seen in mean AIx and PWV between non-CFRD and CFRD groups; 25.7 vs 22.6% (p=0.969) and 8.77 vs 8.75m/s (p=0.650) respectively. There were significant correlations between both TC and $log_{10}LDL$ with AIx (r=0.255, p=0.019 and r=0.266, p=0.015 respectively), however neither retained significance as a predictor of increased AIx on linear regression.

46.4% of patients had a raised baseline hsCRP (>5mg/L). No significant relationship was found between log_{10} CRP and AIx or PWV. There was also no significant relationship between ppFEV₁ and arterial stiffness parameters in this cohort. Analysis of other markers of disease severity using binary logistic regression showed the absence of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to significantly increase the probability of obtaining a PWV of >11m/s; odd ratio (OR) 15.0, p=0.029 and of obtaining an AIx of greater than 25%; OR 3.43, p=0.037 (table 4.6).

Although PWV and Alx showed a trend towards higher values in those with a non-severe CFTR mutation class, this was not statistically significant on chi squared or regression analysis.

Variables	Number of patients	OR	CI	P value
PsA (-ve)	29	15.0	1.32, 170.9	0.029
CFTR class (severe)	62	0.82	0.06, 11.2	0.883
ppFEV ₁ <40%	30	3.84	0.48, 31.1	0.207
PI	71	2.85	0.17, 47.2	0.465
CFRD	44	0.61	0.07, 5.01	0.642

Table 4.6: Regression analysis of disease severity and raised arterial stiffness. (OR=odds ratio, CI=confidence interval, severe CFTR class=I-III).

4.4.4 CKD comparison

31 matched pairs (62 patients) were studied with a mean age of 53.5 and 53.3 years in the

CF and CKD cohorts respectively.

Variable	CF cohort	CKD cohort	P value
Number of patients	31	31	-
Mean age (SD) Years	53.5 (9.9)	53.3 (11.2)	0.931
Mean BMI (SD) kg/m ²	23.9 (3.83)	27.4 (5.65)	0.006
Mean eGFR (SD) ml/min/1.73m ²	89.9 (12.0)	57.4 (10.7)	<0.001
Mean central systolic BP (SD) mmHg	128.5 (13.3)	127.7 (20.6)	0.802
Mean total cholesterol (SD) mmol/L	4.06 (0.89)	4.61 (0.94)	0.012
Mean Alx (SD) %	24.0 (8.9)	21.6 (9.9)	0.314
Mean PWV (SD) m/s	8.76 (1.35)	8.57 (1.82)	0.537

Table 4.7: Comparison of CKD and CF cohorts.

The mean eGFR was $89.9(\pm 12)$ ml/min/ $1.73m^2$ and $57.4(\pm 10.7)$ ml/min/ $1.73m^2$ in CF and CKD cohorts respectively (p=0.0001). Mean total cholesterol was higher in the CKD cohort. There was no statistical difference in the prevalence of diabetes mellitus between groups, however CF patients had a lower BMI; 23.9kg/m² versus 27.4kg/m² (p=0.006).

The prevalence of elevated Alx (>25%) was 51.6% in the CF group (mean 24.0 \pm 8.9%) compared to 29% in CKD (mean 21.6 \pm 9.9%). After adjustment for low BMI, the OR for increased arterial stiffness in CF patients compared to CKD was 2.95 (95% CI = 1.03-8.45), p=0.045.

The prevalence of elevated CSBP (>140mmHg) was 16.1% in the CF group (mean 130±12mmHg) compared to 32.3% in CKD (mean 128±21mmHg). After adjustment for low BMI, the odds ratio (OR) for increased CSBP in CF patients compared to CKD was 0.43 (0.12-1.47), p=0.178. There was no significant difference in PWV between CKD and CF groups.

4.4.5 QRisk[®] scoring

One patient in our cohort had a pre-existing diagnosis of cerebrovascular accident (CVA), preceding his CF diagnosis, and as such was excluded from QRisk[®] analysis. QRisk[®] data for 84 patients were analysed.

Each patient had both QRisk[®]2 and QRisk[®]3 scores calculated simultaneously. Patients with CFRD had separate QRisk[®] scores calculated for CFRD classified as T1DM and then as T2DM. QRisk[®]3 scores may be perceived to have greater reliability for CF patients given the inclusion of inflammatory conditions and oral corticosteroid parameters, hence more attention was paid to QRisk[®]3 during analysis. However, strong correlations were shown between QRisk[®]2 and QRisk[®]3, in all diabetic classes, showing consistency of both models in this group; as T1DM r=0.983, T2DM r=0.990, non-CFRD r=0.999, p<0.001 for all. In addition, similar prevalence of raised scores (≥10%) were shown for QRisk[®]3 and QRisk[®]2; 31.3 vs 33.7% respectively.

Comparison between QRisk[®] scores for the total cohort are shown below (table 4.8).

	QRisk [®] 2 (Non-CFRD)	QRisk [®] 3 (Non-CFRD)	QRisk [®] 2 (T1DM)	QRisk [®] 2 (T2DM)	QRisk [®] 3 (T1DM	QRisk [®] 3 (T2DM)
Patients (n)	40	40	44	44	44	44
Mean score (SD)	5.24 (5.97)	4.83 (5.51)	11.1 (6.19)	7.44 (4.56)	10.1 (5.47)	6.80 (4.08)

Table 4.8: Comparison of QRisk[®] scores in our older CF cohort

Mean QRisk[®]2 and QRisk[®]3 scores in the non-CFRD group were 5.24(±5.98)% and 4.83(±5.51)% respectively, p<0.001. For the CFRD group, scores were compared for both T1DM and T2DM. Overall mean scores in non-diabetics were significantly lower than for patients with CFRD; QRisk[®]3 assuming CFRD equivalent to T1DM: 10.1(±5.47)% and QRisk[®]3 assuming CFRD is equivalent to T2DM: 6.80(±4.08)% (vs QRisk[®]3-non-DM; p<0.001). Analysis of table 8 also shows the QRisk[®]3 scores to be lower than their QRisk[®]2 equivalent in each diabetic class. This was a consistent finding in all participants.

Within the total cohort, 34.9% of patients had a QRisk[®] score of ≥10%. Two patients had a QRisk[®]3 score of >20%, indicating high risk. Both patients were already on primary cardiovascular prevention therapy. There was no significant relationship between ppFEV₁, exocrine pancreatic status, BMI and hsCRP and elevated QRisk[®] score using linear regression analysis.

Analysis of the CFRD group showed a mean HbA1c was 47.9(\pm 9.80) mmol/mol, mean cholesterol of 3.95(\pm 0.85) mmol/L and mean systolic BP of 129(\pm 13.0) mmHg, with no significant difference between age groups (40-49, 50-59 and \geq 60 years). The mean(\pm SD) QRisk[®]3 scores calculated using T1DM and T2DM as equivalents for CFRD are shown in table 4.9.

Classification of CFRD	CFRD as T1DM	CFRD as T2DM	P value
Mean (SD)			
QRisk [®] 3	10.1 (5.46)	6.80 (4.08)	<0.001
QRisk [®] 2	11.1 (6.19)	7.44 (4.56)	<0.001
QRisk [®] 3 ≥10% (%)	19 (43%)	11 (25%)	0.008
-------------------------------	----------	----------	-------
· · ·			

Table 4.9: Comparison of QRisk[®] scores between CF diabetics as T1DM and T2DM groups.



Figure 4.1: Boxplot of QRisk[®]3 as T1DM between age groups (1=40-49 years, 2=50-59 years, $3=\geq 60$ years).



Figure 4.2: Boxplot of QRisk[®]3 as T2DM between age groups (1=40-49 years, 2=50-59 years, $3=\geq 60$ years).

A significant difference was observed between the two QRisk[®]3 diabetic groups (p<0.001) and all three age groups (p<0.001), with significantly higher QRisk[®] scores shown with advancing age. QRisk[®]3 scores in patients with and without CFRD also increased with age

when analysed in subsets of 40-49 and \geq 50 years; p=0.001 (CFRD as T1DM), 0.003 (CFRD as T2DM) and <0.001 (no CFRD) respectively.

19 patients (43%) scored \geq 10% risk with CFRD classified as T1DM group compared with 11 (25%) classified as T2DM (p=0.08) (see table 4.9), highlighting the importance of CFRD classification in this model.

Chi squared testing shows no significant difference between CFTR class for QRisk[®] scores of \geq 10% for any QRisk[®] diabetic and non-diabetic group (p=0.058).



Figure 4.3: Boxplot of QRisk[®]3 with CFRD assumed to be T1DM and CFTR class (0=CFTR class IV-V, non-severe, 1=CFTR class I-III, severe).



Figure 4.4: Boxplot of QRisk[®]3 with CFRD assumed to be T2DM and CFTR class (0=CFTR class IV-V, non-severe, 1=CFTR class I-III, severe).

When analysing QRisk[®] of any diabetic classification, there is a positive correlation between PWV of >11m/s and QRisk[®] score of \geq 10% (r=0.239, p=0.015) with statistical significance on Chi squared testing (p=0.048). This is not reflected in Chi squared analysis of Alx of >25% with QRisk[®] scores of \geq 10%. Linear regression analysis of the relationship between PWV >11 m/s and QRisk[®] score of \geq 10% shows an odds ratio (OR) of 0.118 (95% CI 0.013, 1.11), p=0.062.

4.5 Discussion

4.5.1 General discussion

This is the first study to analyse cardiovascular risk factors in CF patients aged 40 years and above. Results demonstrate a high prevalence of systemic hypertension and hyperlipidaemia in long term CF survivors, increasing with age. A high proportion (34.9%) had QRisk[®] scores of ≥10%, demonstrating the presence of cardiovascular risk in this ageing CF cohort. The risk of increased arterial stiffness as measured by Alx, was higher in the CF group than a matched CKD cohort, perhaps indicating an inherent cardiovascular risk in an older CF population. A poor correlation between arterial stiffness and hsCRP in the study group may suggest that inflammatory burden is not related to cardiovascular risk in this older CF population, indicating other factors may be more relevant. This older CF cohort has been shown to be heterogeneous, with a spectrum of CFTR genotype and disease phenotype. With this being said, we observed a high prevalence of severe CFTR mutations (72.9%), exocrine pancreatic insufficiency (83.5%) and CFRD (49.4%) in this group.

Cardiovascular disease is proving an area of increasing interest in CF as survival continues to improve. Cardiovascular risk has been shown to be prevalent in patients with chronic respiratory disease, such as bronchiectasis(355), idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF)(356) and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)(357). Alongside traditional risk factors in these predominantly older cohorts, there exists inherent cardiovascular susceptibility from airflow limitation and chronic inflammation. In this way, CF exhibits some similarities to other chronic respiratory conditions. However, could the multisystem impact of CFTR dysfunction contribute to enhanced cardiovascular risk in CF? CFRD and the effects of CFTR modulation are just some of the factors to consider as part of cardiovascular risk assessment in CF.

4.5.2 Cholesterol

Cholesterol has previously been found to be lower in CF than the general population predominantly due to exocrine pancreatic insufficiency and lipid malabsorption. Improved survival in CF, with longevity of high fat diets, exocrine pancreatic sufficient genotypes and the impact of CFTR modulation may alter cholesterol metabolism and subsequent risk of hyperlipidaemia and cardiovascular disease in CF. In 2008, the Coronary Heart Disease Compendium reported the prevalence of raised cholesterol to be 58% within the UK population across all age groups, increasing to over 70% in those aged 40 years and above(358). Hyperlipidaemia is one of the most potent cardiovascular risk factors in the general population and there exists a wealth of evidence of its relationship to cardiovascular morbidity and mortality(359)(360). A lower prevalence of raised total cholesterol (>5mmol/L) was seen in our older CF patients (15.5%), however there were trends toward higher LDL-C and Apo-B levels with increasing age. A raised LDL-C has also been shown to be related to less severe CFTR mutation classes (p=0.006), exocrine pancreatic sufficiency (p=0.04) and higher BMI (p=0.19). There were also higher levels of TC, TG and a higher TC/HDL ratio seen in patients with preserved exocrine pancreatic function. These results are similar to those observed in a CF cohort with a mean age of $31(\pm 10)$ years(300). Figueroa and colleagues observed higher TG levels in a younger CF population (mean age 21 ± 11 years) compared to a control group, but with a lower TC level seen in the CF group(298). There was however a trend towards higher TC with advancing age in CF, the highest age band analysed being 35-44 years. Dyslipidaemia in CF may be predominantly related to non-CFTR factors such as dietary intake and ageing, however there is evidence that chronic inflammation and raised TNF alpha may affect hepatic lipid metabolism. Levy and colleagues observed an association between hypertriglyceridaemia and raised TNF alpha in CF adolescents (361). In addition, CFTR deficient cells have been showed to have altered fatty acid metabolism in vitro which may contribute to dyslipidaemia(362).

Interestingly, Nash and colleagues reported a high prevalence of hyperlipidaemia in CF patients (n=108) following lung transplantation (41.7%), with cholesterol levels increasing post-transplantation when compared with pre-transplant levels(363). However, all but one had a cardiovascular risk score of <10%. The development of at least one cardiovascular risk factor (systemic hypertension, diabetes mellitus and hyperlipidaemia) has been reported in up to 90% of lung transplant recipients with no pre-transplant cardiovascular risk identified(364). With the potential for an increasing age at organ transplantation in long term CF survivors, post-transplant hyperlipidaemia and cardiovascular risk may become increasingly relevant and worth further exploration.

As survival in CF continues to improve, the prevalence of CFRD will increase along with the potential for dyslipidaemia and cardiovascular disease. CFTR modulation may well

contribute to dyslipidaemia due to improvements in gastrointestinal lipid absorption and, given their now widespread use, longitudinal cholesterol data will be useful in measuring modulator impact on cardiovascular risk.

Although the prevalence of raised total cholesterol is lower in this CF cohort compared with the general population, the association of cardiovascular disease with other risk factors in older CF patients must be addressed. Regular, comprehensive lipid review should still be considered in CF patients aged 40 years and above in order to identify and treat hyperlipidaemia early with an aim to prevent cardiovascular morbidity.

4.5.3 Apolipoproteins

Raised serum cholesterol is widely recognised as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease and TC and HDL-C measurements are routinely used in cardiovascular risk prediction. Over recent years, studies have shown the potential for apolipoproteins to be more accurate measures of hyperlipidaemia(107)(365). Since apolipoproteins B and A1 are direct particle counts of LDL and HDL particles respectively, they form a direct atherogenic count and as such may be more reliable markers of cardiovascular risk, particularly for those patients on lipid lowering treatment(366)(367). As such, their measurement has been incorporated into several national cholesterol guidelines(107)(368). To our knowledge, apolipoproteins have not previously been studied in CF cohorts.

In our older CF population, there were strong correlations between apolipoprotein levels and their respective conventional cholesterol equivalents; ApoB to LDL-C; r=0.559, p<0.001, ApoA1 to HDL-C r=0.796, p<0.001, indicating these are consistent markers of cholesterol analysis in our study group. 9.5% of patients had a raised ApoB/A1 ratio, compared with 8.3% with a raised TC/HDL-C ratio. Interestingly, one patient had a raised Apo-B level without raised LDL-C, and two with low ApoA1 without corresponding low HDL-C. There was no significant relationship found between abnormal apolipoprotein levels and raised cardiovascular risk scores (QRisk[®]) in the study population. 11.8% of patients were on statin therapy at the time of sampling, due to a preceding diagnosis of hyperlipidaemia. Four patients in this subgroup remained with raised TC, however none had concurrent apolipoprotein abnormalities. This would seem contradictory to the expectation of greater accuracy in detecting hyperlipidaemia with apolipoprotein measurement, particularly when on statin treatment. However, one patient did have low ApoA1 levels with normal HDL-C, indicating a degree of cardiovascular risk despite statin therapy. These results portray some inaccuracy in apolipoprotein testing in our older CF patients, particularly in a population with low prevalence of lipid lowering therapy and in whom conventional cholesterol monitoring may thus be sufficient in establishing cardiovascular risk. Albers et al found ApoB and LDL-C to be raised in type two diabetics; 36% and 23% respectively, correlating with poor glycaemic control(369). Bajaj and colleagues observed higher ApoB, lower ApoA1 and higher ApoB/A1 ratio in patients with CKD(370). Since these disease groups are likely to be relevant in CF longevity, apolipoprotein monitoring may still be appropriate in assisting to establish atherosclerotic risk in an ageing CF population. Further research into the accuracy of apolipoprotein measurements in cardiovascular risk assessment in CF would be informative.

4.5.4 Systemic hypertension

Systemic hypertension is one of the most notable risk factors for the development of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality, accounting for over 50% of coronary and cerebrovascular events worldwide(371). An ageing CF population will observe an increased prevalence of CFRD and the potential for increased prevalence of chronic renal disease, further attributed by the use of chronic CF therapies, and the development of atherosclerosis. These factors may contribute to an increasing prevalence of systemic hypertension in an older CF population. Although exocrine pancreatic sufficiency is associated with older age and increased cardiovascular risk in our cohort, survival advantage associated with CFTR modulation (such as Kaftrio®) may see more patients with severe genotypes and exocrine pancreatic insufficiency at risk of comorbid ageing complications. In addition to multiple predicted extra-pulmonary advantages, could CFTR modulation alter the propensity for lower blood pressure in CF in the longer term? If CFTR dysfunction and associated osmotic imbalance has historically contributed to low blood pressure in CF, could restoration of CFTR function in theory contribute to an increase in systemic blood pressure over time? Future study of the longitudinal effects of CFTR modulation will be enlightening and although will likely focus predominantly on pulmonary outcomes, the influence on cardiovascular risk in this context may be important in this ageing CF population.

16 patients (18.8%) had raised CSBP (>140mmHg) using Vicorder[®] analysis, of whom ten were already on anti-hypertensive treatment and thus indicating suboptimal treatment. The

majority of these patients were on ACE inhibition for anti-hypertensive treatment, with a few on calcium channel blockers. It was noted that a number of these patients may have been started on ACE inhibition due to CFRD and microalbuminuria. The majority of patients with pre-existing systemic hypertension (70%) had concurrent hyperlipidaemia and two had a positive family history of cardiovascular disease. Eight hypertensive patients had exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, nine had CFRD and four had a history of renal dysfunction. A number of new hypertension diagnoses in our older CF cohort highlights the importance of close attention to blood pressure recording during routine clinical review and the early implementation of treatment. One must be mindful of 'white coat hypertension', with perhaps increased utility of ambulatory blood pressure monitoring, alongside the possibility of secondary causes of hypertension, particularly in an older CF population at risk of renovascular disease and diabetic nephropathy.

4.5.5 Arterial stiffness

Central arterial stiffening has been found to be independently related to the development of cardiovascular disease(372). Reduced aortic compliance may be associated with subclinical arterial disease and premature vascular ageing(373). Although a reduction in aortic distensibility is an ageing phenomenon, diabetes mellitus, CKD and chronic inflammatory conditions can accelerate this process, causing premature cardiovascular disease. The systemic inflammatory burden and high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, and a high prevalence of CFRD, may influence arterial stiffening in older CF adults.

In our study cohort, a large proportion of patients (44.7%) were found to have a high Alx (>25%), however a smaller proportion (7.1%) had raised PWV (>11m/s). The most pertinent finding was that of an increased risk of raised Alx in our older CF cohort compared to a comparative CKD population (OR 2.95, 95%CI 1.03-8.45, p=0.045), when adjusted for BMI. This is an important result, given that the CKD population has inherent cardiovascular risk and increased arterial stiffness as compared to the general population(147).

Interestingly, there was an inverse relationship between CFRD and arterial stiffness in our cohort, with higher PWV and Alx measurements seen in the non-CFRD cohort. Hull and colleagues studied a younger CF cohort (mean age 28.2±8.2 years) observing patients to have higher Alx than controls, independent of blood pressure, and the risk increasing with the presence of CFRD(227). There was no difference in PWV however, which is a more

reliable marker of arterial stiffness at older ages. In 2011, Buehler and colleagues did not observe increased arterial stiffness in CF children with CFRD(226), perhaps indicating the importance of duration of hyperglycaemia in CF vascular dynamics.

There was no significant relationship between hsCRP and arterial stiffness in our older CF cohort. This is in contrast to Hull et al (2009) who observed higher AIx with increasing log₁₀CRP in a younger CF cohort(227). This difference could reflect the differences in reliability in AIx measurements with advancing age.

Other markers of disease severity, as measured by ppFEV₁, BMI and exocrine pancreatic insufficiency similarly did not seem to influence PWV and AIx in the study group. Interestingly, the absence of chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection appeared to be related to raised PWV (>11 m/s); p=0.029, and raised AIx (25%); p=0.037. This result could represent the spectrum of disease genotype and phenotype in an older CF cohort and the influence of residual CFTR function on cardiovascular risk. Alternatively, this could simply portray the dominance of non-CFTR related influence on cardiovascular risk in this population. The presence of chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection is significantly related to raised hsCRP in our cohort (p=0.001) and the absence of correlation between these factors and the presence of arterial stiffness is unexpected. This indicates that other CFTR or non-CFTR related factors are influencing arterial stiffness and cardiovascular risk in this older CF population.

Measuring arterial stiffness in clinical practice is a non-invasive technique that may add weight to the assessment of cardiovascular risk in an older CF population. Although its widespread use in routine clinical care may not be feasible due to equipment availability and time constraints, its use in select 'high risk' patients may be useful in providing a more comprehensive cardiovascular assessment. It should be noted that the use of applanation tonometry with the Vicorder[®] (Skidmore Medical) method provides a global measure of arterial stiffness and is subject to a degree of error, particularly in measuring carotidfemoral path length and the importance of this in calculation of PWV. More focal (and hence more accurate) methods may include ultrasound techniques to measure carotid intima-medial thickness (IMT) and cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMR) to assess aortic distensibility(374). These would be interesting areas for further study in long term CF survivors exhibiting cardiovascular risk.

Strategies for reducing arterial wall stiffness and modifying cardiovascular risk have been studied but thus far have not been implemented in clinical practice within the general population. The use of anti-inflammatory medication to modify cardiovascular morbidity in patients with ESRD has been limited due to their negative effects on renal function(375). Research surrounding the benefits of anti-inflammatory medication in CFTR-mediated chronic lung inflammation in CF is promising(376)(377) and this may become more relevant in terms of arterial stiffness and modifying cardiovascular risk in an ageing CF population. The pleiotropic effects of macrolide antimicrobials have been shown to reduce systemic inflammatory response in CF and reduce pulmonary exacerbation rate(78)(378). Could these agents have the additional benefit of modifying arterial stiffness in CF? The use of macrolides and their relationship to systemic inflammation was not specifically studied in this work, however future research in this area would be informative.

46.4% of patients had a raised baseline hsCRP, however no significant relationship was found between log₁₀CRP and Alx or PWV. A study analysing the effect of intravenous antibiotics on large artery haemodynamics in a small CF cohort during pulmonary exacerbation revealed a statistically significant lowering of Alx (but not PWV) and hsCRP at the end of the IV course, most prominent in those with severe pulmonary disease. Although this does not prove causal relationship, there is some evidence that reduction in systemic inflammation may improve arterial stiffness in the short term(225).

14.1% of our cohort were on ACE inhibition as treatment for systemic hypertension and/or microalbuminuria. The use of ACE inhibitors in ESRD cohorts has observed an improvement in aortic distensibility, a reduction in PWV and a decrease in cardiovascular mortality, independent of their antihypertensive effects(379). ACE inhibitors are widely used for the treatment of both systemic hypertension and diabetic nephropathy in the general population and may be very relevant in the treatment of these comorbidities in our older CF population. Renal consequences of ageing in CF will be discussed in detail in subsequent chapters.

Anti-TNF therapy has been shown to reduce both Alx and PWV in RA(343). Could these antiinflammatory therapies be transferrable to high levels of systemic inflammation in CF patients, particularly in those suffering from inflammatory arthropathies as a consequence of CFTR dysfunction?

Immunomodulatory properties of statins have been observed with reduction in cough and neutrophilic inflammation in non-CF bronchiectasis(380). Van Doornum and colleagues have shown a reduction in arterial stiffness (measured by AIx) with atorvastatin treatment in RA patients in addition to their cholesterol lowering properties(381). These properties could be relevant in the CF population, particularly in those requiring lipid lowering treatment. However, with most patients on chronic macrolide therapy, drug-drug interactions must be carefully considered prior to the implementation of long term statin therapy.

In the short term, inflammatory burden in CF can be modified with the potential to reduce arterial stiffness parameters, however its translation into longer-term alteration of vascular dynamics and cardiovascular risk in CF is unknown. Studies of potential 'de-stiffening' strategies with regards to cardiovascular risk reduction in the general population will continue to inform, however the transferrable advantages of arterial stiffness analysis in the CF population, particularly given the rarity of macrovascular disease as a whole in CF, is debatable. Further studies regarding cardiovascular burden in CF are required.

4.5.6 CKD comparison

Chronic kidney disease and end stage renal disease represent population cohorts with increased arterial stiffness and premature cardiovascular disease. Given the postulation that CF cohorts may have enhanced arterial stiffness due to high inflammatory burden, a CKD cohort was compared to our older CF group for interest.

As expected, mean eGFR was significantly higher in the CF group; 89.9±12 vs 57.4±10.7 ml/min/1.73m². A higher prevalence of arterial stiffness, as measured by Alx, was observed in our older CF cohort compared to the CKD cohort, 52% vs 29%; OR 2.95 (95% CI 1.03-8,45, p=0.045). There was no associated significant difference in CSBP or PWV between groups.

Raised Alx in our CF group is a significant finding. This data would support the risk of premature vascular ageing in an older CF population, particularly when compared to a CKD group, arguably a population with inherent cardiovascular risk. Further arterial stiffness data in larger ageing CF cohorts will be informative. As CF patients age, renal disease will become more prevalent. A study has shown the prevalence of CKD to be around 2% in an adult CF population(382). An ageing kidney in CF will certainly influence the development of CKD, as seen in the general population, however recurrent use of nephrotoxic medication, organ transplantation, CFRD and nephrolithiasis may all increase the prevalence of renal disease in CF as survival continues to improve. In turn, this is likely to contribute to cardiovascular morbidity and mortality, whether related to premature arterial stiffening or to the development other cardiovascular risk factors.

4.5.7 QRisk[®] scores

QRisk[®] scoring, as used for cardiovascular risk stratification in the general population, is challenging in its application to CF given the lack of CFRD classification into T1DM and T2DM entities. As more CF patients reach longer term survival in CF, cardiovascular risk scoring should logically become more relevant to their clinical care.

34.9% of patients had a QRisk[®] score (of any category) of ≥10%. QRisk[®]3 scores of any diabetic classification increased with advancing age and, given that ageing is a significant contributor to the development of cardiovascular disease, this is in keeping with trends seen in the general population. The only use of cardiovascular risk calculation in CF is by Perrin and colleagues, reporting a modified Framingham cardiovascular risk score of <10% in a CF patient with a diagnosis of non-ST elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI)(289). The application of cardiovascular risk scoring in CF is difficult and the use of clinical judgement alongside cardiovascular risk prediction is essential.

Mean QRisk[®]3 scores were significantly lower than QRisk[®]2 (p<0.001). Lower QRisk[®]3 scores were seen whether CFRD was classified as T1DM or T2DM, and this was a consistent finding in all participants. QRisk[®]3, superseding QRisk[®]2, is thought to be a more accurate predictor of 10-year cardiovascular risk in the general population. However, our study observed similar raised QRisk[®] prevalence with both scoring systems; QRisk[®]3 \geq 10%=31.3% vs QRisk[®]2 \geq 10%=33.7%, with good correlation between models. It is worth noting that other online cardiovascular risk models exist, such as the Joint British Societies for the Prevention of cardiovascular disease tool (JBS3), developed in 2014 as a derivative of QRisk[®]2 and found to have greater accuracy than its predecessor(383). This model has less

input parameters than the later developed QRisk[®]3, however does give a 'heart age.' QRisk[®]3 is currently recommend for use by NICE for assessment of cardiovascular risk(108).

There was no significant relationship between disease severity (defined by ppFEV₁, BMI and exocrine pancreatic status) and QRisk[®]3 score. Interestingly, higher overall QRisk[®]3 scores were seen in the non-severe CFTR mutation class. The difference in QRisk[®]3 scores when classed as T1DM or T2DM were statistically significant, indicating the importance of diabetic classification in QRisk[®] scoring. A higher mean PWV was observed in patients with QRisk[®] ≥10% than those <10% (9.39 vs 8.37 m/s, p=0.002). These results show the importance of CFRD classification in QRisk[®] scoring, the discrepancies between the two scoring systems and the potential issues with using this cardiovascular risk score in CF. Would a CF-specific cardiovascular score therefore be a useful addition to clinical practice for older CF patients? Since QRisk[®]3 scores are higher with CFRD classed as T1DM and most CF diabetics use insulin therapy, it may be logical to use this diabetic phenotype in CF cardiovascular risk scoring.

There was no significant association between hsCRP and QRisk[®] scores in our older CF cohort. The predictive risk of raised hsCRP in the context of cardiovascular disease has been extensively studied in the general population. Systemic inflammation plays a major role in atherogenesis and the development of cardiovascular disease(384). A metanalysis by Lagrand and colleagues (1999) concluded hsCRP of >3mg/L to be independently associated with cardiovascular risk(385). The EURIKA trial (2014) observed raised hsCRP in a large proportion of non-diabetics with at least one other cardiovascular risk factor(386). Johns and colleagues (2018) proved hsCRP to be helpful in cardiovascular risk stratification in low risk individuals, i.e. in the absence of diabetes mellitus and hyperlipidaemia, observing the majority of those with risk scores of <10% (as defined by JBS3 and QRisk[®]2) had elevated hsCRP levels(383). The JUPITER study (2008) assessed the pleiotropic use of rosuvastatin as both a lipid lowering agent and an inflammatory modulator, in non-diabetics without hyperlipidaemia but with raised hsCRP, observing reduced cardiovascular events(387). As a population with a high prevalence of systemic inflammation (46.4% with hsCRP>5mg/L), we may have expected to see the presence of heightened cardiovascular risk in our cohort despite absence of other conventional risk factors. The lack of correlation between raised

QRisk[®]3 scores and raised baseline hsCRP in our study may confer that risk factors other than raised hsCRP may have a greater influence on cardiovascular risk in long term CF survivors.

Notably, one of the late diagnosis patients in this cohort had a history of CVA preceding his CF diagnosis and, as such, was excluded from QRisk[®] analysis. 11.8% of our older CF cohort were identified as having a significant family history of cardiovascular disease, a factor of great importance in the development of premature cardiovascular disease. The inclusion of postcode in QRisk[®] scoring allows the influence of social deprivation and health inequality to be analysed in cardiovascular risk, strong predictors of the development of premature cardiovascular disease in the general population(388). Similar socio-economic inequality and adverse health consequences are evident in the CF population. Schechter and colleagues have shown increased morbidity and mortality in CF children of lower socioeconomic status in the US(389). Socioeconomic divide in CF will inevitably influencing cardiovascular risk with age. Detailed socioeconomic analysis was not within the remit of this study, however the socioeconomic impact on CF survival would be an interesting topic for further research.

Khot and colleagues report up to 20% of a large cohort with established coronary artery disease to have no conventional cardiovascular risk factors (390) and hence we may be missing opportunities for primary prevention using predictive risk scoring. Improving the reliability of cardiovascular risk prediction must be prioritised in order to reduce cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in the general population, disease that accounts for the majority of all-cause mortality worldwide(391). Individualising cardiovascular risk prediction to specific disease cohorts would be extremely challenging, particularly in rarer disease groups such as CF. However, we must recognise emerging cardiovascular risk in some of these groups as a result of improving survival but also from inherent diseaserelated factors. This may be particularly relevant in chronic respiratory disease. The association between chronic airflow limitation and enhanced cardiovascular risk is wellestablished, and cardiovascular disease is a leading cause of mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)(392). A study by Thillai et al analysed QRisk[®]2 scoring in a population with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, observing that over 60% of patients had a score of >20% and were at high cardiovascular risk, requiring primary preventative treatment(352). Saleh and colleagues observed a heightened cardiovascular risk in a

bronchiectasis population, with potential underestimation of this risk when using QRisk[®]2(393). These studies highlight the need for cardiovascular awareness in chronic respiratory illness and the observed elevation in cardiovascular risk in chronic respiratory cohorts may call for the consideration of respiratory-specific risk prediction tools to enhance reliability in higher risk groups. Larger studies will be required to assess any meaningful trends in causation of cardiovascular risk in an older CF population.

The management of CF patients with raised QRisk[®] scores should follow national guidelines(108), starting with lifestyle modifications and then consideration of appropriate primary preventative lipid-lowering therapy. Lifestyle modification in some CF patients may be challenging due to the requirements of higher fat diets in exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, the limitations of exercise with advanced pulmonary disease and the effect of CFTR modulation on BMI. It may still be appropriate to consider a cardioprotective diet in CF patients with a high QRisk[®] score, CFRD should be optimised and systemic hypertension treated effectively. In current guidance, NICE recommends statin therapy in all type one diabetic patients above 40 years of age, particularly in those with diabetic nephropathy or with other cardiovascular risk factors, all of which may have relevance in older CF patients. Statin treatment may be challenging in CF patients established on long term azithromycin due to drug-drug interactions and adverse effects.

Lack of cardiovascular risk stratification in CF may mean failure to identify those at higher risk of cardiovascular disease. QRisk[®]3 scoring provides an important prediction tool for cardiovascular disease and could provide an opportunity to establish primary cardiovascular prevention in ageing CF population. Since QRisk[®] scores are higher with CFRD classed as T1DM and most CF diabetics use insulin therapy, it may be logical to use this diabetic phenotype in CF cardiovascular risk scoring. Classification of CFRD in QRisk[®]3 scoring may have a significant influence on risk stratification for CF patients and warrants further contemplation.

Interestingly, Skolnik and colleagues (2016) performed coronary angiography on 14 CF patients over 40 years of age with advanced pulmonary disease, showing no evidence of established atherosclerosis(222). This may represent a 'lag' in the development of quantitative cardiovascular disease in an older CF population with identifiable risk factors

and highlights the importance of ongoing assessment in this cohort as survival continues to improve.

4.6 Limitations

A number of limitations to this study should be recognised. This is an observational, cross sectional study limited predominantly to descriptive data analysis, thus limiting reliability of conclusions made. Longitudinal data of cardiovascular risk factors over time would provide more informative analysis and conclusions.

Although arterial stiffness has been shown to correlate with cardiovascular risk and recommended cut-off values for 'normal' arterial stiffness exist(151)(149), the lack of consistent normative reference ranges for PWV and Alx according to age and systolic blood pressure limits their use in routine clinical practice. The use of applanation tonometry (using the Vicorder[®]) is a global measure of arterial stiffness and is subject to a degree of error, particularly when measuring carotid-femoral path length. There is also a lack of standardisation of these techniques in the clinical setting(373). More focal (and hence likely more accurate) methods include carotid ultrasound techniques and CMR imaging. The usefulness of these methods in the determination of arterial stiffness in CF is unknown.

The study of CF cohorts in general, but particularly those aged 40 years and above, is associated with the inevitability of small sample sizes. Larger sample sizes are needed to increase the reliability and accuracy of data analysis, and when attributing conclusions to the CF population as a whole. Larger studies may be able to define subsets of CF patients at higher cardiovascular risk, such as those with CFRD, exocrine pancreatic sufficiency and higher BMI.

The classification of CFRD is challenging and there may be some patients included in the non-CFRD group with a degree of impaired fasting glycaemia, affecting between-group analyses. QRisk[®]3 is yet to be universally adopted by primary care for cardiovascular risk stratification and as such QRisk[®]2 is more widely used. It would seem logical that QRisk[®]3 would provide more accurate cardiovascular risk estimates, however the lack of CF-specific cardiovascular risk score limits its application in CF patients.

A proportion of patients were already established on lipid-lowering and anti-hypertensive treatment. Some patients may have had a multi-factorial indication for ACE inhibition, limiting interpretation of results.

A more in depth analysis of cardiovascular risk and appropriate scoring models would be helpful to expand knowledge on risk prediction in CF. The effects of chronic CF therapies, such as macrolide antimicrobials, the use of ACE inhibition and the study of statin therapy in older CF populations would be insightful, to determine their effects on vascular modification, reduction in systemic inflammatory burden and influence on cardiovascular risk reduction. An increasing availability of CFTR modulation may also influence cardiovascular risk in ageing CF patients, and further study in this area would also be informative.

4.7 Conclusion

Our study demonstrates the relevance of cardiovascular risk assessment in CF patients achieving longer term survival. Although the prevalence of hypercholesterolaemia in CF is less than the UK population in general, over one third of our cohort had QRisk[®] scores of ≥10%. Systemic hypertension and increased arterial stiffness were also seen in our study population. Cardiovascular disease will become more prevalent in an ageing CF population and CFTR modulation may affect cardiovascular risk in CF with disease longevity. An increasing prevalence of CFRD with age will further contribute to cardiovascular and renal disease in this cohort.

The balance of CFTR-related and non-CFTR related factors in CF cardiovascular risk cannot be confidently quantified, but likely both influence the development of cardiovascular disease in CF patients as they age. Areas for future research as survival in CF continues to improve must include assessment of cardiovascular risk, with appropriate and timely implementation of primary preventative therapy, and the study of ageing complications in other organ systems such as the kidney. The development of research in the older CF population is essential in order to optimise management and reduce comorbidity in an already complex and challenging, chronic multisystem disease.

4.8 Recommendations

Based on study findings;

- Consider cardiovascular risk assessment for all CF patients aged 40 years and above, using QRisk[®]3 and classifying CFRD as T1DM where appropriate.
- 2. Those identified as 'at risk' and with QRisk®3 scores of above 10% should receive lifestyle modification advice and/or initiate primary preventative lipid lowering therapy, with concurrent diagnosis and treatment of other cardiovascular risk factors. Patients with scores of >20% should commence primary prevention therapy. Cardiovascular risk management and follow-up should adhere to national guidelines.
- 3. Subsets of patients with exocrine pancreatic sufficiency and CFRD may require more regular assessment of cardiovascular risk.

The Complexities of Ageing in Cystic Fibrosis

5.0 Chapter 5: The kidney in an older cystic fibrosis cohort

5.1 Abstract

5.1.1 Introduction

Primary renal disease in cystic fibrosis (CF) is rare, however secondary renal dysfunction may become apparent with increasing survival due to the emergence of age-related comorbidities such as CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD), systemic hypertension, nephrolithiasis and cardiovascular disease. Inaccuracies in estimations of renal function using creatinine-based glomerular filtration rate (GFR) methods are evident in CF and will have implications for monitoring renal decline, dosing nephrotoxic medication and quantifying cardiovascular risk in an ageing CF population. This study aims to explore renal function and reliability of estimated GFR in an older CF cohort.

5.1.2 Methods

A total of 85 CF patients aged 40 years and above attending MACFC were recruited between August 2018 and August 2020. Prospective sampling for serum creatinine, serum cystatin C, urine albumin-creatinine ratio (ACR) and 24-hour urinary creatinine clearance was performed during periods of clinical stability. Intravenous (IV) aminoglycoside days were calculated for each patient over the preceding ten-year period. The prevalence of CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD) and systemic hypertension within the cohort were also determined. Estimated GFR (eGFR) was calculated using MDRD and CKD-EPI equations. A subgroup underwent iohexol clearance 'measured' GFR (mGFR), using a three-point, one compartment protocol. Estimated GFR methods were compared to iohexol GFR to determine their accuracy in this population.

5.1.3 Results

This older CF cohort was phenotypically diverse; mean ppFEV₁ 52.9(±23.3)%, the prevalence of severe CFTR mutations was 72.9%, exocrine pancreatic insufficiency 83.5%, CFRD 49.4% and systemic hypertension 18.8%. Mean serum creatinine and cystatin C; 70.7(±16.4) μ mol/L and 0.93(±0.17) mg/L respectively (normal range cystatin C; <1.2 mg/L if <50 years, <1.55mg/L if >50 years). 16.9% had raised urine ACR. Estimated GFR range was 40-154 ml/min/1.73m² and an eGFR of <90 ml/min/1.73m² was seen in up to 47%, depending on the method used. 3.6% had an eGFR of <60 ml/min/1.73m² and a diagnosis of CKD stage 3. There was a positive correlation between IV aminoglycoside days and serum cystatin C; r=0.327, p=0.003. Patients with systemic hypertension were more likely to have eGFR <90 ml/min/1.73m²; p=0.014. The risk of eGFR <90 ml/min/1.73m² was not significantly higher in the CFRD group; OR 1.2 (95% CI 0.48-2.7), p=0.756. Mean iohexol GFR of the subgroup was well preserved at 116.1(±20.1) ml/min/1.73m². Estimated GFR methods using both serum creatinine and cystatin C underestimated GFR significantly in this population. However, using iohexol mGFR as gold standard, CKD-EPIcreat and CKD-EPIcysC+creat were the most accurate with 77.8% of values within 30% (P30) of measured GFR.

5.1.4 Conclusion

Renal dysfunction is prevalent in this older CF group and increases with age. Intravenous aminoglycoside exposure, systemic hypertension and CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD) are related to lower eGFR. A higher burden of IV aminoglycoside days is associated with higher serum cystatin C in this cohort. Estimated GFR using serum creatinine and cystatin C is inaccurate in this population, underestimating measured iohexol GFR. Serum cystatin C may be superior to creatinine in monitoring renal function in older CF patients and its routine use should be considered in an ageing population. Close monitoring of renal function is essential to detect early and progressive renal decline, which will have implications for organ transplantation, nephrotoxic drug dosing and progression of diabetic nephropathy in a population with an emerging cardiovascular risk.

5.2 Introduction

Abnormal CFTR protein in cystic fibrosis (CF) causes disruption of anion movement across epithelial cell membranes, resulting in the accumulation of viscid secretions in multiple CFTR-expressing organ tissues. Although pulmonary disease dominates this pathological process, the effects of abnormal CFTR on other organ systems are varied and reflect the complex interplay between genotype and disease phenotype.

5.2.1 Renal disease in CF

Despite inherent CFTR-related risk factors for renal disease, primary renal pathology in CF remains relatively uncommon. However, improving survival has led to an increasing awareness of the development of ageing comorbidities and the development of secondary renal disease. It is estimated that around 2% of the US CF population are living with moderate to severe renal impairment(220), and this risk increases with age. CFTR protein is present in renal tubular cells and, although its exact influence on the kidney is unknown, several CFTR-related factors may influence the development of renal disease in CF.

5.2.1.1 Nephrolithiasis

Disruption of electrolyte homeostasis, salt depletion and recurrent antimicrobial exposure are attributed to a high prevalence of nephrolithiasis in CF patients. Dysregulation of renal calcium metabolism in CF contributes to hypercalciuria and nephrocalcinosis(394). The absence of oxalate-degrading *Oxalobacter formigenes* bacteria in the gut flora of CF patients, secondary to malabsorption and exacerbated by recurrent antimicrobial use, leads to reduced oxalate absorption, hyperoxaluria and a predisposition for renal stones(395). Nephrolithiasis is more prevalent with age in CF and recurrent renal tract stones may lead to gradual destruction of renal parenchyma and chronic kidney disease (CKD)(69).

5.2.1.2 IgA nephropathy and secondary amyloidosis in CF

As in the general population, IgA nephropathy is the commonest glomerulonephropathy seen in CF patients(396). The prevalence, however, remains rare and only described in case reports(397)(398). High levels of systemic inflammation in CF can cause immunoglobulin deposition in the kidney, which can lead to IgA nephropathy and associated progressive renal decline(397). Other glomerular disease has been reported in CF, including post-infective glomerulonephropathy, focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, minimal change

disease and diabetic nephropathy(398). Chronic inflammation may also contribute to the development of secondary AA amyloidosis in CF and Gaffney et al report two cases of nephrotic syndrome secondary to renal amyloid(399). Systemic amyloidosis and multi-organ amyloid deposits are increasingly being reported in CF autopsy specimens(400)(401)(402). Subclinical, asymptomatic amyloidosis in CF may be more common than first thought and its presence may be related to increasing survival.

5.2.1.3 Pulmonary sepsis and acute kidney injury

Pulmonary sepsis is often accompanied by acute renal impairment and evidence of multiorgan involvement is an important marker for prognosis(403). Recurrent renal insult in relation to systemic infection during CF pulmonary exacerbation, aggravated by intravenous aminoglycoside exposure, may influence longer term renal recovery and contribute to chronic renal impairment over time. At times of clinical instability, CF patients will also be at risk of dehydration from salt depletion and gastrointestinal disturbance, compounding short term renal impairment. Frequent exposure to nephrotoxic medication such as aminoglycosides, non-steroidal anti-inflammatories (NSAIDs), and long term immunosuppressant therapy may impact renal function, causing both acute and chronic renal tubular damage(404).

5.2.1.4 CF-related diabetes mellitus

An increasing prevalence of CFRD with age will also have a significant influence on the development of renal dysfunction. Longevity of hyperglycaemia will contribute to microvascular complications and renal protein loss, and CFRD may also influence the development of hypertension and renovascular disease. The presence of diabetes mellitus also increases the rate of nephron degeneration that occurs as a result of ageing(405).

5.2.1.5 Ageing and renal disease in CF

In the general population, around 20% of renal volume is lost between 50 and 80 years of age. Arteriosclerosis, renal tubular atrophy, glomerular degeneration and nephron loss are all part of the inevitable renal ageing process. Glomerular filtration rate peaks at 30 years of age and subsequently declines with advancing age(406). An ageing kidney in CF may also contribute to renal decline as survival continues to improve. Given that CKD and end stage renal disease (ESRD) are associated with enhanced cardiovascular risk in the general population, an increasing prevalence of renal disease is likely to influence the development

of cardiovascular disease in an older CF population. Accurate monitoring of renal function is essential in CF for early detection of renal disease, adequate management of cardiovascular risk and accurate dosing of nephrotoxic medication. These factors will be of particular importance in the context of lung transplantation, the incidence of which may increase at older ages in longer term CF survivors.

5.2.2 The measurement of GFR

Glomerular filtration rate (GFR) is the most reliable measure of renal function. It can be measured directly by renal clearance of exogenous filtration markers or indirectly via estimations using endogenous serum biomarkers within standardised formulae. Accurate measurements of GFR are important in order to adequately diagnose those with CKD, accurately adjust medications with narrow therapeutic indices and to risk stratify for cardiovascular disease and ESRD.

5.2.2.1 Measured GFR (mGFR)

The gold standard for measuring GFR is through clearance of an 'ideal' filtration marker such as inulin, iohexol or iothalamate(261). These exogenous compounds are exclusively filtered and excreted by the kidneys and, as such, determination of GFR using these methods would result in a direct and accurate measure of renal function, otherwise referred to as 'measured GFR' (mGFR). GFR assessment of renal inulin clearance necessitates continuous intravenous infusion and subsequent multiple timed sampling of urine and serum, making this technique impractical in a routine clinical setting. Although the use of radioisotope mGFR methods, including iothalamate, ⁵¹⁻chromium EDTA and ^{99m}TC-DTPA require only an initial bolus injection and have good method correlation to inulin, the challenges of handling and disposing of radioactive materials in a clinical environment limits their use. In addition, inulin and isotope clearance methods require sampling to be performed over an increasing time interval with declining GFR, such that those with advanced CKD may require samples up to 24 hours after initial infusion to assess the terminal elimination phase and accurate GFR. This obviates clinical implementation.

Iohexol GFR has been shown to correlate highly with both radioisotope and inulin GFR(407)(408). Iohexol may be the most suitable alternative to inulin given its exclusive renal excretion and more practical administration method. Only a single injection of iohexol is required, plasma clearance measurements are preferred over urine and single sample

protocols have been developed(409). Iohexol mGFR has been shown to be a superior measure of renal function and show inaccuracy of creatinine-based estimated GFR calculations in CKD and diabetic populations(410)(411)(412) (see table 5.1, end of chapter 5). However, the logistics of iohexol GFR determination, including the necessity for sampling over a number of hours, currently limits its utilisation outside of research and transplant settings.

5.2.2.2 Estimated GFR (eGFR)

In routine clinical practice, GFR is calculated using endogenous biomarkers, giving rapid estimates of renal function. The most commonly used endogenous biomarker is creatinine. Creatinine is an amino acid and is a product of creatine breakdown in muscle. It is produced at a fairly constant rate, excreted via glomerular filtration, with minimal tubular reabsorption, and can be measured in both serum and urine. Creatinine-based eGFR calculations are the most commonly used and widely available assays, informing the majority of current diagnostic renal guidelines(259). Creatinine-based eGFR is cost-effective and preferred to the 'gold standard,' more time-consuming method of isotope or iohexol clearance mGFR in the standard clinical setting.

5.2.2.3 Inaccuracies in estimated GFR

In most cases, estimated GFR is sufficient to make optimal clinical decisions. However, in certain patient populations eGFR may be inaccurate and measured GFR is thus essential for optimal management. There are a number of significant limitations when using creatinine as an estimate of renal function. Creatinine levels will vary depending on the rate of metabolism within muscles and the degree of proximal renal tubular secretion(413). Factors affecting these variables include muscle mass, age, gender and ethnicity. This results in different 'normal' values between patient groups and must be considered when interpreting results. Patients with chronic disease may have reduced muscle mass and lower serum creatinine between patient groups and laboratory reference ranges, there may be a discrepancy between paired eGFR and creatinine levels. A significant decline in eGFR may be seen prior to creatinine reaching abnormal levels and creatine-based eGFR gives no information regarding renal reserve in patients with a normal creatinine(414). Creatinine-

based eGFR may also be inaccurate in non-steady clinical states, such as acute kidney injury, often underestimating the degree of renal dysfunction in this context(415).

5.2.2.4 Cystatin C

The inaccuracies of creatinine-based eGFR in certain patient groups has led to the development of eGFR calculations using other endogenous biomarkers. Cystatin C is a protease inhibitor present in all nucleated cells, filtered by the glomerulus and then reabsorbed by renal tubular epithelial cells(185). Only minimal amounts are excreted in the urine and thus serum levels are the most reliable clinical measure. The concentration of cystatin C within the blood rises in response to declining renal function. A serum Cystatin C level of <1.20mg/L is normal for patients <50 years, and <1.55mg/L normal for patients \geq 50 years(416). Serum cystatin C levels in health remain fairly constant and, in contrast to creatinine, vary less with body mass, age and gender(417). Studies have shown serum cystatin C to better predict GFR than serum creatinine(418) and, when compared to iohexol GFR, the addition of cystatin C has shown superiority over creatinine-only calculations in measuring eGFR in patients with lower baseline GFR(419). The use of cystatin C eGFR may be more reliable than creatinine clearance in diabetic populations and in the early detection of renal impairment in the presence of normal serum creatinine(237). Cystatin C estimations of GFR have also been shown to be more accurate in monitoring graft function following renal transplantation(420)(421).

High metabolic demands, malabsorption and chronic inflammation in CF contribute to low muscle mass and the resulting inaccuracies in creatinine-based eGFR may underestimate the degree of renal impairment in CF patients. More robust methods of GFR monitoring in these patients therefore need to be considered. Beringer and colleagues showed cystatin C clearance to be a more accurate measure of GFR in CF patients, compared to both serum creatinine eGFR and urinary creatinine clearance, using iothalamate as the gold standard(189). Halacova and colleagues observed cystatin C to be a more accurate measure of eGFR in CF patients receiving intravenous amikacin(236). In addition, cystatin C may be a more reliable predictor of cardiovascular risk than creatinine in a CKD population(422) which, based on our results from preceding chapters, may have implications for an ageing CF cohort. Accurate GFR measurements in the CF population are important for both optimal medication dosing and early detection of renal disease. This will be particularly relevant for transplant recipients on long term immunosuppressive agents, in whom progressive renal decline is commonly seen. A deficiency in availability of laboratory assays and higher costs have limited routine clinical use of cystatin C methods thus far in populations where creatinine based eGFR may less inaccurate.

5.2.2.5 Equations to estimate of GFR

The following formulae are most commonly utilised in clinical practice and were chosen as eGFR comparators to iohexol mGFR in this study;

a. The MDRD equation (1999):

GFR = 175 x (Standardized S_{Cr})^{-1.154} x (age)^{-0.203} x (0.742 if female) x (1.210 if African American) (ml/min/1.73m²). {S_{cr}-serum creatinine}

The most recent version of MDRD is adjusted for body surface area (BSA) along with age, gender and ethnicity, thus is thought to be more accurate than the preceding Cockroft-Gault formula (CG)(180). The MDRD equation was developed using data from patients with chronic renal disease and thus may underestimate GFR in healthy populations. Notably, equations to measure eGFR from serum creatinine seem to be less accurate for eGFR levels of over 60 ml/min/1.73m²(175). The relationship between GFR and creatinine is disproportionate and a much greater decline in eGFR will be seen for a similar decline in creatinine for patients with better preserved renal function than those without(182).

b. Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration - CKD-EPI:

The Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) have been recognised in KDIGO guidelines since 2012(259). They are recently being used in preference to MDRD in calculating eGFR in routine clinical practice. CKD-EPI calculations have three forms to include a creatinine-based equation, a cystatin C-based equation and a combination of the two. All adjust for the same four variables as in MDRD calculations. The CKD-EPI creatinine and the CKD-EPI creatinine-cystatin C calculations have been shown to have improved reliability when compared with MDRD, particularly in the elderly and those in higher GFR ranges(183)(184).

i. CKD-EPI creatinine (2009):

eGFR = 141 x min(SCr/ κ , 1)^{α} x max(SCr / κ , 1)^{-1.209} x 0.993^{Age} x 1.018 [if female] x 1.159 [if Black] { κ = 0.7 (females) or 0.9 (males), α = -0.329 (females) or -0.411 (males), min = indicates the minimum of SCr/ κ or 1, max = indicates the maximum of SCr/ κ or 1}.

ii. CKD-EPI cystatin C (2012):

eGFR = $133 \times \min(Scys/0.8, 1)^{-0.499} \times \max(Scys/0.8, 1)^{-1.328} \times 0.996^{Age} \times 0.932$ [if female]

{Scys (standardized serum cystatin C) = mg/l, min = indicates the minimum of Scys/0.8 or 1, max = indicates the maximum of Scys/0.8 or 1}.

iii. CKD-EPI cystatin C creatinine (2012):

eGFR = $135 \times \min(S_{Cr}/\kappa, 1)^{\alpha} \times \max(S_{Cr}/\kappa, 1)^{-0.601} \times \min(S_{cys}/0.8, 1)^{-0.375} \times \max(S_{cys}/0.8, 1)^{-0.711} \times 0.995^{Age} \times 0.969$ [if female] × 1.08 [if black] { $\alpha = -0.248$ (females) or -0.207 (males)}.

5.2.2.6 Urinary creatinine clearance

The measurement of urinary creatinine excretion over a prolonged period may be a more accurate marker of GFR in populations with nutritional impairment and fluctuating clinical stability in chronic disease. Historically, urinary creatinine clearance has been considered the 'gold standard' for more accurate GFR measurements when compared to serum creatinine eGFR. However, this technique is limited by patient compliance and accurate timing of collection. Since creatinine is secreted by the renal tubules, GFR is often overestimated, particularly in patients with CKD. For these reasons, the measurement of GFR from urine creatinine clearance has largely been replaced by the above serum creatinine eGFR formulas. Decline in urinary creatinine clearance remains useful in CKD patients as a prediction tool for renal decline and mortality(190).

5.2.3 Proteinuria

Renal protein loss is a sensitive marker of disease progression in CKD. However, patients with proteinuria (microalbuminuria) in the context of normal renal function are also at risk of both progressive renal damage and cardiovascular disease(423). The most frequently observed proteinuric nephropathy in CF is associated with CFRD, although non-diabetic renal protein loss is seen, albeit less commonly, in glomerular disease such as IgA nephropathy. Albumin creatinine ratios (ACR) are routinely used in clinical practice to detect

microscopic proteinuria, particularly in the diabetic population. ACR monitoring in CF diabetics may provide an opportunity to detect early signs of renal damage and to implement timely treatment. Persistent microalbuminuria is also seen in the non-diabetic CF population(192). This, in addition to the risk of CFRD increasing with age, deems regular ACR monitoring relevant in the ageing non-CFRD population to inform both renal and cardiovascular risk.

5.2.4 Aminoglycosides and renal dysfunction

Advances in CF treatment over recent years have seen the introduction of regular intravenous aminoglycoside use for pulmonary exacerbation, particularly effective in those with chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection. Aminoglycosides (tobramycin, gentamicin and amikacin), although extremely effective bactericidal antimicrobials, have a narrow therapeutic index and are excreted exclusively by the kidneys. Reduced clearance and accumulation of aminoglycosides in the setting of abnormal renal function leads to damage of the proximal tubular cells, which may lead to acute kidney injury (AKI). Close drug level monitoring and dose adjustments can assist to avoid short term aminoglycoside toxicity, however there is evidence to suggest that recurrent exposure may lead to chronic renal damage(86). Since the majority of CF patients will have frequent exposure to aminoglycosides during their lifetime, accurate renal monitoring is essential to minimise the risk of long term renal complications as survival continues to improve. Touw and colleagues observed a good correlation between tobramycin clearance and creatinine clearance in a CF cohort(238). However, Soulsby and colleagues found tobramycin clearance to correlate poorly with ^{99m}TC-DTPA mGFR in CF patients and showed cystatin C based eGFR formulae to be more reliable(424).

5.2.5 Organ transplantation and renal dysfunction

Renal dysfunction is commonly seen following organ transplantation. Ishani and colleagues reported 91% of lung and heart-lung transplant recipients in their study cohort (8% with CF) to have deterioration in renal function at six months and 7.3% developed end stage renal failure requiring haemodialysis(232). This risk of renal failure following lung transplantation is higher in females, those with lower pre-transplant GFR and in diabetic patients(425). Other significant contributory factors include long term immunosuppressive treatment,

particularly calcineurin inhibitors, and new onset post-transplant systemic hypertension, confounded by corticosteroid use and weight gain(426).

Renal assessment is therefore of paramount importance during lung transplant assessment and ⁵¹⁻chromium EDTA GFR is a technique used to obtain accurate GFR in some centres. Measured isotope GFR is also important in renal pre-transplant assessment, for both graft donor and recipient. Despite the high prevalence of renal dysfunction in transplant recipients, isotope GFR is not routinely measured following lung transplantation(426). Improving survival in CF may lead to older ages at lung transplantation. Pre-existing ageing comorbidities and the potential for organ dysfunction post-transplant will thus become important considerations for both transplant and CF multidisciplinary teams.

5.2.6 Glomerular hyperfiltration

Hyperfiltration is defined as a pathological increase in glomerular filtration rate and can occur in disease states such as CKD, diabetes mellitus and obesity(427). Glomerular hyperfiltration may precede the development of nephropathy in diabetic and hypertensive populations and is associated with more rapid decline in GFR and increased cardiovascular risk in those with CKD(428).

Hyperfiltration has also been observed in CF, postulated to be caused by altered sodium transport within renal tubules secondary to CFTR-related essential fatty acid deficiency(429)(430). Several studies have shown a significantly higher GFR in CF patients compared to healthy controls, particularly when using exogenous methods(429)(424). Hyperfiltration in CF may lead to GFR over-estimation and poor recognition of early renal dysfunction. In addition, hyperfiltration in CF means that larger doses of aminoglycosides are required during pulmonary exacerbations to achieve therapeutic effect(431). Despite normal or raised baseline GFR in CF patients, accurate renal assessment remains essential, particularly as the risk of diabetic nephropathy, systemic hypertension and other cardiovascular risk factors are likely to increase with an ageing CF population.

5.2.7 Iohexol GFR use in the non-CF setting

Iohexol (Omnipaque[®]) is a non-ionic contrast agent used predominantly during computed tomography (CT) scanning and angiography. Iohexol is exclusively excreted by glomerular filtration, with very minimal extra-renal clearance, and is also present in the extracellular

space, allowing for plasma measurement. Iohexol safety has been exhaustively studied showing good tolerability and a lack of adverse events(261). In addition, only small volumes are required for investigative benefit. As a renal clearance marker, iohexol has many advantages over inulin and radioisotope GFR due to stability in clinical environments and ease of administration. Iohexol concentration can be measured in serum, conferring advantage over multiple urine sampling. Although, iohexol is most commonly measured using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)(262), the laboratory at our institution was able to provide iohexol analysis using liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS). LC-MS is a more costly and complex analytical process, however has a greater sensitivity and specificity compared to HPLC(260).

Given the variability in non-renal components of eGFR formulae between disease populations, Delanaye and colleagues report that measured GFR is not only the most accurate determinant of CKD progression, renal graft function and dosing of medications with narrow therapeutic indices, it is also the sole suitable method to assess the relationship between renal dysfunction and cardiovascular risk(261). The lack of accuracy of estimated GFR in patients with normal renal function presents a further challenge of GFR monitoring in disease populations outside of a CKD setting, such as CF, who may still confer risk of renal decline and in whom this decline may impact disease morbidity and organ transplantation. The improved accuracy along with the wide availability, low cost and administration advantages of iohexol present this method as a front-runner in mGFR monitoring, particularly in small disease cohorts such as CF.

Once injected into the venous system, iohexol concentration will diminish in the blood over time, allowing plasma clearance (PC) to be measured. This calculation uses the initial iohexol dose (D) divided by the area under the curve (AUC); PC=D/AUC. Iohexol pharmacokinetics involve an initial distribution (fast) phase within extracellular tissues followed by an elimination (slow) phase of renal drug excretion(432).



Time

Figure 5.1: The clearance of iohexol in plasma over time, following intravenous injection; correction equation must be applied in one compartment models (i.e. sampling only in elimination phase)(433).

The accuracy of plasma iohexol clearance depends upon the number and timing of samples. The drug distribution phase is usually completed within two hours. Plasma clearance GFR has historically consisted of a two compartment sampling model to account for both drug distribution and elimination phases. However, the development of a one compartment clearance model, with sampling only in the elimination phase and using the Bröchner-Mortensen equation for two-compartment correction(434), has introduced some simplicity but with equitable clinical reliability. Carrara and colleagues (2018) report a final sample at four hours to be a sufficiently reliable determination of mGFR in patients with normal or mildly impaired renal function(433). However, for patients with lower baseline eGFR, a longer duration of sampling is required to produce accurate GFR. Although both single and multi-sample protocols have been used in iohexol studies to date, an increasing number of sample points reduces sampling error and improves accuracy of non-linear regression GFR analysis. Therefore, in practice multi-sample methods are preferred, particularly in patients with lower GFR.

5.2.8 Iohexol clearance GFR calculation

A one-compartment model generates an iohexol clearance GFR using a slope-intercept linear equation(263). This process is shown below;

- 1. A semi-logarithmic plot of iohexol concentration against time is constructed, allowing calculation of iohexol clearance or "slope-intercept GFR;" Slope-intercept GFR = $k \times lohexol \ dose \ (\mu g)/CO \ (\mu g/mL)$, where k is the slope of the logarithmic plot and the intercept is the concentration of iohexol at time 0 (C₀).
- 2. GFR must be corrected for body surface area (BSA) using the DuBois equation; $BSA = 0.007184 \times height (metres)^{0.725} \times weight (kg)^{0.425}$
- To account for lack of sampling in initial fast distribution phase, iohexol clearance must finally be corrected using the Bröchner-Mortensen (BM) equation(434);
 BSA-adjusted slop-intercept GFR = (0.990778 × GFR) (0.001218 × GFR²). This provides a GFR in ml/min/1.73m².

5.2.9 Iohexol evidence in the non-CF setting

Studies analysing the accuracy of iohexol clearance GFR compared to other filtration markers have spanned the last few decades. In 1995, Gaspari et al first showed iohexol to have equivocal accuracy to inulin for GFR measurements in patients with CKD(407). A follow-up precision study proved iohexol to be an accurate determination of GFR in CKD cohorts of varying severity(408). More recent studies have proven eGFR to be unreliable compared to iohexol GFR in diabetic patients, underestimating renal impairment in this group and particularly those with higher baseline GFR(412)(435). However, iohexol GFR has also been compared to eGFR methods in renal transplant recipients, showing GFR overestimation in this cohort(436). Iohexol GFR has also been used to validate the accuracy of cystatin C eGFR methods in CKD populations(437). A summary of recent iohexol studies is shown in table 5.1 (end of chapter 5).

5.2.10 Measured GFR in CF

There are a handful of studies to date analysing the accuracy of estimated GFR in CF renal monitoring, a summary of which is illustrated in table 5.2 (end of chapter 5). Spino and colleagues (1985) studied isotope GFR, concluding it was an accurate measure of renal function in a CF cohort(438). Beringer and colleagues (2009) were the first group to study cystatin C in CF adults, observing cystatin C eGFR to have superior accuracy to creatininebased eGFR formulae when compared to iothalamate mGFR(189), particularly in those with lower baseline GFR (cut-off value 90ml/min/1.73m²). Tidman and colleagues first validated the use of serum cystatin C in eGFR equations in the CKD population in 2007(437), showing improved accuracy when compared to creatinine, using iohexol as gold standard. The improved reliability of cystatin C based eGFR methods may enable mild renal impairment to be detected at an earlier stage and as such its routine utilisation in the CF population may be advantageous. Several studies have also shown inaccuracies in serum creatinine-based eGFR when compared to urinary creatinine clearance(233)(238).

Novel-Caitin and colleagues have been the only group to study iohexol GFR in CF patients, in the context of advanced lung disease and aminoglycoside exposure. They report consistent overestimation of GFR using CKD-EPI eGFR in this population, particularly in those with abnormal baseline eGFR or previous AKI(235). A recent multicentre study by Wallace and colleagues (2020) shows eGFR equations to be unreliable in a paediatric CF cohort when compared to isotope GFR, highlighting the potential inaccuracies of GFR monitoring in CF patients of all ages(263). To date, the methodology of GFR measurement using exogenous filtration markers in CF is diverse and limited by small sample sizes.

5.2.11 Aims

Review of the current literature highlights some important questions regarding renal monitoring in CF;

- a. What impact does ageing have on renal disease in CF and what are the potential implications with respect to the need for enhanced renal monitoring?
- b. Which eGFR method is the most accurate when compared to mGFR in an older CF population? We aim to compare eGFR values derived from different equations to determine if they show agreement.
- c. Presuming there is little agreement, as shown in previous studies, we aim to see which eGFR method is most accurate when compared to mGFR.
- a. The advantages of mGFR testing in transplant patients has been established but can these benefits be extended to a large proportion of CF patients and should this change clinical practice as CF survival improves?

Our study will attempt to explore some of these issues and is the first to analyse cystatin C based eGFR and iohexol measured GFR as gold standard in a CF cohort aged 40 years and above.

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Outline of study methods

A full description of methodology is outlined in chapter two. In brief, renal biomarkers were obtained from 85 CF patients aged 40 years and above attending MACFC (from a total of 92 eligible patients) including baseline serum creatinine, cystatin C and urine albumincreatinine ratio (ACR). Estimated GFR equations were used to calculate renal function as described above (MDRD, CKD-EPIcreat, CKD-EPIcysC and CKD-EPIcreat+cysC). 24-hour urinary samples for creatinine clearance GFR were also requested from patients.

All measurements were taken during episodes of clinical stability, defined as the absence of pulmonary exacerbation requiring oral or intravenous (IV) antibiotics within the preceding four-week period(279). Total intravenous antibiotic days over the preceding ten-year period were calculated for each patient, each IV course consisting of a dual combination of aminoglycoside (tobramycin) and another agent. Serum high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP) was also measured at baseline. Serum biomarker reference ranges were used as per local trust guidelines; hsCRP <5mg/L, serum creatinine 59-104 µmol/L, serum cystatin C <1.20mg/L (if aged <50years) and <1.50mg/L (if aged ≥50years).

Reduced urinary creatinine clearance was defined as <80ml/min/1.73m²(233). Definitions used to classify chronic kidney disease (CKD) and proteinuria (as measured by ACR) were taken from KDIGO guidelines (2012)(259). For study purposes, GFR of >90 ml/min/1.73m² and ACR <3 mg/mmol were classed as normal. As per guidelines, a GFR of <60 ml/min/1.73m² (G3a, G3b, G4 and G5) was classed as CKD. G1 and G2 were classed as abnormal renal function if there was evidence of proteinuria/albuminuria (and thus renal damage).

GFR category	GFR (ml/min/1.73m ²)	Terms	Previous CKD staging (old system)(439)
G1	>90	Normal or high*	I
			(Kidney disease with normal GFR)
G2	60-89	Mildly decreased*	II
			(Mildly impaired GFR)

G3a	45-59	Mildly to moderately decreased	III (Moderately impaired GFR)
G3b	30-44	Moderately to severely decreased	III (Moderately impaired GFR)
G4	15-29	Severely decreased	IV (Severely impaired GFR)
G5	<15	Kidney failure	V (Kidney failure)

Table 5.3: Categories of CKD according to KDIGO(259).*In the absence of evidence of renal damage, G1 and G2 do not constitute CKD.

Category	Albumin excretion rate (AER) mg/24hr	ACR mg/mmol	Terms
A1	<30	<3	Normal to mildly increased
A2	30-300	3-30	Moderately increased
A3	>300	>30	Severely increased

Table 5.4: Albuminuria categories in CKD according to KDIGO(259). (*ACR=albumin creatinine ratio*).

Iohexol GFR was measured in order to compare eGFR methods to a 'gold standard' mGFR. Simultaneous measurements of serum creatinine and cystatin C were also recorded for accurate eGFR comparison. Exclusion criteria included a history of iodine or intravenous contrast allergy and eGFR of <30 ml/min/1.73m². A recruitment target of 20 patients was set. However, the study was prematurely terminated due to the Covid-19 pandemic and as a result only nine patients have been included in the iohexol study arm thus far.

Iohexol clearance was performed using a standard multi-sample protocol (see appendix 3). Venous blood sampling following iohexol administration was performed (from the contralateral arm) in a four-point sampling protocol at 30, 120, 180 and 240 minutes. Concurrent capillary samples were also taken at each time point using a Mitra device (10
microlitre sample) and a size seven lancet needle at a suitable peripheral site on the index finger.

A 30 minute distribution phase iohexol sample was initially included in the protocol, however these values were not included in final analysis to allow for the use of a one compartment approach.

Plasma iohexol was measured using liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS) and measured GFR was calculated from iohexol plasma clearance over time, using a one compartment model, corrected using the Bröchner-Mortensen factor(434). Iohexol results were compared to a reference method(262)(260), finding only 3.5% variation in results (60 patients compared, MFT assay showed 3.5% positive bias), and hence reducing the chance of laboratory processing error.

The slope-intercept, measured GFR as a derivative of iohexol clearance was calculated from the serial serum iohexol samples using the method below(262)(263);

• The slope-intercept GFR (mL/min) = $k \times lohexol dose (\mu g)/C_0 (\mu g/mL)$.

k = slope of the (neperian) semi-logarithmic plot of plasma iohexol concentration, C_0 is the calculated iohexol concentration at time zero (intercept).

- This value was multiplied by 1.73 and divided by the body surface area (BSA, calculated from the equation: BSA = 0.20247 × height (metres)^{0.725} × weight (kg)^{0.425} (DuBois).
- The BSA-slope intercept GFR value (ml/min/1.73 m²) was corrected by the Bröchner-Mortensen correction factor = (0.990778 × GFR) - (0.001218 × GFR²), producing a measured iohexol GFR value (ml/min/1.73 m²).

Ethical approval was obtained from the Health Research Authority (HRA) and Health and Care Research Wales (HCRW) Ethics committee (reference 19/EM/0067).

5.3.2 Statistical analysis

Renal data were collated and analysed against the general demographics of this cohort, along with analysis of any emerging trends with increasing age using defined age groups; 40-49 years, 50-59 years and ≥60 years. Independent T-test, one-way ANOVA and Pearson correlations were performed to display normally distributed data. Logarithmic transformation was performed prior to analysis of data without normal distribution and results displayed as geometric mean/SD or back-transformed mean/CI as applicable. For data without normal distribution on logarithmic transformation, non-parametric testing was used for analysis. Categorical data were analysed using Chi-squared testing. Regression models were used to determine relationships between dependent and independent variables.

Iohexol GFR was compared to eGFR methods using Pearson correlation and Bland Altman plots(440). Precision and accuracy of methods and between-method analysis was expressed as limits of agreement (LOA; within 1.96 SD of the mean and containing 95% of results) and percentage of eGFR values falling within 10% (P10) and 30% (P30) of mGFR. Paired T-testing was used for between-method comparison. Pearson correlations were performed to assess relationships between methods. SPSS[®] (IBM[®], version 25.0) was used for analysis of data and two-tailed p values of <0.05 were deemed statistically significant.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Demographics

Data from 85 patients were analysed. This study cohort had a mean(±SD) age of 48.4(±7.70)

years. Baseline demographics are shown in table 5.5.

Variable	Patients			
Age (years)	48.4 (7.70)			
mean (±SD)				
BMI (kg/m ²)	23.9 (3.13)			
mean (±SD)				
ppFEV ₁ (%)	52.9% (23.3)			
mean (±SD)				
IV AG (days)	88.0 (188, 0-562)			
median (IQR, range)				
PsA % (n)	65.9% (56)			
PI % (n)	83.5% (71)			
Male % (n)	65.9% (56)			
CFTR genotypes I-III (severe)	72.9% (62)			
% (n)				
CFRD % (n)	49.4% (42)			
Raised systolic BP % (n)	18.8% (16)			
Established on ACE inhibition % (n)	14.1% (12)			
History of renal stones	7.1% (6)			

Table 5.5: Demographics of study population (AG=aminoglycoside, PsA=chronic Pseudomonas infection, ACE-angiotensin converting enzyme, PI=exocrine pancreatic insufficiency).

18.8% of the total cohort had systemic hypertension, 7.1% had a history of renal stones and 49.4% were diabetic. 72.9% had a severe CFTR genotype (class I-III) and 83.5% have exocrine pancreatic insufficiency. Median IV aminoglycoside days over the preceding ten-year period

was 88.0 (IQR 188, range 0-562) days, in a cohort with relatively severe pulmonary disease and mean $ppFEV_1$ of 52.9(±23.3)%.

5.4.2 Descriptive data analysis

A complete renal data set was obtained for 77 patients. Renal blood biomarkers, excluding cystatin C, were analysed for 84 patients. One patient died during the study period prior to data collection. We were unable to obtain cystatin C samples in two patients and urine ACR samples for seven patients.

Renal parameters are shown in tables 5.6 and 5.7. Mean serum creatinine and cystatin C for the total cohort were 70.7(\pm 16.4) μ mol/L and 0.93(\pm 0.17)mg/L respectively. Two patients had a raised baseline creatinine. One patient had a raised cystatin C (1.69mg/L), this patient having undergone renal transplantation in 2015. Fourteen patients (16.6%) had a baseline creatinine below the normal range (<59 μ mol/L).

25% (n=21) of patients in our cohort had a baseline eGFR of <90 ml/min/1.73m² using CKD-EPIcreat, the recommended eGFR calculation used at our institution. However, only three of these patients had co-existing proteinuria. A diagnosis of CKD stage 3a and above, based on KDIGO classification; eGFR of <60 ml/min/1.73m², was seen in 3.6% (n=3) of patients using the CKD-EPIcysC formula (see table 5.8). None of these patients had an eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73m² with the remaining three eGFR formulae, however two patients had an eGFR of <90 ml/min/1.73m². No patients had a diagnosis of CKD above stage 3b.

Proteinuria (ACR >3mg/mmol) was seen in 16.9% of patients (n=13), with a median ACR of 0.45 (IQR 1.58, range 0-85.3) mg/mmol. Eight of these patients had CFRD and ten had a corresponding eGFR of <90 ml/min/1.73m² using GFR analysis from all four estimation equations, ranging from 63 to 87 ml/min/1.73m², the lowest results seen with CKD-EPIcysC. Two patients with raised ACR were already on angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors and a further ten with abnormal GFR within the total cohort were also on ACE inhibition

There was poor compliance with 24 hour urinary collection with only 14 patients (16.7%) completing this part of the study. Mean urinary creatinine clearance (CrCl) GFR was 114 (±38.4) ml/min/1.73m², with a range from 59 to 175 ml/min/1.73m². GFR comparison for this group is shown in table 5.9 (end of chapter 5).

Renal	Total (n)	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	±SD
parameter					
Creatinine	84	36	115	70.7	16.4
(µmol/L)					
MDRD eGFR	84	59	171	98.6	22.7
(ml/min/1.73m ²)					
CKD-EPIcreat	84	64	127	100.0	14.2
edik					
(ml/min/1.73m ²)					
CKD-EPIcysC	82	40	119	90.7	17.8
eGFR					
(ml/min/1.73m ²)					
CKD-	82	61	122	95.4	14.7
EPIcreat+cysC eGFR					
(ml/min/1.73m ²)					
Cystatin C	82	0.66	1.69	0.93	0.17
(mg/L)					
ACR	77	0	85.3	0.45*	1.58**
(mg/mmol)					
hsCRP	84	1	42	1.5*	8**
mg/L					

Table 5.6: Renal parameters for total group (*=median,**=IQR).

Mean ±SD	Total n=84	40-49 years n=57	50-59 years n=19	≥60 years n=8	P value
Creatinine	70.7 (16.4)	70.9 (15.8)	70.2 (18.7)	70.6 (16.4)	0.986
(µmol/L)					
Cystatin C	0.93 (0.17)	0.90 (0.17)	0.99 (0.16)	0.99 (0.14)	0.067

(mg/L)					
eGFR: MDRD (ml/min/1.73m ²)	98.6 (22.7)	100.6 (22.4)	94.7 (25.1)	94.3 (21.2)	0.524
eGFR: CKD-EPIcreat (ml/min/1.73m ²)	100.0 (14.2)	103.1 (13.5)	96.3 (13.9)	87.5 (10.8)	0.005
eGFR: CKD-EPIcysC (ml/min/1.73m ²)	90.7 (17.8)	96.1 (17.3)	80.8 (13.8)	76.6 (13.0)	<0.001
eGFR: CKD- EPIcreat+cysC (mI/min/1.73m ²)	95.4 (14.7)	100.0 (14.1)	87.4 (10.8)	82.9 (11.9)	<0.001
Urine ACR* (mg/mmol)	0.45 (1.58)	0.3 (1.15)	1.4 (5.5)	1.1 (1.35)	0.047
hsCRP* (mg/L)	5.0 (8)	6.0 (9)	5.0 (10)	2.5 (2)	0.471

Table 5.7: Renal parameters between age groups. (*non-parametric testing used, median/IQR), {n=84 total cohort, n=77 ACR, n=82 cystatin C eGFR}.

There is significantly lower eGFR with advancing age using the CKD-EPI equations; CKD-EPIcreat (p=0.005), CKD-EPIcysC (p<0.001) and CKD-EPIcreat+cysC (p<0.001) respectively. There was no significant difference in CrCl GFR between age groups.

There was a marginally higher creatinine for patients with CFRD than those without (72.0 \pm 17.6 vs 69.4 \pm 15.2 µmol/L), but this was not statistically significant (p=0.375). Estimated GFR was not significantly different between diabetic groups using any eGFR formula and although the risk of an eGFR of <90 ml/min/1.73m² was slightly higher in the group with CFRD (OR 1.2, 95% CI 0.48-2.7) this was not statistically significant. The prevalence of raised ACR was not significantly different between diabetic and non-diabetic groups using Chi squared testing; p=0.547.

Mean±SD cystatin C was significantly higher in diabetics then non-diabetics; 0.94 ± 0.21 vs 0.91 ± 0.12 mg/L, p=0.007. There was a positive Spearman correlation between cystatin C and IV aminoglycoside days; r=0.274, p=0.015. Cystatin C had no significant relationship to

hsCRP in our cohort. There was no statistical significance in IV aminoglycoside days between those with GFR less than 90 ml/min/1.73m² and those above. Patients with systemic hypertension were more likely to have a GFR of less than 90 ml/min/1.73m² (Chi squared; p=0.014).

eGFR	G1	G2	G3a	G3b	Total	Total CKD	Total
equation	% (n)	% (n)	% (n)	% (n)	abnormal (eGFR<90)	G2 (eGFR<90) with	CKD≥ 3a
					% (n)	proteinuria % (n)	<60)
MDRD	62.7% (52)	36.9% (31)	2.4% (2)	0	37.3% (31)	4.8% (4)	2.4% (2)
CKD-EPIcreat	75.3% (64)	24.7% (21)	0	0	25.3% (21)	3.6% (3)	0
CKD-EPIcysC	53% (44)	43.4% (36)	2.4% (2)	1.2% (1)	47.0% (39)	11.0% (9)	3.6% (3)
CKD- EPIcreat+cysC	69.9% (58)	30.1% (25)	0	0	30.1% (25)	7.3% (6)	0

Table 5.8: Proportion of patients with CKD staging G1-3b as per eGFR equation in total cohort.

5.4.3 eGFR method correlations



5.4.3.1 MDRD vs CKD-EPIcreat





5.4.3.2 MDRD vs CKD-EPIcys

*Figure 5.3: Correlation between MDRD and CKD-EPIcysC eGFR, in ml/min/1.73m*² {*Pearson r=0.366, p=0.001*}.

5.4.3.3 MDRD vs CKD-EPIcreat+cys



Figure 5.4: Correlation between MDRD and CKD-EPIcreat+cysC eGFR, in ml/min/1.73m² {Pearson r=0.703, p<0.001}.





Figure 5.5: Correlation between CKD-EPIcreat and CKD-EPIcysC eGFR, in ml/min/1.73m² (Pearson r=0.453, p<0.001).





Figure 5.6: Correlation between CKD-EPIcreat and CKD-EPIcreat+cysC eGFR, in ml/min/1.73m² (Pearson r=0.769, p<0.001).

5.4.3.6 CKD-EPIcys vs CKD-EPIcreat+cys



Figure 5.7: Correlation between CKD-EPIcysC and CKD-EPIcreat+cysC (cc) eGFR, in ml/min/1.73m² (Pearson r=0.890, p<0.001).

eGFR method comparison	Correlation coefficient (r)	P value	Agreement between methods using T test?	Agreement P value (T- test)	BA plot required?
MDRD vs CKD- EPlcreat	0.891	<0.001	Yes	0.150	Yes
MDRD vs CKD- EPIcysC	0.358	0.001	No	0.006	No
MDRD vs CKD- EPIcreat+cysC	0.684	<0.001	Yes	0.165	Yes
CKD-EPIcreat vs CKD-EPIcysC	0.418	<0.001	No	<0.001	No
CKD-EPIcreat vs CKD- EPIcreat+cysC	0.761	<0.001	No	<0.001	No
CKD-EPIcysC vs CKD- EPIcreat+cysC	0.902	<0.001	No	<0.001	No

Table 5.10: Correlation coefficients and agreement (via one-sample T-test) between eGFRmethods (BA=Bland Altman plot).

The strongest correlation was seen between CKD-EPIcysC and CKD-EPIcreat+cysC (r=0.902, P<0.001). Positive correlations were also shown between all other paired eGFR methods, the weakest being between MDRD and CKD-EPIcysC (r=0.358), but all with statistical significance.

Subsequent one sample T-testing only revealed agreement (i.e. a non-significant difference) between MDRD and CKD-EPIcreat, and MDRD and CKD-EPIcreat+cysC (p=0.150 and p=0.165 respectively). Bland Altman plots were then constructed to assess limits of agreement and bias between these methods.

5.4.4 Bland Altman analysis





Figure 5.8: Bland Altman plot of the MDRD vs CKD-EPIcreat, expressed in ml/min/1.73m² (LOA=limits of agreement).

The majority of values lie within +/-1.96 SD of the mean. Data points show a trend of higher GFR difference with increasing mean GFR, with some results lying outside of the upper limit of agreement (LOA). Logistic regression shows proportional bias between methods; $r^2 = 0.502$, p<0.001, higher mean eGFR = larger difference in eGFR between methods.



5.4.4.2 MDRD vs CKD-EPIcreat+cys

Figure 5.9: Bland Altman plot of the MDRD vs CKD-EPIcreat+cysC, expressed in ml/min/1.73m².

The majority of values lie within +/-1.96 SD of the mean. The majority of results lie within the limits of agreement for these methods, however there is again a trend towards higher GFR difference with increasing mean GFR. Logistic regression shows proportional bias between methods; $r^2 = 0.239$, p<0.001, with a larger difference in eGFR with increasing mean eGFR

5.4.5 Comparison between iohexol mGFR and eGFR methods

5.4.5.1 General iohexol analysis

Nine patients were recruited for iohexol GFR analysis. The mean age of this smaller cohort was 48.3(\pm 6.4) years. Seven (77.8%) had a diagnosis of CFRD. Mean ppFEV₁ was 46.3(\pm 20.2)%, mean BMI was 25.4(\pm 2.0) kg/m². Cohort demographics and renal parameters for these patients are shown in table 5.11 and 5.12 (end of chapter 5 results section). Iohexol mGFR and eGFR data is shown in table 5.13 (end of results section). There was a significant difference in GFR results between iohexol mGFR and all eGFR methods using Ttesting (p<0.001), with underestimation of GFR for all patients using estimated methods.

There was poor correlation between eGFR and iohexol GFR for all estimated methods and mean GFR was significantly different between methods (p<0.001). Mean difference between methods (bias) was the highest for CKD-EPIcysC at 30.4(±18.4)ml/min/1.73m². Accuracy within 10% (P10) was poor for all eGFR methods, the highest observed for CKD-EPIcreat with 33% of values lying with 10% of iohexol GFR. Accuracy within 30% (P30) was superior for the CKD-EPI equations; CKD-EPIcreat 78%, CKD-EPIcreat+cysC 78%, CKD-EPIcysC 67% (see table 5.13).

Bland Altman plots were constructed for each eGFR method and iohexol GFR for assessment of bias and the extent of inaccuracy between methods.

5.4.5.2 Iohexol vs MDRD



Figure 5.10: Bland Altman plot of iohexol and MDRD GFR method comparison (expressed in ml/min/1.73m²).

5.4.5.3 lohexol vs CKD-EPIcreat



Figure 5.11: Bland Altman plot of iohexol and CKD-EPIcreat GFR method comparison (expressed in ml/min/1.73m²).

5.4.5.4 lohexol vs CKD-EPIcys



Figure 5.12: Bland Altman plot of iohexol and CKD-EPIcysC GFR method comparison (expressed in ml/min/1.73m²).





Figure 5.13: Bland Altman plot of iohexol and CKD-EPIcreat+cysC GFR method comparison (expressed in ml/min/1.73m²).

Although patient numbers are small, we can see that the vertical spread of data points is larger at higher mean GFR values. This indicates that the difference between methods, and hence the bias, becomes more apparent with increasing mean GFR for all eGFR methods compared to iohexol. Small patient numbers also produce large limits of agreement (LOA) for each method comparison, leading to a high systematic difference between methods, indicating that, in this patient group, each eGFR method underestimates GFR compared to iohexol. We cannot confidently assess the degree of proportional bias with regression analysis due to small patient numbers and lack of significant correlation between iohexol GFR and eGFR methods.

Patient	MDRD eGFR	CKD-EPIcreat eGFR	CKD-EPIcysC eGFR	CKD-EPIcreat+cysC eGFR	CrCl GFR
2	90	89	75	83	109
3	105	111	103	107	117
9	80	92	109	102	117
10	93	104	113	112	94
17	108	96	82	90	63
18	87	96	101	99	145
22	122	98	80	92	127
24	98	108	78	91	77
38	81	88	78	83	90
39	115	92	99	98	189
49	82	91	72	81	59
50	105	107	107	108	175
61	105	99	83	91	135
63	79	87	70	78	100

 Table 5.9: Creatinine clearance (CrCl) GFR in comparison to eGFR using MDRD and CKD-EPI (n=14). All data expressed in ml/min/1.73m².

Patient	Age	ppFEV1	BMI	BSA	Serum	Serum	ACR
	(years)	(%)	(kg/m²)	(m²)	creatinine (µmol/L)	cystatin (C mg/L)	(mg/mmol)
1	42	25	26.6	2.17	70	1.02	0.3
2	45	59	21.6	1.54	69	1.02	3.1
3	48	39	24.8	1.61	82	0.90	0
4	42	36	24.4	1.56	64	0.87	1.7
5	46	91	26	1.68	98	1.05	0
6	49	58	27.4	1.90	96	0.93	0
7	63	32	26	1.88	70	0.99	0.9
8	52	42	27.9	1.92	80	1.0	13.3
9	48	35	23.5	1.79	64	0.84	0
Mean(±SD)	48.3 (6.4)	46.3 (20.2)	25.4 (2.0)	1.78 (0.21)	77.0 (12.9)	0.96 (0.07)	2.14 (4.31)

Table 5.11: Demographic data of total renal cohort at time of GFR testing.

Patie	eGFR MDRD	eGFR CKD-	eGFR CKD-	eGFR CKD-	24 hour	Iohexol GFR
nt	(ml/min/1.7 3m²)	EPIcreat (ml/min/1.7 3m²)	EPIcysC (ml/min/1.7 3m²)	EPIcreat+cys C (mI/min/1.7 3m ²)	urinary creatinine clearance (CrCl) GFR	(ml/min/1.7 3m²)
					(ml/min/1.7 3m²)	
1	107	111	81	94	77	120
2	80	92	75	82	-	141
3	87	97	94	96	-	144
4	88	103	94	98	-	117
5	71	79	77	78	-	101
6	72	80	89	85	-	109
7	99	95	78	87	-	97
8	88	97	80	88	100	85

9	116	110	103	107	161	131
Mea	89.8 (15.2)	96.0 (11.4)	85.7 (9.7)	90.6 (9.0)	112.7 (43.4)	116.1 (20.1)
n						
(±SD)						
. ,						

Table 5.12: Evaluation of GFR methods for each patient undergoing iohexol GFR

eGFR method	Mean	Correlation between eGFR and mGFR; r (95% CI)	P value	Bias (mean diff) (SD) (ml/mi n/1.73 m ²)	95% Cl for bias	P value (mGF R and bias)	Limits of agree ment (LOA)	Accuracy within 10% (P10)	Accuracy within 30% (P10)
eGFR MDRD ml/min/ 1.73m ²	89.8 (15.2)	0.173 (-0.55 <i>,</i> 0.75)	0.65	26.3 (23.0)	8.6 <i>,</i> 44.0	<0.00 1	-18.8, 71.5	22.2%	44.4%
eGFR CKD- EPIcreat mI/min/ 1.73m ²	96.0 (11.4)	0.306 (-0.45 <i>,</i> 0.81)	0.42	20.1 (19.9)	4.8, 35.4	<0.00	-18.8, 59.1	33.3%	77.8%
eGFR CKD- EPIcysC mI/min/ 1.73m ²	85.7 (9.7)	0.412 (-0.35, 0.85)	0.27	30.4 (18.4)	16.3, 44.6	<0.00	-5.6 <i>,</i> 66.5	22.2%	66.7%
eGFR CKD- EPlcreat +cysC ml/min/ 1.73m ²	90.6 (9.0)	0.400 (-0.36, 0.84)	0.16	25.6 (18.5)	11.3 <i>,</i> 39.8	<0.00 1	-10.7, 61.8	22.2%	77.8%

 Table 5.13: Iohexol GFR comparison with eGFR methods; bias and accuracy. (eGFR equations evaluated using NKF/KDIGO guidelines, LOA=limits of agreement – within 1.96 SD of the mean and containing 95% of results. Mean diff/bias = iohexol-eGFR method).

5.5 Discussion

5.5.1 General discussion

This is the first study to analyse GFR using iohexol and cystatin C methods exclusively in a CF population aged 40 years and above. Our findings demonstrate a high frequency of renal dysfunction in our older CF cohort, with up to 46.4% prevalence of eGFR <90ml/min/1.73m², a 3.6% prevalence of CKD stage 3 and a 16.9% prevalence of proteinuria. Decreasing eGFR was seen with advancing age, as expected. There was a significant relationship between the presence of systemic hypertension and abnormal GFR (p=0.014) and serum cystatin C showed a positive correlation with IV aminoglycoside days (r=0.274, p=0.015). The risk of GFR <90ml/min/1.73m² was slightly higher and the mean serum creatinine slightly higher in the CFRD group compared to the non-CFRD group, although these results were not statistically significant.

An underestimation of GFR using MDRD and CKD-EPI methods was observed in a small subgroup compared to iohexol mGFR, indicating the inaccuracy of estimated GFR in this population. Cystatin-C based eGFR formulae have the highest accuracy on between-method comparison with iohexol mGFR, and hence may be the most useful marker of renal function in ageing CF patients.

Renal dysfunction in the acute and chronic setting has adverse implications for morbidity and mortality in the general population(441). Acute renal failure is being increasingly recognised in CF(442) and the prevalence of CKD (stage 3 and above) in CF is currently estimated to be as high as 11% depending on lung transplant status, age and the presence of CFRD(443). Increasing survival in CF may lead to an increasing prevalence of CKD, influenced by an increasing rate of CFRD, organ transplantation at older ages and cumulative aminoglycoside exposure. The emergence of CKD in an ageing CF population may also have detrimental implications for cardiovascular risk.

Estimated GFR formulae perform optimally in the populations from which they were created. Given that MDRD and CKD-EPI equations were derived from CKD population data, they are the most accurate in those with lower than normal baseline GFR. The reliability of these equations in a CF population, in which the majority of patients are younger and have a normal GFR, may be reduced and the consideration of more accurate GFR methods in CF is required. The inaccuracies of renal monitoring in CF using creatinine-based estimated GFR has led to the study of novel biomarkers, such as cystatin C, and method comparison using exogenous clearance GFR. However, a lack of universally accepted robust GFR method in CF still exists. The study of GFR in the CF population is paramount in the context of increasing survival, accumulation of ageing comorbidities and an emerging renal risk.

5.5.2 Prevalence of renal dysfunction

In our cohort, there was a spectrum of disease severity, with a ppFEV₁ ranging from 18 to 100% (mean 52.9±23.3%). There was a relatively well preserved nutritional status with a mean BMI of $23.9(\pm 3.13)$ mg/kg/m², however the majority (83.5%) were exocrine pancreatic insufficient. 25% of patients in our cohort had a baseline eGFR of <90 ml/min/1.73m² using CKD-EPIcreat, the accepted eGFR method at MFT. However, those with a diagnosis of CKD stage G1 and G2, defined by coexistence of proteinuria, were less and ranged from 3 to 11% depending on eGFR formula used. In addition, 3.6% (n=3) had a diagnosis of CKD stage 3 (G3) and eGFR reduction was seen with advancing age. The prevalence of CKD stage 3 in our cohort appears slightly higher than that of the general adult CF population. In a large study by Quon and colleagues (2011), analysing US registry data for CF patients aged ≥18 years, an annual CKD stage 3 prevalence of 2.3% was observed, which increased with age from 0.6% in the 18 to 25 year age to group to 19.2% aged 55 years and above(220). A retrospective study by Wilcox et al reported a 5.1% prevalence of renal disease in an adult CF cohort(444), although additionally reporting episodes of acute kidney injury that were not studied here. The most prevalent pathology found in this study was renal stones at 2%. A higher prevalence of renal stones was found in our older adult cohort (7%), perhaps representing a higher risk if nephrolithiasis with age in CF.

5.5.3 Inaccuracies of estimated GFR

Several studies to date, in younger cohorts, have proven the use of endogenous creatininebased eGFR calculations inaccurate in the CF population. 16.7% of the patients in our study had a low baseline serum creatinine level and hence creatinine-based eGFR values may over-estimate true GFR. Al-Aloul and colleagues observed overestimation of GFR using MDRD and CG formulae when compared to measured urinary CrCl (by 18.3 and 15.8 ml/min/1.73m² respectively), particularly those with a reduced CrCl of <80ml/min(233). Touw and colleagues similarly observed overestimation of GFR in adult CF patients using predictive GFR equations when compared to measured CrCl(238).

The study of novel endogenous biomarkers has therefore become important in CF renal research. Cystatin C has been studied extensively within the non-CF population as an alternative or in addition to eGFR calculations, in order to improve accuracy. Results are variable but a number of studies have shown its superiority over serum creatinine for eGFR calculation in certain patient groups, particularly in those with type two diabetes mellitus(237). Coll and colleagues observed creatinine-based formulae to overestimate GFR in patients with GFR <90 ml/min/1.73m² using iothalamate comparison. This study also reported a rise in cystatin C at higher GFR levels than creatinine (88 vs 75ml/min/1.73m²), concluding that cystatin C may be a more reliable determination of GFR in those with normal or mildly impaired renal function(445). Cystatin C has also been found to be superior to creatinine in estimating GFR for those with spinal cord injury(446) and liver cirrhosis(447), both of these patient populations exhibiting significant muscle wasting, conferring relevance of cystatin C eGFR study in the CF population. Cystatin C-based eGFR measurement is now recommended by KDIGO as part of CKD assessment if eGFR, using creatinine-based methods, is <60ml/min/1.73m²(259).

Comparison of estimated GFR formulae in our older cohort showed good correlation between methods, particularly between CKD-EPIcysC and CKD-EPIcreat+cysC (r=0.902, p<0.001). However, significant differences in agreement between eGFR were seen for MDRD vs CKD-EPIcysC and CKD-EPIcreat vs CKD-EPIcreat+cysC. Agreement was shown between MDRD and CKD-EPIcreat, and MDRD and CKD-EPIcreat+cysC using T-testing, however Bland Altman analysis between these methods showed a degree of proportional bias, with higher mean differences with increasing mean GFR. A greater degree of abnormal eGFR (<90ml/min/1.73m²) was detected using CKD-EPIcysC than with other eGFR formulae in our older CF group; 46.4% compared to 36.9% (MDRD), 25% (CKD-EPIcreat) and 29.8% (CKD-EPIcreat+cysC). It seems possible that the inclusion of both creatinine and cystatin C levels within the CKD-EPIcreat+cysC formula would increase the accuracy of estimated GFR measurement. However, given the unreliability of serum creatinine in the CF population as a whole, CKD-EPIcysC eGFR could be the most useful method, particularly in detecting subtle renal abnormalities in a cohort predominantly with normal renal function. Several studies to date have investigated the accuracy of cystatin C in CF for GFR determination. Beringer and colleagues studied serum cystatin C in an adult CF cohort, showing greater accuracy of eGFR using serum cystatin C than for creatinine-based methods when compared to iothalamate GFR(189). Halacova and colleagues observed cystatin C to be more reliable in eGFR monitoring in patients receiving intravenous amikacin than comparative creatinine clearance methods (236). Soulsby and colleagues showed cystatin C eGFR to be the most accurate compared to ^{99m}TC-DTPA radioisotope GFR in an adult CF population(424), although this was not reflected in results of a similar method in the paediatric CF population, perhaps reflecting a greater impact of low muscle mass on creatinine levels with longevity of malnutrition(263). In addition, serum cystatin C levels may be affected by a high hsCRP level, corresponding to systemic inflammation, and leading to a risk of GFR underestimation using this method. In our cohort, cystatin C levels had a positive correlation with IV aminoglycoside days (r=0.327, p=0.003), highlighting a potentially important emerging relationship between aminoglycoside use and renal dysfunction in an older CF population. There was no significant correlation between cystatin C and hsCRP. However, with a raised mean baseline hsCRP (7.8±8.7mg/L) and a high prevalence of severe disease phenotypes, it is possible that systemic inflammation contributed to eGFR underestimation using cystatin-based CKD-EPI equations in this older CF population.

In CF patients, with a low prevalence of overt renal dysfunction, analysis of renal function decline over time may be a more useful management approach, particularly in higher risk groups such as those with CFRD, a high pulmonary exacerbation frequency and following organ transplantation. The ease of cystatin C measurement in serum and its increased reliability over creatinine-based eGFR, may deem this method suitable for more widespread use within the CF population.

5.5.4 Iohexol GFR

From the nine patients undergoing lohexol GFR, eight had a lower corresponding estimated GFR with all four eGFR formulae compared to measured GFR. Patients two and three had a significantly higher iohexol GFR when compared to the highest eGFR comparator; a difference of 49 and 47 ml/min/1.73m² respectively. Patients seven and eight had the closest iohexol GFR when compared to eGFR methods, within 19 ml/min/1.73m². However,

MDRD appeared to over-estimate GFR in patient 7, and all eGFR methods except CKD-EPIcysC overestimated GFR in patient 8 (table 5.12). GFR underestimation has been seen in several iohexol GFR studies in type two diabetic populations, including underestimation of GFR decline over time(412)(435).

Although iohexol GFR has been extensively studied in the CKD population, it is less well researched in CF. The majority of CF GFR studies have utilised radioisotope methods as the gold standard exogenous GFR measure and none so far have examined a CF population aged 40 years and above. Studies in a paediatric (263) and adult cohort (189) have used isotope GFR to highlight the inaccuracies in estimated GFR. The only published study to date using iohexol GFR in CF was performed by Novel-Caitin et al in 2016(235), studying the renal function of 25 adult CF patients with advanced pulmonary disease prior to lung transplantation. CKD-EPI eGFR was shown to over-estimate mGFR in this cohort, in one patient by up to 31 ml/min. Although our results are contradictory to this, Prestidge and colleagues reported underestimation of eGFR in CF children using an isotope GFR method, a similar result as observed in our older CF cohort(429). The LC-MS method used for iohexol sample analysis at MFT was compared against a validated method used by a Belgian group(262), showing only a 3.5% bias in our results over a 60-sample comparison process. The difference between iohexol GFR and eGFR in our study could thus not be fully explained by laboratory error. It may be that eGFR underestimation is reflective of an older CF group, however a small sample size undoubtedly limited our analysis. Larger studies would be necessary to develop any firm trends in GFR in this group.

There was poor correlation between eGFR and iohexol GFR for all estimated methods and mean GFR was significantly different between methods (p<0.001). Bland Altman analysis, although challenging to interpret with small patient numbers, showed a trend towards higher GFR difference with increasing mean GFR. Although analysis showed no outlying data points, there were wide limits of agreement for each method comparison. Mean difference between methods (bias) was the highest for CKD-EPIcysC at 30.4±18.4 ml/min/1.73m². Accuracy within 10% (P10) was poor for all eGFR methods, the highest observed for CKD-EPIcreat with 33% of values lying with 10% of iohexol GFR. Accuracy within 30% (P30) was superior for the CKD-EPI equations; CKD-EPIcreat 78%, CKD-EPIcreat+cysC 78%, CKD-EPIcysC 67%. Although CKD-EPIcysC has the highest detection rate of low GFR in our cohort, CKD- EPIcreat+cysC appears to give the highest P30 GFR accuracy when compared to iohexol, hence may provide a more accurate GFR estimate in our CF cohort (table 5.13). Tidman and colleagues also observed an improved accuracy within 30% of iohexol GFR with eGFR formulae combining serum creatinine and cystatin C in a population with varying degrees of CKD(437).

The wider use of iohexol GFR in a CF clinical setting is likely not feasible in a multi-sample protocol. A single sample protocol would present more viability, however, still requires a prolonged sampling period after iohexol injection depending on baseline renal function. It may be that this technique could be used to calculate accurate GFR in selective higher risk CF patient groups such as pre and post organ transplantation, those with known renal dysfunction in the context of optimal nephrotoxic medication dosing and in monitoring rate of renal decline.

5.5.5 Urinary creatinine clearance

Only three patients were able to provide a 24-hour urinary sample for calculation of creatinine clearance (CrCl) in the iohexol cohort. The CrCl of patient one showed an underestimation of GFR; iohexol vs CrCl: 120 vs 77ml/min/1.73m², whilst patient eight and nine represented over-estimation of GFR using this method; 85 vs 100 and 131 vs 161ml/min/1.73m² (see table 5.9). This may reflect the inaccuracy of this method in calculating GFR. In the total cohort, we observed a higher mean eGFR with 24-hour urinary creatinine clearance GFR compared to MDRD and CKD-EPI formulae (114.1±38.4 ml/min/1.73m²), however this did not significantly increase with advancing age. Further analysis of urinary creatinine clearance was challenging due to low patient numbers. Creatinine clearance has historically been the gold standard measurement of GFR in CF due to an increased reliability over estimated GFR using serum biomarkers. However, a low serum creatinine may overestimate creatinine clearance and GFR, relevant in a CF population with nutritional impairment and low muscle mass(448). The lack of adherence to this part of the study, in both the total and iohexol cohorts, highlights the relative impracticality of this test in CF renal monitoring and emphasises the need for other methods of accurate GFR monitoring in CF to be studied.

5.5.6 Practicalities of iohexol GFR

Iohexol GFR measurement is time consuming and cumbersome, however single sample iohexol protocols may help to alleviate some impracticality and allow for more accurate GFR to be obtained in specific patient groups. Single sample protocols are recommended as an accurate GFR measure only for those with normal or mildly impaired renal function(433). The CF population, as a chronic disease cohort, comprises relatively small numbers within the context of the vast general population, thus may be a good target for further mGFR investigation, particularly in view of emerging renal and cardiovascular risk with increasing survival. In this study, I used a multi-sample iohexol protocol due to its greater weight of evidence of accuracy in the literature(410)(261)(263)(235), however the time-consuming nature of this technique certainly limited patient recruitment.

In 2018, Zhang and colleagues observed accuracy in a single sample iohexol GFR method in participants with eGFR >60ml/min/1.73m² (449), a protocol that may have relevance in a CF population the majority of whom will have normal renal function. James and colleagues validated the accuracy of an iohexol GFR method with a single serum sample taken between two and four hours(450), eradicating the need for multiple venepuncture, particularly relevant in CF patients with poor peripheral venous access. A study by Rizk et al in 2018 reported close correlation (r=0.996) between iohexol mGFR and GFR measured by injection of a novel exogenous biomarker, visible fluorescent injectate (VFI), in a study group consisting of patients with both normal and impaired renal function(451). The VFI mGFR method used blood sampling over a shorter time period and required less volume for analysis. Could the development of a rapid and effective bedside mGFR test therefore be feasible in the CF population?

The study of capillary iohexol GFR monitoring, if validated against serum iohexol clearance, could potentially provide an accurate GFR method for patients without the need for venepuncture. Mafham and colleagues published work with capillary dried blood spot analysis for iohexol GFR, observing reliability of one, two and three sample models compared to estimated GFR in those with baseline GFR of <60ml/min/1.73m²(452). Less accuracy and wider limits of agreement were seen for capillary iohexol and eGFR at higher baseline renal function, indicating the need for further study in these patient groups. We performed capillary iohexol sampling for the nine patients in the iohexol study arm,

however unfortunately we have been unable to process these due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Analysis of these samples against serum iohexol GFR and corresponding GFR will be informative, and may assist to validate this method in patients without CKD.

5.5.7 Renal dysfunction and organ transplantation

One of our study participants was a renal and pancreatic transplant recipient, with a degree of existing renal impairment; estimated GFR ranging from 93 ml/min/1.73m² using MDRD to 40 ml/min/1.73m² using CKD-EPIcysC. Three patients (3.5%) in our older CF cohort received a double lung transplantation during the study period, indicating not only the severity of CFTR-related disease in this older CF cohort but also the importance of renal monitoring in the pre and post-transplant settings. The risk of chronic renal dysfunction following lung transplantation has been shown to be as high as 90%(232). Quattrucci et al observed CKD to be the most frequent non-infective complication following CF lung transplantation over a six year period(453), and Lefaucheur and colleagues reported a 30% GFR decline in over 30% of their CF transplant group within the first year(454). A recent retrospective study of 29 patients by Florens and colleagues (May 2020), including 16 CF patients, with pre and posttransplant iohexol or inulin mGFR results, observed a 66% prevalence of CKD stage \geq 3 and 60% of this cohort had >50% decrease in mGFR at one year following lung transplantation(455). Although the preferential use of tacrolimus over ciclosporin has assisted to abate the risk of renal impairment following organ transplantation, isotope GFR and other exogenous methods are not routinely performed in CF patients following lung transplantation in the UK(426). The accumulation of ageing comorbidities with increasing survival in CF may necessitate closer renal monitoring both pre and post-transplantation, and renal disease may affect lung transplant eligibility. Accurate GFR monitoring is essential for optimal immunosuppressant dosing, early detection of renal dysfunction and adequate management of renal complications following organ transplantation.

5.5.8 Intravenous aminoglycoside exposure

The median intravenous aminoglycoside exposure within the previous ten-year period was relatively high for our study group (83.0, IQR 188 days), with a maximum value of 562 days, indicating a potential risk of aminoglycoside-induced renal damage in this cohort. However, there was no significant relationship between IV aminoglycoside days and eGFR <90ml/min/1.73m². Intermittent exposure to intravenous aminoglycoside, used for the

treatment of pulmonary exacerbation in CF, will increase in proportion to age and hence accurate dosing is essential to avoid acute and chronic renal tubular damage with cumulative exposure. The risk of acute nephrotoxicity from aminoglycoside exposure is well documented. Pederson and colleagues report a 39% prevalence of eGFR reduction in CF adults following two weeks of intravenous tobramycin therapy(456). Wilcox and colleagues observed over half of their AKI cases to be related to IV gentamicin or tobramycin use(444). However, chronic renal damage from recurrent aminoglycoside use in CF is less well established and challenging to study. Quon and colleagues reported no association between chronic renal dysfunction and pulmonary exacerbation frequency, as a surrogate marker for IV aminoglycoside exposure, in their adult CF cohort(220). Although, Wilcox and colleagues report aminoglycoside toxicity to be the second biggest cause of CKD in their smaller CF cohort(444). The study of cumulative nephrotoxic drug use in an older CF population is essential to establish causation of CKD as survival increases.

Tobramycin is the main intravenous aminoglycoside used in CF, exhibiting less nephrotoxicity then its counter-parts amikacin and gentamicin, however still presenting renal risk despite use of a safer once-daily dosing regimen. Acute renal impairment during pulmonary sepsis will affect renal clearance of aminoglycoside, making regular renal and drug level monitoring essential to individualise safe and optimal dosing. However, it is challenging to detect renal effects of nephrotoxic medication due to the inaccuracy of estimated GFR in CF. Town and colleagues observed a strong correlation between creatinine clearance GFR and tobramycin clearance in CF patients(457), however this was not reflected in a previous study by Levy et al(458). Raised urinary N-acetyl-ß-D-glucosaminidase (NAG) levels, a marker of acute renal tubular damage, has shown promise in identifying aminoglycoside nephrotoxicity(221), however its use for detection of chronic renal impairment has not been validated. Novel-Caitin et al (2016) studied a CF cohort on the lung transplant waiting list with a high cumulative aminoglycoside exposure. In a younger adult cohort, they observed only one patient out of 25 with significant renal impairment, however eGFR using CKD-EPIcreat underestimated GFR compared to iohexol and inulin GFR in this population(235). The unreliability of eGFR equations in CF, particularly at higher baseline GFR levels, continues to make an optimal GFR method in CF elusive.

The efficacy of intravenous aminoglycoside treatment in the setting of chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection and pulmonary exacerbation makes this antimicrobial choice essential for a large number of CF patients. In the setting of renal dysfunction, strategies for minimising nephrotoxicity include the use of a nebulised aminoglycoside (with less systemic absorption) or using an alternative antibiotic agent. As always, close monitoring of renal function and drug levels is essential in all CF patients receiving intravenous aminoglycoside treatment, with particular attention to older patients with the propensity for subclinical renal decline.

5.5.9 Proteinuria and CFRD

Almost half of our cohort had CFRD and the incidence of proteinuria (microalbuminuria) was 16.9%, predominantly in diabetics. Within the proteinuric cohort (n=13), ten patients had evidence of reduced GFR using estimated methods. Two patients with raised ACR were already on angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors and a further ten with abnormal GFR within the total cohort were also on ACE inhibition, mostly for systemic hypertension. Although the majority of patients in our study with proteinuria were diabetic, there was no significant difference in eGFR between those with CFRD and those without, which is contrary to what we would expect. Interestingly, Van den Berg and colleagues reported a higher incidence of proteinuria in CFRD than type one diabetes mellitus, postulating the existence of other contributary CF-related factors for renal protein loss(459). In a large US registry study, Quon and colleagues observed an increasing risk of CKD with duration of CFRD in a younger adult CF population(220). The increasing prevalence of CFRD with age and the risk of chronic renal damage with longevity of hyperglycaemia deems accurate GFR monitoring and early detection of renal dysfunction essential in both ageing diabetic and non-diabetic CF patients, particularly in a cohort where renal hyperfiltration may mask the extent of renal damage and GFR decline. A longitudinal study of an ageing CF cohort and analysis of GFR decline with accumulation of age-prevalent comorbidity is highly relevant and necessary as survival in CF improves. Regular, routine monitoring of urine ACR should be performed in diabetic and non-diabetic CF patients as a screening tool for early detection of renal disease in this older CF population.

5.5.10 End stage renal disease

A proportion of CF patients may progress to end stage renal disease (ESRD) with increasing survival. Risk factors include CFRD, IV aminoglycoside exposure, IgA nephropathy and transplantation-related renal dysfunction. Up to 7% of patients progress to ESRD following lung transplantation(232).

Renovascular disease may also become more relevant in CF with ageing. 18.8% of our cohort had systemic hypertension and this was significantly associated with a GFR of <90 ml/min/1.73m² (p=0.017). As mentioned previously, one patient was a renal and pancreatic transplant recipient for refractory CFRD and hypertension. Accurate monitoring of graft function following renal transplantation, and in the context of chronic immunosuppression is essential. Radioisotope and iohexol GFR are often utilised in a renal transplant setting.

5.5.11 Glomerular hyperfiltration

Glomerular hyperfiltration has been shown in diabetes mellitus, obesity and hypertension(428). Several studies have reported hyperfiltration to be common in the CF population(429)(460), manifesting as a higher than normal GFR (usually >150ml/min/1.73m²). As a consequence of hyperfiltration, eGFR equations may overestimate true GFR and renal damage may exist despite a high or normal eGFR. Gaspari et al showed underestimation of GFR decline in hyperfiltering patients with type two diabetes mellitus both at six months and over a four year period(412). Although no patients in our older CF group had renal hyperfiltration based on GFR, the possibility of sub-clinical hyperfiltration in CF means we could be missing subtle changes in GFR and renal decline in CF patients over time. This may be particularly relevant with an increasing prevalence of CFRD with age.

5.5.12 Renal risk and the future in CF

The quantification of renal risk is important in developing our understanding of rarer disease cohorts in an ageing population and to create opportunities for primary prevention in high risk groups. Maple-Brown and colleagues describes the importance of accurate measurement of GFR in indigenous Australians important, given their inherent risk of diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease(435). An older CF cohort may be at enhanced cardiovascular risk, as mentioned in previous chapters, and given the close affiliation between renal and cardiovascular disease(461), further research into renal comorbidities

may provide opportunities to reduce risk and implement primary prevention strategies. This study has demonstrated renal disease in an older CF population and the prevalence of renal disease is likely to increase with age. As survival improves and more patient reach older adulthood, further renal studies are essential to reduce additional comorbidity in this complex orphan disease.

5.5.13 Limitations

A number of limitations of this study should be recognised. This is an observational, cross sectional study. Longitudinal data would provide more informative analysis regarding trends, causation and extent of renal disease in this cohort, particularly the influence of accumulative comorbidities such as CFRD, systemic hypertension and nephrotoxic treatment burden. Longitudinal studies with larger sample sizes are required to assess GFR decline over time in the older CF population.

Poor participation in 24-hour urinary CrCl measurements limited comparative analysis of measured CrCl to serum GFR methods. It would have been informative to analyse nebulised aminoglycoside use in the context of renal dysfunction in addition to intravenous use. The small sample size for iohexol GFR limits conclusions relating to accurate GFR methods in this cohort. Patient recruitment was significantly restricted by the Covid-19 pandemic, shortening the recruitment period by four months. Time constraints of iohexol sampling also adversely affected patient participation, and long clinic visits for this part of the study were challenging due to necessities of patient segregation and lack of clinic space.

Capillary iohexol sampling was performed but sample analysis was not possible in the MFT laboratory given the temporary halt in the processing of research samples due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Analysis of these samples in the future may assist to validate a capillary sampling iohexol protocol and, if successful, could provide opportunities for more amenable and accurate GFR testing in a CF cohort with an existing high frequency of healthcare visits.

My hope is that this work will continue in our centre over the next few years to ensure we can provide stronger evidence of accurate GFR testing in an older CF population.

5.6 Conclusion

This study demonstrated a high prevalence of renal dysfunction in long term CF survivors. Risk factors for renal impairment appear to be advancing age, CFRD, IV aminoglycoside exposure and systemic hypertension.

Chronic renal dysfunction in an ageing CF population will have implications for a variety of aspects in CF care. There may be challenges in the monitoring and dosing of nephrotoxic antimicrobials, and hence achieving optimal treatment of pulmonary exacerbation. However, although an eGFR <90ml/min was common in our study group, CKD to the degree at which drug dose changes may be needed was very rare. This is reassuring. In addition, the small iohexol study showed that eGFR tended to underestimate renal function so the prevalence of CKD may actually be lower based on this finding.

Chronic renal disease will complicate pre and post-transplantation management, in the context of transplant eligibility as well as immunosuppressant efficacy. The presence of CKD will also have an influence on the development of cardiovascular disease in an ageing CF population, making regular assessment of cardiovascular risk, systemic blood pressure and glycaemic control essential as survival continues to improve.

In the absence of measured GFR, the calculation of eGFR using cystatin C-based equations may be more reliable than creatinine. Data demonstrated underestimation of estimated renal capacity in this population, which is dichotomous to previous studies. This may be due to the small sample size or lack of validation of LC-MS method validation in this disease cohort. In the absence of sampling error and size, GFR underestimation may accurately reflect an older CF population with an increasing prevalence of CFRD and larger studies are required assess trends and causation.

5.7 Study recommendations

- Urine ACR should be used in older CF patients both with and without CFRD for regular assessment of renal function and early detection of renal disease.
- Intravenous aminoglycosides should be used with caution in older CF patients with renal dysfunction.

 Although it is likely not be feasible to use iohexol GFR outside of a research setting in CF, measured GFR may be important for high risk patient subgroups; those with chronic renal impairment in the context of nephrotoxic medication dosing, in organ transplant recipients on immunosuppression, those with intra-renal pathology, such as IgA nephropathy, and at risk of renal decline.

Further research is necessary to assess the causes and rate of renal decline in an older CF population, and to determine the most accurate GFR measure in this clinically diverse and challenging group. Renal impairment will undoubtedly affect morbidity and mortality in older adult CF patients, and the preservation of renal function must be a priority in an ageing CF population to reduce the burden of cumulative ageing comorbidity in an already complex multiorgan disease.

Authors	Year	Study type	Patient number	Disease group	eGFR range ml/min/1.73m ²	eGFR formulae used for comparison	Method used for gold standard mGFR	Results
Gaspari et al(407)	1995	Cross- sectional	41	CKD	6-160	NA	Inulin vs iohexol (5ml bolus) Sampling 5 to 600 mins (13 samples)	Significant correlation between methods for a range of GFRs.
Gaspari et al(408)	1998	Longitudinal	24	CKD	14-104	NA	Iohexol (5ml bolus) – precision study. 2 groups: 1. eGFR ≥40 Sampling at 120 to 240 mins 2. eGFR ≤40 Sampling at 120 to 600 mins	Iohexol shows good precision for GFR in those with normal and abnormal renal function.
Gaspari et al(410)	2004	Longitudinal	81	Renal transplant recipients	21.8-86.1	CG, MDRD	Iohexol (5ml) Sampling at: 120 to 600mins	eGFR equations over-estimate rate of GFR decline in renal

								transplant recipients.
Tidman et al(419)	2008	Cross sectional	644	CKD	12-125	Cystatin C validation in eGFR CG, MDRD	Iohexol (5ml) Single sample method Sampling 3.5 to 24 hours (timing based on eGFR from serum creatinine).	Addition of Cystatin c in eGFR equations increases accuracy
Ruggenenti et al(411)	2012	Longitudinal	111	Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease (ADPKD)	Mean 78.6	MDRD, CKD- EPI (creatinine)	 Iohexol (5ml) 2 groups: 1. eGFR≤40: sampling at 120 to 480 mins 2. eGFR>40: sampling at 120 to 240 mins 	eGFR equations under-estimate GFR change over time.
Evans et al(530)	2013	Cross- sectional	2,198	CKD IV/V	8-27	MDRD, CKD- EPI (creatinine)	 Iohexol (2-10ml bolus) 2 groups: 1. eGFR 15-30 – sampling at 360-420mins 2. eGFR≤15 – sampling extended to 48hours. 	eGFR equations may be inaccurate in elderly patients and those with diabetic nephropathy.

Gaspari et al(412)	2013	Longitudinal	600	Type 2 diabetes mellitus	71-108	MDRD, CG, CKD-EPI (creatinine)	Iohexol (5ml) No sampling times stated 8 year study period, 6-monthly iohexol data	GFR underestimated at 6 months. GFR decline missed in hyperfiltering patients and underestimated over 4 years.
Maple- Brown et al(435)	2014	Longitudinal	224 (Indigenous Australian)	Type 2 diabetes mellitus	68-119	MDRD, CG, CKD-EPI (creatinine)	Iohexol (5ml) Sampling up to 240mins	CKD-EPI is the most accurate eGFR equation in this population, however underestimates GFR in diabetic patients with normal renal function
Luis-Lima et al(436)	2015	Cross- sectional	193	Renal transplant recipients	Mean 52.2	MDRD, CG, CKD-EPI (creatinine and cystatin C)	Iohexol (5ml) Sampling up to 480mins.	Poor correlation of eGFR equations with iohexol, over-estimation of GFR in this population.
Florens et al(455)	2020	Cross- sectional, retrospective	91	Lung transplant recipients	Mean 106 (pre- transplant)	NA	Pre and one year post-transplant mGFR (iohexol or inulin)	All had >25% reduction in mGFR at one year, 60% had
		(32 CF patients)	Mean 58 (one year post- transplant)		>50% mGFR reduction			
--	--	---------------------	---	--	---------------------			

Table 5.1: Iohexol studies in the non-CF population.

Authors	Year	Study type	Patient number	Mean age (years)	Disease group	Mean eGFR ml/min/1.73m ²	eGFR formulae used for comparison	Method used for gold standard mGFR	Results
Spino et al(438)	1985	Cross- sectional	8	17	Cystic fibrosis	>90	NA	 ^{99m}Tc-DTPA vs 125-OIH Blood sampling up to 180mins (13 samples), urine up to 24hours 	Renal clearance similar in CF and control group
Touw et al(238)	1996	Cross- sectional	18	27	Cystic fibrosis	148	CG, Jeliffe Comparison of tobramycin clearance	24 hour urinary creatinine clearance mCrCl = urine Cr x urine vol/Serum Cr (ml/min)	Good correlation between tobramycin clearance and creatinine clearance in CF.

Al-Aloul et al(233)	2007	Cross- sectional	83	24.3	Cystic fibrosis	92.6	CG, MDRD	24 hour urinary creatinine clearance mCrCl = urine Cr x urine vol/Serum Cr (ml/min)	Over- estimation of renal function in patients with eGFR <80.
Beringer et al(189)	2009	Cross- sectional	19	29.3	Cystic fibrosis	104	CG, MDRD, Cystatin C clearance (Tidman)	Iothalamate (456mg) Blood sampling at 15 to 180mins. Urine sampling at 30 to 180mins	Cystatin C estimates of GFR are superior to creatinine based formulae, especially for lower GFR.
Prestidge et al(429)	2010	Cross- sectional	67	9.6	Cystic fibrosis – paediatric	140	Nil comparison	^{99m} Tc-DTPA Sampling at 2 and 3 hours.	6% had GFR<90, 40% had evidence of hyperfiltration
Soulsby et al(424)	2010	Cross- sectional	53	18	Cystic fibrosis		CG, MDRD, cystatin C,	^{99m} Tc-DTPA	Cystatin C eGFR correlates most closely

							tobramycin clearance	Sampling at 2, 3 and 4 hours	with mGFR method
Jain et al(531)	2012	Cross- sectional	50	-	Cystic fibrosis	115	MDRD	Chromium⁵¹ EDTA	Renal hyperfiltration in CF patients
Novel- Caitin et al(235)	2016	Cross- sectional	25	32	Cystic fibrosis – on lung transplant waiting list	106	CKD-EPI	15 patients – iohexol (6ml); 120 to 240 mins 6 patients – inulin (+urine)	CKD-EPI over- estimated GFR in CF patients with advanced lung disease.
Wallace et al(263)	2020	Cross- sectional	17	11.5	Cystic fibrosis – paediatric cohort	136	CG, MDRD, CKD-EPI, + other paediatric- specific Cystatin C equations	^{99m} Tc DTPA 120 to 360 mins	Within 10% correlation eGFR to mGFR of 5-47%. Poor accuracy of eGFR formulae in paediatric CF population.

Table 5.2: GFR comparison studies in CF

The Complexities of Ageing in Cystic Fibrosis

6.0 Chapter 6: Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in an older cystic fibrosis population

6.1 Abstract

6.1.1 Introduction

Ageing in cystic fibrosis (CF) may be associated with an increased cardiovascular risk. Previous chapters have provided an insight into cardiovascular disease in an older CF population, however the prevalence of intrinsic cardiac pathology in this group is unknown. The use of echocardiography to determine cardiac function may be inaccurate in CF, particularly in the presence of advanced pulmonary disease. Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMR) may provide a more reliable alternative method to assess the prevalence and extent of myocardial disease in an older CF population.

6.1.2 Methods

CF patients aged 40 years and above, attending MACFC, were recruited for CMR participation. CMR was performed at MFT using a 1.5T MR scanner (Avanto, Siemens). The CMR protocol was developed and CMR analysis performed in conjunction with the cardiac imaging research department at MFT. Investigation parameters included biventricular function and volumetrics, T1 and T2 time, pulse wave velocity (PWV), the presence of late gadolinium enhancement (LGE) and calculation of extracellular volume fraction (ECV), to determine the presence of diffuse myocardial disease. Images were analysed using CVI Circle ImagingTM software. Data were inputted into a pre-constructed excel spreadsheet and corrected for body surface area (BSA) and haematocrit. Data were analysed as a total cohort using predominantly descriptive methods, then categorised into severe (ppFEV₁<40%) and non-severe (ppFEV₁ \geq 40%) lung disease groups for comparison. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS[®] (version 25.0, IBM[®]) with significance reported at the 0.05 level.

6.1.3 Results

Nine patients underwent CMR, with good tolerance to scan duration, positioning and breath-holding. Mean(SD) age was 46.7(±3.39) years and 66% were male. Mean ppFEV₁; 50.1(±23.5)%, exocrine pancreatic insufficiency; 88.9%, chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*

infection; 77.8% and CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD); 66.7%. One participant had systemic hypertension, two had hyperlipidaemia and two had a positive family history of cardiovascular disease. On CMR, all patients had normal left ventricular (LV) and right ventricular (RV) systolic and diastolic function. No significant correlations were observed between biventricular function and severity of airflow limitation, as measured by ppFEV₁. 44.4% had localized LGE due to right ventricular insertion point fibrosis (RVIP). Five patients had raised ECV; mean(SD) 26.5 (±2.30)%. ECV values were higher in women than men; mean 29.1 (±1.27) vs 25.2 (±1.4)%, p=0.005. All patients had normal PWV on CMR. There were no statistically significant differences in demographic or CMR data seen between severe and non-severe lung disease groups.

6.1.4 Conclusion

This is the first study of CMR in the older adult CF population. Results show a high prevalence of RVIP fibrosis as identified by LGE on CMR, the significance of which is uncertain. The significance of raised ECV in the context of CF warrants further investigation. CMR is well tolerated and could be a useful imaging tool in assessment of the CF heart, particularly in those at higher risk of cardiovascular disease.

6.2 Introduction

The relationship between cystic fibrosis (CF) lung disease, pulmonary hypertension and right ventricular (RV) failure is well documented(462). Alterations in right ventricular morphology and function arise as a result of progressive lung disease and chronic hypoxaemia, leading to altered pulmonary vascular resistance and vessel remodelling. This ultimately causes raised systolic pulmonary artery pressure (sPAP), pulmonary hypertension, RV strain and hypertrophy and cor pulmonale(463).

A correlation has been shown, using 2D/M-mode echocardiography, between the extent of RV dysfunction and severity of underlying CF lung disease (table 6.1, end of chapter 6). The relationship between left ventricular (LV) function and CF, however, is less well reported. There are some important questions to consider in this context;

- i. Is there intrinsic cardiac pathology in CF as a result of CFTR dysfunction?
- ii. Is the presence of cardiac dysfunction related to or independent of lung disease severity in CF?
- iii. Is cardiac dysfunction in CF secondary to ageing and associated increased cardiovascular risk?

Understanding the prevalence and causation of cardiac disease in CF will be of particular importance in an ageing CF population, a group with cardiovascular risk and emerging agerelated multi-organ comorbidity. In this era of CFTR modulator therapy, there is potential for further survival advantage and the possibility of a paradigm shift in CF epidemiology, from mortality at a relatively young age to the reality of a chronic, comorbid, older adult disease.

6.2.1 Cardiac disease in CF

The myocardium is the muscle layer of the heart and is responsible for cardiac contraction. It is comprised of layers of myofilaments within sarcomeres, the integral components of cardiac muscle. Sarcomere function within the myocardium is predominantly regulated by calcium and potassium movement. In a complex process of ion dependent excitationcontraction coupling, the release of calcium from the sarcoplasmic reticulum leads to myocardial contraction(464).

6.2.2 CFTR and the heart

CFTR protein is present in myocardial cells, both atrial and ventricular myocytes. Primary CFTR dysfunction causes defective ion movement in myocardial cells, affecting myocyte contraction, intracellular calcium signalling, arrhythmogenesis and ventricular remodelling(465). Sellers at al observed abnormal ventricular cardiomyocyte function in CF mice models, postulating the risk of myocardial dysfunction from loss of normal CFTR(466). Could CF patients therefore be at risk of primary CF-related cardiomyopathy independent of pulmonary disease severity?

6.2.3 Secondary cardiac pathology in CF

6.2.3.1 Hypoxaemia

In patients with chronic lung disease, severe hypoxaemia may result from exercise, sleep or may occur at rest depending on pulmonary disease severity. Hypoxaemia affects myocyte function and can cause ventricular dysfunction, reduction in coronary blood flow and arrhythmogenesis. Several studies have shown ventricular arrythmias secondary to hypoxia in CF, at rest and during exercise(467)(468). Wolf et al report exercise-induced left ventricular perfusion defects in CF adults(469). Fraser et al observed a relationship between hypoxaemia and pulmonary hypertension in severe CF pulmonary disease in the context of normal LV and RV function(470). Several other studies have also shown the role of hypoxaemia in the development of RV dysfunction in CF(471)(472). Chronic hypoxaemia in CF leads to the development of pulmonary hypertension and cor pulmonale. The resulting RV enlargement may cause abnormalities in interventricular septal motion, causing ventricular discordance, reduction in LV stroke volume and left ventricular impairment(473).

6.2.3.2 Chronic inflammation

Longstanding systemic inflammatory burden can alter homeostatic vascular dynamics and integrity, increasing arterial wall stiffness. Chronic systemic inflammation has been shown to be related to atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease in the non-CF setting(474). Studies in rheumatoid arthritis (RA) cohorts have shown endothelial dysfunction and increased cardiovascular risk secondary to inflammatory burden.

An increased level of high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), a serum maker of systemic inflammation, has been shown to correlate with pulmonary artery pressure and RV

dysfunction in CF(462). Ionescu et al observed reduced RV systolic dysfunction with raised hsCRP levels in a CF cohort with severe pulmonary disease(475).

Large artery stiffness has been well established as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease in the general population and is also associated with LV dysfunction. Its presence may be related to systemic inflammation and represent a non-atherosclerotic vasculopathy. Large artery stiffness has been shown to correlate with hsCRP and, as measured by augmentation index (AIx), has been shown to be higher in CF when compared to healthy controls(227). This may reflect a similar pathological process to COPD, in which arterial stiffness is prevalent and their cardiovascular risk enhanced when compared to the general population(476).

Elevated inflammatory markers such as TNF alpha have shown a positive correlation with hypertriglyceridaemia in CF(298). Although interestingly, analysis of systemic inflammation using hsCRP in the same study did not concur. The infusion of TNF alpha, an inflammatory mediator, in dog models has been shown to contribute to LV dysfunction(477).

Maki-Petaja and colleagues have shown modification of cardiovascular risk and reduction in arterial stiffness in the RA population using statin and anti-TNF alpha therapy(340), strategies that may be relevant in CF with similar premature arterial stiffness and cardiovascular risk (see chapter 4).

A number of anti-inflammatory agents have been studied in CF, mainly targeted at pulmonary inflammation and infection. The study of statin therapy in non-CF bronchiectasis has shown pulmonary symptom reduction(478). The anti-inflammatory role of statin therapy in CF has been evaluated by Jouneau et al(479), analysing the role of Fluvastatin and IL-8 production in whole CF red blood cells in the context of chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection. Could there be a role for statins, independent of their cholesterol lowering effects, in lowering arterial stiffness in the context of chronic inflammation contributing and cardiovascular risk in an older CF population? Further studies will be informative.

6.2.3.3 Endothelial dysfunction

Endothelial dysfunction is a major step in the development of atherosclerotic disease and has been described in CF cohorts(474). Poore and colleagues report endothelial dysfunction,

as measured by ultrasound brachial artery flow mediated dilation (FMD), in a young adult CF cohort with preserved LV function(480). Endothelial dysfunction has been shown to be related to the persistent systemic inflammatory burden in CF(481), and as such both factors may contribute to the development of premature atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease.

Interestingly, Sellers and colleagues report LV dysfunction and aortic stiffness in Phe508del mouse models, independent of lung disease(465), perhaps reflecting additional inherent CFTR associated cardiac influence, independent of conventional cardiovascular risk factors. Could there be a CF-related cardiomyopathy as a result of CFTR dysfunction? If this is the case, inherent cardiac dysfunction in CF is likely to be exacerbated by the ageing process and the development of age-prevalent cardiovascular risk.

6.2.4 Ischaemic heart disease in CF

Ischaemic heart disease (IHD) in CF has only been documented in a handful of case reports to date and is rare outside of the organ transplantation setting. One of the first case reports of coronary artery disease in CF was reported by Onady and colleagues in 2006, in a 52-yearold patient, with a late diagnosis of CF, presenting with dyspnoea and vague chest discomfort. A left anterior descending coronary artery occlusion was found on angiography(224). In 2010, Perrin and colleagues reported a non-ST elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI) in a 48-year-old CF patient, with an early diagnosis, CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD) and a significant family history of premature IHD(289). In both cases, electrocardiography showed no ST segment changes and perfusion defects were diagnosed on thallium stress testing. These cases highlight the potential for atypical presentations of ischaemic cardiac disease in CF and the importance of cardiovascular risk prediction and primary prevention for higher risk patients. It is thus essential to identify cardiovascular risk factors relevant to the CF patient with ageing, such as CFRD and systemic hypertension. Eaden and colleagues (2013) reported a case of accelerated atherosclerosis of the coronary arteries in a 19-year-old CF patient who had received cardiac and bilateral lung transplantations (at four years of age)(482). Although this is a rare case, could posttransplant vasculopathy become more relevant in an ageing CF population in which the prevalence of solid organ transplantation may increase with advancing disease severity? Cardiac ischaemia has also been reported in younger CF patients, with Aronsson et al

describing a transmural myocardial infarction in a two-year-old patient with undiagnosed CF and in the context of bilateral pneumonia, acute cardiac failure and raised serum cardiac enzymes(483).

6.2.5 Chronic respiratory disease and cardiovascular risk

The risk of cardiovascular disease in other chronic respiratory disease is well established. Chronic respiratory tract inflammation has been linked to cardiovascular disease, evidenced in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease(484) and bronchiectasis(355), with an association between low lung function and cardiovascular risk. A study by Sabit and colleagues observed subclinical LV dysfunction in COPD patients secondary to chronic to airflow obstruction(485). Baum and colleagues observed the presence of LV dysfunction in 15 COPD patients, independent of right heart abnormality(486). Although predominantly older cohorts, undoubtedly with secondary cardiovascular risk, could these findings be relevant for chronic airflow obstruction associated with CF?

The presence of chronic respiratory tract and systemic inflammation in CF may render these patients at similar risk of cardiovascular events as the aforementioned population groups, particularly as survival increases. Reduction in ppFEV₁ with age, and the emergence of age-related comorbidities with imporving survival, could accentuate this risk in older CF patients.

6.2.6 Other contributors to LV dysfunction in CF

As CF survival increases, atherosclerosis of ageing and the increasing prevalence of systemic hypertension, hyperlipidaemia and CFRD will all become relevant in the development of cardiovascular disease(289). Hyperlipidaemia is an important risk factor for the development of atherosclerosis in the general population. Figueroa and colleagues showed excessive plasma triglycerides in CF patients(298), independent of diabetic status and liver disease, common causes of hyperlipidaemia in the general population.

Hypertriglyceridaemia may be compounded by the risk of hyperglycaemia and impaired glucose tolerance as CF patients age. Diabetic cardiomyopathy should also be considered in the context of ageing CF adults(487). The increasing prevalence of systemic hypertension may have significant effects on LV structure and function in long term CF survivors, as seen in the general hypertensive population, and would also be an interesting area for further review.

Exocrine pancreatic function and malabsorption may also be paramount in cardiovascular risk in CF. McGiven (1962) postulates that pathology of the left ventricle in CF, specifically the development of myocardial fibrosis, may be caused by deficiencies of thiamine and tocopherol(488). Furthermore, the impact of CFTR modulation on exocrine pancreatic function, improved fat absorption and weight gain cannot be understated in CF and has been reported in ivacaftor monotherapy studies. Longitudinal data examining the newer CFTR modulator compounds in this area of efficacy will be informative.

As shown in previous chapters, patients with less severe CFTR genotypes and preservation of exocrine pancreatic function may be at a higher risk of hyperlipidaemia with age(300). The risk of macrovascular disease in CF may therefore have some relationship to CFTR genotype. The relationship between genotype and phenotype in CF is complex and notoriously difficult to study due to significant phenotypic diversity within CFTR mutation classes. However, the phenotypic differentiation within CF cohorts may indeed be important for the determination of cardiovascular risk and targeting higher risk groups for primary prevention therapy.

6.2.7 Cardiovascular risk in CF

Defining cardiovascular risk in CF is challenging. The historically poor prognosis of CF has meant that cardiovascular disease is a relatively novel concept in what is now an ageing CF population. In the general population, cardiovascular risk scoring is performed in the primary care setting and includes those aged 40 years or above. A high frequency of appointments with specialist CF services usually means a lack of input from primary care and hence cardiovascular risk identification and opportunities to implement primary prevention may be overlooked in CF care. Reliable cardiovascular risk scoring using QRisk[®]3(162) requires a definition of CFRD as being either type one or type two diabetes mellitus. Although most patient require insulin treatment, CFRD is characterised by both insulin deficiency and insulin resistance, hence equitable classification is difficult. This presents limitations and lowers reliability of cardiovascular risk scoring in this cohort.

There may be a lack of correlation between abnormal LV ejection fraction (LVEF) and cardiac failure. In the non-CF population, Owan et al showed a proportion of patients with preserved ejection fraction (EF) (i.e. diastolic heart failure) progressing to congestive cardiac

failure(489). If the majority of CF patients have normal LV function, could alternative pathology be contributing to cardiac disease?

6.2.8 Myocardial fibrosis

The myocardium consists of both cellular components (cardiac muscle and structural entities) and extracellular components (fluid, collagen, glycoproteins)(490). Myocardial fibrosis is caused by excessive extracellular matrix deposition within the myocardium, the cause of which can be cardiac or extra-cardiac. Expansion of the myocardial interstitium/extracellular space is an important pathological process in ventricular remodelling, a common process in end stage cardiac disease and a predictor of major adverse cardiovascular events(490). There are two types of myocardial fibrosis; *replacement* and *interstitial*. The causes of each are shown in table 6.2.

Replacement myocardial	Myocardial infarction (commonest), Hypertrophic
fibrosis	obstructive cardiomyopathy (HOCM), myositis, sarcoidosis,
	drug induced/toxic cardiomyopathy, chronic renal
	insufficiency
Diffuse interstitial	Reactive: ageing, systemic hypertension, diabetes mellitus,
myocardial fibrosis	non-ischaemic dilated cardiomyopathy
	Infiltrative: amyloid, Anderson-Fabry disease

 Table 6.2: The causes of myocardial fibrosis(491)

6.2.9 Myocardial disease in CF

Chronic inflammation, hyperglycaemia, hypoxaemia and activation of the renin-angiotensin aldosterone system (RAAS) are all likely to play a role in the dysregulation of myocyte function and fibroblastic cell proliferation in CF-related myocardial fibrosis(492). Myocardial fibrosis can progress to biventricular dysfunction. Some potential contributors to a myocardial fibrotic process in CF are shown in figure 6.1.



Figure 6.1: Potential causes of myocardial fibrosis in CF.

To date, myocardial fibrosis has only been described in paediatric CF patients. The first case series were reported by McGiven et al (1962)(488) and Barnes et al (1970)(493), observing posthumous findings of myocardial fibrosis possibly related to exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, vitamin deficiency and subsequent myocardial destabilisation in CF infants. However, with the use of pancreatic enzyme replacement therapy (PERT) and vitamin supplementation now commonplace in CF management, there may be an assumption that myocardial disease related to malabsorption will likely have decreased as their use has expanded.

A number of other studies followed, also observing multifocal myocardial fibrosis on necropsy specimens of CF children(494)(495)(496). Myocardial fibrosis has been reported as a cause of sudden, unexpected death from cardiac insufficiency in CF infants, independent of pulmonary disease(497), observing its possible relationship with Phe508del homozygosity. Ambrosi and colleagues described myocardial fibrosis as a cause of thallium perfusion defects and sub-normal LV ejection fractions in young CF children (mean age 16.7 months)(498), a potential complication of advancing disease in CF.

Given the causal link between ageing, systemic hypertension and diabetes mellitus in the development of myocardial fibrosis in the general population, the study of myocardial disease and LV function in older adult CF patients seems logical in a quest to better

understand the cardiac complications associated with ageing in CF. The inaccuracies associated with echocardiographic analysis in CF calls for a superior cardiac imaging technique, such as CMR, to be studied.

6.2.10 Cardiac imaging in CF

Echocardiography is reported as being around 80% sensitive at detecting cardiac failure(499). Echocardiographic studies in CF are extensive and the majority have been performed in relation to right heart structure and function in the context of progressive CF pulmonary disease. However, studies analysing LV morphology and function as a separate entity have shown LV abnormalities independent of pulmonary status and right heart disease (table 6.1). Chipps and colleagues (1979) observed abnormal LVEF, used as a measure of LV function, in a proportion of CF patients both at rest and during exercise(468). Johnson and colleagues (1991) reported diastolic LV filling defects in CF patients with severe pulmonary disease using doppler echocardiography(471). Strain echocardiography, a more recently developed imaging technique, has allowed the detection of subclinical LV diastolic and systolic impairment in CF adults with severe pulmonary disease(492)(500). LV abnormalities in CF warrant further investigation, particularly as survival increases and both CFTR-related and non-CFTR related factors may contribute to cardiac pathology.

The use of radionuclide angiography in the detection of cardiac dysfunction allows additional analysis of myocardial function. Matthay and colleagues (1980) used radionuclide angiography in 22 young adult CF patients, showing normal LV function but RV dysfunction related to severity of pulmonary disease(501). Benson and colleagues (1984) observed abnormal LVEF with exercise in 29% (n=31) during radionuclide assessment of CF patients (mean age of 17 years) with a range of pulmonary severity(502).

Both imaging modalities have their limitations in the CF population. Respiratory motion artefact, abnormal breathing patterns, pulmonary hyperinflation and inadequate positioning may limit image quality in some CF patients. Strain echocardiography has been shown to detect LV abnormalities and is a useful additional echocardiographic technique, however a standardized protocol in CF is yet to be developed(503). Tissue doppler echocardiography, first described in CF by Ionescu and colleagues (2002)(475) may identify heart failure in presence of normal LV ejection fraction, and hence may be a useful tool in CF to identify early signs of cardiac dysfunction, particularly in higher risk patients. Radionuclide angiography may assist to alleviate inaccuracies associated with echocardiographic assessment in CF, however it is an invasive technique. Cardiac MR imaging may be a suitable alternative technique in CF cardiac assessment.

6.2.11 Cardiac MR

6.2.11.1 Clinical use of cardiac MR

Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMR) is an important diagnostic tool in a range of cardiovascular pathologies, specifically in the diagnosis of ischaemic and non-ischaemic cardiomyopathies. CMR has superior sensitivity and specificity to echocardiography and enables acquisition of three and four-dimensional imaging sequences for reliable evaluation of cardiac structure and function(504). CMR imaging can provide circumferential analysis of the myocardium, not provided by echocardiography alone, enabling accurate myocardial tissue characterisation(276). CMR also has superior accuracy and reproducibility, thus requiring smaller sample sizes to produce meaningful conclusions(505). Invasive biopsy has historically been the only tool to accurately identify myocardial disease, however CMR is increasingly being used as a non-invasive alternative in evaluating the myocardium using T1 mapping and extracellular volume analysis(506).

Magnetic resonance imaging is also increasingly being used to define the extent of pulmonary disease and pulmonary perfusion abnormalities in CF(507). Although echocardiographic research is vast, no published studies to date have utilised CMR in the analysis of cardiac function in CF. Several factors deem CMR a useful next step in CF cardiac exploration. Cardiac MR imaging, in addition to its superior image quality, is safe and uses no ionizing radiation, particularly favourable in a CF population with a high burden of previous lung imaging. Although breath hold techniques can be used in CMR protocols to reduce image artefact, these are not essential for good quality imaging and respiratory correction methods may be utilised. However, the necessity to lie flat for a prolonged period of time may limit MRI tolerability for patients with more severe pulmonary disease and orthopnoea.

6.2.11.2 Applications of CMR in an ageing CF population LV mass, as measured by CMR, has been shown to correlate with cardiovascular risk in hypertensive patients(508)(509) and biventricular assessment may be useful in an ageing CF population with an emerging cardiovascular risk. CMR in CF will also achieve a detailed assessment of the myocardium, abnormalities of which may be relevant in the setting of CFRD, systemic hypertension and chronic systemic inflammation.

6.2.12 CMR imaging techniques

CMR protocols vary between centres, however all exhibit high reproducibility in study contexts(491). The majority use gadolinium-enhanced imaging techniques, T1 and T2 mapping and calculations of extracellular volume.

The use of late gadolinium enhancement (LGE) and T1/T2 mapping in CMR allows detailed analysis of myocardial tissue. The addition of extracellular myocardial analysis allows detection of both focal and diffuse myocardial disease, used in the quantification of, and differentiation between, ischaemic and non-ischaemic cardiomyopathy. Two specific myocardial pathologies can be detected using CMR; myocardial oedema; seen in acute myocardial infarction and inflammatory cardiac pathology, and myocardial fibrosis (localised and diffuse); seen in chronic ischaemic scar and non-ischaemic cardiomyopathies.

6.2.12.1 Late gadolinium enhancement (LGE)

LGE techniques are used to diagnose localised myocardial fibrosis and oedema. Gadolinium contrast distribution time equates to the degree of myocardial disease. Typical gadolinium washout from the myocardium is between 5 and 20 minutes. In localised myocardial fibrosis, the gadolinium chelates and expands into the extracellular space thus delaying its washout time. The extent of myocardial fibrosis using LGE techniques are identified qualitatively using visual interpretation, and hence may subject to inter-operator variation(276). LGE alone cannot diagnose diffuse myocardial fibrosis.

6.2.12.2 T1 mapping

T1 time in CMR analysis measures the longitudinal (spin lattice) relaxation time of the myocardium. Native T1 time is an important indicator of myocardial disease and may be increased in the presence of myocardial oedema, fibrosis and amyloid deposition, and shortened in excess myocardial lipid or iron content. The Modified Look-Locker inversion recovery (MOLLI) method calculates T1 time over a single breath hold (17 successive heart beats)(490) and is the most widely used CMR protocol. Native T1 values (i.e those in the absence of gadolinium contrast) are influenced by the MR field strength used (higher on 3T than 1.5T) and will also vary depending on the local CMR protocol. Native T1 may be higher

in men and with advancing age. The mean reference value for native T1 time on a 1.5T MR scanner has been quoted by Dabir and colleagues as 931(±21) milliseconds (ms) in healthy subjects(510).

Despite method variability, native T1 times display high reproducibility between studies. Poor breath holding may influence image quality and respiratory motion compensatory mechanisms may need to be used. This will be of relevance in CF patients, particularly those with advanced pulmonary disease. T1 mapping alone may be used in myocardial tissue determination in patients with renal failure, in whom the use of gadolinium contrast may be contraindicated.

6.2.12.3 T2 time

T2 time is a measure of myocardial transverse relaxation time and a marker of myocardial water content. T2 time is increased in the presence of myocardial oedema, relevant in acute myocardial infarction and myositis. Normal T2 time has been quoted by Giri and colleagues as 52.18(±3.4)ms in healthy subjects on a 1.5T MRI scanner(511).

6.2.12.4 Contrast-enhanced T1 mapping for quantification of extracellular volume fraction (ECV)

Analysis of both native and post-contrast (LGE) T1 time can be used to detect the presence of diffuse myocardial fibrosis and scar. In the presence of LGE, T1 mapping can be used to calculate the extracellular volume fraction (ECV), an important marker of myocardial tissue remodelling(275). T1 time and ECV have been shown to correlate well with LV function, and abnormalities in ECV may be present in early stage cardiomyopathy(490). A dilated extracellular space in the presence of diffuse myocardial fibrosis causes contrast accumulation and higher ECV values. Low ECV is seen in thrombus formation or fat accumulation(276). A normal ECV, using a 1.5T scanner, is between 20 and 26%(512), and values may be higher in women.

ECV fraction estimates are calculated using pre and post-contrast T1 values and the patient haematocrit value. In preparation for ECV calculation, a serum sample for haematocrit is taken from the patient just prior to scanning. ECV is calculated using the following formula;

$$ECV = (1 - hct) \frac{1}{post \ contrast \ T1 \ myo} - \frac{1}{native \ T1 \ myo} \ \div \ \frac{1}{post \ contrast \ T1 \ blood} - \frac{1}{native \ T1 \ blood}$$

The relationship between abnormal T1 time and ECV measurements in cardiac pathology are shown in figure 6.2.



Figure 6.2: T1 mapping and extracellular volume fraction in myocardial tissue characterisation(276).

6.2.12.5 Aortic distensibility

Aortic distensibility (stiffness) is an important marker of premature, subclinical arterial disease(374). Central aortic stiffness (i.e. reduced aortic compliance) is an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease and mortality(338). Aortic stiffness can be measured using pulse wave velocity (PWV) or by using aortic distensibility calculations on CMR imaging. PWV measurements on CMR may be more accurate than non-invasive applanation tonometry methods of carotid-femoral (aortic) PWV.

CMR measurements of aortic distensibility uses contouring software to calculate the maximal ascending aortic diameter (A_{max}) in systole and minimal aortic diameter (A_{min}) in diastole. The change in aortic diameter is then used in a calculation with pulse pressure to give a value for ascending aortic distensibility (AAD) in mmHg(374); $\Delta A = A_{max} - A_{min}$ and then, $AAD = \Delta A / (A_{min} - PP)$.

CMR measurements of PWV use 2D image slices through the aortic arch to provide two flow waveforms from the ascending and descending thoracic aorta. Normal PWV varies

depending on age and degree of systemic hypertension. However, a cut off value of <11 m/s has been defined as normal for non-invasive methods in recent literature. Normal values of between 6 and 10 m/s for those over 30 years of age, has been identified in a large multi-centre CMR study of data from healthy individuals(373). Normal aortic distensibility in healthy individuals has been observed as 6.1(±2.5)mmHg in men and 8.6(±2.7)mmHg in women(513).

6.2.13 Use of CMR in clinical practice

CMR is increasingly being utilised in the diagnosis of cardiomyopathy and myocardial disease without the need for invasive endocardial biopsy, particularly in the context of cardiac amyloidosis, in which early identification and treatment is key. Myocardial fibrosis is an important mechanism in the development of congestive cardiac failure from a variety of disease mechanisms (see table 6.2). Su and colleagues reported an increased ECV in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction compared to healthy controls(514). CMR has also been used in the detection of subclinical LV impairment in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, due to myositis, showing increase in native T1 time compared to controls(515). Could CMR thus be useful in the detection of subclinical cardiac impairment in older CF patients?

6.3 Methods

6.3.1 Study overview

CF patients aged 40 years or above were recruited into the study. Eligibility included cardiovascular disease naivety and the participant group encompassed a range of pulmonary disease severity (as determined by ppFEV₁).

Ethical approval was obtained from the Health Research Authority (HRA) and Health and Care Research Wales (HCRW) Ethics committee (reference 19/EM/0067).

The cardiac MR scanning was performed on a Tesla 1.5T MR scanner (Avanto, Siemens; Alliance Medical) according to a protocol developed in collaboration with cardiac imaging colleagues at MFT. The CMR protocol used is shown in appendix 5. Written consent was obtained in CF clinic prior to the scan date. On the day of scanning, each patient completed a standard MRI safety questionnaire, had a peripheral venous cannula inserted and a single serum sample taken for haematocrit. The scan time was approximately 45 minutes and was performed by specialist Alliance CMR radiographers, with supervision from Dr Christopher Orsborne (Cardiac imaging research fellow) and myself.

Standard long and short axis cine CMR imaging sequences were performed, following localisation of the LV within the thorax. LGE imaging began at six minutes following delivery of an intravenous gadolinium bolus (0.20mmol/kg). T1 mapping (by Modified Look-Looker Inversion Recover {MOLLI}) was obtained at the basal and mid left ventricular short axis level before and 15 minutes following the final bolus of gadolinium. LGE and both native and post-contrast T1 mapping were performed to assess for localised myocardial fibrosis. ECV fractions, based on native and post-contrast T1 values of blood and myocardium, were calculated to evaluate the presence of diffuse myocardial fibrosis.

6.3.2 CMR image analysis

CVI Circle Imaging[™] software was used for CMR image analysis. CMR measurements were calculated using the stages described below. All calculations were corrected for body surface area (BSA), haematocrit and gender where applicable.

6.3.2.1 Biplanar long axis (LAX)

For biventricular and bi-atrial analysis, the biplanar long axis (LAX) method was used. Left atrial (LA) analysis was performed by defining the maximal LA area during the cardiac cycle.

Biplanar and monoplanar LA analysis were performed to give two and four chamber functional measurements.

The tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion (TAPSE) was measured as a marker of global right ventricular function. This is the distance between the tricuspid annulus and RV apex. This give values for LA and right atrial (RA) volumes, indexed to BSA. The cardiac valves were then assessed to look for any significant abnormalities.

6.3.2.2 Short axis 3D

Short axis cine imaging was used to analyse ventricular structure from base to apex. This technique was used to assess end diastolic (ED) and end systolic (ES) volumes in the RV and LV.

LV mass is calculated from contouring of the ventricular perimeter and calculating maximal wall thickness. This volumetric data was also indexed to BSA. The short axis method enhances the accuracy of ventricular analysis when used in combination with long axis methods.

6.3.2.3 Tissue characterisation

Tissue characterization was performed used LGE imaging. Gadolinium should be distributed in and out of myocardium uniformly. As an extracellular contrast agent, if there is an area of extracellular expansion, LGE will be present (in different patterns and distribution). T2 is a marker of myocardial oedema and is abnormal if elevated. This is demonstrated by the region of interest drawn in the LV septum to quantify T2 time. Septal analysis is the most reliable in the absence of an area of focal oedema. T2 is calculated at the basal and mid slice of the LV image, then an average of the two measurements is taken.

6.3.2.4 Tissue tracking

Strain analysis feature tracking was used in analysis. Endocardial and epicardial contours were drawn using available software. This gives a peak global longitudinal strain measurement, which is reduced in subclinical LV function and a method used to detect early dysfunction.

6.3.2.5 T1 Time

The MOLLI method was used to measure native T1 time. Post-contrast T1 was also measured with native T1 to calculate extracellular volume fraction (ECV). Epicardial

contours were drawn, focusing on the middle third of the myocardium. RV insertion point was selected, giving six segments for overall T1 time, pre and post contrast, for basal and mid LV areas. Blood pool and myocardial T1 then provides final data sets.

6.3.2.6 Aortic distensibility

Aortic distensibility and blood pressure were measured using the largest and smallest ascending aortic diameter during the cardiac cycle. The PWV was then measured using flow waveforms at a transection point through the aortic arch.

6.3.2.7 Flow

The ascending and descending aorta structure and waveforms were traced by endothelial contouring and used to calculate aortic blood flow.

All above data parameters were inputted into a pre-formed spreadsheet and values adjusted for BSA and haematocrit (appendix 9), and compared to normal reference ranges as provided by Petersen et al (appendix 10)(512). SPSS[®] (IBM[®], version 25.0) was used for statistical analysis, with two-tailed p values of <0.05 deemed statistically significant.

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Demographics of the study population

The demographics of the study population are shown in table 6.3 and 6.4. Ten patients were recruited, of whom nine underwent CMR scanning. Due to lack of confirmation of CMR-safety of one participant's port-a-cath, this patient was deemed unfit for scan at the discretion of the CMR imaging team.

All patients tolerated the scan well and completed the required duration of imaging, including relevant breath-hold sections. There were no complications during or following scanning. All participants had normal baseline renal function (eGFR>90ml/min/1.73m²). Subsequent renal function at the next routine clinic appointment (tested within 4 weeks) was normal for all participants.

Mean age of the cohort was 46.7(\pm 3.39) years. There was a range of pulmonary disease severity (ppFEV₁ 25-91%) with a mean of 50.1(\pm 23.5)%. For participants, 88.9% were exocrine pancreatic insufficient, 66.7% had CFRD and 77.8% had chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection.

All patients were non-smokers. Patient 1 and 4 had known hyperlipidaemia. Patient 2 had systemic hypertension and patients 2 and 4 had a positive family history of premature cardiovascular disease (see table 6.3).

6.4.2 CMR analysis

Full CMR data is shown in tables 6.5 to 6.9 (end of chapter 6 results section) Normal CMR reference values used(512) are shown in appendix 10.

All CMR parameters were corrected for body surface area (BSA), age and gender using the CMR calculator (version 4.0.1, European Society of Cardiology).

- Mean RVEF was 56.0(±6.40)% (normal range 45-68%) and mean LVEF was 61.7(±6.22)% (normal range 48-70%).
- Two patients had slightly low LV end systolic volume (ESV) and one had low LV end diastolic volume (EDV), based on normal reference parameters.

- All patients had normal RVEF, despite five patients having severe lung disease (ppFEV₁<40%).
- All patients had normal T1 and T2 times; mean 1033.3(±26.1) and 47.7(±2.75) milliseconds (ms) respectively.
- The presence of LGE was found in four out of nine patients. This was specifically at the right ventricular insertion point (RVIP), suggestive of RVIP fibrosis. Although, three of the patients with LGE had ppFEV1 <40%, there was no significant difference in RVEF between the LGE and no LGE group overall; 55.5(±2.3)% vs 56.4(±8.7)%, p=0.850.
- PWV was normal in all nine patients; mean 4.6(±2.9) m/s. Aortic distensibility was also normal for all participants; mean 4.5(±2.1) mmHg {normal values; (mean±SD) 6.1±2.5mmHg in men and 8.6±2.7mmHg in women}.
- The mean ECV for the total group was 26.5(±2.30)% (normal range 20-26%). ECV values ranged from 21.2 to 30.2%, observing higher values in females; patient 1, 2 and 8 (females) had ECV values of 27.7, 29.2, 30.2% respectively, giving a mean of 29.1(±1.27)% compared to 25.2(±1.4)% in male participants; p=0.005.
- There was no significant difference in ECV values between lung function groups (p=0.282). Higher ECV values were seen in diabetics compared with non-diabetics; 27.2(±2.1)% vs 25.1(±2.3)%, although this was not statistically significant using Ttesting (p=0.216).
- Patients were divided into severe and non-severe lung disease groups according to baseline lung function; severe=ppFEV1<40%, non-severe=ppFEV1>40%. Comparison between these groups showed no statistical difference in demographic or cardiac MRI parameters (table 6.4 and 6.5).
- There were no statistically significant correlations between ppFEV₁ and biventricular functional parameters; ppFEV₁ vs LVEF: r=0.319, p=0.413, ppFEV₁ vs RVEF: r=0.559, p=0.117.
- There was no statistically significant difference in RVEF, LVEF, aortic distensibility, PWV or ECV with advancing age, as categorised into 40-49 and ≥50 years (table 6.10).

CMR parameter	40-49 years	≥50 years	P value
mean±SD			
RVEF (%)	56.3 (7.3)	55.0 (1.4)	0.520
LVEF (%)	62.5 (7.0)	59.9 (0)	0.821
Aortic distensibility (mmHg)	4.7 (2.4)	3.7 (0.1)	0.588
PWV (m/s)	5.4 (1.6)	2.1 (5.4)	0.162
ECV (%)	26.6 (2.5)	26.1 (2.3)	0.776

 Table 6.10: Comparison of CMR parameters between age groups. (CMR=cardiac MRI, PWV=pulse wave velocity, ECV=extracellular volume fraction).

Patient	Age (years)	Gender	Genotype	ppFEV1	BMI	Predominant organism	Pancreatic status	CFRD status	Presence of CV risk	Baseline hsCRP
										(mg/L)
1	50	F	Phe508del/Phe508del	34	22.2	PsA	PI	N	1 Chol	1
2	45	F	Phe508del/Arg553X	58	24.9	PsA	PS	N	+ve FH	2
3	41	М	Phe508del/Phe508del	25	26.6	PsA	PI	N	1 BP	12
4	45	М	Phe508del/1078delT	54	24.4	B.multivorans	PI	Y	1 Chol, +ve FH	19
5	53	М	Phe508del/Asp579Tyr	32	21.5	PsA	PI	Y	Nil	4
6	47	М	Phe508del/Phe508del	39	24.8	PsA	PI	Y	Nil	6
7	45	М	Phe508del/Phe508del	91	26	PsA	PI	Y	Nil	2
8	47	F	Phe508del/Phe508del	83	22.2	B.cenocepacia	PI	Y	Nil	13
9	47	М	Phe508del/Phe508del	35	21.8	B.cenocepacia	PI	Y	Nil	7

Table 6.3: Demographic data for CMR participants (B=Burkholderia, PsA=Pseudomonas aeruginosa, PI=exocrine pancreatic insufficient, PS=exocrine pancreatic sufficient, FH=family history of premature CV disease, BP=blood pressure, ChoI=cholesterol

Parameter	Total CF group n=9	ppFEV ₁ <40% n=5	ppFEV ₁ >40% n=4	P value
Age (years) mean±SD	46.7 (3.39)	47.6 (4.5)	45.5 (1.0)	0.391
% male	66.7	80%	50%	0.524*
BMI mean±SD	23.8 (1.95)	23.4 (2.2)	24.4 (1.6)	0.478
BSA (m²) mean±SD	1.74 (0.18)	1.8 (0.2)	1.7 (0.1)	0.379
SBP (mmHg) mean±SD	113.9 (15.2)	112.6 (8.9)	115.5 (22.4)	0.797
DBP (mmHg) mean±SD	71.6 (6.97)	73.0 (4.1)	69.8 (10.0)	0.524
ppFEV ₁ (%) mean±SD	50.1 (23.5)	33 (5.14)	71.5 (18.3)	0.003
Pancreatic status - %PI	88.9%	100%	75%	1.000*
CFRD (%)	66.7%	60%	75%	0.167*
Chronic PsA (%)	77.8%	80%	50%	0.524*
CRP (mg/L) median (IQR, range)	6.0 (10.5, 1-19)	6.0 (7, 1-12)	7.5 (15.5, 2-19)	0.730**

Table 6.4: Mean demographic parameters of total CMR cohort, then comparison between severe and non-severe groups (severe=ppFEV₁<40%, non-severe=ppFEV₁ \geq 40%); BSA=body surface area, BMI=body mass index, SBP=systolic blood pressure, DBP=diastolic blood pressure, ppFEV1=percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second, CFRD=CF-related diabetes mellitus, PsA=Pseudomonas aeruginosa. {*Fishers exact test, **Mann Whitney U test).

Cardiac parameter	CF group (mean±SD) n=9	ppFEV1<40%	ppFEV ₁ >40%	P value
		n=5	n=4	
LV EDV (ml)	116.5 (21.3)	110.4 (22.6)	124.0 (19.8)	0.375
LV EDV indexed (ml/min ²)	67.0 (11.0)	61.5 (9.0)	73.9 (10.2)	0.096
LV ESV (ml)	44.4 (10.0)	43.6 (4.5)	45.4 (14.4)	0.809
LV ESV indexed (ml/min ²)	25.7 (6.0)	24.6 (4.4)	27.0 (8.2)	0.590
LV EF (%)	61.7 (6.22)	59.9 (5.9)	64.0 (6.7)	0.360
LV mass (g)	88.8 (17.8)	89.2 (18.2)	88.3 (19.9)	0.902
LV mass indexed (g/m ²)	50.8 (7.2)	49.6 (5.6)	52.4 (9.6)	0.606
LV max wall thickness (cm)	10.2 (1.24)	9.9 (1.1)	10.6 (1.4)	0.436
RV EDV (ml)	128.1 (19.2)	123.8 (23.3)	133.5 (13.9)	0.491
RV EDV indexed (ml/min ²)	73.7 (8.7)	69.1 (7.3)	79.6 (6.9)	0.062
RV ESV (ml)	55.9 (9.41)	56.9 (5.2)	54.7 (14.0)	0.749
RV ESV indexed (ml/min ²)	32.2 (5.2)	32.0 (1.8)	32.6 (8.1)	0.872
RV EF (%)	56.0 (6.40)	53.4 (4.9)	59.3 (7.2)	0.189
LA volume (ml)	61.2 (16.3)	58.5 (15.4)	73.5 (15.0)	0.185

RA volume (ml)	60.1 (19.2)	54.6 (23.3)	67.0 (11.9)	0.298
TAPSE (cm)	3.2 (3.9)	4.0 (5.3)	2.1 (0.7)	0.506
Aortic parameters				
Aortic distensibility (mmHg)	4.5 (2.1)	4.1 (1.7)	5.0 (2.9)	0.587
Pulse wave velocity (PWV) (m/s)	4.6 (2.9)	4.7 (3.8)	4.5 (0.9)	0.943
Myocardial tissue characterisation				
T1 (ms)	1033.3 (26.1)	1041 (31.4)	1024 (17.5)	0.389
T2 (ms)	47.7 (2.75)	46.8 (2.6)	48.9 (2.8)	0.285
ECV fraction (%)	26.5 (2.30)	25.7 (1.9)	27.5 (2.7)	0.282
Absolute myocardial ECM volume (ml)	22.2 (3.26)	21.7 (3.4)	22.8 (3.4)	0.635
LGE present (%) (n)	44.4 (n=4)	60% (n=3)	25% (n=1)	-
Size (g)	2.11 (1.11)	2.7 (0.3)	0.48	
Size (%)	1.98 (1.09)	2.5 (0.4)	0.4	
Infarct present (n)	n=0	n=0	n=0	-

Table 6.5: Cardiac MR measurements for total cohort and comparison between severe and non-severe groups (severe= $ppFEV_1 < 40\%$, non-severe= $ppFEV_1 > 40\%$); ECV=extracellular volume fraction, LGE=late gadolinium enhancement, TAPSE=The tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion, PWV=pulse wave velocity, EDV=end diastolic volume, ESV=end systolic volume, EF=ejection fraction, LV=left ventricle, RV=right ventricle.

Patient	LV EDV (ml)	LV EDV index (ml/m ²)	LV ESV (ml)	LV ESV index (ml/m ²)	LV mass (g)	LV mass index (g/m ²)	LV EF (%)	LV max wall thickness (cm)
1	113	69.2	47	28.8	67	41.1	59	8.7
2	109	66.0	36	21.8	76	46.0	67	10.0
3	138	63.7	42	19.4	112	51.7	70	9.2
4	150	85.0	61	34.6	117	66.3	59	12.0
5	115	67.4	47	27.6	85	49.9	59	9.5
6	75	46.5	33	20.5	79	49.0	56	10.6
7	108	64.4	31	18.2	86	51.3	72	11.5
8	129	80.0	54	33.5	74	45.9	58	8.9
9	111	60.8	49	26.9	103	56.4	56	11.5

Table 6.6: Left ventricular CMR data (adjusted for age and body surface area (BSA)).

Patient	RV EDV (ml)	RV EDV index (ml/m²)	RV ESV (ml)	RV ESV index (ml/m²)	RV EF (%)	TAPSE (cm)
1	121	74.3	55	34.0	54	1.3
2	133	80.5	57	34.5	57	2.0
3	161	74.3	66	30.5	59	1.5
4	151	85.6	67	38.0	55	2.3

5	127	74.5	56	32.8	56	1.8
6	99	61.4	53	32.9	46	13.5
7	117	69.8	35	20.6	70	2.9
8	133	82.5	60	37.2	55	1.3
9	111	60.8	54	29.6	52	2.0

Table 6.7: Right ventricular CMR data (adjusted for age and BSA), TAPSE=The tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion.

Patient	LA vol (ml)	LA vol index (ml/m²)	RA vol ml	RA vol index (ml/m²)
1	71	43.5	66	43.5
2	80	48.4	63	38.1
3	60	27.7	46	21.2
4	66	37.4	78	44.2
5	55	32.5	49	28.6
6	34	21.1	25	15.5
7	57	34.0	52	31.0
8	91	56.4	75	46.5

9 /2 39.5 8/ 4/./

Table 6.8: Atrial CMR data (adjusted for age and body surface area (BSA))

Pati	Aortic	PWV	ECV	Absolute myocardial	Absolute myocardial	Native T1	Native T2	Is LGE	Is infarct	LGE	LGE
ent	distensibility	(m/s)	(%)	ECM vol (ml)	cell vol (ml)	(ms)	(ms)	present	present	size (g)	size (%)
	(mmHg)										
1	3.6	1.8	27.7	17.7	46.1	1078	49	No	No		
2	5.2	4.8	29.3	21.2	51.1	1032	51	No	No		
3	3.6	6.1	23.2	24.8	81.9	996	45	Yes	No	2.3	2.1
4	NA	NA	25.0	27.9	83.5	1023	47	Yes	No	0.5	0.4
5	3.8	5.9	24.4	19.7	61.2	1029	48.5	Yes	No	2.7	2.6
6	7.1	8.2	27.1	20.4	54.9	1061	43	No	No		
7	7.8	3.5	25.4	20.8	61.1	1001	46	No	No		
8	2.1	5.3	30.2	21.3	49.2	1042	51.45	No	No		
9	2.5	5.1	26.2	25.7	72.3	1040	48.35	Yes	No	2.9	2.8

Table 6.9: Aortic and myocardial CMR data (adjusted for age and body surface area (BSA))

6.5 Discussion

6.5.1 General discussion

This is the first cardiac MRI study in older CF adults to date. Participants had no prior history of cardiovascular disease. Four out of nine patients had pre-imaging cardiovascular risk factors identified, in the form of systemic hypertension, hyperlipidaemia and/or a positive family history of cardiovascular disease. Over 60% of participants had CFRD. A high prevalence of localized LGE (44%) and raised ECV (56%) was found in this study group. Higher ECV was found in women. Biventricular function was within the normal range for all participants and was not affected by pulmonary disease severity. No patient had increased central arterial (aortic) stiffness based on CMR analysis.

Previous echocardiographic studies have eluded to left ventricular dysfunction in CF, however results have been variable and the conclusive detection of CF-related cardiomyopathy or overt myocardial disease in CF is yet to be achieved. The limitations of echocardiography in CF myocardial assessment may call for the utilisation of a more sensitive technique, with the ability to detect subtle or subclinical cardiac pathology, allowing timely management and reduction of cardiac comorbidity.

Although the right heart has been extensively studied in CF, in the context of cor pulmonale and advanced pulmonary disease, we must not discount other causes of cardiac abnormality in CF, especially in an ageing population with emerging cardiovascular risk. Study results of left ventricular function in CF to date, although not consistent, have shown abnormal LV function both at rest and with exercise(468)(502). The variation in results may indicate that the presence of LV dysfunction is associated with particular CF groups. This highlights a number of important questions;

- 1. Does CFTR genotype affect the susceptibility of cardiac disease in CF?
- 2. What are the role of modifier genes and the environment on cardiovascular risk in CF?

The optimisation of cardiac health in the ageing CF patient is of great importance as survival continues to increase and the cardiovascular challenges of ageing begin to emerge(503). Morbidity and mortality from cardiac disease in CF may become a reality in the ageing CF population, and the presence of cardiac disease in CF will have implications for quality of

life, organ transplantation and prognosis. Cardiac MR imaging has the ability to diagnose clinical and subclinical myocardial disease and, since myocardial fibrosis is related to adverse outcomes in a spectrum of cardiovascular pathology, may be an invaluable future imaging technique in CF.

6.5.2 Biventricular function

Normal RV function in this cohort is interesting given that five patients had advanced pulmonary disease. Importantly, none of the study participants were using long term oxygen therapy or non-invasive ventilation at the time of data collection. Right heart disease is classically associated with advanced lung pathology(516)(501)(470) and the presence of right heart failure has been shown to correlate with the degree of pulmonary severity in CF(470). However, results are variable and in fact some studies have shown normal RV function in those with severe lung disease(500)(517).

The minor abnormalities in left ventricular ESV and EDV in the context of normal ejection fraction and LV mass in two patients is likely a result of subtle analytical method differences in the contouring process and precision variation in CMR software used. Hence, we are not taking these results to be pathological. Given there are no other CMR studies in CF for comparison, it is difficult to interpret the clinical ramifications of our ventricular data. No significant correlation existed between ppFEV₁ and biventricular function in our older CF cohort, as we might have expected. A study by Sellers et al most closely reflects our findings, with essentially normal RV and LV echocardiographic parameters in CF adults with varying pulmonary severity, and a higher mean age than preceding studies (mean of 35 years)(500). It would be interesting to assess in a comparative younger disease cohort if longevity in CF might be influenced by preservation of right ventricular function even in the context of severe pulmonary disease. Using strain echocardiography, Labombarda and colleagues observed subclinical LV dysfunction with severe CF pulmonary disease and lower LVEF in CF patients (mean age 24 years) compared to healthy controls (492). Ozcelik et al observed no correlation between reduced RV and LV function in a paediatric CF cohort(518). Comparison of LV function with a healthy control group would be informative in an older CF population.

6.5.3 Aortic parameters

Aortic distensibility and PWV were within the normal range for all participants. Non-invasive arterial stiffness measurement (using the Vicorder[®], Skidmore Medical) were not compared to CMR results for the study participants due to small sample sizes and lack of validation of either method in the CF population. However, we note that CMR measurements of aortic stiffness may have superior accuracy(373). There was no significant difference in aortic stiffness with advancing age in our study group, a trend we may have expected given our Vicorder[®] results (see chapter 4) and that of arterial stiffness studies in the general population(337)(519). It is likely that this study group was not large enough to provide a conclusive arterial stiffness trend.

6.5.4 Late gadolinium enhancement (LGE)

LGE was present in four out of nine patients. This appears to be localised to the RV insertion point, known as RV insertion point fibrosis (RVIP). This is usually a benign process and requires no further investigation. However, right ventricular insertion fibrosis has been seen in association with certain disease entities and the accumulation of gadolinium at ventricular insertion points can be due to the presence of hypertrophied myocardium(520). Several CMR studies observing localized LGE due to RVIP fibrosis have been reported. Yi and colleagues describe RVIP fibrosis and LGE in the context of non-ischaemic dilated cardiomyopathy(521). This finding, however, had no bearing on future risk of adverse cardiac events in this cohort. The presence of LGE and RVIP fibrosis has been found in patients with pulmonary hypertension(522) and may be associated with more severe RV disease. Sato and colleagues identified RVIP fibrosis to be associated with abnormal interventricular septal movement in pulmonary hypertension (523). Freed and colleagues observed a relationship between RVIP fibrosis and severe pulmonary hypertension, associated with poorer prognosis. Freed et al also showed lower RVEF in patients with RVIPinduced LGE(524). However, this was not the case for our CF cohort, all with normal RVEF and no significant difference in RVEF between those with or without LGE (p=0.850). Interestingly, three out of the four patients with evidence of RVIP fibrosis were in the severe lung disease group (ppFEV $_1$ <40%), however there was no significant difference in RVEF between lung function groups (p=0.189).

Although not within the remit of our study, it would be prudent to combine the detection of RVIP fibrosis (as evidenced by LGE on CMR) with pulmonary arterial pressure studies, to assess the relationship between pulmonary hypertension and RVIP fibrosis in CF. However, in the absence of significant RV dysfunction in our cohort, interpretation of these findings and their associated clinical impact would be challenging. Blyth and colleagues report the use of NTpro-BNP levels as a measure of RV systolic dysfunction, showing good correlation to CMR analysis of RV function(525). Could this be applied in a CF context to detect subclinical RV impairment using NTpro-BNP as an alternative to invasive imaging techniques?

The presence of RV insertion fibrosis in a large number of study participants may elude to the possibility of a high prevalence of this in CF patients, and is consistent with pilot data from another study at our institution, assessing for myocardial abnormalities during CF pulmonary exacerbation. However, larger studies and those with comparative control groups will be required to assess a causal relationship.

6.5.5 ECV

The mean ECV for the total group was 26.5 (±2.30)%. Sado and colleagues report a normal CMR ECV range of 20 to 26%(526). ECV indices for myocardial infarction may be over 50%, however more subtle elevations in ECV of up to 28-29% may be seen with non-ischaemic cardiomyopathies(527). Miller et al reports ECV values of up to 30% in healthy controls(506). Therefore, a mean ECV of just over 26% in our CF group may not necessarily be an indicator of myocardial disease. However, if we were to take an ECV of 26% as the cut off for normal, 55.6% of our study group would have raised ECV and potential evidence of diffuse myocardial abnormality.

ECV values were significantly higher in female than male participants; mean of 29.1(±1.27) vs 25.2(±1.4)% (p=0.005). Higher ECV in women, as assessed by CMR, may be a normal physiological variant. Miller et al showed similar results in a group of healthy volunteers, with mean ECV 29.6±3.0% in women and 25.4±3.0% in men on the same MR scanner as used in our study(506). Sado and colleagues also reported higher ECV values in healthy females compared to males, also on a Siemens 1.5T MR scanner; x0.04% (SD difference 1.4)(526). Possible explanations for this include gender variation in cardiac disease expression, cardiac anatomy and haematocrit levels (required for ECV calculation). Given
that ECV measurement by CMR is a relatively new concept, this may warrant further investigation.

No significant difference was seen in biventricular function and ECV with age in our study. ECV has not been found to increase with advancing age in normal subjects(527). Based on normal reference data from Peterson et al(appendix 10)(512), there is no significant reduction in left and right ventricular function with age, particularly within the age range covered in our study. Arterial stiffness measurements using the Vicorder[®] were seen to increase with age in our previous study (see chapter 4), however this relationship was not seen with CMR. This may reflect the higher reliability of CMR at detecting abnormal aortic distensibility or, since we know that aortic distensibility does decrease with age(374), it may simply reflect inaccuracies of a smaller sample size used here.

There was a higher mean ECV seen in participants with CFRD than those without; 27.2(±2.1)% vs 25.1(±2.3)%, although this was not statistically significant (p=0.216). Wong and colleagues observed higher ECV values in patients with type two diabetes mellitus than non-diabetic comparators, with an association between raised ECV, a higher rate of hospital admission rates with cardiac failure and increased mortality(528). Interestingly, lower ECV was seen in patients already established on ACE inhibitors. CMR analysis of ECV may therefore represent a method with which to detect early myocardial change in diabetic patients.

Myocardial extracellular matrix enlargement indicates left ventricular remodelling and abnormal myocardium. CMR is an accurate and non-invasive method of assessing the myocardium and in calculating ECV(506). In addition to infiltrative cardiomyopathies such as amyloidosis, raised ECV is found in a number of other cardiac pathological processes to include myocardial infarction, hypertensive heart disease, diabetes mellitus and systemic inflammatory disorders, such as rheumatoid arthritis. All of the above, as previously discussed in the context of cardiovascular risk, may be relevant in CF, particularly in an ageing population with emerging multiorgan comorbidity. Analysis of ECV may thus be a useful marker of subclinical cardiac pathology and detecting future adverse cardiovascular events in CF. Pilot data from a cardiac MR study performed at our institution has shown raised ECV in a younger adult CF cohort (median age 28 years) during pulmonary exacerbation, possibly related to transient alterations in myocardial capillary permeability during acute infection. In addition, a strong negative correlation between ECV and severity of airflow obstruction was observed. Could recurrent myocardial injury during pulmonary exacerbation contribute to the development of myocardial fibrosis in CF? It would be interesting to assess the influence of pulmonary exacerbation on both biventricular function and myocardial composition in an older adult CF group.

6.5.6 Limitations of study

The high sensitivity and specificity of cardiac MR imaging confers accuracy in studies with small sample sizes. However, a CMR study in CF is likely to require a larger number of participants in order to provide conclusive results. Variability in cardiac image acquisition, assessment and cardiac contouring in CMR analysis is always a limitation of CMR studies and is also relevant here. CMR imaging in CF may also be limited by a lack of MRI safety data related to older port-a-cath devices, as was the case for one study participant. In severe pulmonary disease, CMR image quality may be affected by poor breath holding capacity and lack of ability to lie flat for the scan duration, limiting the viability of CMR in older CF patients with advanced pulmonary disease. Although not relevant in our cohort, intravenous contrast allergy and reduced renal function may also be limitations of CMR in older CF patients.

CMR data correction for BSA and gender allows for greater accuracy, however the lack of definite myocardial parameter reference ranges and uncertainty of causation of gender variation in ECV means that interpretation of myocardial findings in CF must be done cautiously. Further studies of CMR in CF are required.

6.6 Conclusion

Cardiac MR imaging is well tolerated in CF patients and provides high quality assessment of biventricular function, cardiac morphology and myocardial structure. An absence of right ventricular abnormalities was found in this older CF cohort, even in the presence of advanced pulmonary disease. Left ventricular function was also within the normal range for all participants. The prevalence of LGE due to RVIP fibrosis in this older CF cohort was high (44%), the significance of which is uncertain. RVIP, as shown by localised LGE on CMR, has been shown to be associated with pulmonary hypertension and worse prognosis in previous non-CF cardiac studies. Similar research in CF would be informative.

Higher ECV values were found in female CF patients, corroborating results from previous CMR studies, the significance of which is again uncertain. However, with the majority of ECV values higher than the recommended reference range in our study group, it is possible that this indicates a signal of raised ECV in older CF patients and the possibility of underlying myocardial abnormality. Larger studies with a focus on specific comorbidities would be useful in the assessment of causation and clinical impact of raised ECV in CF.

The presence of raised ECV in 44% of patients may highlight the need for closer attention to be paid to cardiac involvement in longer term CF survivors. The existence of myocardial disease is relevant in CF adults, not just a rarity in CF children, and the prevalence of cardiac abnormality in CF may be greater than originally thought.

Expense and availability of CMR is likely to limit its widespread use within the CF population in the determination of cardiac pathology. The use of NT-pro BNP measurements may be a useful adjunct to CF cardiovascular assessment as shown by Blyth et al(525). Cardiovascular pathology undoubtedly exists in older adult CF patients and its presence is likely to increase with improving survival. CFTR and non-CFTR related cardiac influences will be challenging to differentiate, however an increased awareness and exploration of cardiac disease in CF will allow the CF multidisciplinary team to be better equipped at early detection and treatment of additional comorbidity in this exigent chronic disease.

6.7 Study recommendations

This pilot study of cardiac MRI in an older CF cohort was well tolerated and provided suitable images for cardiac analysis.

- CMR may be a useful adjunctive tool in CF cardiac assessment, although greater numbers are required to determine its feasibility on a larger scale.
- Cardiovascular assessments should be performed regularly in long term CF survivors to determine cardiovascular risk and requirements for primary preventative treatment.
- 3. CMR may be a useful adjunct in older CF patients with high cardiovascular risk and/or cardiac symptoms.
- It may be interesting to perform CMR in older CF patients during and after pulmonary exacerbation to assess the relationship between pulmonary and cardiac function in the acute setting.
- CMR imaging pre and post CFTR modulator initiation may also be useful to assess the cardiac benefits of CFTR function restoration, and similarly CMR analysis may be informative before and after lung transplantation in CF.
- Further research into the benefits of cardiac MR imaging in CF is required and CMR may provide an option for non-invasive diagnosis of myocardial pathology, allowing early management and treatment of cardiovascular comorbidity.

Study	Date	Number of participants (n) and age range (years)	Patient group	Cardiac imaging modality	Results	LV studied?
Chipps et al(468)	1979	21 4 to 27 years	Range of CF severity – ppFEV ₁ 13 to 83%	M-mode echocardiography, radionuclide angiography	Decreased RV EF in 72%	LV EF abnormal at rest in 19%, on exercise in 14%
Allen et al(516)	1979	34 5 months to 35 years	Range of symptom severity	M-mode, 2D echocardiography	RV hypertrophy	Increased thickness of LV posterior wall, correlated with pulmonary severity
Matthay et al(501)	1980	22 14 to 27 years	Range of CF symptom severity	Radionuclide angiography	Abnormal RV in 41%, RV impairment correlate with CF severity	LV function normal in all patients
Panidis et al(517)	1985	17 CF, 10 controls 6-38 years	Range of severity: ppFEV ₁ 19-87%	M-mode, 2D and Doppler echocardiography	Well maintained RV in moderately severe CF lung disease	Preserved LV in presence of RV dysfunction
Johnson et al(471)	1991	25	Range of CF severity: ppFEV ₁ 13-99%	Doppler echocardiography	NA	Abnormal LV filling with severe pulmonary disease

		4 to 29 years				
Fraser et al(470)	1999	n=33 >18 years	Severe group (18): ppFEV ₁ <40% and moderate group (15): ppFEV ₁ 40-65%	M-mode, 2D and Doppler echocardiography	RV dysfunction correlates with severe pulmonary disease	LV dysfunction in one patient (aged 40, with CFRD)
Florea et al(472)	2000	103 15 to 57 years	Awaiting lung transplantation	Doppler echocardiography	RV dysfunction in severe CF pulmonary disease	No abnormalities in LV detected
Labombarda et al(492)	2011	42 CF 42 controls Mean age 24±7.5 years		Strain echocardiography		Subclinical LV abnormalities, correlating with severity of pulmonary disease. Lower LV EF in CF group.
Sellers et al(500)	2015	8 Mean age 35±13 years	Range of pulmonary severity: ppFEV ₁ 39- 106%	2D and strain echocardiography	Normal RV EF	Normal LV EF but subclinical LV systolic and diastolic abnormalities in CF patients

Giacchi(529)	2015	55	Range of pulmonary severity: ppFEV ₁ 22-	Doppler echocardiography	RV EF and TAPSE impaired in adult	Lower LV EF also seen (NS).
		(25 adults, 30 children)	130%		CF patients compared to controls.	

 Table 6.1: Echocardiographic studies commenting on left ventricular function in CF (NS=not significant, LV=left ventricle, RV=right ventricle, EF=ejection

 fraction, EF=ejection fraction, TAPSE=tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion).

The Complexities of Ageing in Cystic Fibrosis

7.0 Chapter 7: Summary and further work

7.1 Chapter three – The demographics of an older CF cohort

Cystic fibrosis as a disease entity has experienced a paradigm shift since its discovery in 1938. Treatment advances have rapidly evolved such that survival has improved exponentially, from less than one year to survival into the fifth decade and beyond. The most notable observation in long term CF survivors at MACFC was that they comprise a significant proportion of the total CF cohort at just over 20%. The number of older adult CF patients will undoubtedly continue to rise over the coming years with the recent increased availability of CFTR modulator therapy and further research into this fascinating group is therefore essential.

Chapter three addresses the first study aim: *To characterise the demographics of an older adult cystic fibrosis population, specifically those aged 40 years of age and above.*

This is one of only a handful of studies analysing the demographics of CF patients aged 40 years and above. This population is heterogeneous and diverse. I observed a high prevalence of severe CFTR mutations, a wide range of pulmonary disease severity and the majority had exocrine pancreatic insufficiency. Almost half had CF-related diabetes mellitus, a phenomenon expected with increasing age in CF. However, there existed a distinct group of late diagnosis, long term CF survivors with less severe phenotypic disease in our study cohort. The relationship between CFTR genotype and clinical phenotype is complex, however it is clear that less severe CFTR genotypes may confer survival advantage and may often present to clinical services in adulthood. With this said, the disease trajectory of these milder disease phenotypes may be unpredictable and we must not underestimate the importance of accurate diagnosis and adequate follow up of these patients within the CF multidisciplinary team.

A high proportion of our older cohort were in part or full time employment (55.3%) and a significant number had biological children (34.1%). This in itself is fascinating, given the poor prognosis of the majority of this group at the time of their CF diagnosis. The rapid

development of treatment over the latter part of the 20th century and beyond has led to an unrivalled survival increase in this orphan disease. Survival influences are multifactorial and unpicking their individual clinical influence is challenging.

Notably, almost 20% of our CF study group aged 40 years and above had systolic hypertension and just over 15% had hyperlipidaemia, evidencing some age-related cardiovascular risk in this population. This is an important area for further study in order to reduce further comorbidity in an already complex multi-system disease.

7.2 Chapter four – Cardiovascular risk in an older CF cohort

Cardiovascular disease accounts for 30% of deaths worldwide, observing no geographical or socioeconomic boundaries. Cardiovascular risk assessment and management is therefore essential and relevant to all disease populations. Historically, the early mortality in CF has meant that cardiovascular disease is extremely rare. However, similar to other inflammatory chronic diseases, CFTR dysfunction may present a degree of cardiovascular risk and the prevalence of cardiovascular disease is likely to increase in an ageing CF population. Potential cardiovascular risk factors also include fat malabsorption, salt intake and high fat diets. Therefore, cardiovascular risk modification must not be overlooked in long term CF survivors and a high prevalence of systemic hypertension and hyperlipidaemia in this cohort emphasises this point. The usefulness of apolipoprotein measurement as an adjunct to conventional lipid monitoring is unclear in CF, given the good correlation between equivalent cholesterol parameters and the relatively low prevalence of statin use in CF.

Chapter four addresses the study aims two and three:

- To assess the cardiovascular risk and contributory factors in this cohort, including the prevalence of systemic hypertension, hypercholesterolaemia and CF-related diabetes mellitus (CFRD).
- To assess arterial stiffness parameters in the older adult CF patient, whether this is augmented in CF when compared with the general population, and a chronic kidney disease (CKD) cohort, and thus if CF patients are at risk of premature vascular ageing as part of their disease process.

In this first study of cardiovascular risk prediction in CF, over 30% of participants had a cardiovascular risk score of over 10% using the QRisk[®] calculators. This is an important

finding and may present an opportunity to diagnose and implement primary prevention prior to cardiovascular morbidity in CF. Inherent CFTR-related cardiovascular risk exists, including chronic systemic inflammation, arterial stiffening and endothelial dysfunction, independent of age-related atherosclerotic disease. Our older CF cohort had a high prevalence of increased aortic stiffness and arteriosclerosis, as measured by non-invasive methods, and showed a higher risk of increased Alx than a matched CKD group. This is significant and may represent premature vascular ageing in CF. The high prevalence of CFrelated diabetes mellitus in an older CF group presents cardiovascular challenges, as does organ transplantation at older ages.

Total cholesterol levels appear to increase with age in our study cohort, and just over 15% had hyperlipidaemia. Although the prevalence of hyperlipidaemia in our CF cohort was lower than see in the general population, lipid monitoring in CF should form an integral part of cardiovascular risk assessment, along with adequate management of CFRD, systemic hypertension, renal disease and obesity.

The measurement of arterial stiffness, although non-invasive, is time consuming and likely not feasible in CF outside of a research setting. However, it would be recommended for CF patients aged 40 years and above to undergo regular comprehensive cardiovascular assessment including serum lipid profiles, blood pressure monitoring and cardiovascular risk scoring using QRisk®3. Classification of CFRD as type one or type two diabetes mellitus (T1DM, T2DM) has implications for QRisk® scoring, showing lower results with QRisk®3, a more sensitive predictive tool than its predecessor and currently recommended by NICE. Since QRisk® scores are higher with CFRD classed as T1DM and most CF diabetics use insulin therapy, it may be logical to use this diabetic phenotype in CF cardiovascular risk scoring. Further work into cardiovascular risk scoring in CF is certainly needed to assess benefit in this setting.

Cardiovascular disease often co-exists with renal dysfunction, as evidenced by the enhanced cardiovascular risk seen in the CKD population. Therefore, it is a logical step in older CF patients to assess cardiovascular and renal risk simultaneously. There are many factors that may contribute to renal decline in CF and this study begins to explore some of these in the context of an older CF cohort.

7.3 Chapter five – The kidney in an older CF cohort

Chapter five addresses the study aims four and five.

- To assess the prevalence and causative factors of renal disease in an older adult CF population.
- To better define the most accurate method of calculating renal function (using glomerular filtration rate, GFR) in order to diagnose early renal disease in higher risk groups, such as those with CFRD.

This is the first study of renal disease in an older adult CF cohort, observing a high prevalence of renal dysfunction. Abnormal GFR and the presence of proteinuria is high, although the prevalence of CKD stage 3 is relatively low and in line with previous studies in adult CF. Renal pathology in CF has many influencing factors. The renal impact of chronic treatment with cumulative intravenous aminoglycoside exposure, immunosuppressant use following organ transplantation and an increasing prevalence of CFRD with age, to name the most significant. Glomerulonephropathies are rare in CF, however early detection of proteinuria is essential in order to diagnose and manage intra-renal pathology effectively. Nephrolithiasis, recurrent pulmonary sepsis and the impact of associated acute renal impairment have also been shown to contribute to chronic renal disease over time. The development of atherosclerotic renovascular disease, systemic hypertension and an ageing kidney are all also likely to contribute to renal decline in older CF patients.

Accurate determination of renal function in CF, as measured by GFR, is crucial for renal monitoring in the context of nephrotoxic medication use, post-transplantation and in early detection of renal decline. Estimated GFR using creatinine based methods are inaccurate in this population, however cystatin C based eGFR equations seem to be the most accurate in our study population, and cystatin C has been shown to rise with increasing aminoglycoside burden in this cohort. However, endogenous renal biomarkers still represent limitations and underestimate GFR when compared to gold standard iohexol GFR. Underestimation of GFR in this population was unexpected, however similar GFR underestimation has been seen in some diabetic populations. This is the first study of iohexol GFR in an ageing CF cohort and was limited by small numbers. Further iohexol research would be extremely informative in order to understand accurate GFR determination in CF and to monitor renal function effectively over time in this population with emerging renal disease.

Recommendations for renal monitoring in CF include urine ACR measurements in both diabetics and non-diabetics and an increasing frequency of testing with age, allowing early identification and treatment of renal disease. Our results showed a relationship between greater intravenous aminoglycoside exposure and higher cystatin C levels, perhaps an indicator of aminoglycoside-related renal damage. The measurement of serum cystatin C may be a useful guide in determining safety and suitability of intravenous aminoglycoside in older CF patients with renal dysfunction. Although it is likely not feasible to use iohexol GFR outside of a research setting in CF, measured GFR may be important for higher risk patient subgroups; those with chronic renal impairment in the context of nephrotoxic medication dosing, organ transplant recipients on immunosuppression and those with intra-renal pathology, such as IgA nephropathy, and at risk of renal decline. A single sample iohexol protocol would provide more clinical practicality than multi-sample, and may therefore be feasible in these higher risk CF patient groups to determine accurate GFR.

7.4 Chapter 6 – Cardiac MRI in an older CF cohort

Although the right heart in the context of CF pulmonary disease has been extensively studied using echocardiographic methods, there is sparse data reported for left ventricular function and myocardial pathology in CF. Emerging cardiovascular risk in this older CF population has been observed and may influence the prevalence of ischaemic heart disease and cardiomyopathy with ageing. Abnormal CFTR protein has been shown to affect myocardial function and this inherent CFTR-associated cardiac risk may contribute to primary cardiomyopathy, compounded by the emergence of secondary cardiovascular risk in this ageing CF population.

Chapter six addresses study aim number six: *To investigate cardiac structure, function and the presence of myocardial fibrosis in older adult CF patients.*

Cardiac MR imaging (CMR) represents a highly sensitive and specific technique in the assessment of biventricular structure and function, particularly in the detection of myocardial pathology. Advantages over echocardiography include superior image acquisition and less influence of pulmonary hyperinflation and breathing artefact on image quality. This is the first study of CMR in CF. Interestingly, although normal left and right atrial and ventricular function was seen in all patients, evidence of raised ECV was seen in over 50%, possibly indicative of abnormal myocardial composition. Delayed gadolinium

contrast washout (LGE) was seen in four patients, related to RVIP fibrosis, the relevance of which is uncertain but warrants further investigation given its link with pulmonary hypertension and poorer prognosis in the non-CF population. Subclinical myocardial pathology may be present in older adult CF patients, perhaps representing the influence of CF longevity on cardiovascular disease. Abnormal myocardial studies in older adult CF patients is a new and additional finding to the childhood CF myocardial fibrosis phenomenon reported in multiple previous post-mortem studies.

The role of CMR in CF outside of a research setting is contentious due to cost, timing and requirement of intravenous contrast. However, its high sensitivity in detailing cardiac function presents a definite advantage in further assessment in patients at high risk of or with suspected cardiovascular disease. Further research into cardiac structure and function in CF adults is essential in order to understand the effect of emerging cardiovascular risk in this cohort and the impact on disease morbidity and mortality as survival continues to increase.

7.5 Recommendations

- CF patients aged 40 years and above should receive a comprehensive cardiovascular risk assessment including lipid profiles, blood pressure monitoring and QRisk[®]3 scoring. As in the general population, the timely implementation of primary prevention therapy is paramount to avoid cardiovascular morbidity and mortality.
- Urine ACR should be used in older CF patients both with and without CFRD for regular assessment of renal function and early detection of renal disease.
- Intravenous aminoglycosides may need to be avoided in older CF patients with renal dysfunction. Serum Cystatin C measurement may assist to identify older CF patients at higher risk of aminoglycoside-induced nephrotoxicity.
- The use of CMR in older adult CF patients is currently no more than a research entity. However, given its feasibility in this cohort, the implementation of CMR on a wider scale could be considered in long term CF survivors with emerging cardiovascular risk to provide detailed analysis of cardiac structure and function.

7.6 Study strengths

This is a large study of the CF population aged 40 years and above, and one of only a handful of its kind. This study area is very relevant in this era of CFTR modulation and increasing survival. This is the first study to examine the use of arterial stiffness measurements, QRisk[®] scoring, iohexol GFR and CMR in an older adult CF cohort, with good patient recruitment and study feasibility. Significant findings in some of these novel areas may warrant their further investigation in larger studies of comorbid ageing CF patients. Vast amounts of data have been collated for this patient group at MACFC, which will act as a valuable database for future studies in this older CF population.

7.7 Study weaknesses

A number of weaknesses of this study should be recognised. This is a cross sectional, observational analysis of an older CF cohort and therefore assumptions regarding factors contributing to disease longevity must be interpreted with caution. Longitudinal data would provide more informative analysis and conclusions.

A lack of standardisation of Vicorder[®] arterial stiffness measurements and QRisk[®] scoring in CF makes these techniques less transferrable to CF care and may limit their future use.

The study of CF cohorts in general, but particularly those aged 40 years and above, is associated with the inevitability of small sample sizes. Larger sample sizes are needed to increase the reliability and accuracy of data analysis, and when attributing conclusions to the CF population as a whole. Larger, multicentre epidemiological studies are required to analyse and interpret survival influences in the older CF community.

Longitudinal studies with larger sample sizes are required to assess GFR decline over time in the older CF population. Iohexol sampling may be impractical in CF settings and there is thus necessity for the development of simpler mGFR techniques and further research into the reliability of cystatin C GFR monitoring in CF.

CMR study in CF is likely to require a larger number of participants in order to provide conclusive results. Variability in cardiac image acquisition, assessment and cardiac contouring in CMR analysis is always a limitation of CMR studies and varies greatly between

imaging centres. Interpretation of myocardial findings in CF must be done cautiously and further studies of CMR in CF are required.

7.8 Further work

Surviving longer with CF will give rise to ageing comorbidities in this already complex and challenging disease. Multidisciplinary CF teams must strategically adapt to account for ageing complications of CF disease in order to optimise management, costing and structure of services as patient numbers and comorbid disease burden increases.

Further research into the CFTR-related and non-CFTR-related influences of ageing in CF is essential to increase our understanding of these long term CF survivors and their disease characteristics. It seems increasingly possible for CF patients to live long, full lives without the burden of multiple chronic therapies, particularly as we see the roll-out of CFTR modulators on a larger scale. CF patients have changing perspectives of their disease, allowing thoughts of a reality of living with chronic disease rather than suffering its allencompassing consequences. As CF healthcare professionals, we perhaps also need to change historical perspectives of CF as a poor prognostic disease entity and shift management towards an ageing chronic disease. However, there will remain a proportion of CF patients with early mortality and genetic ineligibility for CFTR modulation, hence the importance of traditional therapies and maintaining quality of life remains a priority. The high burden of cardiovascular and renal disease within an ageing general population deems the further study of these areas in older CF cohorts essential. This is of particular importance given the relatively novel concepts that cardiovascular and renal disease burden represent in long term CF survivors, with consequent lack of available data, and during a time of significant CF treatment change with the widespread use of CFTR modulation.

Based on this study, I would recommend the following further research;

- The use of QRisk[®] scores on a wider scale in CF and the efficacy of statin treatment and macrolide antimicrobials on reduction of inflammatory burden and cardiovascular risk in long term CF survivors.
- 2. The study of carotid intima-medial thickness in CF may further inform cardiovascular risk in this group.

- 3. Further study into the practicality of cystatin C in older CF patients and its accuracy in determination of GFR in this population.
- 4. The use of iohexol mGFR as capillary and one-sample protocols to determine the most accurate method of renal function monitoring, the feasibility of this test and to assess renal decline over time, in higher risk ageing CF patient groups.
- 5. Larger studies assessing the use of cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in older CF patients.

8.0 Appendix 1: The QRisk[®]3 score for cardiovascular risk prediction

Age 25-84	
Gender	Male Female
Ethnicity	White or not stated, Indian, Pakistani, Bangladeshi, other Asian, Black Caribbean, Black African, Chinese, Other ethnic origin
UK Postcode (a measure of deprivation)	
Smoking status	Non-smoker
	Ex-smoker
	Light smoker (less than 10)
	Moderate smoker (10 to 19)
	Heavy smoker (20 or over)
Diabetes status	None
	Туре 1
	Type 2
Angina or heart attack in a 1st degree relative < 60?	Yes/No
Chronic kidney disease stage 3*, 4 or 5?	Yes/No
Atrial fibrillation?	Yes/No
Are you on blood pressure treatment?	Yes/No
Do you have rheumatoid arthritis?	Yes/No
Do you have SLE?*	Yes/No
Do you have migraines?*	Yes/No
Do you have severe mental illness?*	Yes/No
(this includes schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, moderate/severe depression)	

Are you on anti-psychotic medication?*	Yes/No (Amisulpride, aripiprazole, clozapine, lurasidone, olanzapine, paliperidone, quetiapine, risperidone, sertindole, or zotepine)
Are you on regular steroid tablets?*	Yes/No
Do you have erectile dysfunction or are on treatment for this?*	Yes/No
Cholesterol/HDL ratio	
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	
Standard deviation of at least two most recent systolic blood	
Weight (kg)	
Height (cm)	
Calculate SCORE (risk)	

Figure 1.7: Example of QRisk[®]3 score parameters(162).

9.0 App	endix 2:	Patient	study	questic	onnaire
---------	----------	---------	-------	---------	---------

Complexities of Ageing in Cystic Fibrosis	Comp	lexities	of	Agein	g in	Cystic	Fib	rosis
---	------	----------	----	-------	------	--------	-----	-------

Patient Questionnaire

Version 2.0: 21st December 2018

IRAS No:	257209
-----------------	--------

Patient number

Age

Genotype (if known)

Age at diagnosis

Clinic group

Are you currently on any modulator therapy? (e.g. Ivacaftor, symdeko, orkambi)

Y N
Do you take creon? Y N
Do you have diabetes Y N
Are you on insulin? Y N
Have you ever had allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis, or ABPA? Y
Are you on steroids currently? Y
Are you on itraconazole? Y
Do you have liver problems? Y N
Do you have low bone mineral density? Y
Have you ever had a pneumothorax? (lung collapse) Y N
If yes, have you every required a chest drain? Y
Have you ever had problems with haemoptysis? (blood in the sputum) $$ Y $$ N $$
If Yes, have you ever had a procedure to stop this bleeding called a bronchial artery embolization?

Y	
Have you ever had kidney problems or renal ston	
Details	
Do you have high blood pressure? Y	N 🗌
If yes, what medication are you on?	
Do you have high cholesterol? Y	N 🗌
If yes, are you on medication and if so what?	
Have you ever had any problems with your hearing	
Have you ever had a hearing test (audiogram)?	
Social	
Who do you live with?	
Are you married? Y	
Please choose one of the following that is most ap	oplicable;
In full time studyIn full time employment	Details Details
• In part time study	Details
In part time employmentUnemployed currently	Details
Do you have any children? Y	N 🗌
If so, how many?	
	7
Have you ever smoked? Y L N	
If yes, How many cigarettes per day?	

How many years did you smoke for?
Do you have a family history of any lung disease? Y
If yes, what lung disease and who in the family?
Do you have a family history of heart disease? Y
If Yes, what heart disease?
Which member of your family and how old were they when they first event?
Do you have a family history of high cholesterol? Y N
Have you ever suffered from anxiety? Y
If yes, are you on medication for this?
Have you every suffered with depression? Y
If yes, are you on medication for this?
Do you have problems with erectile dysfunction? Y
Have you ever had a diagnosis of rheumatoid arthritis? Y
Have you ever had a diagnosis of systemic vasculitis (SLE)? Y
Have you ever had a HIV test? Y

Thank you for taking the time to complete this questionnaire.

Dr Sarah Paterson

Manchester Adult Cystic Fibrosis Centre, Wythenshawe Hospital

10.0 Appendix 3: Iohexol sampling protocol

- 1. Verbal consent will be taken from each patient.
- 2. A cannula is inserted into a peripheral arm vein and baseline blood samples taken to include creatinine, eGFR and cystatin C.
- 3. An injection of Omnipaque[®]/iohexol (300mg IU, 5mls) is administered via the cannula over a 20 second to two minute period, with the time precisely recorded.
- 4. The cannula is then flushed with 10mls of 0.9% normal saline.
- 5. The patient will be observed for 30 minutes to ensure, in the rare event, there is no allergic reaction.
- 6. The second blood sample is taken at 30 minutes, from the contralateral arm to the iohexol injection.
- Further blood samples are then taken from contralateral arm at 120, 180 and 240 minutes after iohexol injection.
- Capillary samples will be taken at 120, 180 and 240 minutes along with serum samples, using a Mitra device (10 microlitre sample) and a size seven lancet needle at a suitable peripheral site on the index finger.
- Samples are transported to the laboratory at Wythenshawe Hospital. Patient height, weight, baseline observations and precise date and time of each sample will be recorded on the laboratory request form.
- 10. Venous blood samples are centrifuged to separate plasma and serum, labelled and then stored in aliquots at -80 degrees centigrade within six hours of venepuncture (performed by researcher).
- 11. Mitra capillary samples will be processed and stored next to serum samples, labelled accordingly (done by researcher).
- 12. Following completion of sample collection for all patients, these will be processed in one group so as to avoid any limitations of inter-batch processing variation.
- 13. Samples will be processed using liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS)(262) by David Marshall, senior laboratory biochemist, MFT.

11.0 Appendix 4: The Wescor macroduct sweat test procedure

- The area preferred for stimulation of sweat is the inside of the forearm. It is
 important that the selected site is free of breaks, fissures, inflammation and any
 observable abnormality.
- The selected area of skin is cleaned thoroughly with deionised water to remove dirt, fatty material and dead cells to minimise electrical impedance. The area is then left wet or a drop of water added to the skin to minimise the risk of burns.
- The pilogel discs are placed on the underside of both the positive and negative electrode.
- The discs are gently rotated, applying light continuous pressure, until contact between disc and electrode is uniform and air free.
- The positive electrode (red) is placed onto the forearm followed by the negative electrode (black), a few centimetres proximal to the positive.
- A velcro strap is used to ensure firm and secure attachment of each electrode, such that the pilogel disc portion of the electrode is pressed flat against the skin. There should be moderate pressure to minimise discomfort, but not so much as to damage the gel discs.
- The electrodes are connected to the small electrical device which will provide iontophoresis. The iontophoresis process is then activated by holding the control switch until a beep is heard and a green light appears.
- Iontophoresis then proceeds automatically for 5-6 minutes.
- The macroduct sweat collector is prepared during the iontophoresis process. The macroduct sweat collector is removed from its packaging and a macroduct strap of suitable size is prepared to hold this in position on the skin for the collection phase of the process.
- At completion of iontophoresis, an audible tone will sound briefly, and the instrument will switch off.
- The negative (black) electrode is removed first and the skin cleaned with water. Then positive (red) electrode is then removed.

- The stimulated skin surface underlying the positive electrode is cleaned thoroughly with water and dried thoroughly with tissue in order to emphasise the erythema in this area.
- The macroduct sweat collector is attached firmly to the limb by applying the concave surface of the macroduct collector precisely over the area of skin contacted by the pilogel disc of the red electrode. The Velcro strap is wrapped around the limb and secured, ensuring a complete seal around the skin. This must not be overtightened as this will impede capillary attraction and result in inadequate sweat volume.
- Sweat should be collected for between 20 and 30 minutes, unless the macroduct tube is full earlier, according to national guidelines. This should give 20-90 milligrams (mg) of sweat, with a minimum of 20mg being required.
- The sweat sample is then removed and stored. This must be carried out while the macroduct is intact to the limb by removing the cover using a blunt needle, peeling open the micro tubing and attaching securely to a blunt needle and syringe. The spiral tubing is fully extended by lifting and the tube is then cut as closely as possible to the collector surface.
- The tubing containing the sweat can then be transferred to a sealable 10ml container for storage prior to analysis.
- The collector is then removed from the patient and discarded. Electrodes are cleaned with deionised water and wiped dry.

12.0 Appendix 5: Cardiac MRI study protocol

1.5T CMR scanner (Avanto, Siemens).

- 1. Orthogonal localisers
- 2. Bright blood TrueFISP (Axial Stack)
- 3. CH2, CH4, SA localisers
- 4. CH4 cine
- 5. CH2 cine
- 6. CH3 cine
- 7. LVOT cine
- 8. Aortic valve cine
- 9. RVOT
- 10. MOLLI CH4, basal and mid short axis. Ensure quality.
- 11. T2 basal and mid short axis
- 12. Give contrast (gadolinium)
- 13. SA cine stack. 8mm slices. 2mm gap.
- 14. TI Scout (6 mins after contrast)
- 15. CH4, CH2, CH3 PSIR DE TruFISP
- 16. SA PSIR DE TruFISP
- 17. MOLLI (448B) basal and mid short axis. Ensure quality / 15mins after

contrast

- 18. Aortic candystick cine
- 19. Cine perpendicular to the ascending and descending aorta at

pulmonary bifurcation level (40 phases). Measure BP during acquisition.

20. Phase encoded velocity mapping (VENC 1.5 m/s) of the aorta

- perpendicular to the ascending and descending aorta at pulmonary
- bifurcation level i.e. copy image position from Step 20. (40 phases).

Patient	Age	Gender	BMI	Allele 1	Allele 2	CFTR modulator	Age at diagnosis (years)	FEV ₁ (L)	ppFEV1 (%)	FVC (L)
1	46	М	25	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	0.71	20	1.82
2	68	M	26.6	Phe508del	Asp1152His	0	60	2.28	88	3
3	40	M	22.5	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	1.37	34	2.61
4	48	M	26.6	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	1	3	1.83	49	3.46
5	47	F	22.9	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1.5	1.44	52	3.14
6	47	M	24.8	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0.25	1.22	39	3.15
7	45	M	24.4	Phe508del	1078delT	0	-	1.85	52	2.73
8	47	M	28.8	Gly551Asp	Gly551Asp	1	1.5	2.35	65	3.25
9	45	F	24.9	Phe508del	Arg553X	0	3	1.66	58	2.93
10	47	F	22.2	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1.2	2.11	75	2.87
11	45	M	23	Phe508del	1461insAGAT	0	2.5	1.48	43	3.43
12	63	M	26	Phe508del	3272-26A-G	1	0	1.05	32	2.74
13	46	M	24.1	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	0	-	4.02	94	5.88
14	51	M	26.4	Phe508del	Ser945Leu	0	12	2.19	61	3.74
15	47	M	23.1	1507del	2711delT	0	0	2.8	75	3.77

13.0 Appendix 6: Demographic data for total study population

16	50	М	21.4	1507del	2711delT	0	4	2.03	55	3.33
17	67	М	20.2	Phe508del	C.1538A>G	0	47	0.67	19	1.79
18	49	М	28	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	4	1.91	51	4.18
19	41	М	24.9	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	-	2.42	59	6.17
20	58	F	21.8	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	43	0.86	39	1.54
21	50	М	23.4	Gly551Asp	Gly551Asp	1	0	0.95	25	2.37
22	70	F	17.5	Phe508del	Arg117His-5T	1	38	1.19	56	1.96
23	47	F	19.3	Phe508del	Pro67Leu	1	19	2.24	75	4.01
24	41	М	26.6	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0.25	1.12	25	3.64
25	48	F	22.3	Phe508del	Val520Phe	0	0	0.86	33	2.33
26	66	М	23.4	Phe508del	TG12-5T	0	58	1.83	56	3.84
27	42	F	21.3	Phe508del	Arg117His-5T	1	26	0.77	26	1.81
28	66	F	30.5	Phe508del	TG12-5T	0	64	1.96	87	2.5
29	44	М	29.5	Phe508del	Asp1152His	0	-	3.53	92	4.69
30	50	М	25.2	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	5	3.11	75	5.32
31	52	F	24.7	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	1	1	0.7	31	1.53
32	49	M	26	Phe508del	711+3A>G	0	34	1.44	41	2.73

33	55	М	23.4	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0.5	1.61	39	3.62
34	49	М	25.7	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	0	21	3.64	86	4.91
35	53	М	23.2	Phe508del	Ser945Leu	0	25	0.7	23	2.95
36	40	F	20.2	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0.56	19	1.82
37	48	F	22.4	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	1.82	62	2.72
38	58	М	28.3	Arg117His-7T	Arg117His-7T	0	55	4.3	110	4.2
39	79	М	24.1	Phe508del	TG12-5T	0	72	2.64	96	3.82
40	41	F	24.4	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	6	0.95	36	2.13
41	53	F	18.4	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0.25	0.75	33	1.5
42	45	М	26	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0.75	2.91	91	4.22
43	48	М	22.2	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	1.39	40	3.47
44	43	М	27.4	Phe508del	Arg560Thr	0	0.5	2.97	63	5.17
45	48	М	22.7	Phe508del	1154insTC	0	1.5	1.72	44	4.63
46	52	F	21	Phe508del	c.3874-4522A>G	0	16	0.65	25	1.85
47	53	М	21.5	Phe508del	Asp579Tyr	0	10	1.15	32	3.46
48	47	F	30.3	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	3	1.35	48	2.21
49	56	F	23	Arg117His-7T	Arg117H-7T	0	54	2.62	94	3.42

50	47	M	21.8	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0.3	1.39	35	3.39
51	48	F	18.7	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	-	0.63	21	1.55
52	45	М	24.2	Phe508del	3600G>4	0	19	1.73	47	3.3
53	40	М	23.2	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	3	2.28	55	5.08
54	48	М	27.4	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	0	0.5	2.1	58	4.68
55	42	М	26.1	3659DelC	Leu633Pro	0	0	2.9	72	4.5
56	41	М	25	Phe508del	621+1G>T	0	3	0.75	18	1.41
57	47	F	27	Phe508del	711+3A>G	0	40	3.06	100	3.56
58	50	F	22.2	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	-	0.95	34	2.3
59	54	М	21.5	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	0	27	2.47	73	4.3
60	42	F	19.4	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	5	0.88	33	1.77
61	61	М	25.3	Phe508del	711+1G>T	0	0	1.04	30	2.72
62	47	М	23.5	Phe508del	621+1G>T	0	0.5	1.25	35	3.2
63	51	М	27.9	Phe508del	Gly542X	0	0	1.42	42	3.05
64	50	F	21	Arg553X	Gln493X	0	1.5	1.62	54	2.62
65	40	М	23.3	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	2.05	52	4.15
66	44	F	21.6	Phe508del	Arg792X	0	0.25	1.66	59	2.29

67	40	M	19.9	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	1.68	45	4.08
68	51	F	22.5	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	1	0.75	1.26	46	2.63
69	40	F	25	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0.97	31	2.77
70	49	М	30	Phe508del	c.3874-4522A>G	0	35	3.1	85	3.73
71	41	F	19.4	Phe508del	Trp1310X	0	1	0.99	30	1.76
72	49	М	24	Phe508del	Arg352Gln	0	0	1.68	48	3.02
73	52	F	23	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	-	0.9	34	1.68
74	40	М	22	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1.5	2.15	57	3.56
75	40	F	23.5	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	1	2	1.33	46	2.19
76	51	F	23.6	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1.5	2.26	80	3.43
77	44	М	26.5	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	3	3.33	81	5.08
78	40	М	23.4	Phe508del	621+1G>T	0	1	2.73	73	4.11
79	44	М	22.8	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	-	0.92	24	2.49
80	47	М	23	Gly551Asp	pAsn13O3Lys	0	9	2.2	61	3.32
81	40	М	24	1154insTC	2118delAACT	0	0.25	2.27	65	3.34
82	46	М	25.2	Phe508del	Arg117His-5T	0	39	4.94	103	6.98
83	47	М	16.9	Phe508del	1078delT	0	7	0.81	19	2.09

84	43	Μ	25.8	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0.5	2.03	47	3.58
85	41	М	35.8	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	0	30	3.41	75	4.12

Table 3.1a: General demographics of total study cohort (for analysis purpose, 0=no/not present, 1=yes/present), ppFEV₁-percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second, FVC=forced vital capacity.

Patient	Age	Gender	Allele 1	Allele 2	PsA	BCC	MRSA	NTM	IV days	Oral Corticosteroids	Neb Abx	Neb mucolytic
1	46	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	0	0	276	0	1	1
2	68	М	Phe508del	Asp1152His	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
3	40	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	138	0	1	1
4	48	М	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	1	0	0	0	83	0	1	0
5	47	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0		0	1	0
6	47	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	273	0	1	1
7	45	М	Phe508del	1078delT	0	1	0	0	100	1	1	0
8	47	М	Gly551Asp	Gly551Asp	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
9	45	F	Phe508del	Arg553X	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
10	47	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	0	0	65	0	1	1
11	45	М	Phe508del	1461insAGAT	1	0	0	0	6	0	1	0

12	63	М	Phe508del	3272-26A-G	0	0	0	0	42	0	0	1
13	46	М	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
14	51	М	Phe508del	Ser945Leu	0	0	0	0	150	0	1	0
15	47	Μ	1507del	2711delT	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
16	50	М	1507del	2711delT	1	0	1	0	48	0	1	0
17	67	М	Phe508del	C.1538A>G	0	0	0	0	90	1	0	0
18	49	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
19	41	Μ	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	0	0	188	0	1	1
20	58	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	0	0		0	1	0
21	50	М	Gly551Asp	Gly551Asp	0	1	0	0	170	0	0	0
22	70	F	Phe508del	Arg117His-5T	1	0	0	0	110	0	1	1
23	47	F	Phe508del	Pro67Leu	1	0	0	0	62	1	1	1
24	41	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	398	0	1	1
25	48	F	Phe508del	Val520Phe	1	0	0	1	28	0	1	0
26	66	М	Phe508del	TG12-5T	0	0	1	0	14	0	1	0
27	42	F	Phe508del	Arg117His-5T	0	1	1	0	150	0	1	1
28	66	F	Phe508del	TG12-5T	0	0	0	0	6	0	0	0

29	44	Μ	Phe508del	Asp1152His	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
30	50	Μ	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	63	0	1	1
31	52	F	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	1	0	0	0	126	0	1	1
32	49	Μ	Phe508del	711+3A>G	1	0	0	0	423	1	1	1
33	55	Μ	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0		0	1	1
34	49	Μ	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
35	53	Μ	Phe508del	Ser945Leu	1	0	0	0	440	1	1	1
36	40	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0		1	1	1
37	48	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	0	0	203	0	1	0
38	58	М	Arg117His-7T	Arg117His-7T	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
39	79	М	Phe508del	TG12-5T	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
40	41	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	504	0	1	1
41	53	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	216	0	1	1
42	45	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	56	0	1	0
43	48	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	1
44	43	М	Phe508del	Arg560Thr	0	1	0	0	136	0	1	1
45	48	М	Phe508del	1154insTC	1	0	0	0	121	0	1	1

46	52	F	Phe508del	c.3874-4522A>G	1	0	0	0	170	0	1	1
47	53	Μ	Phe508del	Asp579Tyr	1	0	0	0	130	0	0	0
48	47	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
49	56	F	Arg117His-7T	Arg117H-7T	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
50	47	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	0	0	46	0	1	1
51	48	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	314	1	1	1
52	45	М	Phe508del	3600G>4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
53	40	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
54	48	М	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	1	0	0	0	86	0	0	0
55	42	М	3659DelC	Leu633Pro	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
56	41	М	Phe508del	621+1G>T	1	0	0	0		0	1	0
57	47	F	Phe508del	711+3A>G	1	0	0	0	10	0	0	0
58	50	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	39	0	1	1
59	54	М	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	0	0	0	0	9	0	0	0
60	42	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	1	0	295	0	1	1
61	61	М	Phe508del	711+1G>T	1	0	0	0	117	0	1	0
62	47	Μ	Phe508del	621+1G>T	1	0	0	0	193	0	1	0

63	51	М	Phe508del	Gly542X	1	0	0	0	562	1	1	1
64	50	F	Arg553X	Gln493X	1	0	0	0	105	0	1	0
65	40	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	94	0	1	1
66	44	F	Phe508del	Arg792X	1	0	0	0	477	0	1	0
67	40	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	42	0	1	1
68	51	F	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	1	0	0	0	230	0	1	1
69	40	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	0	0	376	0	1	0
70	49	М	Phe508del	c.3874-4522A>G	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
71	41	F	Phe508del	Trp1310X	1	0	1	0		0	1	1
72	49	М	Phe508del	Arg352Gln	0	0	0	0	234	0	0	1
73	52	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	545	0	1	0
74	40	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	53	0	1	1
75	40	F	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	1	0	0	0	86	0	1	0
76	51	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
77	44	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
78	40	М	Phe508del	621+1G>T	1	0	0	0	10	0	1	1
79	44	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	264	0	1	1

80	47	М	Gly551Asp	pAsn13O3Lys	1	0	0	0	91	0	1	1
81	40	М	1154insTC	2118delAACT	1	0	0	0	255	0	1	1
82	46	М	Phe508del	Arg117His-5T	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
83	47	М	Phe508del	1078delT	1	0	0	0	90	1	1	1
84	43	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	54	0	1	0
85	41	М	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

 Table 3.1b: Respiratory demographics for study cohort (0=no/not present, 1=yes/present), PsA=Pseudomonas aeruginosa, MRSA=methicillin resistant

 staphylococcus aureus, BCC=Burkholderia cepacian complex, NTM=non-tuberculous myocbacteria, IV=intravenous, neb=nebulised, abx=antibiotic.

Patient	Age	Gender	Allele 1	Allele 2	CFRD	PI	GORD	Osteoporosis	CFA	ABPA	Ptx	Haemoptysis
1	46	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	1
2	68	М	Phe508del	Asp1152His	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0
3	40	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
4	48	М	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0
5	47	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
6	47	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1
7	45	М	Phe508del	1078delT	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0
8	47	М	Gly551Asp	Gly551Asp	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	0
----	----	---	-----------	--------------	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---
9	45	F	Phe508del	Arg553X	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
10	47	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	1
11	45	М	Phe508del	1461insAGAT	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
12	63	М	Phe508del	3272-26A-G	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
13	46	М	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
14	51	М	Phe508del	Ser945Leu	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
15	47	М	1507del	2711delT	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0
16	50	М	1507del	2711delT	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0
17	67	М	Phe508del	C.1538A>G	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0
18	49	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
19	41	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1
20	58	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
21	50	М	Gly551Asp	Gly551Asp	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
22	70	F	Phe508del	Arg117His-5T	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0
23	47	F	Phe508del	Pro67Leu	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
24	41	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	1

25	48	F	Phe508del	Val520Phe	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
26	66	М	Phe508del	TG12-5T	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0
27	42	F	Phe508del	Arg117His-5T	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	1
28	66	F	Phe508del	TG12-5T	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
29	44	М	Phe508del	Asp1152His	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
30	50	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	1
31	52	F	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
32	49	М	Phe508del	711+3A>G	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	0
33	55	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	0
34	49	М	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
35	53	М	Phe508del	Ser945Leu	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1
36	40	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
37	48	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
38	58	М	Arg117His-7T	Arg117His-7T	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
39	79	М	Phe508del	TG12-5T	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0
40	41	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
41	53	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	1

42	45	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0
43	48	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
44	43	М	Phe508del	Arg560Thr	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
45	48	М	Phe508del	1154insTC	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	1
46	52	F	Phe508del	c.3874-4522A>G	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0
47	53	М	Phe508del	Asp579Tyr	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0
48	47	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
49	56	F	Arg117His-7T	Arg117H-7T	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
50	47	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
51	48	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0
52	45	М	Phe508del	3600G>4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
53	40	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
54	48	М	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
55	42	М	3659DelC	Leu633Pro	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
56	41	М	Phe508del	621+1G>T	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	1
57	47	F	Phe508del	711+3A>G	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
58	50	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0

59	54	Μ	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
60	42	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
61	61	Μ	Phe508del	711+1G>T	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
62	47	М	Phe508del	621+1G>T	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	1
63	51	М	Phe508del	Gly542X	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1
64	50	F	Arg553X	Gln493X	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
65	40	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
66	44	F	Phe508del	Arg792X	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1
67	40	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0
68	51	F	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
69	40	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
70	49	М	Phe508del	c.3874-4522A>G	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
71	41	F	Phe508del	Trp1310X	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1
72	49	М	Phe508del	Arg352Gln	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
73	52	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
74	40	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
75	40	F	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0

76	51	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
77	44	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
78	40	М	Phe508del	621+1G>T	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1
79	44	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
80	47	М	Gly551Asp	pAsn13O3Lys	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
81	40	М	1154insTC	2118delAACT	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
82	46	М	Phe508del	Arg117His-5T	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
83	47	М	Phe508del	1078delT	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	1
84	43	M	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0
85	41	M	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0

 Table 3.1c: Other comorbidities of study cohort (0=no/not present, 1=yes/present) CFRD-CF-related diabetes mellitus, GORD-gastro-oesophageal reflux

 disease, PI-exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, ABPA=allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis, CFA=CF-related arthropathy, Ptx=pneumothorax.

Patient	Age	Gender	Allele 1	Allele 2	Hypertension	Hyperlipidaemia	FH +ve for CVD	Mental health issues	Working	Children
1	46	Μ	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	1	1	0	0
2	68	М	Phe508del	Asp1152His	1	1	0	0	0	0
3	40	M	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	1	0	1	1

4	48	Μ	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	0	0	0	0	1	0
5	47	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	1	1	0	1
6	47	Μ	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	1	0	0
7	45	Μ	Phe508del	1078delT	0	1	1	0	1	1
8	47	Μ	Gly551Asp	Gly551Asp	0	0	0	0	1	1
9	45	F	Phe508del	Arg553X	0	0	1	0	1	0
10	47	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	1	1	0
11	45	М	Phe508del	1461insAGAT	0	0	0	0	0	0
12	63	Μ	Phe508del	3272-26A-G	1	0	0	0	1	0
13	46	М	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	0	1	1	0	1	1
14	51	М	Phe508del	Ser945Leu	1	0	0	0	1	1
15	47	М	1507del	2711delT	1	1	1	0	1	0
16	50	М	1507del	2711delT	0	1	1	0	1	0
17	67	М	Phe508del	C.1538A>G	1	0	0	1	0	0
18	49	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	1	1	0
19	41	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	1	0
20	58	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	0	0

21	50	Μ	Gly551Asp	Gly551Asp	1	0	0	0	0	0
22	70	F	Phe508del	Arg117His-5T	1	1	0	0	0	0
23	47	F	Phe508del	Pro67Leu	0	0	0	1	1	1
24	41	Μ	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	1	0	0
25	48	F	Phe508del	Val520Phe	0	0	0	0	1	0
26	66	Μ	Phe508del	TG12-5T	0	0	0	0	0	0
27	42	F	Phe508del	Arg117His-5T	0	0	0	1	0	0
28	66	F	Phe508del	TG12-5T	0	1	0	0	0	1
29	44	М	Phe508del	Asp1152His	0	0	0	0	1	0
30	50	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	1	1	1	0
31	52	F	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	0	0	0	0	0	0
32	49	М	Phe508del	711+3A>G	1	1	1	1	0	0
33	55	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	0	0
34	49	М	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	0	0	1	0	1	0
35	53	М	Phe508del	Ser945Leu	0	0	0	0	0	0
36	40	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	0	1
37	48	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	1	0

38	58	М	Arg117His-7T	Arg117His-7T	1	1	0	0	1	0
39	79	М	Phe508del	TG12-5T	0	0	0	0	0	0
40	41	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	1	0	0
41	53	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	0	0
42	45	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	1	1
43	48	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	1	0
44	43	М	Phe508del	Arg560Thr	0	0	0	0	1	1
45	48	М	Phe508del	1154insTC	0	0	0	0	1	0
46	52	F	Phe508del	Nil	0	0	0	0	0	1
47	53	М	Phe508del	Asp579Tyr	0	0	0	0	0	0
48	47	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	1	1
49	56	F	Arg117His-7T	Arg117H-7T	0	0	0	0	1	0
50	47	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	1	1
51	48	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	1	0
52	45	М	Phe508del	3600G>4	0	0	0	0	1	0
53	40	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	1	1
54	48	Μ	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	1	1	0	0	1	0

55	42	Μ	3659DelC	Leu633Pro	0	0	0	0	1	0
56	41	М	Phe508del	621+1G>T	0	0	1	0	0	0
57	47	F	Phe508del	711+3A>G	0	0	0	0	1	1
58	50	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	0	1
59	54	М	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	1	1	0	1	1	0
60	42	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	0	0
61	61	М	Phe508del	711+1G>T	0	0	0	0	1	0
62	47	Μ	Phe508del	621+1G>T	0	0	0	0	1	0
63	51	Μ	Phe508del	Gly542X	1	0	0	1	0	0
64	50	F	Arg553X	Gln493X	0	0	0	0	1	1
65	40	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	1	0
66	44	F	Phe508del	Arg792X	0	0	0	0	0	1
67	40	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	0	1
68	51	F	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	0	0	0	0	1	1
69	40	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	1	0
70	49	М	Phe508del	c.3874-4522A>G	0	0	0	0	1	0
71	41	F	Phe508del	Trp1310X	0	0	0	1	0	0

72	49	М	Phe508del	Arg352Gln	0	0	0	0	0	0
73	52	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	0	0
74	40	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	1	0
75	40	F	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	0	0	0	0	0	1
76	51	F	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	1	0
77	44	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	1	0
78	40	Μ	Phe508del	621+1G>T	0	0	0	0	1	0
79	44	Μ	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	0	0	0	0	0
80	47	М	Gly551Asp	pAsn13O3Lys	0	0	0	0	0	0
81	40	М	1154insTC	2118delAACT	0	0	0	0	1	1
82	46	М	Phe508del	Arg117His-5T	0	0	0	0	1	1
83	47	Μ	Phe508del	1078delT	0	0	0	0	1	0
84	43	М	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	0	0	0	1	0
85	41	М	Phe508del	Arg117His-7T	0	0	0	0	1	1

Table 3.1d: Other comorbidities of study cohort – cardiovascular, social (0=no/not present, 1=yes/present); +ve FH=family history of cardiovascular aged 60 years or below in first degree relative, CVD=cardiovascular disease.

Patient	Age	Allele 1	Allele 2	Age at diagnosis	ppFEV1	Sweat chloride	Sweat conductivity	Sweat weight
				(years)	%	(mmol/L)	(mmol/L)	(mg)
1	46	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	20	97	121	63
2	68	Phe508del	Asp1152His	60	88	26	53	44
3	40	Phe508del	Phe508del	1	34	79	105	25
4	48	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	3	49	112	121	72
5	47	Phe508del	Phe508del	1.5	52	98	118	47
6	47	Phe508del	Phe508del	0.25	39	89	111	51
7	45	Phe508del	1078delT	-	52			
8	47	Gly551Asp	Gly551Asp	1.5	65	105	126	52
9	45	Phe508del	Arg553X	3	58	109	129	54
10	47	Phe508del	Phe508del	1.2	75	91	111	52
11	45	Phe508del	1461insAG AT	2.5	43			
12	63	Phe508del	3272-26A-G	0	32	103	124	30
13	46	Phe508del	Arg117His- 7T	-	94	62	90	45

14.0 Appendix 7: Sweat chloride analysis for the study group

14	51	Phe508del	Ser945Leu	12	61 36		58	41
15	47	1507del	2711delT	0	75	109	127	72
16	50	1507del	2711delT	4	55	105	128	40
17	67	Phe508del	C.1538A>G	47	19	61	83	46
18	49	Phe508del	Phe508del	4	51	106	120	49
19	41	Phe508del	Phe508del		59	93		
20	58	Phe508del	Phe508del	43	39			
21	50	Gly551Asp	Gly551Asp	0	25	114	126	42
22	70	Phe508del	Arg117His- 5T	38	56 92		107	34
23	47	Phe508del	Pro67Leu	19	75	30	57	32
24	41	Phe508del	Phe508del	0.25	25	56	51	25
25	48	Phe508del	Val520Phe	0	33	123	136	40
26	66	Phe508del	TG12-5T	58	56			
27	42	Phe508del	Arg117His- 5T	26	26	73	97	21
28	66	Phe508del	TG12-5T	64	87	59	88	45
29	44	Phe508del	Asp1152His		92			

30	50	Phe508del	Phe508del	5	75	101	120	83	
31	52	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	1	31	47	55	42	
32	49	Phe508del	711+3A>G	34	41				
33	55	Phe508del	Phe508del	0.5	39				
34	49	Phe508del	Arg117His- 7T	21	86				
35	53	Phe508del	Ser945Leu	25	23	23	47	28	
36	40	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	19				
37	48	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	62	94	113	35	
38	58	Arg117His- 7T	Arg117His- 7T	55	110	38	64	41	
39	79	Phe508del	TG12-5T	72	96	67	81	48	
40	41	Phe508del	Phe508del	6	36	87	104	37	
41	53	Phe508del	Phe508del	0.25	33	92	115	21	
42	45	Phe508del	Phe508del	0.75	91	113	136	44	
43	48	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	40				
44	43	Phe508del	Arg560Thr	0.5	63	108	133	52	
45	48	Phe508del	1154insTC	1.5	44	100	122	54	

46	52	Phe508del	c.3874- 4522A>G	16	25	68	92	23
47	53	Phe508del	Asp579Tyr	10	32	102	122	47
48	47	Phe508del	Phe508del	3	48			
49	56	Arg117His- 7T	Arg117H-7T	54	54 94 38		66	69
50	47	Phe508del	Phe508del	0.3	35	98	118	42
51	48	Phe508del	Phe508del		21			
52	45	Phe508del	3600G>4	19	47			
53	40	Phe508del	Phe508del	3	55	104	124	79
54	48	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	0.5	58	135	147	29
55	42	3659DelC	Leu633Pro	0	72	100	121	59
56	41	Phe508del	621+1G>T	3	18			
57	47	Phe508del	711+3A>G	40	100	34	56	30
58	50	Phe508del	Phe508del		34	95	116	50
59	54	Phe508del	Arg117His- 7T	27	73	60	81	56
60	42	Phe508del	Phe508del	5	33	107	128	52

61	61	Phe508del	711+1G>T	0	30	103	124	62
62	47	Phe508del	621+1G>T	0.5	35 104		126	62
63	51	Phe508del	Gly542X	0	42	97	115	41
64	50	Arg553X	Gln493X	1.5	54	104	124	43
65	40	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	52	74	96	45
66	44	Phe508del	Arg792X	0.25	59	113	132	41
67	40	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	45			
68	51	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	0.75	46 117		128	66
69	40	Phe508del	Phe508del	0	31 90		113	30
70	49	Phe508del	c.3874- 4522A>G	35	85	86	108	30
71	41	Phe508del	Trp1310X	1	30			
72	49	Phe508del	Arg352Gln	0	48	101	124	67
73	52	Phe508del	Phe508del		34			
74	40	Phe508del	Phe508del	1.5	57	82	98	94
75	40	Phe508del	Gly551Asp	2	46	116	132	30
76	51	Phe508del	Phe508del	1.5	80	101	125	32

77	44	Phe508del	Phe508del	3	81	103	128	60
78	40	Phe508del	621+1G>T	1	73			
79	44	Phe508del	Phe508del		24			
80	47	Gly551Asp	pAsn13O3L ys	9	61	120	120	46
81	40	1154insTC	2118delAA CT	0.25	65	112	129	79
82	46	Phe508del	Arg117His- 5T	39	103			
83	47	Phe508del	1078delT	7	19	85	107	26
84	43	Phe508del	Phe508del	0.5	47			
85	41	Phe508del	Arg117His- 7T	30	75	62	89	64

Table 3.5: Sweat chloride results for the study cohort. (Patients highlighted in red had no pre-modulator sweat chloride result and were not included in analysis).

Gender	Age in study (years)	n studyAge ofGenotypeSweatFEV1 (%ears)Diagnosischloridepredicted		FEV ₁ (% predicted)	BMI (kg/m²)	Predominant lung pathogen	Pancreatic status	
		(years)		(mmol/L)				
М	70	60	Phe508del/Asp1152His- 7T	26	88	26.6	PsA	PS
М	67	47	Phe508del/C.1538A>G	61	19	20.2	Nil	PS
F	59	43	Phe508del/Phe508del	-	39 21.8		BCC	PI
F	71	38	Phe508del/Arg117His- 5T	el/Arg117His- 92 56 5T 5T		17.5	PsA, MRSA	PS
F	48	19	Phe508del/Pro67Leu	-	75	19.3	PsA	PS
М	67	58	Phe508del/TG12-5T	-	56	23.4	MRSA	PS
F	43	26	Phe508del/Arg117His- 5T	73	26	21.3	MRSA	PI
F	67	64	Phe508del/TG12-5T	59	87	30.5	Nil	PS
М	49	34	Phe508del/711+3A>G	-	41	26	PsA	PI
М	49	21	Phe508del/Arg117His- 7T	Phe508del/Arg117His 86 7T - 86		25.7	Nil	PS
М	43	25	Phe508del/Ser945Leu	-	23	23.2	MRSA	PI

15.0 Appendix 8: The characteristics of the late diagnosis group

М	58	55	Arg117His/Arg117His- 7T	38	110	28.3	Nil	PS
М	79	72	Phe508del/TG12T5	67	96	24.1	Nil	PS
F	52	16	Phe508del/c.3874- 4522A>G	68	25	21	PsA	PI
F	57	54	Arg117His/Arg117His- 7T	38	94	23	Nil	PS
М	45	19	Phe508del/3600G>A	-	47	24.2	Achromobacter dolens	PS
F	47	40	Phe508del/c.579+3A>G	34	100	27	PsA	PS
М	54	27	Phe508del/Arg117His- 7T	60	73	21.5	Nil	PI
М	49	35	Phe508del/c.3874- 4522A>G	ne508del/c.3874- 86 85 30 MRSA 4522A>G		MRSA	PI	
М	45	39	Phe508del/Arg117His- 7T	-	103	26	Staph aureus	PS

 Table 3.8: Clinical characteristics of late diagnosis group. (PS=exocrine pancreatic sufficient, PI=exocrine pancreatic insufficient, PsA=Pseudomonas aeruginosa,

 MRSA=methicillin resistant staphylococcus aureus, BCC= Burkholderia cepacia complex).

16.0 Appendix 9: CMR data workbook

CF COA CMR WORKBOOK

PATIENT MEASUREMENTS

LV / RV VOLUME AND FUNCTION - Short Axis Cine		BSA	T1/T2/ECV	
LV end diastolic volume	0dm		MOLLI Basal Pre T1	0dm
LV end systolic volume	0dm		MOLLI Mid Pre T1	0dm
LV ejection fraction	0dm	Haematocrit	MOLLI Average Native Pre T1 (MYO PRE)	0dm
LV mass	0dm		MOLLI Basal Blood Pre T1	0dm
LV end diastolic volume (index)	1dm		MOLLI Mid Blood Pre T1	0dm
LV end systolic volume (index)	1dm	Systolic BP	MOLLI Average Blood Pre T1 (BLOOD PRE)	0dm
LV mass (index)	0dm			
RV end diastolic volume	0dm		Basal T2	0dm
RV end systolic volume	0dm	Diastolic BP	Mid T2	0dm
RV ejection fraction	0dm		Average Native T2	0dm
RV end diastolic volume (index)	1dm			
RV end systolic volume (index)	1dm		MOLLI Basal Post T1	0dm
LV Maximal Wall thickness	(cm) 1dm		MOLLI Mid Post T1	0dm
			MOLLI Average Post T1 (MYO POST)	0dm

LA / RA VOLUME - Short Axis Cine

LA Volume	0dm
LA Volume (index)	1dm
RA Volume	0dm
RA Volume (index)	1dm
LV / RV Measurements - A4Ch	
TAPSE	(cm) 1dm
PULSE WAVE VELOCITY	
Aortic distance	mm (1dm)
Pulse Wave Velocity	1dm
AORTIC DISTENSIBILITY	
Maximum aortic area	1dm
Minimum aortic area	1dm
Aortic distensibility	1dm

MOLLI Basal Blood Post T1	0dm
MOLLI Mid Blood Post T1	0dm
MOLLI Average Blood Post T1 (BLOOD POST)	0dm
ECV	1dm
Peak Global GLS	1dm

	Abnormal low	Normal zone		Abnormal high		Abnormal low		Normal zone		Abnormal high
l eft ventricle					Left ventricle					
	-00	100 210		>000	I VEDV (ml)	<80		88 - 161		>175
	-80	109-210		~232		-05		04 00		. 70
LVESV (ml)	<34	39 - 97		>103	LVESV (mi)	<20		31 - 08		>/3
LVSV (ml)	<49	59 - 132		>140	LVSV (ml)	<47		49 - 100		>110
LV mass (g)	<56	64 - 141		>148	LV mass (g)	<44		46 - 93		>96
indexed LVEDV (ml/m ²)	<52	60 - 110		>117	indexed LVEDV (ml/m ²)	<50		54 - 94		>101
indexed LVESV (ml/m ²)	<19	21 - 49		>52	indexed LVESV (ml/m ²)	<16		19 - 40		>43
indexed LVSV (ml/m ²)	<28	32 - 67		>70	indexed LVSV (ml/m ²)	<29		30 - 59		>63
indexed LV mass (g/m ²)	<33	35 - 70	oue	>72	indexed LV mass (g/m ²)	<28	one	29 - 55	, Due	>55
LVEF (%)	<47	48 - 69	N O	>70	LVEF (%)	<50	je z	51 - 70	JE Z	>72
LV mass to volume ratio (g/ml)	<0.40	0.42 - 0.84	L L	>0.87	LV mass to volume ratio (g/ml)	<0.35	erlir	0.39 - 0.71	erlir	>0.81
Right ventricle		P.	Ē		Right ventricle		Pro		Po	
RVEDV (ml)	<99	m 124 - 248	ň	>260	RVEDV (ml)	<83	•	85 - 168	•	>192
RVESV (ml)	<34	47 - 123		>135	RVESV (ml)	<26		27 - 77		>95
RVSV (ml)	<54	62 - 131		>140	RVSV (ml)	<47		48 - 99		>107
indexed RVEDV (ml/m ²)	<55	68 - 125		>128	indexed RVEDV (ml/m ²)	<51		53 - 99		>110
indexed RVESV (ml/m ²)	<19	25 - 63		>67	indexed RVESV (ml/m ²)	<16		17 - 46		>55
indexed RVSV (ml/m ²)	<30	34 - 67		>69	indexed RVSV (ml/m ²)	<29		30 - 59		>61
RVEF (%)	<40	45 - 65		>68	RVEF (%)	<45		47 - 68		>70

17.0 Appendix 10: Normal CMR values for Caucasians in UK population(498)

LV and RV ranges - men.

LV and RV ranges - women

	Abnormal low		Normal zone		Abnormal high
Left atrium					
Max. LA volume (2Ch) (ml)	<22		30 - 104		>112
Max. LA volume (4Ch) (ml)	<23		36 - 124		>125
Max. LA volume (Biplane) (ml)	<26		37 - 108		>112
LA SV (Biplane) (ml)	<16		23 - 62		>66
indexed Max. LA volume (2Ch) (ml/m ²)	<12		16 - 53		>56
indexed Max. LA volume (4Ch) (ml/m ²)	<14	ţ.	19 - 62	,e	>63
indexed Max. LA volume (Biplane) (ml/m ²)	<15	Ine zo	19 - 55	ine zo	>56
indexed LA SV (Biplane) (ml/m ²)	<9	Lep	12 - 32	Lep	>33
LA EF (Biplane) (%) Right atrium	<44	Bon	47 - 73	Bon	>75
Max. RA volume (4Ch) (ml)	<36		43 - 143		>150
RA SV (4Ch) (ml)	<9		10 - 66		>66
indexed Max. RA volume (4Ch) (ml/m ²)	<19		22 - 74		>79
indexed RA SV (4Ch) (ml/m ²)	<5		5 - 33		>35
RA EF (4Ch) (%)	<21		23 - 58		>60

LA and RA ranges - men

	Abnormal low		Normal zone		Abnormal high				
Left atrium									
Max. LA volume (2Ch) (ml)	<19		24 - 90		>97				
Max. LA volume (4Ch) (ml)	<23		36 - 108		>114				
Max. LA volume (Biplane) (ml)	<26		33 - 93		>100				
LA SV (Biplane) (ml)	<17		21 - 53		>60				
indexed Max. LA volume (2Ch) (ml/m ²)	<12		15 - 53		>56				
indexed Max. LA volume (4Ch) (ml/m ²)	<15	* <u>e</u>	23 - 63	<u>نه</u>	>67				
indexed Max. LA volume (Biplane) (ml/m ²)	<16	IOZ OL	21 - 55	IOZ OU	>57				
indexed LA SV (Biplane) (ml/m ²)	<10	leri	13 - 32	leri	>34				
LA EF (Biplane) (%) Right atrium	<44	Bor	49 - 74	Bor	>77				
Max. RA volume (4Ch) (ml)	<34		38 - 101		>107				
RA SV (4Ch) (ml)	<10		14 - 52		>54				
indexed Max. RA volume (4Ch) (ml/m²)	<20		23 - 59		>63				
indexed RA SV (4Ch) (ml/m ²)	<6		8 - 31		>32				
RA EF (4Ch) (%)	<26		31 - 63		>66				

LA and RA ranges - women

	Age groups (years)							Age groups (years)											
	45-54 55-64				65-74				45-54			55-64				65-74			
	lower	mean	upper	lower	mean	upper	lower	mean	upper		lower	mean	upper	lower	mean	upper	lower	mean	upper
LVEDV (ml)	109	170	232	108	169	230	93	156	218	LVEDV (ml)	88	131	175	80	121	161	81	122	163
LVESV (ml)	39	71	103	39	71	102	34	66	97	LVESV (ml)	31	52	73	26	47	68	25	48	70
LVSV (ml)	58	99	140	59	98	137	49	90	132	LVSV (ml)	49	79	110	47	74	100	47	74	100
LV mass (g)	64	106	148	64	104	143	56	99	141	LV mass (g)	46	71	96	45	69	93	44	69	94
indexed LVEDV (ml/m ²)	60	86	112	55	86	117	52	81	110	indexed LVEDV (ml/m²)	54	78	101	50	72	94	50	73	96
indexed LVESV (ml/m ²)	21	36	51	20	36	52	19	34	49	indexed LVESV (ml/m ²)	19	31	43	16	28	40	16	29	42
indexed LVSV (ml/m ²)	32	50	68	30	50	70	28	47	67	indexed LVSV (ml/m ²)	30	47	63	29	44	59	29	45	60
indexed LV mass (g/m ²)	35	54	72	34	53	72	33	51	70	indexed LV mass (g/m ²)	29	42	55	28	41	55	28	42	55
LVEF (%)	47	58	70	48	58	69	47	58	69	LVEF (%)	50	60	70	51	61	72	50	61	72
LV mass to volume ratio (g/ml)	0.42	0.63	0.84	0.40	0.62	0.85	0.41	0.64	0.87	LV mass to volume ratio (g/ml)	0.39	0.55	0.71	0.36	0.58	0.8	0.35	0.58	0.81
RVEDV (ml)	124	192	260	109	181	252	99	173	248	RVEDV (ml)	85	138	192	83	125	168	84	128	171
RVESV (ml)	47	91	135	42	82	123	34	81	129	RVESV (ml)	27	61	95	27	52	77	26	54	82
RVSV (ml)	62	101	140	60	98	136	54	92	131	RVSV (ml)	48	78	107	47	73	100	48	74	99
indexed RVEDV (ml/m ²)	68	97	126	56	92	128	55	90	125	indexed RVEDV (ml/m ²)	53	81	110	51	75	99	53	77	101
indexed RVESV (ml/m ²)	25	46	67	21	42	63	19	42	66	indexed RVESV (ml/m ²)	17	36	55	16	31	46	17	32	48
indexed RVSV (ml/m²)	34	51	68	31	50	69	30	48	67	indexed RVSV (ml/m ²)	30	46	61	29	44	59	30	44	59
RVEF (%)	40	53	65	45	55	65	40	54	68	RVEF (%)	45	56	68	47	59	70	46	58	70

Age specific ventricular ranges in men

Age specific ventricular ranges for women

				Age g	roups	(years)						
		45-54			55-64			65-74				45-5
	lower	mean	upper	lower	mean	upper	lower	mean	upper		lower	mea
Maximal LA volume (2Ch) (ml)	25	68	112	30	68	105	22	63	104	Maximal LA volume (2Ch) (ml)	24	60
Maximal LA volume (4Ch) (ml)	33	79	124	36	80	125	23	74	124	Maximal LA volume (4Ch) (ml)	36	75
Maximal LA volume (Biplane) (ml)	33	72	112	37	73	110	26	67	108	Maximal LA volume (Biplane) (ml)	33	66
LA SV (Biplane) (ml)	20	43	66	23	44	65	16	39	62	LA SV (Biplane) (ml)	21	41
indexed Maximal LA volume (2Ch) (ml/m ²)	13	35	56	16	34	53	12	33	53	indexed Maximal LA volume (2Ch) (ml/m²)	15	35
indexed Maximal LA volume (4Ch) (ml/m ²)	18	40	62	19	41	63	14	38	63	indexed Maximal LA volume (4Ch) (ml/m²)	23	44
indexed Maximal LA volume (Biplane) (ml/m ²)	18	37	56	19	37	55	15	35	55	indexed Maximal LA volume (Biplane) (ml/m²)	21	39
indexed LA SV (Biplane) (ml/m²)	11	22	33	12	22	33	9	21	32	indexed LA SV (Biplane) (ml/m ²)	13	24
LA EF (Biplane) (%)	45	59	73	47	61	75	44	59	74	LA EF (Biplane) (%)	49	62
Maximal RA volume (4Ch) (ml)	38	93	148	43	93	143	36	93	150	Maximal RA volume (4Ch) (ml)	38	70
RA SV (4Ch) (ml)	10	38	66	10	38	66	9	38	66	RA SV (4Ch) (ml)	14	33
indexed Maximal RA volume (4Ch) (ml/m ²)	20	47	75	22	48	74	19	49	79	indexed Maximal RA volume (4Ch) (ml/m ²)	23	41
indexed RA SV (4Ch) (ml/m²)	5	19	33	5	20	34	5	20	35	indexed RA SV (4Ch) (ml/m ²)	8	20
RA EF (4Ch) (%)	23	40	58	21	41	60	22	41	60	RA EF (4Ch) (%)	31	48

	-			Age g	roups	(years)						
		45-54			55-64			65-74				
	lower	mean	upper	lower	mean	upper	lower	mean	upper			
ximal LA volume h) (ml)	24	60	97	19	56	92	21	56	90			
ximal LA volume h) (ml)	36	75	114	27	68	108	23	68	113			
ximal LA volume plane) (ml)	33	66	100	26	60	95	28	61	93			
SV (Biplane) (ml)	21	41	60	17	36	55	18	35	53			
exed Maximal LA ume (2Ch) /m ²)	15	35	56	12	33	54	14	34	53			
exed Maximal LA ume (4Ch) /m ²)	23	44	65	17	40	63	15	41	67			
exed Maximal LA ume (Biplane) /m ²)	21	39	57	16	36	56	18	36	55			
exed LA SV plane) (ml/m²)	13	24	34	10	22	33	11	21	32			
EF (Biplane) (%)	49	62	75	44	61	77	45	59	74			
ximal RA volume h) (ml)	38	70	101	34	67	101	36	71	107			
SV (4Ch) (ml)	14	33	53	10	31	52	11	33	54			
exed Maximal RA ume (4Ch) /m ²)	23	41	59	20	40	60	23	43	63			
exed RA SV h) (ml/m²)	8	20	31	6	19	31	7	20	32			
EF (4Ch) (%)	31	48	65	26	46	66	28	45	63			

Age specific atrial ranges for men

Age specific atrial ranges for women

18.0 Bibliography

- 1. Chapman S, Robinson G, Stradling J. Oxford Handbook of Respiratory Medicine. 3rd Edition. Oxford University Press, 2014. pp.210.
- 2. Horsley A, Cunningham S, Innes A. Cystic Fibrosis. Second edition. Oxford University Press; 2015. pp.1–2.
- Paracchini V, Seia M, Raimondi S et al. Cystic fibrosis newborn screening: distribution of blood immunoreactive trypsinogen concentrations in hypertrypsinemic neonates. JIMD Rep. 2012;4:17–23.
- 4. Ramsden D, Carr S. Cystic Fibrosis Trust Annual Report [Internet]. 28/08/2018. 2018 [cited 2018 Aug 28]. p. 8–77. Available from: http://www.cysticfibrosis.org.uk/thework-we-do/uk-cf-registry/reporting-and-resources
- 5. Fanen P, Wohlhuter-Haddad A, Hinzpeter A. Genetics of cystic fibrosis: CFTR mutation classifications toward genotype-based CF therapies. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2014 Jul 1;52:94–102.
- 6. Boyle MP, De Boeck K. A new era in the treatment of cystic fibrosis: correction of the underlying CFTR defect. Lancet Respir Med. 2013 Apr 1;1(2):158–63.
- Collaco JM, Blackman SM, McGready J et al. Quantification of the Relative Contribution of Environmental and Genetic Factors to Variation in Cystic Fibrosis Lung Function. J Pediatr. 2010 Nov 1;157(5):802-807.e3.
- 8. Taylor-Cousar JL, Mall MA, Ramsey BW et al. Clinical development of triplecombination CFTR modulators for cystic fibrosis patients with one or two F508del alleles. ERJ open Res. 2019 Apr;5(2).
- 9. McKone E, Goss C, Aitken M. CFTR genotype as a predictor of prognosis in cystic fibrosis. Chest, 2006: 130(5);1441-1447.
- 10. Ramsey BW, Davies J, McElvaney NG et al. A CFTR Potentiator in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis and the *G551D* Mutation. N Engl J Med. 2011 Nov 3;365(18):1663–72.
- 11. Keogh RH, Szczesniak R, Taylor-Robinson D et al. Up-to-date and projected estimates of survival for people with cystic fibrosis using baseline characteristics: A longitudinal study using UK patient registry data. J Cyst Fibros. 2018 Mar 1;17(2):218–27.
- 12. Proesmans M. Best practices in the treatment of early cystic fibrosis lung disease. Ther Adv Respir Dis. 2017 Feb 2;11(2):97–104.
- 13. Waters V, Ratjen F. Pulmonary Exacerbations in Children with Cystic Fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2015 Nov;12 Suppl 2:S200-6.
- 14. Fuchs HJ, Borowitz DS, Christiansen DH et al. Effect of Aerosolized Recombinant Human DNase on Exacerbations of Respiratory Symptoms and on Pulmonary Function in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 1994 Sep 8;331(10):637–42.

- 15. Rosenfeld M, Emerson J, Williams-Warren J et al. Defining a pulmonary exacerbation in cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr. 2001 Sep 1;139(3):359–65.
- 16. Flume PA, Mogayzel PJ, Robinson KA et al. Cystic Fibrosis Pulmonary Guidelines. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010 Aug 20;182(3):298–306.
- 17. Hubert D, Simmonds N. Living longer with Cystic Fibrosis Editors European Cystic Fibrosis Society. 2015.
- 18. Flume PA, Yankaskas JR, Ebeling M et al. Massive Hemoptysis in Cystic Fibrosis. Chest. 2005 Aug 1;128(2):729–38.
- 19. Sopko DR, Smith TP. Bronchial artery embolization for hemoptysis. Semin Intervent Radiol. 2011 Mar;28(1):48–62.
- 20. Hurt K, Simmonds NJ. Cystic Fibrosis: Management of Haemoptysis. Paediatr Respir Rev. 2012 Dec 1;13(4):200–5.
- 21. Springer D, Cofta S, Juzkat R et al. The effectiveness of bronchial artery embolisation in patients with haemoptysis. Adv Resp Med 2018: 86;220-226.
- 22. Flight WG, Barry PJ, Bright-Thomas RJ et al. Outcomes Following Bronchial Artery Embolisation for Haemoptysis in Cystic Fibrosis. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2017 Aug 13;40(8):1164–8.
- 23. Amin R, Dupuis A, Aaron SD et al. The Effect of Chronic Infection With Aspergillus fumigatus on Lung Function and Hospitalization in Patients With Cystic Fibrosis. Chest. 2010 Jan 1;137(1):171–6.
- 24. Zhao J, Yu W. Interaction between *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Aspergillus fumigatus* in cystic fibrosis. PeerJ. 2018 Nov 9;6:e5931.
- 25. Mastella G, Rainisio M, Harms HK et al. Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in cystic fibrosis. A European epidemiological study. Epidemiologic Registry of Cystic Fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2000 Sep 1;16(3):464–71.
- 26. De Boeck K, Wilschanski M, Castellani C et al. Cystic fibrosis: terminology and diagnostic algorithms. Thorax. 2006 Jul;61(7):627–35.
- 27. Farrell PM, White TB, Ren CL et al. Diagnosis of Cystic Fibrosis: Consensus Guidelines from the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. J Pediatr. 2017 Feb;181S:S4-S15.e1.
- 28. Stevens DA, Moss RB, Kurup VP et al. Allergic Bronchopulmonary Aspergillosis in Cystic Fibrosis—State of the Art: Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Consensus Conference. Clin Infect Dis. 2003 Oct 1;37(s3):S225–64.
- 29. Wong R, Wong M, Robinson PD et al. Omalizumab in the management of steroid dependent Allergic Bronchopulmonary Aspergillosis (ABPA) complicating Cystic Fibrosis. Paediatr Respir Rev. 2013 Mar 1;14(1):22–4.
- 30. Flume PA, Strange C, Ye X et al. Pneumothorax in Cystic Fibrosis. Chest. 2005 Aug 1;128(2):720–8.

- 31. MacDuff A, Arnold A, Harvey L. Management of spontaneous pneumothorax: British Thoracic Society pleural disease guideline 2010. thorax.bmj.com.
- 32. Penketh A, Knight R, Hodson M et al. Management of pneumothorax in adults with cystic fibrosis. Thorax, 1982: thorax.bmj.com.
- 33. McLaughlin FJ, Matthews WJ, Strieder DJ et al. Pneumothorax in cystic fibrosis: Management and outcome. J Pediatr. 1982 Jun 1;100(6):863–9.
- 34. Sequeiros I, Jarad N. Cystic Fibrosis Pulmonary Exacerbation–Natural History, Causative Factors and Management. Feb 2013: IntechOpen, DOI: 10.5772/54336.
- 35. UK CF Registry Annual Data Report 2010 Google Search [Internet]. www.cysticfibrosis.org.uk. 2010 [cited 2021 Jan 18]. Available from: https://www.google.com/search?client=safari&rls=en&ei=wnQFYIP4EoPDxgPlsI3QDQ &q=UK+CF+Registry+Annual+Data+Report+2010&oq=UK+CF+Registry+Annual+Data+ Report+2010&gs_lcp=CgZwc3ktYWIQAzoICAAQ6gIQjwFQIZEHWISUB2DOlgdoAXABeA CAAZ0BiAGdAZIBAzAuMZgBAKABAaABAqoBB2d3
- 36. Moore JE, Mastoridis P. Clinical implications of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* location in the lungs of patients with cystic fibrosis. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2017 Jun;42(3):259–67.
- 37. Jones AM, Govan JRW, Doherty CJ et al. Identification of airborne dissemination of epidemic multiresistant strains of Pseudomonas aeruginosa at a CF centre during a cross infection outbreak. Thorax. 2003 Jun 1;58(6):525–7.
- 38. Jones AM, Dodd ME, Doherty CJ et al. Increased treatment requirements of patients with cystic fibrosis who harbour a highly transmissible strain of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Thorax. 2002 Nov 1;57(11):924–5.
- Scoffone VC, Chiarelli LR, Trespidi G et al. Burkholderia cenocepacia Infections in Cystic Fibrosis Patients: Drug Resistance and Therapeutic Approaches. Front Microbiol. 2017 Aug 22;8:1592.
- 40. De Soyza A, Meachery G, Hester KLM et al. Lung transplantation for patients with cystic fibrosis and Burkholderia cepacia complex infection: A single-center experience. J Hear Lung Transplant. 2010 Dec 1;29(12):1395–404.
- 41. Caraher M-T, Marshall S. Cystic fibrosis related diabetes causes, impact on health and management of patients. Eur Diabetes Nurs. 2014 Nov 18;11(3):85–91.
- 42. Konrad K, Scheuing N, Badenhoop K et al. Cystic fibrosis-related diabetes compared to type 1 and type 2 diabetes in adults. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2013 May 1;29(7).
- 43. Brennan A, Beynon J. Clinical Updates in Cystic Fibrosis–Related Diabetes. Semin Respir Crit Care Med. 2015 Mar 31;36(02):236–50.
- 44. Lewis C, Blackman SM, Nelson A et al. Diabetes-related Mortality in Adults with Cystic Fibrosis. Role of Genotype and Sex. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015 Jan 15;191(2):194–200.
- 45. Moran A, Dunitz J, Nathan B et al. Cystic Fibrosis–Related Diabetes: Current Trends in

Prevalence, Incidence, and Mortality. Diabetes Care. 2009 Sep 1;32(9):1626–31.

- 46. van den Berg JMW, Morton AM, Kok SW et al. Microvascular complications in patients with cystic fibrosis-related diabetes (CFRD). J Cyst Fibros. 2008 Nov 1;7(6):515–9.
- 47. Moran A, Becker D, Casella S et al. Epidemiology, pathophysiology, and prognostic implications of cystic fibrosis–related diabetes: a technical review. Am Diabetes Assoc. Diab Care 2010 Dec:33(12);2677-2683.
- 48. Fowler MJ. Microvascular and Macrovascular Complications of Diabetes. Clin Diabetes. 2008 Apr 1;26(2):77–82.
- 49. Shale D, Selby PL, Webb AK et al. Predicting survival in cystic fibrosis. Thorax. 1999 Nov 1;52(4):309–309.
- 50. Mathiesen IH, Pressler T, Oturai P et al. Osteoporosis Is Associated with Deteriorating Clinical Status in Adults with Cystic Fibrosis. Int J Endocrinol. 2018 Mar 26;2018:1–9.
- 51. Haworth CS. Impact of cystic fibrosis on bone health. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2010 Nov;16(6):516–622.
- 52. Kaur G, Singh J, Kumar J. Vitamin D and cardiovascular disease in chronic kidney disease. Pediatr Nephrol. 2018 Oct 29;1–14.
- 53. ANDERSEN DH. CYSTIC FIBROSIS OF THE PANCREAS AND ITS RELATION TO CELIAC DISEASE. Am J Dis Child. 1938 Aug 1;56(2):344.
- 54. Trapnell BC, Strausbaugh SD, Woo MS et al. Efficacy and safety of PANCREAZE[®] for treatment of exocrine pancreatic insufficiency due to cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2011 Sep 1;10(5):350–6.
- 55. Borowitz D. Update on the evaluation of pancreatic exocrine status in cystic fibrosis. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2005 Nov;11(6):524–7.
- 56. Horsley A, Cunningham S, Innes I. Cystic Fibrosis. Second edition. Oxford University Press; 2015. pp.78–80.
- 57. Steinkamp G, Weidemann G. Relationship between nutritional status and lung function in cystic fibrosis: cross sectional and longitudinal analyses from the German CF quality assurance. Thorax 57(7); thorax.bmj.com.
- Moore-Carrasco R, Aranguez-Arellano C, Razmilic I et al. A high fat diet in CF-1 mice: An experimental model for metabolic syndrome. Mol Med Rep. 2008 May 1;1(3):401– 5.
- 59. Sheldon C, Hodson M, Carpenter L et al. A cohort study of cystic fibrosis and malignancy. Br J Cancer 1993: 68(5);1025-1028.
- 60. Maisonneuve P, Marshall BC, Knapp EA et al. Cancer Risk in Cystic Fibrosis: A 20-Year Nationwide Study From the United States. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst. 2013 Jan 16;105(2):122–9.

- 61. Neglia JP, FitzSimmons SC, Maisonneuve P et al. The Risk of Cancer among Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 1995 Feb 23;332(8):494–9.
- 62. Niccum DE, Billings JL, Dunitz JM et al. Colonoscopic screening shows increased early incidence and progression of adenomas in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2016 Jul 1;15(4):548–53.
- 63. Cheng K, Ashby D, Smyth RL. Ursodeoxycholic acid for cystic fibrosis-related liver disease. In: Cheng K, editor. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 1999.
- 64. Feigelson J, Anagnostopoulos C, Poquet M et al. Liver cirrhosis in cystic fibrosis-therapeutic implications and long term follow up. Arch Dis Child. 1993 May 1;68(5):653–7.
- 65. Debray D, Kelly D, Houwen R et al. Best practice guidance for the diagnosis and management of cystic fibrosis-associated liver disease. J Cyst Fibros. 2011 Jun 1;10 Suppl 2:S29-36.
- 66. Ayoub F, Trillo-Alvarez C, Morelli G et al. Risk factors for hepatic steatosis in adults with cystic fibrosis: Similarities to non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. World J Hepatol. 2018 Jan 27;10(1):34–40.
- 67. Matthews L, Doershuk C, Stern R et al. Urolithiasis and cystic fibrosis. Journal of Urol 1996;155(5):1563-1564.
- 68. Gibney E, Goldfarb E. The association of nephrolithiasis with cystic fibrosis. Am J of Kidney Dis 2003:42(1);1-11.
- 69. Gambaro G, Favaro S, D'Angelo A. Risk for renal failure in nephrolithiasis. Am J Kidney Dis. 2001 Feb;37(2):233–43.
- 70. Min T, Stephens M, Kumar P et al. Renal complications of diabetes. British Medical Bulletin, 2012;104:113-117.
- 71. Nazareth D, Walshaw M. A review of renal disease in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2013 Jul 1;12(4):309–17.
- 72. Elborn JS. Personalised medicine for cystic fibrosis: treating the basic defect. Eur Respir Rev. 2013 Mar 1;22(127):3–5.
- 73. Jones AP, Wallis C. Dornase alfa for cystic fibrosis. In: Jones AP, editor. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2010.
- 74. Olveira C, Padilla A, Dorado A et al. Inflammation and Oxidation Biomarkers in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis: The Influence of Azithromycin. Euras Journ Med 2017;49(2):118-123.
- 75. Saiman L, Marshall B, Mayer-Hamblett N et al. Azithromycin in patients with cystic fibrosis chronically infected with Pseudomonas aeruginosa: a randomized controlled

trial. JAMA 2003;290(13):1749-1756.

- Equi A, Balfour-Lynn I, Bush A et al. Long term azithromycin in children with cystic fibrosis: a randomised, placebo-controlled crossover trial. Lancet 2002;360:9338:978-984.
- 77. Verleden GM, Vanaudenaerde BM, Dupont LJ et al. Azithromycin Reduces Airway Neutrophilia and Interleukin-8 in Patients with Bronchiolitis Obliterans Syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2006 Sep 20;174(5):566–70.
- 78. Saiman L, Anstead M, Mayer-Hamblett N et al. Effect of azithromycin on pulmonary function in patients with cystic fibrosis uninfected with Pseudomonas aeruginosa: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2010;303(19):1707-1710..
- 79. Ress BD, Gross EM. Irreversible Sensorineural Hearing Loss as a Result of Azithromycin Ototoxicity. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol. 2000 Apr 28;109(4):435–7.
- Kotra LP, Haddad J, Mobashery S. Aminoglycosides: Perspectives on Mechanisms of Action and Resistance and Strategies to Counter Resistance. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2000 Dec 1;44(12):3249–56.
- 81. Avent ML, Rogers BA, Cheng AC et al. Current use of aminoglycosides: indications, pharmacokinetics and monitoring for toxicity. Intern Med J. 2011 Jun 1;41(6):441–9.
- Santos Filho L, Kuti JL, Nicolau DP. Employing pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic principles to optimize antimicrobial treatment in the face of emerging resistance. Brazilian J Microbiol. 2007 Jun;38(2):183–93.
- 83. Prayle A, Smith AR. Aminoglycoside use in cystic fibrosis: therapeutic strategies and toxicity. Curr Opin Pulm med, 2010.
- 84. Safi KH, Damiani JM, Sturza J et al. Extended-Interval Aminoglycoside Use in Cystic Fibrosis Exacerbation in Children and Young Adults. Glob Pediatr Heal. 2016 Mar 4;3:2333794X1663546.
- 85. Wargo KA, Edwards JD. Aminoglycoside-Induced Nephrotoxicity. J Pharm Pract. 2014 Dec 7;27(6):573–7.
- 86. Al-Aloul M, Miller H, Alapati S et al. Renal impairment in cystic fibrosis patients due to repeated intravenous aminoglycoside use. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2005 Jan;39(1):15–20.
- 87. Glass S, Plant N,Spender D et al. The effects of intravenous tobramycin on renal tubular function in children with cystic fibrosis. JCF, 2005;4(4):221-225.
- 88. Boucher R. Status of gene therapy for cystic fibrosis lung disease. Am Soc Clin Investig 1999;103(4):441-445.
- 89. Alton EWFW, Armstrong DK, Ashby D et al. Repeated nebulisation of non-viral CFTR gene therapy in patients with cystic fibrosis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2b trial. Lancet Respir Med. 2015 Sep 1;3(9):684–91.
- 90. McKone EF, Borowitz D, Drevinek P et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of ivacaftor in

patients with cystic fibrosis who have the Gly551Asp-CFTR mutation: a phase 3, openlabel extension study (PERSIST). Lancet Respir Med. 2014 Nov 1;2(11):902–10.

- 91. Barry P, Plant B, Nair A et al. Effects of ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis who carry the G551D mutation and have severe lung disease. Chest 2014;146(1):152-158.
- 92. Quon B, Rowe S. New and emerging targeted therapies for cystic fibrosis.BMJ 2016;352:i859.
- Wainwright CE, Elborn JS, Ramsey BW et al. Lumacaftor–Ivacaftor in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis Homozygous for Phe508del *CFTR*. N Engl J Med. 2015 Jul 16;373(3):220–31.
- 94. Sala MA, Jain M. Tezacaftor for the treatment of cystic fibrosis. Expert Rev Respir Med. 2018 Sep 2;12(9):725–32.
- 95. Middleton PG, Mall MA, Dřevínek P et al. Elexacaftor–Tezacaftor–Ivacaftor for Cystic Fibrosis with a Single Phe508del Allele. N Engl J Med. 2019 Nov 7;381(19):1809–19.
- 96. Heijerman HGM, McKone EF, Downey DG et al. Efficacy and safety of the elexacaftor plus tezacaftor plus ivacaftor combination regimen in people with cystic fibrosis homozygous for the F508del mutation: a double-blind, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2019 Nov 23;394(10212):1940–8.
- 97. Thabut G, Mal H. Outcomes after lung transplantation. J Thorac Dis. 2017 Aug;9(8):2684–91.
- 98. Smyth A, Bell S, Bojcin S et al. European cystic fibrosis society standards of care: best practice guidelines. JCF 2014;13(1):S23-42.
- 99. Coates. Population estimates for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland: mid-2017. Office for National Statistics. 2018.
- 100. Liguori I, Russo G, Curcio F et al. Oxidative stress, aging, and diseases. Clin Interv Ageing 2018;13:757-772.
- 101. Bhatnagar P, Wickramasinghe K, Williams J et al. The epidemiology of cardiovascular disease in the UK 2014. BMJ Heart 2015;101(15).
- 102. Mahmood S, Levy D, Vasan R et al. The Framingham Heart Study and the epidemiology of cardiovascular disease: a historical perspective. Lancet 2014;383(9921):999-1008.
- 103. Rafieian-Kopaei M, Setorki M et al. Atherosclerosis: process, indicators, risk factors and new hopes. Int J Prev Med 2014;5(8):927-946.
- 104. Manninen V, Elo M, Frick M et al. Lipid alterations and decline in the incidence of coronary heart disease in the Helsinki Heart Study. JAMA 1988;260(5):641-651.
- 105. Schaefer E, Lamon-Fava S, Jenner J et al. Lipoprotein (a) levels and risk of coronary heart disease in men: the Lipid Research Clinics Coronary Primary Prevention Trial. JAMA 1994;271(13):999-1003.

- 106. Influence of Adherence to Treatment and Response of Cholesterol on Mortality in the Coronary Drug Project. N Engl J Med. 1980 Oct 30;303(18):1038–41.
- 107. Contois J, McConnell J, Sethi A et al. Apolipoprotein B and cardiovascular disease risk: position statement from the AACC Lipoproteins and Vascular Diseases Division Working Group on Best Practices. Clin Chem 2009;55(3):407-409.
- 108. (NICE) National Institute of Clinical Excellence. Cardiovascular disease: risk assessment and reduction, including lipid modification, 2014. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg181. Accessed 06/06/2019.
- 109. Weissberg P, Rudd J. Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine. Second Edi. Philadelphia: Lippincott, Williams and Wilkins; 2002. pp.2–12.
- 110. Friedewald WT, Levy RI, Fredrickson DS. Estimation of the concentration of lowdensity lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. Clin Chem. 1972 Jun;18(6):499–502.
- Newman WP, Freedman DS, Voors AW et al. Relation of Serum Lipoprotein Levels and Systolic Blood Pressure to Early Atherosclerosis. N Engl J Med. 1986 Jan 16;314(3):138–44.
- 112. Linton M, Yancey P, Davies S et al. The role of lipids and lipoproteins in atherosclerosis. 2015;
- 113. Shapiro M, Fazio F. Apolipoprotein B-containing lipoproteins and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. F1000Res 2017;6(134)..
- 114. BARTER PJ, BALLANTYNE CM, CARMENA R et al. Apo B versus cholesterol in estimating cardiovascular risk and in guiding therapy: report of the thirty-person/tencountry panel. J Intern Med. 2006 Mar 1;259(3):247–58.
- 115. Walldius G, Jungner I, Holme I et al. High apolipoprotein B, low apolipoprotein AI, and improvement in the prediction of fatal myocardial infarction (AMORIS study): a prospective study. Lancet 2001;358(9298):2026-2033..
- 116. Lamarche B, Moorjani S, Lupien PJ et al. Apolipoprotein A-I and B Levels and the Risk of Ischemic Heart Disease During a Five-Year Follow-up of Men in the Que´bec Cardiovascular Study. Circulation. 1996 Aug;94(3):273–8.
- 117. Fedder D, Koro C, L'Italien G et al. New National Cholesterol Education Program III guidelines for primary prevention lipid-lowering drug therapy: projected impact on the size, sex, and age distribution. Am Hear Assoc. Circ 2002;105:152-156.
- 118. Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ôunpuu S et al. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. lancet 2004;364:937-952.
- 119. Marchesi M, Booth E, Davis T et al. Apolipoprotein A-IMilano and 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl phosphatidylcholine complex (ETC-216) protects the in vivo rabbit heart from regional ischemia-reperfusion injury. ASPET. J Pharm Exp Ther 2004;311:1023-1031.

- 120. Florvall G, Basu S, Larson A et al. Apolipoprotein A1 is a stronger prognostic marker than are HDL and LDL cholesterol for cardiovascular disease and mortality in elderly men. Journ Geront 2006;61(12):1262-1266.
- 121. Castro A, Silva S, Soires S et al. The Use of High Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein in Cardiovascular Disease Detection. J Pharm Sci 2018;21(1):496-503.
- 122. (NICE) NI of CE. Hypertension in adults: diagnosis and management. August 2011; https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg127. Accessed 01/07/2019.
- 123. Gabb G, Mnagoni A, Anderson C et al. Guideline for the diagnosis and management of hypertension in adults. Med J Aust 2016;205(2):85-89.
- 124. Chobanian A V. Isolated Systolic Hypertension in the Elderly. N Engl J Med. 2007 Aug 23;357(8):789–96.
- 125. Kannel WB, Dawber TR, McGee DL. Perspectives on systolic hypertension. The Framingham study. Circulation. 1980 Jun;61(6):1179–82.
- 126. Barbagallo M, Resnik L. Diabetes mellitus, hypertension and ageing: the ionic hypothesis of ageing and cardiovascular-metabolic diseases. Diab and Metab 1997;23:281-294..
- 127. Koren M, Devereux R, Casale P et al. Relation of left ventricular mass and geometry to morbidity and mortality in uncomplicated essential hypertension. Am Coll Physic 1991;114(5):345-352.
- 128. Kumar S. Pathophysiology and management of hypertension in acute ischemic stroke. Hypertension and Neuro Impact 2016;2(1):39-43.
- 129. Messerli FH, Mancia G, Conti CR et al. Dogma Disputed: Can Aggressively Lowering Blood Pressure in Hypertensive Patients with Coronary Artery Disease Be Dangerous? Ann Intern Med. 2006 Jun 20;144(12):884.
- 130. Ceriello A, Motz E. Is Oxidative Stress the Pathogenic Mechanism Underlying Insulin Resistance, Diabetes, and Cardiovascular Disease? The Common Soil Hypothesis Revisited. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004 May;24(5):816–23.
- 131. Poirier P. Adiposity and cardiovascular disease: are we using the right definition of obesity? Eur Heart J. 2007 Jul 19;28(17):2047–8.
- 132. Odewes F, Verkade H. Cystic fibrosis and the role of gastrointestinal outcome measures in the new era of therapeutic CFTR modulation. JCF 2015;14(2):169-177.
- 133. Melmed S, Polonsky K, Larsen P. Williams Textbook of Endocrinology. 13th Editi. Elsevier; 2016. pp.1385–1450.
- Kannel W, Mcgee D, Castelli W et al. Latest perspectives on cigarette smoking and cardiovascular disease: the Framingham Study. Journ of Card Rehab 1984;4(7):267-277.
- 135. Townsend R. Pulse (Basil) Arterial stiffness: recommendations and standardization.

2017;4(Supp 1):3-7, karger.com.

- 136. Roifman I, Beck P, Anderson T et al. Chronic inflammatory diseases and cardiovascular risk: a systematic review. Canadian Journ Card 20-11;27(2):174-182.
- 137. Tölle M, Reshetnik A, Schuchardt M et al. Arteriosclerosis and vascular calcification: causes, clinical assessment and therapy. Eur J Clin Invest. 2015 Sep;45(9):976–85.
- 138. Shirwany N, Zhou M. Arterial stiffness: a brief review. Acta Pharm Sin 2010;31(10):1267-1276.
- 139. Oliver JJ, Webb DJ. Noninvasive Assessment of Arterial Stiffness and Risk of Atherosclerotic Events. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003 Apr;23(4):554–66.
- Willum Hansen T, Staessen JA, Torp-Pedersen C et al. Prognostic Value of Aortic Pulse Wave Velocity as Index of Arterial Stiffness in the General Population. Circulation. 2006 Feb 7;113(5):664–70.
- 141. Laurent S, Boutouyrie P, Asmar R et al. Aortic stiffness is an independent predictor of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in hypertensive patients. Am Hear Assoc. Hypertension 2001;37:1236-1241.
- 142. Pannier B, Guérin A, Marchais S et al. Stiffness of capacitive and conduit arteries: prognostic significance for end-stage renal disease patients. Am Hear Assoc. Hypertension 2005;45:592-596.
- 143. Townsend R, Wilkinson I, Schiffrin E et al. Recommendations for improving and standardizing vascular research on arterial stiffness: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Am Hear Assoc. Hypertension 2015;66(3):698-722.
- Ben-Shlomo Y, Spears M, Boustred C et al. Cardiometabolic Risk Aortic Pulse Wave Velocity Improves Cardiovascular Event Prediction An Individual Participant Meta-Analysis of Prospective Observational Data From 17,635 Subjects. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;63:636–46.
- Greenland P, Alpert JS, Beller GA et al. 2010 ACCF/AHA Guideline for Assessment of Cardiovascular Risk in Asymptomatic Adults: Executive Summary. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010 Dec 14;56(25):2182–99.
- 146. Fukui T, Parker K, Flows TY-S and T, 2012 undefined. Pulse wave propagation in large blood vessels based on fluid-solid interactions methods. Flow TY-S and T, 2012; books.google.com..
- 147. Blacher J, Safar ME, Guerin AP et al. Aortic pulse wave velocity index and mortality in end-stage renal disease. Kidney Int. 2003 May;63(5):1852–60.
- 148. Cockcroft J, Wilkinson I. The Trevor Howell Lecture Age, Arterial Stiffness and the Endothelium. Age and Ageing 1997;26:S4:53-60, researchgate.net.
- 149. Determinants of pulse wave velocity in healthy people and in the presence of cardiovascular risk factors: 'establishing normal and reference values.' Eur Heart J. 2010 Oct 1;31(19):2338–50.

- 150. Blacher J, Safar ME, Guerin AP et al. Aortic pulse wave velocity index and mortality in end-stage renal disease. Kidney Int. 2003 May;63(5):1852–60.
- 151. London GM, Blacher J, Pannier B et al. Arterial Wave Reflections and Survival in End-Stage Renal Failure. Hypertension. 2001 Sep 1;38(3):434–8.
- 152. Kim G, Kim J, Moon K et al. The clinical usefulness of central hemodynamics to evaluate diastolic dysfunction in subjects without hypertension. Clin Inter Aheing 2014;9:527-533.
- Nurnberger J, Keflioglu-Scheiber A OSA. Augmentation index is associated with cardiovascular risk. - PubMed - NCBI [Internet]. J Hypertens. 2002 Dec;20(12):2407-14.
- 154. Nemcsik J, Tabák Á, Batta D et al. Integrated central blood pressure–aortic stiffness risk score for cardiovascular risk stratification in chronic kidney disease. Physiol Int. 2018 Dec;105(4):335–46.
- 155. Zanoli L, Lentini P, Briet M et al. Arterial Stiffness in the Heart Disease of CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2019 Jun 1;30(6):918–28.
- 156. Tybjærg-Hansen A, Steffensen R, Meinertz H et al. Association of Mutations in the Apolipoprotein B Gene with Hypercholesterolemia and the Risk of Ischemic Heart Disease. N Engl J Med. 1998 May 28;338(22):1577–84.
- 157. Day I, Wilson D. Genetics and cardiovascular risk. BMJ 2001;323:1409.
- 158. NHS England » Cardiovascular disease (CVD) [Internet]. [cited 2020 Sep 27]. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/clinical-policy/cvd/
- 159. Purcarea A, Sovaila S, Gheorghe A et al. Cardiovascular disease risk scores in the current practice: which to use in rheumatoid arthritis? J Med Life 2014;7(4):461-467.
- 160. Hippisley-Cox J, Coupland C, Vinogradova Y et al. Derivation and validation of QRISK, a new cardiovascular disease risk score for the United Kingdom: prospective open cohort study. BMJ. 2007 Jul 21;335(7611):136.
- 161. Drici M-D, Priori S. Cardiovascular risks of atypical antipsychotic drug treatment. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2007 Aug;16(8):882–90.
- 162. QRISK3 [Internet]. [cited 2019 Jul 19]. Available from: https://qrisk.org/three/
- 163. Weinstein J, Anderson S. The aging kidney: physiological changes. Adv in Chron Kid Dis 2010;17(4):302-307.
- 164. Musso C. Aging and physiological changes of the kidneys including changes in glomerular filtration rate. Nephron Physiol 2011;119 Supp 1:1-5.
- 165. Levey A, Eckardt K, Tsukamoto Y et al. Definition and classification of chronic kidney disease: a position statement from Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO). 2005;67(6):2089-2100.

- 166. Prayle A, Watson A, Fortnum H et al. Side effects of aminoglycosides on the kidney, ear and balance in cystic fibrosis. Thorax 2010;65:654-658.
- 167. CKD stages The Renal Association [Internet]. [cited 2019 Jul 15]. Available from: https://renal.org/information-resources/the-uk-eckd-guide/ckd-stages/
- 168. Glassock R, Wionearls C. Ageing and the glomerular filtration rate: truths and consequences. Trans Am Clin Clima Assoc 2009;120:419-428.
- 169. Longmore M, Wilkinson T, Turmezei T. Oxford Handbook of Clinical Medicine. 7th edition. Oxford University Press; 2007. pp.292.
- 170. Musso C. Geriatric nephrology and thenephrogeriatric giants'. Int Nephrol Urol 2002;34:255-256.
- 171. Werner K, Christensson A, Legrand H et al. Cystatin C and creatinine-based eGFR levels and their correlation to long-term morbidity and mortality in older adults. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2018 Dec 17;
- 172. Benet LZ, Zia-Amirhosseini P. Basic Principles of Pharmacokinetics. Toxicol Pathol. 1995 Mar 2;23(2):115–23.
- 173. Stevens LA, Coresh J, Greene T et al. Assessing Kidney Function Measured and Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate. N Engl J Med. 2006 Jun 8;354(23):2473–83.
- 174. Krutzén E, Bäck S. Plasma clearance of a new contrast agent, iohexol: a method for the assessment of glomerular filtration rate. J Lab Clin Med 1984;104(6):955-961.
- 175. Gaspari F, Perico N, Ruggenenti P et al. Plasma clearance of nonradioactive iohexol as a measure of glomerular filtration rate. Am Soc Nephrol 1995;6(2):257-263.
- 176. Trobec KC, Kos MK, von Haeling S et al. Iohexol clearance is superior to creatininebased renal function estimating equations in detecting short-term renal function decline in chronic heart failure. Croat med J 2015;56(6):531-541.
- 177. Zhou X, Rakheja D, Yu X et al. The aging kidney. Kidney Int 2008;74(6):710-720.
- 178. National Kidney Foundation AS, Coresh J, Bolton K, Culleton B et al. K/DOQI clinical practice guidelines for chronic kidney disease: evaluation, classification, and stratification. Am J Kidney Dis. 2002 Feb;39(2 Suppl 1):S1-266.
- 179. Cockcroft D, Gault M. Prediction of creatinine clearance from serum creatinine. Nephron 1976;16:31-41.
- Levey A, Bosch J, Lewis J et al. A more accurate method to estimate glomerular filtration rate from serum creatinine: a new prediction equation. Am Coll Physicians. Ann Int med 1999;130:461-470.
- 181. Rule A, Larson T, Bergstahl E et al. Using serum creatinine to estimate glomerular filtration rate: accuracy in good health and in chronic kidney disease. Am Coll Physicians. Ann Int Med 2004;141:929-937.
- 182. Raman M, Middleton RJ, Kalra PA et al. Estimating renal function in old people: an indepth review. Int Urol Nephrol. 2017 Nov 15;49(11):1979–88.
- 183. Matsushita K, Mahmoodi B Woodward B et al. Comparison of risk prediction using the CKD-EPI equation and the MDRD study equation for estimated glomerular filtration rate. JAMA 2012;307(18):1941-1951.
- 184. Kilbride H, Stevens P, Eaglestone G et al. Accuracy of the MDRD (Modification of Diet in Renal Disease) study and CKD-EPI (CKD Epidemiology Collaboration) equations for estimation of GFR in the elderly. AM J Kid Dis 2013;61(1):57-66.
- 185. Newman DJ. Cystatin C. Ann Clin Biochem. 2002 Mar 1;39(2):89–104.
- 186. Dharnidharka V, Kwon C, Stevens G et al. Serum cystatin C is superior to serum creatinine as a marker of kidney function: a meta-analysis. Am J Kid Dis 2002;40(2):221-226.
- 187. Jonsson A -S, Flodin M, Hansson L -O et al. Estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR _{CystC}) from serum cystatin C shows strong agreement with iohexol clearance in patients with low GFR. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 2007 Jan 8;67(8):801–9.
- 188. Tan G, Lewis A, James T et al. Clinical usefulness of cystatin C for the estimation of glomerular filtration rate in type 1 diabetes: reproducibility and accuracy compared with standard measures and. Am Diabetes Assoc. Diab Care 2002;25(11):2004-2009.
- 189. Beringer P, Hidayat L, Heed A et al. GFR estimates using cystatin C are superior to serum creatinine in adult patients with cystic fibrosis. JCF 2009;8(1):19-25.
- 190. Micco L Di, Quinn R et al. Urine creatinine excretion and clinical outcomes in CKD. Am Soc Nephrol. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2013;8(11):1877-1883.
- 191. Derhaschnig U, Kittler H et al. Microalbumin measurement alone or calculation of the albumin/creatinine ratio for the screening of hypertension patients? Nephrol, Dial, Trans 2002;17(1):81-85.
- 192. Dobson L, Stride A, Bingham C et al. Microalbuminuria as a screening tool in cystic fibrosis-related diabetes. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2005 Feb;39(2):103–7.
- 193. Rochholz E. Alemannisches kinderlied und kinderspiel aus der Schweiz. 1857.
- 194. Corriveau S, Sykes J. Cystic fibrosis survival: the changing epidemiology. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2018;24(6):574-578.
- 195. McIlwaine M, Davidson A. Airway clearance techniques in the treatment of cystic fibrosis. Curr Opin Pulm Med 1996;2(6):447-451.
- Mahadeva R, Webb K, Westerbeek RC et al. Clinical outcome in relation to care in centres specialising in cystic fibrosis: cross sectional study. Br Med J. 1998 Jun 13;316(7147):1771–6.
- 197. Johns Hopkins University. Welcome to CFTR2 | CFTR2 [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2021 Jan 18]. Available from: https://cftr2.org/

- 198. Plant B, Goss C, Plant W et al. Management of comorbidities in older patients with cystic fibrosis. Lancet 2013;1:164-174.
- Rodman DM, Polis JM, Heltshe SL et al. Late Diagnosis Defines a Unique Population of Long-term Survivors of Cystic Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2005 Mar 15;171(6):621–6.
- 200. Simmonds N, Cullinan P, Hodson M et al. Growing old with cystic fibrosis-the characteristics of long-term survivors of cystic fibrosis. Resp Med 2009;103:629-635.
- 201. Burgel P-R, Bellis G, Olesen H V et al. Future trends in cystic fibrosis demography in 34 European countries. Eur Respir J. 2015 Jul 18;46(1):133–41.
- 202. Quon B, Aitkin M. Cystic fibrosis: what to expect now in the early adult years. Paed Resp Rev 2012;13:206-214.
- 203. Que C, Cullinan P, Geddes D et al. Improving rate of decline of FEV1 in young adults with cystic fibrosis. thorax 2006;61:155-157.
- 204. Gilchrist F, Webb A, Bright-Thomas R et al. Successful treatment of cepacia syndrome with a combination of intravenous cyclosporin, antibiotics and oral corticosteroids. JCF 2012;11(5):458-460.
- 205. Boussaud V, Guillemain R, Grenet D et al. Clinical outcome following lung transplantation in cystic fibrosis patients colonized with Burkholderia cepacia complex: results from two French centers. Thorax 2008;63(8):732-737.
- 206. Martiniano S, Nick J. Nontuberculous Mycobacterial Infections in Cystic Fibrosis. Thorac Surg Clinic 2019;29(1):95-108.
- 207. Leung J, Olivier K et al. Nontuberculous mycobacteria: the changing epidemiology and treatment challenges in cystic fibrosis. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2013;19(6):662-669.
- 208. Waters V, Yau Y, Prasad S et al. *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* in Cystic Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011 Mar;183(5):635–40.
- 209. Kerem E, Reisman J, Corey M et al. Prediction of Mortality in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 1992 Apr 30;326(18):1187–91.
- 210. Hodson M, Simmonds N, Warwick W et al. An international/multicentre report on patients with cystic fibrosis (CF) over the age of 40 years. JCF 2008;7:537-542.
- 211. George PM, Banya W, Pareek N et al. Improved survival at low lung function in cystic fibrosis: cohort study from 1990 to 2007. BMJ. 2011 Feb 28;342:d1008.
- Ramos KJ, Quon BS, Heltshe SL et al. Heterogeneity in Survival in Adult Patients With Cystic Fibrosis With FEV1 &It; 30% of Predicted in the United States. Chest. 2017;151(6):1320–8.
- Sivam S, Dentice R, Reddy N et al. Use of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in cystic fibrosis in an Australian cystic fibrosis centre. Intern Med J. 2018 Mar;48(3):340–3.

- 214. SOOD N, PARADOWSKI LJ, YANKASKAS JR. Outcomes of Intensive Care Unit Care in Adults with Cystic Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001 Feb 14;163(2):335–8.
- 215. King S, Topliss D, Kotsimbos T et al. Reduced bone density in cystic fibrosis: ΔF508 mutation is an independent risk factor. Eur Respir Soc. Eur Resp J 2005;25:54-61.
- 216. Legroux-Gérot I, Leroy S, Prudhomme C et al. Bone loss in adults with cystic fibrosis: prevalence, associated factors, and usefulness of biological markers. Joint, Bone, Spine 2012;79:73-77.
- 217. Parkins MD, Parkins VM, Rendall JC et al. Changing epidemiology and clinical issues arising in an ageing cystic fibrosis population.
- 218. Koch C, Rainisio M, Madessani U et al. Presence of cystic fibrosis-related diabetes mellitus is tightly linked to poor lung function in patients with cystic fibrosis: Data from the European Epidemiologic Registry of Cystic Fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2001 Nov;32(5):343–50.
- 219. Schwarzenberg S, Thomas W, Olsen T et al. Microvascular complications in cystic fibrosis–related diabetes. Am Diabetes Assoc. Diab Care 2007;30(5):1056-1061.
- Quon BS, Mayer-Hamblett N, Aitken ML et al. Risk Factors for Chronic Kidney Disease in Adults with Cystic Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011 Nov 15;184(10):1147– 52.
- 221. Etherington C, Bosomworth M, Clifton I et al. Measurement of urinary N-acetyl-bDglucosaminidase in adult patients with cystic fibrosis: before, during and after treatment with intravenous antibiotics. JCF 2007;6:67-73.
- 222. Skolnik K, Levy R, Wilcox P et al. Coronary artery disease in cystic fibrosis: An emerging concern? JCF 2016;15(6)e70-e71.
- 223. Rowe SM, Heltshe SL, Gonska T et al. Clinical Mechanism of the Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator Potentiator Ivacaftor in G551D-mediated Cystic Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2014 Jul 15;190(2):175–84.
- 224. Onady GM, Farinet CL. An adult cystic fibrosis patient presenting with persistent dyspnea: case report. BMC Pulm Med. 2006 Dec 8;6(1):9.
- 225. Hull JH, Garrod R, Ho TB et al. P97 Do intravenous antibiotics influence arterial stiffness in adults with cystic fibrosis? Thorax. 2010 Dec 1;65(Suppl 4):A119–A119.
- 226. Buehler T, Steinmann M. Increased arterial stiffness in children with cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir Soc. ERJ 2012 39:1536-1537.
- 227. Hull J, Garrod R, Ho T et al. Increased augmentation index in patients with cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir Soc. ERJ 2009; 34:1322-1328..
- 228. MacNee W, Maclay J, McAllister D. Cardiovascular Injury and Repair in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc. 2008 Dec 1;5(8):824–33.
- 229. Rhodes B, Nash E, Tullis E et al. Prevalence of dyslipidemia in adults with cystic

fibrosis. JCF 2010;9:24-28.

- 230. Koelling T, Dec G, Ginns L et al. Left ventricular diastolic function in patients with advanced cystic fibrosis. Chest 2003;123:1488-1493.
- 231. Ramjee V, Sperling L, Jacobsen T et al. Non–high-density lipoprotein cholesterol versus apolipoprotein B in cardiovascular risk stratification: do the math. JACC 2011;58(5).
- 232. Ishani A, Erturk S, Hertz MI et al. Predictors of renal function following lung or heartlung transplantation. Kidney Int. 2002 Jun 1;61(6):2228–34.
- 233. Al-Aloul M, Jackson M, Bell G et al. Comparison of methods of assessment of renal function in cystic fibrosis (CF) patients. JCF 2007;6(1):41-47.
- 234. Kumar P, Clark M. Clinical Medicine. Fifth Edition. Saunders, editor. New York; 2002. pp.70–73.
- 235. Novel-Caitin E, Pelletier S, Nove Josserand R et al. Systematic renal function evaluation using iohexol or inuline clearance before lung transplantation in adult CF patients. Néphrologie & Thérapeutique. 2016 Sep 1;12(5):406–7.
- 236. Halacova M, Kotaska K, Kukacka J et al. Serum cystatin C level for better assessment of glomerular filtration rate in cystic fibrosis patients treated by amikacin. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2008 Aug;33(4):409–17.
- 237. Perkins B, Nelson R et al. Detection of renal function decline in patients with diabetes and normal or elevated GFR by serial measurements of serum cystatin C concentration: results of a 4-year. Am Soc Nephrol. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005;16:1404-1412.
- 238. Touw D. Clinical pharmacokinetics of antimicrobial drugs in cystic fibrosis. Pharm World 1998;20:149-160.
- 239. Al-Aloul M, Miller H, Stockton P et al. Acute renal failure in CF patients chronically infected by the Liverpool epidemic Pseudomonas aeruginosa strain (LES). JCF 2005:197-201.
- 240. Smyth A, Tan K, Hyman-Taylor P et al. Once versus three-times daily regimens of tobramycin treatment for pulmonary exacerbations of cystic fibrosis—the TOPIC study: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2005;365:573-580.
- 241. Katz SM, Krueger LJ, Falkner B. Microscopic Nephrocalcinosis in Cystic Fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 1988 Aug 4;319(5):263–6.
- 242. Perez-Brayfield M, Caplan D, Ghatta J et al. Metabolic risk factors for stone formation in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Urol 2002;167:480-484..
- 243. Kuwertz-Bröking E, Koch H, Everding A et al. Colchicine for secondary nephropathic amyloidosis in cystic fibrosis. Lancet 1995;345:1178-1179.
- 244. Davis C, Abramowsky C, Swineheart G et al. Circulating immune complexes and the

nephropathy of cystic fibrosis. Hum Path 1984;15:244-247.

- 245. Saldana P, Pomeranz J, Work MY et al. More than a job: Career development of individuals with cystic fibrosis. Work 2018;59(3):425-437.
- 246. Goss C, Rubenfeld G, Otto K et al. The effect of pregnancy on survival in women with cystic fibrosis. Chest 2003;124(4):1460-1468.
- 247. Riekert K, Bartlett S, Boyle M et al. The association between depression, lung function, and health-related quality of life among adults with cystic fibrosis. Chest 2007;132(1):231-237.
- 248. Tomaszek L, Cepuch G, Pawlik L. The evaluation of selected insomnia predictors in adolescents and young adults with cystic fibrosis. Biomed Pap Med Czech Rep 2018;162(3):212-218.
- 249. Mirakhur A, Gallagher M, Ledson M et al. Fosfomycin therapy for multiresistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa in cystic fibrosis. JCF 2003;2:19-24.
- 250. Konstan MW, Byard PJ, Hoppel CL et al. Effect of High-Dose Ibuprofen in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 1995 Mar 30;332(13):848–54.
- 251. Southern KW, Barker PM, Solis-Moya A et al. Macrolide antibiotics for cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012 Nov 14;
- 252. Kerem E, Kerem B. Genotype-phenotype correlations in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 1996 Dec;22(6):387–95.
- 253. McKone EF, Goss CH, Aitken ML. CFTR Genotype as a Predictor of Prognosis in Cystic Fibrosis. Chest. 2006 Nov 1;130(5):1441–7.
- 254. McKone E, Velentgas P, Swenson A et al. Association of sweat chloride concentration at time of diagnosis and CFTR genotype with mortality and cystic fibrosis phenotype. JCF 2015;14(5):580-586.
- 255. Corey M, Edwards L, Levison H et al. Longitudinal analysis of pulmonary function decline in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr. 1997 Dec;131(6):809–14.
- 256. Nick JA, Chacon CS, Brayshaw SJ et al. Effects of gender and age at diagnosis on disease progression in long-term survivors of cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010 Sep 1;182(5):614–26.
- 257. Milla C, Moss R. Recent advances in cystic fibrosis. Curr Opin Paed 2015;27(3):317-332.
- 258. Rowe SM, Daines C, Ringshausen FC et al. Tezacaftor–Ivacaftor in Residual-Function Heterozygotes with Cystic Fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2017 Nov 23;377(21):2024–35.
- 259. Official JOurnal Of the internatiOnal SOciety Of nephrOlOgy KDIGO 2012 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease.
- 260. Nyssen L, Delanaye P, Le Goff C et al. A simple LC-MS method for the determination

of iohexol and iothalamate in serum, using ioversol as an internal standard. Clin Chim Acta. 2016 Dec 1;463:96–102.

- 261. Delanaye P, Ebert N, Melsom T et al. Iohexol plasma clearance for measuring glomerular filtration rate in clinical practice and research: a review. Part 1: How to measure glomerular filtration rate with iohexol? Clin Kidney J. 2016 Oct;9(5):682–99.
- 262. Cavalier E, Rozet E, Dubois N et al. Performance of iohexol determination in serum and urine by HPLC: validation, risk and uncertainty assessment. Clin Chim Acta. 2008;396(1–2).
- 263. Wallace A, Price A, Fleischer E et al. Estimation of GFR in Patients With Cystic Fibrosis: A Cross-Sectional Study. Can J kidney Heal Dis. 2020;7:2054358119899312.
- 264. Junge W, Wilke B, Halabi A et al. Determination of reference intervals for serum creatinine, creatinine excretion and creatinine clearance with an enzymatic and a modified Jaffe method. Clin Clim Acta 2004;344:137-148.
- LeGrys VA, Yankaskas JR, Quittell LM et al. Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. Diagnostic sweat testing: the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation guidelines. J Pediatr. 2007 Jul 1;151(1):85–9.
- 266. Green A, Kirk J, Group TGD. Guidelines for the performance of the sweat test for the diagnosis of cystic fibrosis. Ann Clin Biochem. 2007 Jan 1;44(1):25–34.
- 267. Martiniano SL. Improvements to Confirmatory Testing. 2016. https://www.newsteps.org/sites/default/files/improvements_to_confirmatory_testin g.pdf. Access 01-07-2019.
- 268. McKone EF, Emerson SS, Edwards KL et al. Effect of genotype on phenotype and mortality in cystic fibrosis: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet. 2003 May 17;361(9370):1671–6.
- 269. Wilschanski M, Zielenski J, Markiewicz D et al. Correlation of sweat chloride concentration with classes of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator gene mutations. J Pediatr. 1995 Nov 1;127(5):705–10.
- 270. Vicorder Cardio and Peripheral-Vascular Testing Vicorder Cardio- and Peripheral-Vascular Testing Products SMT medical GmbH & amp; Co. [Internet]. [cited 2019 Jul 21]. Available from: https://www.smt-medical.com/en/products/vicorder-cardio-and-peripheral-vascular-testing.html
- 271. Moran A, Dunitz J, Nathan B et al. Cystic fibrosis–related diabetes: current trends in prevalence, incidence, and mortality. Am Diabetes Assoc. Diab Care 2009 Sep;32(9):1626-31.
- 272. Cardiovascular disease: risk assessment and reduction, including lipid modification. NICE, July 2014; https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg181.
- 273. QRISK2-2017 [Internet]. [cited 2019 Jul 21]. Available from: https://qrisk.org/2017/
- 274. Royce S. Cor pulmonale in infancy and early childhood: Report on 34 patients, with

special reference to the occurrence of pulmonary heart disease in cystic fibrosis of the. Am Acad Pediatr 1951;8(2):255-274.

- 275. Radenkovic D, Weingärtner S, Ricketts L et al. T1 mapping in cardiac MRI. Heart Fail Rev. 2017;22(4):415–30.
- Haaf P, Garg P, Messroghli DR, Broadbent DA et al. Cardiac T1 Mapping and Extracellular Volume (ECV) in clinical practice: a comprehensive review. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2017 Jan 30;18(1):89.
- 277. Simmonds N, MacNeill S, Cullinan P et al. Cystic fibrosis and survival to 40 years: a case–control study. Eur Respir Soc 2010; 36:12771283.
- 278. Simmonds, N. Ageing in cystic fibrosis and long-term survival. Paed Resp Rev 2013;14(1):6-9.
- 279. Matouk E, Nguyen D, Benedetti A et al. C-Reactive Protein in Stable Cystic Fibrosis: An Additional Indicator of Clinical Disease Activity and Risk of Future Pulmonary Exacerbations. J Pulm Respir Med. 2016;6(5):1000375.
- 280. Mastella G, Di Cesare G, Borruso A et al. Reliability of sweat-testing by the Macroduct collection method combined with conductivity analysis in comparison with the classic Gibson and Cooke technique. Acta Paediatr. 2000 Aug;89(8):933–7.
- 281. Rosenbluth DB, Wilson K, Ferkol T et al. Lung Function Decline in Cystic Fibrosis
 Patients and Timing for Lung Transplantation Referral. Chest. 2004 Aug 1;126(2):412–
 9.
- 282. Desai S, Wong H, Sykes J et al. Clinical Characteristics and Predictors of Reduced Survival for Adult-diagnosed Cystic Fibrosis. Analysis of the Canadian CF Registry. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2018 Oct 1;15(10):1177–85.
- 283. Durno C, Corey M, Zielenski J et al. Genotype and phenotype correlations in patients with cystic fibrosis and pancreatitis. Gastroenterology. 2002 Dec;123(6):1857–64.
- 284. Stallings VA, Sainath N, Oberle M et al. Energy Balance and Mechanisms of Weight Gain with Ivacaftor Treatment of Cystic Fibrosis Gating Mutations. J Pediatr. 2018 Oct 1;201:229-237.e4.
- 285. Sharma A, Kirkpatrick G, Chen V et al. Clinical utility of C-reactive protein to predict treatment response during cystic fibrosis pulmonary exacerbations. Shi W, editor. PLoS One. 2017 Feb 8;12(2):e0171229.
- 286. Nick JA, Chacon CS, Brayshaw SJ et al. Effects of gender and age at diagnosis on disease progression in long-term survivors of cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010 Sep 1;182(5):614–26.
- 287. Harness-Brumley CL, Elliott AC, Rosenbluth DB et al. Gender Differences in Outcomes of Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. J Women's Heal. 2014 Dec 11;23(12):1012–20.
- 288. Wilson DC, Kalnins D, Stewart C et al. Challenges in the dietary treatment of cystic fibrosis related diabetes mellitus. Clin Nutr. 2000 Apr 1;19(2):87–93.

- 289. Perrin FM, Serino W. Ischaemic heart disease a new issue in cystic fibrosis? J R Soc Med. 2010 Jul 23;103(1_suppl):44–8.
- 290. Frederiksen B, Koch C, Høiby N. Antibiotic treatment of initial colonization with Pseudomonas aeruginosa postpones chronic infection and prevents deterioration of pulmonary function in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 1997 May;23(5):330–5.
- Jones AM, Dodd ME, Govan JRW et al. Burkholderia cenocepacia and Burkholderia multivorans: influence on survival in cystic fibrosis. Thorax. 2004 Nov 1;59(11):948– 51.
- 292. LiPuma JJ. Burkholderia cepacia complex: a contraindication to lung transplantation in cystic fibrosis? Transpl Infect Dis. 2001 Sep 1;3(3):149–60.
- 293. Olivier KN, Weber DJ, Wallace RJ et al. Nontuberculous Mycobacteria. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003 Mar 15;167(6):828–34.
- 294. Binder AM, Adjemian J, Olivier KN et al. Epidemiology of Nontuberculous Mycobacterial Infections and Associated Chronic Macrolide Use among Persons with Cystic Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013 Oct 1;188(7):807–12.
- 295. Bills H, Snell G, Levvey B et al. Mycobacterium abscessus and Lung Transplantation: An International Survey. J Hear Lung Transplant. 2015 Apr 1;34(4):S304.
- 296. Garg M, Chee &, Ooi Y. The Enigmatic Gut in Cystic Fibrosis: Linking Inflammation, Dysbiosis, and the Increased Risk of Malignancy. 2017;
- 297. Amital A, Shitrit D, Raviv Y et al. Development of Malignancy Following Lung Transplantation. Transplantation. 2006 Feb;81(4):547–51.
- 298. Figueroa V, Milla C, Parks EJ et al. Abnormal lipid concentrations in cystic fibrosis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2002 Jun 1;75(6):1005–11.
- 299. Nowak JK, Szczepanik M, Wojsyk-Banaszak I et al. Cystic fibrosis dyslipidaemia: A cross-sectional study. J Cyst Fibros. 2019 Jul 1;18(4):566–71.
- 300. Rhodes B, Nash EF, Tullis E et al. Prevalence of dyslipidemia in adults with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2010 Jan 1;9(1):24–8.
- Borowitz D, Lubarsky B, Wilschanski M et al. Nutritional Status Improved in Cystic Fibrosis Patients with the G551D Mutation After Treatment with Ivacaftor. Dig Dis Sci. 2016;61:198–207.
- 302. Ghoorah K, De Soyza A, Kunadian V. Increased Cardiovascular Risk in Patients With Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease and the Potential Mechanisms Linking the Two Conditions. Cardiol Rev. 2013;21(4):196–202.
- 303. McCloskey M, Redmond AO, Hill A et al. Clinical features associated with a delayed diagnosis of cystic fibrosis. Respiration. 2000;67(4):402–7.
- 304. Gan K-H, Geus WP, Bakker W et al. Genetic and clinical features of patients with cystic fibrosis diagnosed after the age of 16 years. Thorax. 1995;50:1301–4.

- 305. Widerman E, Milner L, Sexaeur W et al. Health Status and Sociodemographic Characteristics of Adults Receiving a Cystic Fibrosis Diagnosis After Age 18 Years. Chest. 2000;118(2).
- 306. Durmowicz AG, Witzmann KA, Rosebraugh CJ et al. Change in Sweat Chloride as a Clinical End Point in Cystic Fibrosis Clinical Trials: The Ivacaftor Experience. Chest. 2013 Jan 1;143(1):14–8.
- 307. Thauvin-Robinet C, Munck A, Huet F et al. CFTR p.Arg117His associated with CBAVD and other CFTR-related disorders. J Med Genet. 2013 Apr 1;50(4):220–7.
- 308. Shteinberg M, Downey DG, Beattie D et al. Lung function and disease severity in cystic fibrosis patients heterozygous for p.Arg117His. 2017;
- 309. Hubert D, Bienvenu T. Genotype-phenotype relationships in a cohort of adult cystic fibrosis patients. Eur Respir Soc. ERJ 1996 9: 2207-2214.
- 310. De Boeck K, Zolin A. Year to year change in FEV1 in patients with cystic fibrosis and different mutation classes. J Cyst Fibros. 2017 Mar 1;16(2):239–45.
- 311. Wagener JS, Millar SJ, Mayer-Hamblett N et al. Lung function decline is delayed but not decreased in patients with cystic fibrosis and the R117H gene mutation. J Cyst Fibros. 2018;17(4):503–10.
- 312. Burke W, Aitken ML, Chen S-H et al. Variable Severity of Pulmonary Disease in Adults with Identical Cystic Fibrosis Mutations. Chest. 1992 Aug 1;102(2):506–9.
- 313. Gu Y, Harley ITW, Henderson LB et al. Identification of IFRD1 as a modifier gene for cystic fibrosis lung disease. Nature. 2009 Apr 25;458(7241):1039–42.
- 314. Drumm ML, Konstan MW, Schluchter MD et al. Genetic Modifiers of Lung Disease in Cystic Fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2005 Oct 6;353(14):1443–53.
- 315. Mickle JE, Cutting GR. GENOTYPE-PHENOTYPE RELATIONSHIPS IN CYSTIC FIBROSIS. Med Clin North Am. 2000 May 1;84(3):597–607.
- 316. Ferrari M, Cremonesi L. Genotype-phenotype correlation in cystic fibrosis patients. Ann Biol Clin (Paris). 1996 Jan 1;54(6):235–41.
- 317. Domingo-Ribas C, Bosque-García M. [Nasal potential difference test to diagnose cystic fibrosis]. Arch Bronconeumol. 2006 Jan;42(1):33–8.
- Keogh RH, Tanner K, Simmonds NJ et al. The changing demography of the cystic fibrosis population: forecasting future numbers of adults in the UK. Sci Rep. 2020 Dec 30;10(1):10660.
- 319. Waller MD, Simmonds NJ. Phenotypic variability of R117H-CFTR expression within monozygotic twins. Paediatr Respir Rev. 2016 Aug 1;20:21–3.
- 320. Picci L, Cameran M, Scarpa M et al. TG15 T5 allele in clinically discordant monozygotic twins with cystic fibrosis. Am J Med Genet Part A. 2007 Aug 15;143A(16):1936–7.

- 321. Keenan K, Dupuis A, Griffin K et al. Phenotypic spectrum of patients with cystic fibrosis and cystic fibrosis-related disease carrying p.Arg117His. J Cyst Fibros. 2019 Mar 1;18(2):265–70.
- Simmonds NJ, D'Souza L, Roughton M et al. Cystic fibrosis and survival to 40 years: a study of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator function. Eur Respir J. 2011 May 1;37(5):1076–82.
- 323. Barry PJ, Jones AM, Webb AK et al. Sweat chloride is not a useful marker of clinical response to Ivacaftor. Thorax. 2014 Jun;69(6):586–7.
- 324. Davis PB, Schluchter MD, Konstan MW. Relation of sweat chloride concentration to severity of lung disease in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2004 Sep;38(3):204–9.
- 325. Ratkiewicz M, Pastore M, McCoy KS et al. Role of CFTR mutation analysis in the diagnostic algorithm for cystic fibrosis. World J Pediatr. 2017 Apr;13(2):129–35.
- 326. Goubau C, Wilchanski M, Scalicka V et al. Phenotypic Characterisation of Patients With Intermediate Sweat Chloride Values: Towards Validation of the European Diagnostic Algorithm for Cystic Fibrosis. Thorax. 2009;64(8).
- 327. Mickle JE, Cutting GR. CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS OF CYSTIC FIBROSIS TRANSMEMBRANE CONDUCTANCE REGULATOR MUTATIONS. Clin Chest Med. 1998 Sep 1;19(3):443–58.
- 328. Schram C. Atypical cystic fibrosis: identification in the primary care setting. Canand Fam Physic 2012;58(12):1341-1345.
- 329. WHO; Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) [Internet]. [cited 2020 Aug 3]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds))
- 330. Super M, Irtiza-Ali A, Roberts SA et al. Blood pressure and the cystic fibrosis gene: evidence for lower pressure rises with age in female carriers. Hypertens (Dallas, Tex 1979). 2004 Dec 1;44(6):878–83.
- Safar H, Chahwakilian A, Boudali Y et al. Arterial Stiffness, Isolated Systolic Hypertension, and Cardiovascular Risk in the Elderly. Am J Geriatr Cardiol. 2006 Apr 1;15(3):178–84.
- 332. Judd E, Calhoun DA. Management of hypertension in CKD: beyond the guidelines. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. 2015 Mar;22(2):116–22.
- 333. Mooradian AD. Dyslipidemia in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2009 Mar;5(3):150–9.
- 334. Kirwan L, Fletcher G, Harrington M et al. Longitudinal Trends in Real-World Outcomes after Initiation of Ivacaftor. A Cohort Study from the Cystic Fibrosis Registry of Ireland. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2019 Feb;16(2):209–16.
- 335. Dominiczak MH, Caslake MJ. Apolipoproteins: metabolic role and clinical biochemistry applications. Ann Clin Biochem. 2011 Nov 1;48(Pt 6):498–515.
- 336. Zieman SJ, Melenovsky V, Kass DA. Mechanisms, Pathophysiology, and Therapy of

Arterial Stiffness. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2005 May 1;25(5):932–43.

- 337. Tölle M, Reshetnik A, Schuchardt M et al. Arteriosclerosis and vascular calcification: causes, clinical assessment and therapy. Eur J Clin Invest. 2015 Sep 1;45(9):976–85.
- 338. Vlachopoulos C, Aznaouridis K, Stefanadis C. Prediction of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality with arterial stiffness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010 Mar 30;55(13):1318–27.
- 339. London GM, Marchais SJ, Guerin AP. Arterial stiffness and function in end-stage renal disease. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. 2004 Apr 1;11(2):202–9.
- 340. Mäki-Petäjä KM, Hall FC, Booth AD et al. Rheumatoid arthritis is associated with increased aortic pulse-wave velocity, which is reduced by anti-tumor necrosis factoralpha therapy. Circulation. 2006 Sep 12;114(11):1185–92.
- 341. Davies JM, Bailey MA, Griffin KJ et al. Pulse wave velocity and the non-invasive methods used to assess it: Complior, SphygmoCor, Arteriograph and Vicorder. Vascular. 2012 Dec 7;20(6):342–9.
- 342. Park S, Lakatta EG. Role of Inflammation in the Pathogenesis of Arterial Stiffness. Yonsei Med J. 2012 Jan 30;53(2):258.
- 343. Dulai R, Perry M, Twycross-Lewis R et al. The Effect of Tumor Necrosis Factor-α Antagonists on Arterial Stiffness in Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Literature Review. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2012 Aug 1;42(1):1–8.
- 344. Roman MJ, Devereux RB, Schwartz JE et al. Arterial stiffness in chronic inflammatory diseases. Hypertens (Dallas, Tex 1979). 2005 Jul 1;46(1):194–9.
- 345. Kooman JP, Dekker MJ, Usvyat LA et al. Inflammation and premature aging in advanced chronic kidney disease. Am J Physiol Physiol. 2017 Oct 1;313(4):F938–50.
- 346. Courtney JM, Ennis M, Elborn JS. Cytokines and inflammatory mediators in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2004 Dec 1;3(4):223–31.
- 347. IONESCU AA, NIXON LS, EVANS WD et al. Bone Density, Body Composition, and Inflammatory Status in Cystic Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2000 Sep 14;162(3):789–94.
- 348. MacNee W. Premature vascular ageing in cystic fibrosis. ERJ 2009; 34:1217-1218.
- 349. Jain K, Prayle A, Symmonds M et al. 304 Premature vascular ageing in children with cystic fibrosis (CF). J Cyst Fibros. 2013 Jun 1;12:S126.
- 350. Hull JH, Ansley L, Bolton CE et al. The effect of exercise on large artery haemodynamics in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2011 Mar 1;10(2):121–7.
- Downey DG, Brockbank S, Martin SL et al. The effect of treatment of cystic fibrosis pulmonary exacerbations on airways and systemic inflammation. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2007 Aug 1;42(8):729–35.

- 352. Thillai M, Herlekar R, Denneny EK et al. The QRISK-2 Score Identifies an Increased Cardiovascular Risk in Patients with Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis at Time of Diagnosis.
- 353. Halcox JP, Johns I, Moschonas KE et al. Open access Risk classification in primary prevention of CVD according to QRISK2 and JBS3 "heart age", and prevalence of elevated high-sensitivity C reactive protein in the UK cohort of the EURIKA study. Open Hear. 2018;5:849.
- 354. Townsend RR. Arterial Stiffness: Recommendations and Standardization. Pulse. 2016 Jan;4(1):3–7.
- 355. Navaratnam V, Millett ERC, Hurst JR et al. Bronchiectasis and the risk of cardiovascular disease: a population-based study. Thorax. 2017 Feb 1;72(2):161–6.
- 356. Dalleywater W, Powell HA, Hubbard RB et al. Risk Factors for Cardiovascular Disease in People With Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. Chest. 2015 Jan 1;147(1):150–6.
- 357. Maclay JD, MacNee W. Cardiovascular Disease in COPD: Mechanisms. Chest. 2013 Mar 1;143(3):798–807.
- 358. HYPERCHOLESTEROLAEMIA IN THE UK, coronary heart disease compendium 2008 -Google Search [Internet]. [cited 2020 Aug 26]. Available from: https://www.google.co.uk/search?client=safari&source=hp&ei=zytGX_78DYKYlwSrw pqgBA&q=HYPERCHOLESTEROLAEMIA+IN+THE+uk%2C+coronary+heart+disease+com pendium+2008&oq=HYPERCHOLESTEROLAEMIA+IN+THE+uk%2C+coronary+heart+dis ease+compendium+2008&gs_lcp=CgZwc3ktYWIQA
- 359. Nelson RH. Hyperlipidemia as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease. Prim Care. 2013 Mar 1;40(1):195–211.
- 360. BERTOLOTTI M, MAURANTONIO M, GABBI C et al. Review article: hyperlipidaemia and cardiovascular risk. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2005 Nov;22(s2):28–30.
- 361. Levy E, Gurbindo C, Lacaille F et al. Circulating Tumor Necrosis Factor-α Levels and Lipid Abnormalities in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. Pediatr Res. 1993 Aug;34(2):162– 5.
- White NM, Jiang D, Burgess JD et al. Altered cholesterol homeostasis in cultured and in vivo models of cystic fibrosis. Am J Physiol Cell Mol Physiol. 2007 Feb;292(2):L476– 86.
- 363. Nash EF, Stephenson A, Helm EJ et al. Impact of lung transplantation on serum lipids in adults with cystic fibrosis. J Hear Lung Transplant. 2011 Feb 1;30(2):188–93.
- 364. Silverborn M, Jeppsson A, Mårtensson G et al. New-Onset Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Lung Transplant Recipients. J Hear Lung Transplant. 2005 Oct 1;24(10):1536–43.
- Rifai N, Chapman JF, Silverman LM et al. Review of serum lipids and apolipoproteins in risk-assessment of coronary heart disease. Ann Clin Lab Sci. 1988 Nov 1;18(6):429– 39.

- 366. Sniderman AD, Furberg CD, Keech A et al. Apolipoproteins versus lipids as indices of coronary risk and as targets for statin treatment. Lancet (London, England). 2003 Mar 1;361(9359):777–80.
- 367. Boekholdt SM, Arsenault BJ, Mora S et al. Association of LDL Cholesterol, Non–HDL Cholesterol, and Apolipoprotein B Levels With Risk of Cardiovascular Events Among Patients Treated With Statins. JAMA. 2012 Mar 28;307(12):1302.
- 368. Anderson TJ, Gr J, Pearson GJ, Barry AR et al. 2016 Canadian Cardiovascular Society Guidelines for the Management of Dyslipidemia for the Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease in the Adult. Can J Cardiol. 2016;32:1263–82.
- 369. Albers JJ, Marcovina SM, Imperatore G et al. Prevalence and Determinants of Elevated Apolipoprotein B and Dense Low-Density Lipoprotein in Youths with Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008;93(3):735.
- Bajaj A, Xie D, Cedillo-Couvert E et al. Lipids, Apolipoproteins, and Risk of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease in Persons With CKD. Am J Kidney Dis. 2019 Jun 1;73(6):827–36.
- Lawes CMM, Vander Hoorn S, Rodgers A, International Society of Hypertension. Global burden of blood-pressure-related disease, 2001. Lancet (London, England). 2008 May 3;371(9623):1513–8.
- 372. Lim HE, Park CG, Shin SH et al. Aortic pulse wave velocity as an independent marker of coronary artery disease. Blood Press. 2004 Jan 8;13(6):369–75.
- 373. Wentland AL, Grist TM, Wieben O. Review of MRI-based measurements of pulse wave velocity: a biomarker of arterial stiffness. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther. 2014 Apr;4(2):193–206.
- Redheuil A, Wu CO, Kachenoura N et al. Proximal aortic distensibility is an independent predictor of all-cause mortality and incident CV events: the MESA study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014 Dec 23;64(24):2619–29.
- 375. Heleniak Z, Cieplińska M, Szychliński T et al. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use in patients with chronic kidney disease. J Nephrol. 2017 Dec;30(6):781–6.
- 376. Konstan MW, Schluchter MD, Xue W et al. Clinical Use of Ibuprofen Is Associated with Slower FEV 1 Decline in Children with Cystic Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2007 Dec;176(11):1084–9.
- 377. Lands L, Milner R, Cantin A et al. High-dose ibuprofen in cystic fibrosis: Canadian safety and effectiveness trial. EJourn of Paed 2007;151(3):249-254.
- 378. Wolter J, Seeney S, Bell S et al. Effect of long term treatment with azithromycin on disease parameters in cystic fibrosis: a randomised trial. Thorax 57:212-216.
- 379. Guerin AP, Blacher J, Pannier B et al. Impact of Aortic Stiffness Attenuation on
 Survival of Patients in End-Stage Renal Failure. Circulation. 2001 Feb 20;103(7):987–
 92.

- 380. Mandal P, Chalmers J, Graham C et al. Atorvastatin as a stable treatment in bronchiectasis: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2014;2(6):455-463.
- 381. Van Doornum S, McColl G, Wicks IP. Atorvastatin reduces arterial stiffness in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2004 Dec 1;63(12):1571–5.
- 382. O'Connell OJ, Harrison MJ, Murphy DM et al. Peri-lung transplant renal issues in patients with cystic fibrosis. Chest. 2013 Jan;143(1):271.
- 383. Johns I, Moschonas KE, Medina J et al. Risk classification in primary prevention of CVD according to QRISK2 and JBS3 "heart age", and prevalence of elevated high-sensitivity C reactive protein in the UK cohort of the EURIKA study. Open Hear. 2018 Nov 1;5(2):e000849.
- Cozlea DL, Farcas DM, Nagy A et al. The impact of C reactive protein on global cardiovascular risk on patients with coronary artery disease. Curr Heal Sci J. 2013 Oct;39(4):225–31.
- 385. Lagrand WK, Visser CA, Hermens WT et al. C-Reactive Protein as a Cardiovascular Risk Factor. Circulation. 1999 Jul 6;100(1):96–102.
- 386. Halcox JP, Roy C, Tubach F et al. C-reactive protein levels in patients at cardiovascular risk: EURIKA study. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2014 Dec 24;14(1):25.
- Ridker PM, Danielson E, Fonseca FAH et al. Rosuvastatin to prevent vascular events in men and women with elevated C-reactive protein. N Engl J Med. 2008 Nov 20;359(21):2195–207.
- 388. Lang S-J, Abel GA, Mant J et al. Impact of socioeconomic deprivation on screening for cardiovascular disease risk in a primary prevention population: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open. 2016 Mar 21;6(3):e009984.
- 389. SCHECHTER MS, SHELTON BJ, MARGOLIS PA et al. The Association of Socioeconomic Status with Outcomes in Cystic Fibrosis Patients in the United States. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001 May 14;163(6):1331–7.
- 390. Khot UN, Khot MB, Bajzer CT et al. Prevalence of conventional risk factors in patients with coronary heart disease. JAMA. 2003 Aug 20;290(7):898–904.
- 391. O'Rourke K, VanderZanden A, Shepard D et al. Cardiovascular Disease Worldwide, 1990-2013. JAMA. 2015 Nov 10;314(18):1905.
- 392. MACLAY JD, MCALLISTER DA, MacNEE W. Cardiovascular risk in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respirology. 2007 Sep 1;12(5):634–41.
- 393. Saleh AD, Kwok B, Brown JS et al. Correlates and assessment of excess cardiovascular risk in bronchiectasis. Eur Respir J. 2017 Nov 1;50(5).
- 394. Katz SM, Krueger LJ, Falkner B. Microscopic Nephrocalcinosis in Cystic Fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 1988 Aug 4;319(5):263–6.
- 395. Kianifar H-R, Talebi S, Khazaei M et al. Predisposing factors for nephrolithiasis and

nephrocalcinosis in cystic fibrosis. Iran J Pediatr. 2011 Mar;21(1):65–71.

- 396. Melzi ML, Costantini D, Giani M et al. Severe nephropathy in three adolescents with cystic fibrosis. Arch Dis Child. 1991 Dec 1;66(12):1444–7.
- 397. Stirati G, Antonelli M, Fofi C et al. IgA nephropathy in cystic fibrosis. J Nephrol. 1999 Jan 1;12(1):30–1.
- 398. Yahiaoui Y, Jablonski M, Hubert D et al. Renal involvement in cystic fibrosis: diseases spectrum and clinical relevance. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009 May;4(5):921–8.
- 399. Gaffney K, Gibbons D, Keogh B et al. Amyloidosis complicating cystic fibrosis. Vol. 48, Thorax. 1993.
- 400. McGlennen RC, Burke BA, Dehner LP. Systemic amyloidosis complicating cystic fibrosis. A retrospective pathologic study. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 1986 Oct 1;110(10):879–84.
- 401. Bontempini L, Ghimenton C, Colombari R et al. Secondary amyloidosis and cystic fibrosis. A morphological and histochemical study of five cases. Histol Histopathol. 1987 Oct;2(4):413–6.
- 402. Travis WD, Castile R, Vawter G et al. Secondary (AA) amyloidosis in cystic fibrosis. A report of three cases. Am J Clin Pathol. 1986 Apr 1;85(4):419–24.
- 403. Fan Y-W, Jiang S-W, Chen J-M et al. A pulmonary source of infection in patients with sepsis-associated acute kidney injury leads to a worse outcome and poor recovery of kidney function. World J Emerg Med. 2020;11(1):18–26.
- 404. Nazareth D, Walshaw M. A review of renal disease in cystic fibrosis.JCF 2013;12(4):309-317.
- 405. Wittmann I, Molnár GA, Degrell P et al. Prevention and treatment of diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2005 Jun 1;68:S36–42.
- 406. Nunez J. The normal ageing kidney-morphology and physiology. Rev in Geront 2008;18(3):175-197.
- 407. Gaspari F, Perico N, Ruggenenti P et al. Plasma clearance of nonradioactive iohexol as a measure of glomerular filtration rate. J Am Soc Nephrol. 1995 Aug;6(2):257–63.
- 408. Gaspari F, Perico N, Matalone M et al. Precision of plasma clearance of iohexol for estimation of GFR in patients with renal disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 1998;9(2).
- 409. James TJ, Lewis A V, Tan GD et al. Validity of simplified protocols to estimate glomerular filtration rate using iohexol clearance.
- 410. Gaspari F, Ferrari S, Stucchi N et al. Performance of Different Prediction Equations for Estimating Renal Function in Kidney Transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2004 Nov 1;4(11):1826–35.
- 411. Ruggenenti P, Gaspari F, Cannata A et al. Measuring and estimating GFR and

treatment effect in ADPKD patients: results and implications of a longitudinal cohort study. PLoS One. 2012;7(2):e32533.

- 412. Gaspari F, Ruggenenti P, Porrini E et al. The GFR and GFR decline cannot be accurately estimated in type 2 diabetics. Kidney Int. 2013 Jul 1;84(1):164–73.
- 413. Ciarimboli G, Lancaster CS, Schlatter E et al. Proximal Tubular Secretion of Creatinine by Organic Cation Transporter OCT2 in Cancer Patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18(4):1101.
- 414. Molitoris BA. Rethinking CKD Evaluation: Should We Be Quantifying Basal or Stimulated GFR to Maximize Precision and Sensitivity? Am J Kidney Dis. 2017 May 1;69(5):675–83.
- 415. Murty MSN, Sharma UK, Pandey VB et al. Serum cystatin C as a marker of renal function in detection of early acute kidney injury. Indian J Nephrol. 2013 May;23(3):180–3.
- 416. Wei L, Ye X, Pei X, Wu J et al. Reference intervals for serum cystatin C and factors influencing cystatin C levels other than renal function in the elderly. PLoS One. 2014;9(1):e86066.
- 417. Groesbeck D, Köttgen A, Parekh R et al. Age, gender, and race effects on cystatin C levels in US adolescents. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2008 Nov 1;3(6):1777–85.
- 418. Hoek FJ, Kemperman FAW, Krediet RT. A comparison between cystatin C, plasma creatinine and the Cockcroft and Gault formula for the estimation of glomerular filtration rate. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2003 Oct 1;18(10):2024–31.
- 419. Tidman M, Jones I. A comparison of GFR estimating formulae based upon s-cystatin C and s-creatinine and a combination of the two. Nephrol Dial Transpl. 2008;23:154–60.
- 420. Malheiro J, Fonseca I, Martins LS et al. A comparison between serum creatinine and cystatin C-based equations for estimation of graft function. Transplant Proc. 2012 Oct;44(8):2352–6.
- 421. White C, Akbari A, Hussain N et al. Estimating glomerular filtration rate in kidney transplantation: a comparison between serum creatinine and cystatin C-based methods. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2005 Dec;16(12):3763–70.
- 422. Peralta CA, Katz R, Sarnak MJ et al. Cystatin C Identifies Chronic Kidney Disease Patients at Higher Risk for Complications Chronic kidney disease (CKD) affects millions of adults in the. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011;22:147–55.
- 423. Keane WF. Proteinuria: Its clinical importance and role in progressive renal disease. Am J Kidney Dis. 2000 Apr 1;35(4):S97–105.
- 424. Soulsby N, Greville H, Coulthard K et al. What is the best method for measuring renal function in adults and children with cystic fibrosis? J Cyst Fibros. 2010 Mar 1;9(2):124–9.
- 425. Bloom RD, Doyle AM. Kidney Disease After Heart and Lung Transplantation. Am J

Transplant. 2006 Apr 1;6(4):671–9.

- 426. Meachery G, De Soyza A, Nicholson A et al. Outcomes of lung transplantation for cystic fibrosis in a large UK cohort.
- 427. Helal I, Fick-Brosnahan GM, Reed-Gitomer B et al. Glomerular hyperfiltration: definitions, mechanisms and clinical implications. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2012 May 21;8(5):293–300.
- 428. Tomaszewski M, Charchar FJ, Maric C et al. Glomerular hyperfiltration: A new marker of metabolic risk. Kidney Int. 2007 Apr 2;71(8):816–21.
- 429. Prestidge C, Chilvers MA, Davidson AGF et al. Renal function in pediatric cystic fibrosis patients in the first decade of life. Pediatr Nephrol. 2011 Apr 29;26(4):605–12.
- 430. Strandvik B, Berg U, Kallner A. Effect on renal function of essential fatty acid supplementation in cystic fibrosis. Journ of Paed 1989;115(2):242-250.
- 431. Berg KH, Ryom L, Faurholt-Jepsen D et al. Prevalence and characteristics of chronic kidney disease among Danish adults with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2018 Jul 1;17(4):478–83.
- 432. Schwartz GJ, Furth S, Cole SR et al. Glomerular filtration rate via plasma iohexol disappearance: Pilot study for chronic kidney disease in children. Kidney Int. 2006 Jun 1;69(11):2070–7.
- 433. Carrara F, Gaspari F. GFR measured by iohexol: the best choice from a laboratory perspective. J Lab Precis Med. 2018 Sep;3:77–77.
- 434. Bröchner-Mortensen J. A simple method for the determination of glomerular filtration rate. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 1972 Nov;30(3):271–4.
- 435. Maple-Brown LJ, Ekinci EI, Hughes JT et al. Performance of formulas for estimating glomerular filtration rate in Indigenous Australians with and without Type 2 diabetes: the eGFR Study. Diabet Med. 2014 Jul 1;31(7):829–38.
- 436. Luis-Lima S, Marrero-Miranda D, González-Rinne A et al. Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate in Renal Transplantation: The Nephrologist in the Mist. Transplantation. 2015 Dec;99(12):2625–33.
- 437. Tidman M, Sjostrom P, Jones I. A Comparison of GFR estimating formulae based upon s-cystatin C and s-creatinine and a combination of the two. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2007 Aug 17;23(1):154–60.
- 438. Spino M, Chai RP, Isles AF, Balfe JW, Brown RG, Thiessen JJ, et al. Assessment of glomerular filtration rate and effective renal plasma flow in cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr. 1985 Jul 1;107(1):64–70.
- 439. Mallappallil M, Friedman EA, Delano BG et al. Chronic kidney disease in the elderly: evaluation and management. Clin Pract (Lond). 2014;11(5):525–35.
- 440. Martin Bland J, Altman D. STATISTICAL METHODS FOR ASSESSING AGREEMENT

BETWEEN TWO METHODS OF CLINICAL MEASUREMENT. Lancet. 1986 Feb 8;327(8476):307–10.

- 441. London GM. THE CLINICAL EPIDEMIOLOGY OF CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES IN CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE: Cardiovascular Disease in Chronic Renal Failure: Pathophysiologic Aspects. Semin Dial. 2003 Mar 28;16(2):85–94.
- 442. Bertenshaw C, Watson AR, Lewis S et al. Survey of acute renal failure in patients with cystic fibrosis in the UK. Thorax. 2007;62(6):541.
- Berg KH, Ryom L, Faurholt-Jepsen D et al. Prevalence and characteristics of chronic kidney disease among Danish adults with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2018;17(4):478–83.
- 444. Wilcock MJ, Ruddick A, Gyi KM et al. Renal diseases in adults with cystic fibrosis: a 40 year single centre experience. J Nephrol. 2015 Oct;28(5):585–91.
- 445. Coll E, Botey A, Alvarez L et al. Serum cystatin C as a new marker for noninvasive estimation of glomerular filtration rate and as a marker for early renal impairment. Am J Kidney Dis. 2000 Jul 1;36(1):29–34.
- 446. Thomassen S, Johannesen I, Erlandsen E et al. Serum cystatin C as a marker of the renal function in patients with spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord. 2002 Oct 18;40(10):524–8.
- 447. Woitas RP, Stoffel-Wagner B, Flommersfeld S et al. Correlation of Serum Concentrations of Cystatin C and Creatinine to Inulin Clearance in Liver Cirrhosis. Clin Chem. 2000 May 1;46(5):712–5.
- 448. Soulsby N, Greville H, Coulthard K et al. Renal dysfunction in cystic fibrosis: Is there cause for concern? Pediatr Pulmonol. 2009 Oct 1;44(10):947–53.
- Zhang Y, Sui Z, Yu Z et al. Accuracy of iohexol plasma clearance for GFRdetermination: a comparison between single and dual sampling. BMC Nephrol. 2018 Dec 11;19(1):174.
- 450. James TJ, Lewis A V, Tan GD et al. Validity of simplified protocols to estimate glomerular filtration rate using iohexol clearance. Ann Clin Biochem. 2007 Jul 1;44(Pt 4):369–76.
- 451. Rizk D V, Meier D, Sandoval RM et al. A Novel Method for Rapid Bedside Measurement of GFR. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2018;29(6):1609–13.
- 452. Mafham MM, Niculescu-Duvaz I, Barron J et al. A Practical Method of Measuring Glomerular Filtration Rate by Iohexol Clearance Using Dried Capillary Blood Spots. Nephron Clin Pract. 2007 May 23;106(3):c104–12.
- 453. Quattrucci S, Rolla M, Cimino G et al. Lung transplantation for cystic fibrosis: 6-year follow-up. J Cyst Fibros. 2005 May 1;4(2):107–14.
- 454. Lefaucheur C, Nochy D, Amrein C et al. Renal Histopathological Lesions After Lung Transplantation in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. Am J Transplant. 2008 Sep

1;8(9):1901-10.

- 455. Florens N, Dubourg L, Bitker L et al. Measurement of glomerular filtration rate in lung transplant recipients highlights a dramatic loss of renal function after transplantation. Clin Kidney J. 2020 May 9;
- 456. Pedersen SS, Jensen T, Osterhammel D et al. Cumulative and acute toxicity of repeated high-dose tobramycin treatment in cystic fibrosis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1987 Apr 1;31(4):594–9.
- 457. Town DJ, Vinks AA, Jacobs F et al. Creatinine clearance as predictor of tobramycin elimination in adult patients with cystic fibrosis. Ther Drug Monit. 1996 Oct;18(5):562–9.
- 458. Levy J, Smith AL, Koup JR et al. Disposition of tobramycin in patients with cystic fibrosis: A prospective controlled study. J Pediatr. 1984 Jul 1;105(1):117–24.
- 459. JM van den B, AM M, SW K, H P, SP C, HG H. Microvascular complications in patients with cystic fibrosis-related diabetes (CFRD). J Cyst Fibros. 2008;7(6).
- 460. Hedman A, Alván G, Strandvik B et al. Increased Renal Clearance of Cefsulodin Due to Higher Glomerular Filtration Rate in Cystic Fibrosis. Clin Pharmacokinet. 1990 Feb 13;18(2):168–75.
- 461. Hostetter TH. Chronic Kidney Disease Predicts Cardiovascular Disease. N Engl J Med. 2004 Sep 23;351(13):1344–6.
- 462. Bright-Thomas RJ, Kevin MA, Frcp W. The heart in cystic fibrosis.
- 463. Hirschfeld SS, Fleming DG, Doershuk D et al. Echocardiographic Abnormalities in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. Chest. 1979 Mar 1;75(3):351–5.
- 464. Saxton A, Tariq MA, Bordoni B. Anatomy, Thorax, Cardiac Muscle. StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing; 2020.
- 465. Sellers ZM, Kovacs A, Weinheimer CJ, Best PM. Left ventricular and aortic dysfunction in cystic fibrosis mice. J Cyst Fibros. 2013;12(5):517.
- 466. Sellers ZM, De Arcangelis V, Xiang Y et al. Cardiomyocytes with disrupted CFTR function require CaMKII and Ca²⁺ -activated Cl⁻ channel activity to maintain contraction rate. J Physiol. 2010 Jul 1;588(13):2417–29.
- 467. Ruf K, Hebestreit H. Exercise-induced hypoxemia and cardiac arrhythmia in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2009 Mar;8(2):83–90.
- 468. Chipps BE, Alderson PO, Roland J-MA et al. Noninvasive evaluation of ventricular function in cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr. 1979 Sep 1;95(3):379–84.
- 469. De Wolf D, Franken P, Piepsz A et al. Left ventricular perfusion deficit in patients with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 1998 Feb 1;25(2):93–8.
- 470. Fraser KL, Tullis DE, Sasson Z et al. Pulmonary Hypertension and Cardiac Function in

Adult Cystic Fibrosis: Role of Hypoxemia. Chest. 1999 May 1;115(5):1321-8.

- 471. Johnson GL, Kanga JF, Moffett CB et al. Changes in Left Ventricular Diastolic Filling Patterns by Doppler Echocardiography in Cystic Fibrosis*. Chest. 1991 Mar;99(3):646– 50.
- 472. Florea VG, Florea ND, Sharma R et al. Right Ventricular Dysfunction in Adult Severe Cystic Fibrosis. Chest. 2000 Oct 1;118(4):1063–8.
- 473. Jacobstein MD, Hirschfeld SS, Winnie G et al. Ventricular Interdependence in Severe Cystic Fibrosis: A Two-Dimensional Echocardiographic Study. Chest. 1981 Oct 1;80(4):399–404.
- 474. Cross CE, Reverri EJ, Morrissey BM. Joining the crowd: cystic fibrosis and cardiovascular disease risk factors. Chest. 2013 Apr 1;143(4):882–4.
- 475. IONESCU AA, IONESCU A-A, PAYNE N et al. Subclinical Right Ventricular Dysfunction in Cystic Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001 Apr 14;163(5):1212–8.
- 476. Mills NL, Miller JJ, Anand A et al. Increased arterial stiffness in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a mechanism for increased cardiovascular risk. Thorax. 2008 Apr 1;63(4):306–11.
- 477. Pagani FD, Baker LS, Hsi C et al. Left ventricular systolic and diastolic dysfunction after infusion of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in conscious dogs. J Clin Invest. 1992 Aug 1;90(2):389–98.
- 478. Feldman C. The Use of Antiinflammatory Therapy and Macrolides in Bronchiectasis. Clin Chest Med. 2012;33:371–80.
- 479. Jouneau S, Bonizec M, Belleguic C et al. Anti-Inflammatory Effect of Fluvastatin on IL-8 Production Induced by Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Aspergillus fumigatus Antigens in Cystic Fibrosis. Zimmer J, editor. PLoS One. 2011 Aug 3;6(8):e22655.
- 480. Poore S, Berry B, Eidson D et al. Evidence of vascular endothelial dysfunction in young patients with cystic fibrosis. Chest. 2013 Apr;143(4):939–45.
- 481. Romano M, Collura M, Iapichino L et al. Endothelial Perturbation in Cystic Fibrosis. Vol. 86, Thromb Haemost. 2001.
- 482. Eaden J, Peckham D. Myocardial infarction in an adult with cystic fibrosis and heart and lung transplant. Multidiscip Respir Med. 2013 Dec 7;8(1):37.
- Aronson DC, Heymans HS, la Riviere A V et al. Nontransmural myocardial infarction as a complication of untreated cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 1990 Jan;10(1):126–30.
- 484. Patel ARC, Kowlessar BS, Donaldson GC et al. Cardiovascular Risk, Myocardial Injury, and Exacerbations of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013 Nov;188(9):1091–9.
- 485. Sabit R, Bolton CE, Fraser AG et al. Sub-clinical left and right ventricular dysfunction in

patients with COPD. Respir Med. 2010 Aug 1;104(8):1171-8.

- 486. Baum GL, Schwartz A, Llamas R et al. Left Ventricular Function in Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease. N Engl J Med. 1971 Aug 12;285(7):361–5.
- 487. Fang ZY, Prins JB, Marwick TH. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: evidence, mechanisms, and therapeutic implications. Endocr Rev. 2004 Aug;25(4):543–67.
- 488. McGiven AR. Myocardial Fibrosis in Fibrocystic Disease of the Pancreas. Arch Dis Child. 1962 Dec;37(196):656–60.
- 489. Owan TE, Redfield MM. Epidemiology of diastolic heart failure. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 2005;47(5):320–32.
- 490. Kim PK, Hong YJ, Im DJ et al. Myocardial T1 and T2 Mapping: Techniques and Clinical Applications. Korean J Radiol. 2017;18(1):113–31.
- 491. Liu T, Song D, Dong J et al. Current Understanding of the Pathophysiology of Myocardial Fibrosis and Its Quantitative Assessment in Heart Failure. Front Physiol. 2017 Apr 24;8:238.
- 492. Labombarda F, Pellissier A, Ellafi M et al. Myocardial Strain Assessment in Cystic Fibrosis. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2011 Sep 1;24(9):1037–45.
- 493. BARNES GL, GWYNNE JF, WATT JM. MYOCARDIAL FIBROSIS IN CYSTIC FIBROSIS OF THE PANCREAS. J Paediatr Child Health. 1970 Jun 1;6(2):81–7.
- 494. Oppenheimer E. Myocardial lesions in patients with cystic fibrosis of the pancreas. The Johns Hopkins Medical journal 1973;133(5):252-261.
- 495. Wiebicke W, Artlich A, Gerling I. Myocardial fibrosis a rare complication in patients with cystic fibrosis. Eur J Pediatr. 1993 Aug;152(8):694–6.
- 496. Gonzalez M, Suarez L, Camarero C et al. Myocardial fibrosis in 2 children with cystic fibrosis. An Esp Pediatr. 1987 Nov 1;27(5):382–4.
- 497. Żebrak J, Skuza B, Pogorzelski A et al. Partial CFTR genotyping and characterisation of cystic fibrosis patients with myocardial fibrosis and necrosis. Clin Genet. 2001 Dec 24;57(1):56–60.
- 498. Sellers Z, Kovacs A, Weimheimer C et al. Left ventricular involvement in mucoviscidosis after 2 years of age. Arch Fr Pediatr. 1993 Oct 1;50(8):653–6.
- 499. Erbel R, Schweizer P, Krebbs W et al. Sensitivity and specificity of two-dimensional echocardiography in detection of impaired left ventricular function. Eur Heart J. 1984;5(6).
- 500. Sellers ZM, McGlocklin L, Brasch A. Strain rate echocardiography uncovers subclinical left ventricular dysfunction in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2015 Sep 1;14(5):654–60.
- 501. Matthay RA, Berger HJ, Loke J et al. Right and left ventricular performance in ambulatory young adults with cystic fibrosis. Br Heart J. 1980 Apr;43(4):474–80.

- 502. Benson LN, Newth CJ, DeSouza M et al. Radionuclide assessment of right and left ventricular function during bicycle exercise in young patients with cystic fibrosis. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1984 Dec;130(6):987–92.
- 503. Sayyid ZN, Sellers ZM. Technological advances shed light on left ventricular cardiac disturbances in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2017 Jul 1;16(4):454–64.
- 504. Tee M, Noble JA, Bluemke DA. Imaging techniques for cardiac strain and deformation: comparison of echocardiography, cardiac magnetic resonance and cardiac computed tomography. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther. 2013 Feb 10;11(2):221–31.
- 505. Bellenger N, Davies LC, Francis J et al. Reduction in Sample Size for Studies of Remodeling in Heart Failure by the Use of Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2000 Nov 1;2(4):271–8.
- 506. Miller CA, Naish JH, Bishop P et al. Comprehensive validation of cardiovascular magnetic resonance techniques for the assessment of myocardial extracellular volume. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2013 May 1;6(3):373–83.
- 507. Eichinger M, Heussel C-P, Kauczor H-U et al. Computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging in cystic fibrosis lung disease. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2010 Dec 1;32(6):1370–8.
- Schillaci G, Verdecchia P, Porcellati C et al. Continuous Relation Between Left Ventricular Mass and Cardiovascular Risk in Essential Hypertension. Hypertension. 2000 Feb;35(2):580–6.
- 509. Krumholz H, Larson M. Prognosis of left ventricular geometric patterns in the Framingham Heart Study. Journ of Am Coll of Card 1995;25(4):10.1016/0735-1097(94)00473-4..
- 510. Dabir D, Child N, Kalra A et al. Reference values for healthy human myocardium using a T1 mapping methodology: results from the International T1 Multicenter cardiovascular magnetic resonance study. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2014 Dec 21;16(1):69.
- 511. Giri S, Shah S, Xue H et al. Myocardial T₂ mapping with respiratory navigator and automatic nonrigid motion correction. Magn Reson Med. 2012 Nov;68(5):1570–8.
- 512. Petersen SE, Aung N, Sanghvi MM et al. Reference ranges for cardiac structure and function using cardiovascular magnetic resonance (CMR) in Caucasians from the UK Biobank population cohort. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2017 Dec 3;19(1):18.
- 513. Kawel-Boehm N, Maceira A, Valsangiacomo-Buechel ER et al. Normal values for cardiovascular magnetic resonance in adults and children. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2015 Dec 18;17(1):29.
- 514. Su M, Lin L. CMR-verified diffuse myocardial fibrosis is associated with diastolic dysfunction in HFpEF. JACC 2014;7(10): 10.1016/j.jcmg.2014.04.022.
- 515. Ntusi N, Piechnik S. Diffuse myocardial fibrosis and inflammation in rheumatoid

arthritis: insights from CMR T1 mapping. JACC 2015;8(5): 10.1016/j.jcmg.2014.12.025.

- 516. Allen HD, Taussig LM, Gaines JA et al. Echocardiographic Profiles of the Long-Term Cardiac Changes in Cystic Fibrosis. Chest. 1979 Apr 1;75(4):428–33.
- 517. Panidis IP, Ren J-F, Holsclaw DS et al. Cardiac function in patients with cystic fibrosis:
 Evaluation by two-dimensional and doppler echocardiography. J Am Coll Cardiol.
 1985 Sep 1;6(3):701–6.
- 518. Ozcelik N, Shell R, Holtzlander M et al. Decreased Right Ventricular Function in Healthy Pediatric Cystic Fibrosis Patients Versus Non-Cystic Fibrosis Patients. Pediatr Cardiol. 2013 Jan 10;34(1):159–64.
- 519. Chirinos JA, Zambrano JP, Chakko S et al. Aortic Pressure Augmentation Predicts Adverse Cardiovascular Events in Patients With Established Coronary Artery Disease. Hypertension. 2005 May 1;45(5):980–5.
- 520. Bradlow WM, Gibbs JSR, Mohiaddin RH. Cardiovascular magnetic resonance in pulmonary hypertension. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2012 Jan 18;14(1):6.
- 521. Yi J-E, Park J, Lee H-J, Shin DG et al. Prognostic implications of late gadolinium enhancement at the right ventricular insertion point in patients with non-ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy: A multicenter retrospective cohort study. PLoS One. 2018;13(11):e0208100.
- 522. McCann GP, Beek AM, Vonk-Noordegraaf A et al. Delayed contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging in pulmonary arterial hypertension. Circulation. 2005 Oct 18;112(16):e268.
- 523. Sato T, Tsujino I, Ohira H et al. Paradoxical interventricular septal motion as a major determinant of late gadolinium enhancement in ventricular insertion points in pulmonary hypertension. PLoS One. 2013;8(6):e66724.
- 524. Freed BH, Gomberg-Maitland M, Chandra S et al. Late gadolinium enhancement cardiovascular magnetic resonance predicts clinical worsening in patients with pulmonary hypertension. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2012 Feb 1;14(1):11.
- 525. Blyth KG, Groenning BA, Mark PB et al. NT-proBNP can be used to detect right ventricular systolic dysfunction in pulmonary hypertension. Eur Respir J. 2007 Apr 1;29(4):737–44.
- 526. Sado DM, Flett AS, Banypersad SM et al. Cardiovascular magnetic resonance measurement of myocardial extracellular volume in health and disease. Heart. 2012 Oct;98(19):1436–41.
- 527. Scully PR, Bastarrika G, Moon JC et al. Myocardial Extracellular Volume Quantification by Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance and Computed Tomography. Curr Cardiol Rep. 2018;20(3):15.
- 528. Wong TC, Piehler KM, Kang IA et al. Myocardial extracellular volume fraction quantified by cardiovascular magnetic resonance is increased in diabetes and

associated with mortality and incident heart failure admission. Eur Heart J. 2014 Mar 2;35(10):657–64.

- 529. Giacchi V, Rotollo N, Amato B et al. Heart involvement im children and adults with cystic fibrosis: correlation with pulmonary indices and inflammatory markers. Heart, Lung Circ 2015;24(10):1002-1010.
- 530. Evans M, van Stralin K, Schon S et al. Glomerular filtration rate estimating equations for patients with advanced chronic kidney disease. Nephrol, Dial, Transpl 2013;28(10):2518-2526.
- 531. Jain K, Prayle A, Watson A. Assessment of renal function in cystic fibrosis patients by estimated and measured glomerular filtration rate a cross-sectional study. JCF 2012;11:S52.